PALACKÝ UNIVERSITY IN OLOMOUC FACULTY OF SCIENCE

Laboratory of Growth Regulators & Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research & Department of Botany

Jana Svačinová

ISOLATION AND IDENTIFICATION OF NEW BIOLOGICALLY ACTIVE COMPOUNDS FROM PLANTS

Ph.D. Thesis

1501 V BIOLOGY - BOTANY

Supervisor: Mgr. Karel Doležal, Dr.

Olomouc 2011

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor dr. Karel Doležal for his very kind and friendly supervision during my post-graduate studies, for his ability to solve all my questions and problems, for his helpful advice and suggestions in my work and during the writing of the manuscripts and this thesis. I am grateful to the head of the Laboratory of Growth Regulators prof. Miroslav Strnad for his strong optimism and help in many ways, for critical reading and corrections of manuscripts and for stimulating discussions. I would like to thank my great colleges from the Laboratory of Growth Regulators; especially Ondřej Novák for his lessons of usage of mass spectrometers, for valuable consultations during my work, for his help in solving practical questions and in writing articles and this thesis; Jarmila Greplová for introducing me to the high performance liquid chromatography technique and for her help in the laboratory; Eva Hényková for her valuable discussions, for answering my question and doubts and for help in auxin analysis; René Lenobel for his helpful discussions and advices in MS measurements and cytokinin purification; Hana Martínková and Petra Amakorová for making me acquainted with the basic of phytohormone purification; Olga Hustáková for her excellent technical assistance and demonstration of the cell cytotoxicity assay; Marek Zatloukal for synthesis of interesting adenine and hypoxanthine derivatives; and Tomáš Pospíšil for his help with interpretation of NMR spectra. Many thanks belong to all other colleges for their incredible friendliness, help, advice and making the working environment very pleasant and easygoing.

I would also like to thank colleges from collaborative laboratories for their contributions to my work. Especially prof. Georg Krupitza (Institute of Clinical Pathology, Medical University of Vienna, Austria), Richard Frisch (Institute for Ethnobiology and Maya Research, Guatemala) and Miloslav Kitner (Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc) for initiation of the research of *Acalypha alopecuroidea*; Jiří Kopecký (Laboratory of Algal Biotechnology, Institute of Microbiology, Třeboň) for the help with preparative HPLC fractionation; Michal Holčapek (Department of Analytical Chemistry, Faculty of Chemical Technology, University of Pardubice) for the MS resurvey and kind consultation of MS spectra; prof. Virginia Lanzotti, Elisa Barile and Adriana Romano (Department of Chemistry of Natural Substances, Pharmaceutical Faculty, University of Naples Federico II, Italy) for performing the NMR measurements and interpretation of NMR spectra. My thanks belong to Karel Šmejkal (Department of Natural Drugs, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Brno) for nice collaboration in the investigation of physical Chemistry, Faculty of Science & Regional Centre of Advanced Technologies and Materials, Palacký University, Olomouc) for their help and preparation of magnetic nanoparticles.

I would like to thank my parents for their support, patience, and kind listening to all my problems and complaints. Last but not least, I am thankful to Petr Pavouk Ledvina, not only for the help with formatting the text of this thesis, but mainly for his warm words, love, strength and appreciation of my personality.

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (MSM 6198959216), the Grant Agency of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (522/08/H003) and grant No. ED0007/01/01 from the Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research.

Bibliographical identification

Title:	Isolation and identification of new biologically active compounds from plants	
Type of thesis:	Ph.D. Thesis	
Department:	Department of Botany and the Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological	
	and Agricultural Research	
Supervisor:	Mgr. Karel Doležal, Dr.	
The year of presentation: 2011		

Author's first name and surname: Jana Svačinová, PharmDr.

Abstract:

The presented doctoral thesis focuses on the isolation, identification, quantification and investigation of new biologically active natural compounds. The thesis is divided into three main parts: (1) Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from *Acalypha alopecuroidea*; (2) Geranylated flavanones from *Morus alba* and *Paulownia tomentosa* and their anticancer potential; (3) Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material.

The phytochemical studies, isolation and identification of biologically active compounds are very complicated and time-consuming processes. During the last period, we examined anticancer potential of Euphorbiaceous plant, *Acalypha alopecuroidea*, which is one of the plant species widely used in traditional Mayan medicine in Central America. The anticancer activity of prepared extracts was studied *in vitro* using the Calcein AM cell viability assay as cytotoxic effect against human breast adenocarcinoma cell line, human leukemic lymphoid cells and human cervical carcinoma cells. The highest antiproliferative activity was found in methanol-tetrahydrofurane (1:1) root extract which was fractionated by solid-phase extraction and two-dimensional high performance liquid chromatography. Finally, four fractions cytotoxic to the tested cancer cell lines were isolated and two possible structures of occurring compounds were suggested according to MS and NMR spectra as 9-(3,6-dimethylhepta-2,6-dienyl)-hypoxantine and 1,3,7,9-tetraethyluric acid. On the basis of designed structures, series of N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and N-ethyl derivatives of uric acid were synthesised and their cytotoxic activity was tested against different cell types.

The next objective of the phytochemical approach was isolation of nine *C*-geranylated flavanones from the fruits of *Paulownia tomentosa* and two from the roots of *Morus alba*. Anticancer activity of these compounds was studied *in vitro* against five selected human cancer cell lines and normal human fibroblast, using the Calcein AM assay. The obtained EC_{50} values were compared with those of known simple flavanone standards (taxifolin, naringenin, hesperetin) and standard antineoplastic compounds (olomoucine II, diaziquon, oxaliplatin). Some of the isolated *C*-geranyl flavanones exhibited interesting cytotoxic activity towards the tested human cancer cell lines and showed effects of the structural modifications on activity. Comparison of the cytotoxicity against normal cell line and cancer cell lines revealed a very narrow therapeutic window of all the compounds tested.

The different groups of phytohormones have also shown activity towards human cancer cell lines, e.g. cytokinins, brassinosteroides, and jasmonates. The method development of a novel plant hormone isolation was the last aim of this thesis. A miniaturized purification method for cytokinin analysis performed in microtubes was designed for milligram amounts of biological samples. The purification protocol was based on a microextraction and a pipet-tip micropurification system named StageTips

(STop and Go Extraction Tips). Subsequently, the study of nature occurrence of phytohormones (cytokinins and indole-3-acetic acid) in beaver plasma samples was realized using the precipitation of plasma samples in acetonitrile, which was followed by mixed-mode cation exchange solid-phase extraction and immunoaffinity chromatography. The qualitative and quantitative phytohormone analysis was performed by an ultra performance liquid chromatography (AcquityTM UPLC, Waters) coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (XevoTM TQ MS, Waters) equipped with an electrospray interface.

In summary, the results of this doctoral thesis contribute to the phytochemical research of plant extracts, extend the knowledge about cytotoxic activity of plant metabolites as well as their closely related synthetic analogues against human cancer cells. The thesis improved the methods for purification of biologically interesting analytes. The thesis represents a progress in discovery of new highly bioactive compounds, which can be further investigated as potential therapeutics.

Keywords: Acalypha alopecuroidea, anticancer activity, Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay, Castor fiber, cytokinins, geranylated flavanones, high performance liquid chromatography, immunoaffinity extraction, mass spectrometry, Morus alba, nuclear magnetic resonance, Paulownia tomentosa, purine derivatives, solid-phase extraction, StageTips

Number of pages:113Number of appendices:3Language:English

Declaration I

Hereby I declare that this Ph.D. thesis is my original work. The literature used in this work is listed in the References section.

Brno, April 1, 2011

Jana Svačinová

List of papers

The thesis is based on the following papers. These are referred in the text as Supplement I-III and enclosed in the Supplement section:

Suppl. I	Madlener S., Svačinová J., Kitner M., Kopecký J., Eytner R., Lackner A., Vo
	T.P.N., Frisch R., Grusch M., De Martin R., Doležal K., Strnad M., Krupitza G.
	(2009) In vitro anti-inflammatory and anticancer activities of extracts of Acalypha
	alopecuroidea (Euphorbiaceae). International Journal of Oncology 35 (4): 881-891.
Suppl. II	Šmejkal K., Svačinová J., Šlapetová T., Schneiderová K., Dall'Acqua S., Innocenti
	G., Závalová V., Kollár P., Chudík S., Marek R., Julínek O., Urbanová M., Kartal
	M., Csöllei M., Doležal K. (2010) Cytotoxic activities of several geranyl-substituted
	flavanones. Journal of Natural Products 73 (4): 568-572.
Suppl. III	Svačinová J., Novák O., Lenobel R., Plačková L., Hanuš J., Strnad M., Doležal K.
	A new miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation from plant tissues
	using pipette tip solid-phase extraction (manuscript in preparation).

Declaration II

I declare that my role in preparation of the papers listed above was as following:

- I. Co-author: preparation of *Acalypha* extracts and their fractions, testing of the cytotoxic activity by Calcein AM assay, manuscript preparation
- II. Co-author: testing of the cytotoxic activity by Calcein AM assay, manuscript preparation
- III. Joined first author: development, optimization and validation of StageTip purification method, UPLC-MS/MS measurements, manuscript preparation

Contents

1. Introduction	13
2. Aims and scopes	14
3. Literature review	15
3.1 Phytochemistry	15
3.2 Plants with potential therapeutic use in medicine	16
3.2.1 Taxonomic classification	16
3.2.2 Morphology	17
3.2.3 Phytochemical constituents	18
3.2.4 Biological activity	19
3.2.5 Practical applications	20
3.3 Plant secondary metabolites	22
3.3.1 Flavonoids and prenylated flavonoid derivatives	24
3.3.2 Purine derivatives	28
3.3.3 Purine-type plant hormones	36
3.4 Phytochemical methods	43
3.4.1 Extraction	43
3.4.2 Fractionation and purification methods	44
3.4.3 Identification and quantification methods	47
3.5 Cytotoxicity testing	50
3.5.1 Basic principles of cytotoxicity assays	50
3.5.2 Calcein AM cell viability assay	51
4. Materials and methods	53
4.1 List of chemicals	53
4.2 List of biological materials	54
4.3 List of solid-phase extraction materials	54
4.4 List of experimental equipment	54
4.5 Sample preparation and SPE purification	56
4.5.1 Acalypha alopecuroidea extract preparation	56
4.5.2 Liquid microextraction and pipette tip SPE	57
4.5.3 Blood plasma precipitation and SPE	57
4.6 HPLC fractionation	58
4.7 Cytokinin immunoaffinity extraction	59
4.7.1 Immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles	59
4.7.2 Immunoaffinity chromatography	59
4.8 Instrument conditions for substance identification	60
4.8.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy	60
4.8.2 HPLC/MS analysis	60
4.9 Instrument conditions for phytohormone quantification	61
4.9.1 Radioactivity measurement	61
4.9.2 Cytokinin UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis	61

4.9.3 Indole-3-acetic acid UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis	61
4.10 Calcein AM cell viability assay	
5. Results and discussion	64
5.1 Investigation of Acalypha alopecuroidea	64
5.1.1 Compound isolation and anticancer activity of isolated fractions	64
5.1.2 Biological activity of Acalypha extracts	70
5.1.3 Identification of isolated compounds	70
5.1.4 Synthetic analogues	75
5.2 Anticancer potential of geranylated flavanones	77
5.3 Miniaturized methods for phytohormone analysis	78
5.3.1 Isolation of cytokinins by new miniaturized method	78
5.3.2 Isolation of phytohormones from beaver blood samples	83
6. Conclusions and perspectives	86
7. References	90
8. Supplements	113

Abbreviations

2-Cl-9-GA	2-chloro-9-geranyladenine
2-Cl-N6-Me-9-GA	2-chloro-N6-methyl-9-geranyladenine
2D	two-dimensional
9-DMAA	9-dimethylallyladenine
9-DMAH	9-dimethylallylhypoxanthine
9-GA	9-geranyladenine
9-GH	9-geranylhypoxanthine
9-IPA	9-isopentenyladenine
A549	human lung adenocarcinoma epithelial cell line
AcCoA	acetyl-coenzyme A
ADP	adenosine-5'-diphosphate
AHK	cytokinin histidine kinase receptors
AK	adenosine kinase
AMP	adenosine-5'-monophosphate
APCI	atmospheric pressure chemical ionization
API	atmospheric pressure ionization
APPI	atmospheric pressure photo-ionization
APRT	adenine phosphoribosyltransferase
ATP	adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BA	N6-benzyladenine
BA9G	N6-benzyladenine-9-glucoside
BAR	N6-benzyladenosine
BARMP	N6-benzyladenosine-5'-monophosphate
BEH	bridged ethylsiloxane/silica hybrid technology
BJ	human normal fibroblasts
C4H	cinnamate 4-hydroxylase
cAMP	adenosine-3',5'-cyclophosphate
Cdc25A	cyclin division cycle 25 homolog A (dual-specificity phosphatase)
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase
CEM	human acute T-lymphoblastic leukaemia
CK	cytokinin
CKX	cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase
СоА	coenzyme A
COSY	correlation spectroscopy
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
CYC202	Seliciclib, (R)-roscovitine
CYP735A	cytochrome P450 monooxygenase
cZ	<i>cis</i> -zeatin
cZR	cis-zeatin riboside
DHZ	dihydrozeatin

DHZ9G	dihydrozeatin-9-glucoside
DHZOG	dihydrozeatin O-glucoside
DHZR	dihydrozeatin riboside
DMAPP	dimethylallyl diphosphate
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's cell culture medium
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DV41	human uterine fibroblasts
DW	dry weight
EMP	electromagnetic pulse
ESI	electrospray ionization
FAD	flavin adenine dinucleotide
FTICR	Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance
FW	fresh weight
GC	gas chromatography
GC/MS	gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
Gln	glutamine
Gly	glycine
GMP	guanosine-5'-monophosphate
GTP	guanosine-5'-triphosphate
HeLa	human cervical carcinoma cells
HIV	human immunodefficiency virus
HL-60	human promyelocytic leukaemia cells
HMBC	heteronuclear multiple bond coherence
HMBDP	hydroxymethylbutenyl diphosphate
HMQC	heteronuclear correlation through multiple quantum coherence
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HPLC/MS	high performance liquid chromatography with mass spectrometric detection
HSQC	heteronuclear single quantum correlation
HSV	herpes simplex virus
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cells
CHI	chalcone isomerase
CHS	chalcone synthase
IAA	indole-3-acetic acid
IAC	immunoaffinity chromatography
IAE	immunoaffinity extraction
IAG	immunoaffinity gel
IMP	inosine-5'-monophosphate
iP	N6-isopentenyladenine
iP9G	N6-isopentenyladenine-9-glucoside
iPR	N6-isopentenyladenosine
iPRDP	N6-isopentenyladenosine-5'-diphosphate
iPRMP	N6-isopentenyladenosine-5'-monophosphate

iPRTP	N6-isopentenyladenosine-5'-triphosphate		
IPT	adenosine phosphate-isopentenyltransferase		
IT	ion trap		
Κ	kinetin		
LOD	limit of detection		
LOG	cytokinin nucleoside-5'-monophosphate phosphoribohydrolase (lonely guy)		
m/z	mass-to-charge ratio		
MCF-7	human breast adenocarcinoma cell line		
MCF-7AL	human breast carcinoma cell line adriamycin resistant		
MDA-MB-468	estrogen independent human breast carcinoma		
MeOH	methanol		
MEP	methylerythritol phosphate pathway		
MNP	superparamagnetic iron nanoparticle		
MRM	multiple reaction monitoring mode		
MS	mass spectrometry		
MS/MS	tandem mass spectrometry		
mТ	<i>meta</i> -topolin		
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide		
MVA	mevalonate pathway		
N ¹⁰ -formyl THF	N ¹⁰ -formyltetrahydrofolate		
NAD	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide		
NGT	N-glucosyltransferase		
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy		
оТ	ortho-topolin		
PAL/TAL	phenylalanine/tyrosine ammonia lyase		
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline		
PDA	photodiode array detector		
PRAT	phosphoribosylpyrophosphate amidotransferase		
PRPP	phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate		
PT-SPE	pipette tip solid-phase extraction		
qQ	single quadrupole mass spectrometer		
QqQ	triple quadrupole mass spectrometer		
QqTOF	quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometer		
RPMI 8226	human multiple myeloma		
SPE	solid-phase extraction		
StageTip	STop And Go Extraction Tip		
TEUA	1,3,7,9-tetraethyluric acid		
THF	tetrahydrofurane		
TNF-α	tumour necrosis factor-alpha		
TOF	time-of-flight mass spectrometer		
t _R	retention time		
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid		

tRNA-IPT	tRNA-isopentenyltransferase	
tΖ	trans-zeatin	
tZ9G	trans-zeatin-9-glucoside	
tZOG	trans-zeatin O-glucoside	
tZR	trans-zeatin riboside	
tZRMP	trans-zeatin riboside-5'-monophosphate	
tZROG	trans-zeatin riboside O-glucoside	
U266	human multiple myeloma cells	
UHPLC	ultra-high performance liquid chromatography	
UPLC-ESI-MS/MS	ultra performance liquid chromatography with electrospray interface and tan-	
	dem mass spectrometric detection	
UPLC-MS/MS	ultra performance liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometric de-	
	tection	
UV	ultraviolet	
UV-DAD	ultraviolet-diode-array detector	
XMP	xanthosine-5'-monophosphate	
ZOGT	zeatin O-glycosyltransferase	
ZR	zeatin reductase	
λ_{max}	wavelength of maximum absorbance	

1. Introduction

From the beginning of human existence, people have been searching for plants useful in a prevention and treatment of various diseases. The ancient knowledge of traditional healing remedies has been kept in memory till this time and herbal medicines are still popular and used in a practice. Although the utilization of a whole plant or a crude plant extract for therapeutic purposes is advantageous, because of the complex action of the plant compounds and interactions between individual substances, there can be some difficulties and drawbacks though. The coexistence of more than one plant constituent can result in not only synergistic, but also antagonistic effects and undesirable changes of the bioactivity of individual compounds. The amount of the active constituents and the level of their activity are often dependent on the plant habitat, geographic area, climatic conditions, seasonal changes and the plant organ and morphology. The biological activity may be changed or lost depending on the method of plant collection and manipulation, the storage conditions of plant material and the method of extract preparation. The disadvantage of using the whole plant or crude plant extracts can be overcome by the identification and isolation of pure compounds. Treatment with an individual bioactive compound has several advantages, such as the ability to accurately control dose rates and reproducibility.

Today plants are collected and planted not only for therapeutic purposes, but also for deeper investigation of the pharmacologically active constituents. The analysis of plant metabolites can also lead to a better understanding of plant growth and development. The isolation of a compound is the start of the process leading to substance identification, elucidation of structure and determination of structure-activity relationships. The identification of the active compound is essential for the development of analytical methods for its determination and quantification. Afterwards, the particular analytical method can be used for an evaluation of the quality of plant drugs and therapeutic formulations in relation to the presence of the target compound. Substances isolated from plants often function as lead structures for a drug discovery and development of new pharmacologically active compounds with similar or higher pharmacological activity and lower side effects. Hence plants are one of the important sources for finding new drugs. A wide variety of plants used in traditional herbal medicine have still not been phytochemically investigated and they represent a hidden and potentially important source of future natural bioactive compounds.

2. Aims and scopes

The screening of new plant metabolites helps to discover new interesting pharmaceuticals from plant sources as well as to understand the plant growth and development. In general, the isolation, purification and analyses of biologically active natural compounds are complicated for occurrence of interfering substances in the complex plant matrix. Furthermore, the levels of some target compounds such as phytohormones are very low (in concentration range 0.01-100 pmol·g⁻¹ of fresh weight) and the use of high efficient purification protocols with modern analytical methods is necessary. Non-specific isolations accompanied by the application of different biological assays and analytical techniques are reasonable approaches for screening of unknown substances linked with known biological activity.

This doctoral thesis focused mainly on the method development of the different procedures for characterization of biologically active compounds. The modern phytochemical methods were applied to isolation and identification of plant secondary metabolites responsible for the anticancer activity, studied *in vitro* as cytotoxicity towards human cancer cell lines. Furthermore, a novel analytical approach for miniaturized purification of plant growth substances was designed for milligram amounts of biological samples.

The three main objectives elaborated and discussed in this doctoral thesis were as follows:

- 1. Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from Acalypha alopecuroidea.
- 2. Geranylated flavanones from Morus alba and Paulownia tomentosa and their anticancer potential.
- 3. Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material.

Each of the main topics has several goals and steps. Part of the work undertaken by the author of this thesis and some of the results included in objectives 1-3 are fully described in the multi-author papers attached as Supplements I-III. The author's personal contributions to these papers, together with details of non-published experiments, modifications, improvements, data and results, are discussed in Results and discussion.

3. Literature review

3.1 Phytochemistry

Phytochemistry is a branch of chemistry, which studies and classifies chemical compounds produced in plants called phytochemicals. In a narrower sense, the term is often used to describe the large number of secondary metabolic compounds found in plants (Matsumoto, 2008), which are known as secondary metabolites, secondary products, or natural products (Taiz et al., 2006). These plant constituents, firstly thought as functionless metabolic wastes, have important ecological functions. They protect plants against pathogens and herbivores, diseases or insect attack, they serve as attractants for pollinators, agents of competition between plants, agents of symbioses with microbes (Taiz et al., 2006), they can act as antioxidants or as signals in plants (Seigler, 1998). As a consequence these compounds exert interesting biological effects on other organism and they can exhibit beneficial effects for human consumers, they have significant ecological, economic and medicinal value (Hanson, 2003; Acamovic et al., 2005). Natural products have attracted interest, they have found use as essences, soaps, folk remedies and they have been studied as potential therapeutics (Hanson, 2003; Hopkins et al., 2003). Different methods of extraction, isolation and structure elucidation of natural products as well as various chromatography techniques are used in the field of phytochemistry to describe the large number of biologically active compounds produced by plants (Matsumoto, 2008).

3.2 Plants with potential therapeutic use in medicine

Three phytochemically interesting plant species, namely *Acalypha alopecuroidea*, *Morus alba* and *Paulownia tomentosa* were focused and studied in this thesis mainly for the anticancer activity of their extracts and constituents.

Acalypha alopecuroidea Jacq. commonly named foxtail copperleaf, tree-seeded mercury, yerba del cancer (Huerta et al., 2007), or rabo de gato, is a herbaceous annual weed, which belongs to the family Euphorbiaceae and is very similar to *A. arvensis. A. alopecuroidea* is traditionally used in Mayan medicine. In contrast to the rich knowledge of its use in traditional medicine, phytochemical studies of this species have never been performed. The plant is native to Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Haiti, Venezuela (Johnson, 1999) and is also found in Bermuda, Mexico, Central America, and the region from the West Indies to Venezuela. It can be found occasionally in South Florida as a weed in nursery liners. The plant is a weed of waste areas, open fields, rock flats, and disturbed soils (Artaud, 1995).

Morus alba L., commonly named as white mulberry, silkworm mulberry, "Shahtoot" (Urdu, Persian, Hindi) and known as "Tuta" in Sanskrit, is the dominant species of the genus *Morus* and with other over 150 species belongs to the family Moraceae. *M. alba* is medicinally important plant and it is a source of interesting bioactive natural compounds (Butt et al., 2008; Venkatesh et al., 2008; Dugo et al., 2009). A fruitless variety and a weeping cultivar of white mulberry "Pendula" are popular ornamental plants and roadside trees (Tutin et al., 1964; Zelený, 2005; Plants, 2010). *M. alba* is widely cultivated and even naturalized in many regions all over the warm temperate world (Butt et al., 2008; Venkatesh et al., 2008; Dugo et al., 2009). It is native to northern China, hilly areas of Himalaya (up to 3,300 m) and the region from India to Japan. It has been cultivated throughout Europe from the 12th century for leaves to feed silkworms (Tutin et al., 1964; Zelený, 2005; Venkatesh et al., 2008).

Paulownia tomentosa (Thunb.) Steud. commonly named as Empress tree, Royal Princess tree, Foxglove tree or "Pao tong" in Chinese and "Kiri" in Japanese, is an attractive, fast-growing, spreading, deciduous, popular ornamental tree belonging to family Scrophulariaceae (Rodd et al., 2008). *P. tomentosa* is native to central and western China and widely distributed throughout China, Korea, Japan, the United States and Brazil on waste places and disturbed areas including forests, streambanks, and steep rocky slopes (Leopold et al., 2003; Remaley, 2009; Rodd et al., 2008).

3.2.1 Taxonomic classification

Acalypha alopecuroidea (Hendrych, 1977)

Kingdom:	Plantae	Plants
Subkingdom:	Cormobionta	Vascular plants
Superdivision:	Spermatophyta	Seed plants
Division:	Magnoliophyta	Flowering plants
Class:	Magnoliopsida	Dicotyledons
Subclass:	Dileniidae	
Order:	Euphorbiales	
Family	Euphorbiaceae	Spurge family
Genus:	Acalypha L.	copperleaf
Species:	A. alopecuroidea Jacq.	foxtail copperleaf



Figure 1. Acalypha alopecuroidea Jacq. The photo was obtained from Dr. Richard Frisch (Institute for Ethnobiology and Maya Research, Guatemala).

Morus alba (Hendrych, 1977; Butt et al., 2008)

Kingdom:	Plantae	Plants
Subkingdom:	Cormobionta	Vascular plants
Superdivision:	Spermatophyta	Seed plants
Division:	Magnoliophyta	Flowering plant
Class:	Magnoliopsida	Dicotyledons
Subclass:	Hamamelididae	
Order:	Urticales	
Family:	Moraceae	Mulberry family
Genus:	Morus L.	mulberry
Species:	<i>M. alba</i> L.	white mulberry

ılar plants plants ering plants yledons erry family erry



Figure 2. Morus alba L. Photo by Luis Fernández García with Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 2.1.Spain Licence, http://commons.wiki media.org/ wiki/File:Morus_alba.jpg.

Paulownia tomentosa (Hendrych, 1977)

Kingdom:	Plantae	Plants	sia di
Subkingdom:	Cormobionta	Vascular plants	
Superdivision:	Spermatophyta	Seed plants	
Division:	Magnoliophyta	Flowering plants	18
Class:	Magnoliopsida	Dicotyledons	
Subclass:	Asteridae		
Order:	Scrophulariales		E Part
Family:	Scrophulariaceae	Figwort family	Figure 3. Paulonna
Genus:	Paulownia Siebold & Zucc.	paulownia	Photo by Meneerk
Species:	P. tomentosa (Thunb.) Steuc	l princesstree	wiki/Soubor:Paulow



ia tomentosa (Thunb.) Steud. ke Bloem with GNU Free ence, http://cs.wikipedia.org/ nia_tomentosa.jpg.

3.2.2 Morphology

Acalypha alopecuroidea Jacq. is a 10-70 cm high herb with a glandular pubescent stem and with wide-spreading branches from near the base. Leaves are simple and alternate, petioles are nearly as long or longer than the blade. The blade is broadly ovate, 3-7 cm long and 2-4.5 cm wide, prominently five-nerved, truncate to slightly cordate at base, the margins of the blade are serrate. Glandular trichomes are present on most shoot organs. Individual flowers are arranged in an inflorescence, which is a dense spike. Staminate flowers are minute, light green, in 3-9 mm long axillary spikes. Pistillate flowers are enclosed in a bract with bristle-like lobed appendages and they form cylindrical, catkin-like terminal or axillary spikes, which are 5-20 mm long (Artaud, 1995; Hayden, 2008).

Morus alba L. is small to medium size, short-living, fast-growing, deciduous tree, which grows up to 10-20 m and has large, brown, rough stems and slender smooth branches. Leaves are 6-18 cm long, not lobed on older trees, with ovate, rounded or obliquely cordate shape at the base and dentate, serrated or lobed margins. The leaves are usually smooth at the adaxial side, glabrous or pubescent only on the veins beneath. On young, vigorous shoots, the leaves may be up to 30 cm long, deeply and intricately lobed, with lobes rounded. The flowers are single-sex catkins, male catkins are 2-3.5 cm long and female catkins 1-2 cm long. Catkins of both sexes are present on each tree. The syncarp (infructescence of achenes enclosed in pulpy perigone) has a length of 1-2.5 cm and a deep purple colour in the wild species, in many cultivated plants it varies from white to pinkish or purplish colour. The fruit is edible long before it is ripe and it is sweet but bland. Seeds are widely dispersed by birds, which eat the fruits and excrete the seeds (Tutin et al., 1964; Hendrych, 1977; Bean, 1978).

Paulownia tomentosa (Thunb.) Steud. grows rapidly up to 10-25 m. This tree has large, broad, heart-shaped, three- to five-lobed leaves, which are 15-40 cm long, at maturity thick, dark green and nearly smooth above, paler and tomentose beneath, arranged in opposite pairs on the stem. The flowers have a tubular lilac blue to light purple corolla 4-6 cm long resembling a foxglove flower and are arranged on panicle inflorescences 10-30 cm long. The fruit is a dry, leathery, olive brown to bronze egg-shaped capsule 3-4 cm long, containing numerous tiny, dark, oval, lace-winged seeds ripening in autumn and dispersed by wind and water. Opened capsules remain on branches throughout the winter season. Pollard trees do not produce flowers (Leopold et al., 2003; Levy-Yamamori et al., 2004; Remaley, 2009; Rodd et al., 2008).

3.2.3 Phytochemical constituents

Acalypha alopecuroidea has not been investigated phytochemically till this time and only limited data concerning this plant are available. Constituents mentioned in the literature are neolignans, phenoles and organic acids (Martínez, 2003). In general, euphorbiaceous plants contain latex, oil, gum, polyphenols, alkaloids, cyanogenic compounds and highly toxic polypeptides in the seeds (Novák, 1961; Zelený, 2005). The presence of alkaloids, tannins, saponins, cardenolides (Soladoye et al., 2008), cyanopyridone glucosides (acalyphin) (Nahrstedt et al., 1982; Hungeling et al., 2009), terpenes (cycloartane type) (Gutierrez-Lugo et al., 2002), diterpenes (Siems et al., 1996), tetraterpenes (acalyphaser A) (Kambara et al., 2006), polyphenols and tannins (acalyphidins) (Amakura et al., 1999), flavonoids (Nahrstedt et al., 2006), anthocyanins (Bailoni et al., 1998; Reiersen et al., 2003), labdane derivatives in the oil (Meccia et al., 2006) and amides (Siems et al., 1996) was reported in *Acalypha* species. The bioactive constituents of *Acalypha* sp. might be responsible for the frequent use of these plants in traditional herbal medicine.

Morus alba is very rich source of natural phenolic compounds. The most abundant are anthocyanins such as cyanidin and its glucosides (Chen et al., 2006) and flavonoids such as quercetin, kaempferol and their conjugates (Kim et al., 1999a; Dugo et al., 2009), astragalin, isoquercitrin, skopolin (Doi et al., 2001), albanol A and B (Kikuchi et al., 2010) and mulberrofurane Q (Venkatesh et al., 2008; Kikuchi et al., 2010). M. alba is known for isoprene substituted flavonoids (prenylflavanes) (Doi et al., 2001). The ones which have attracted researches the most are kuwanon G and H (Nomura et al., 1994; Nomura et al., 1998; Nomura, 2001; Nomura et al., 2009). Other representatives of isolated prenylflavanes are kuwanon C, kuwanon J, chalcomoracin (Nomura, 2001), morusin (Nomura et al., 1998), moralbanone, leachianone G (Butt et al., 2008). Except flavonoids, a broad spectrum of other compounds was isolated from M. alba, e.g. a glycoprotein Moran 20K (Kim et al., 1999b), a polyhydroxylated piperidine alkaloid 1-deoxynojirimycin (Kim et al., 2003; Kimura et al., 2004; Kimura et al., 2007; Vichasilp et al., 2009), arylbenzofuran derivatives (moracin V-Y, mulberroside C) (Piao et al., 2009; Tian et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2010a), coumarin and stilbene glycosides (Piao et al., 2009), sterols (Fujimoto et al., 2000), chalcone derivatives (morachalcones B, C) (Yang et al., 2010b) and triterpenes (Böszörményi et al., 2009). The study of nutritional quality of leaves and fruits of M. alba showed that proteins, carbohydrates, fatty acids (linoleic acid, palmitic acid, oleic acid), fiber, tannic acid, minerals (iron, zinc, calcium, potassium, phosphorous and magnesium) and some vitamins or their precursors (ascorbic acid and beta-carotenes) are present in appreciable amount (Srivastava et al., 2003; Srivastava et al., 2006; Ercisli et al., 2007).

Paulownia tomentosa represents another species studied for the presence of phenylpropanoid compounds, e.g. lignans such as asarinin, sesamin, paulownin, isopaulownin, piperitol (Takahashi et al., 1966; Ina et al., 1987; Park et al., 1992); phenolic glycosides such as acteoside, coniferin, syringin (Sticher et al., 1982) and phenylpropanoid phenols such as verbascoside, isoverbascoside (Schilling et al., 1982). Epimeric phenylpropanoid (Kim et al., 2007) and phenylethanoid glycosides (isoilicifolioside A, ilicifolioside A, campneoside II and isocampneoside II) were detected in the wood (Si et al., 2008a). From the group of flavonoids, flavan-3-ols, catechins, naringenin, taxifolin, apigenin, luteolin, kaempferol and quercetin were isolated (Si et al., 2008b; Si et al., 2009). The most intensively studied group of phenylpropanoids occurring in P. tomentosa are geranylated flavanones represented by diplacone, diplacol, tomentodiplacone, hydroxydiplacone, mimulone, acteoside and isoacteoside, which have been extracted either from flowers, fruits, or as a secretion from the surface of immature fruits (Du et al., 2004; Jiang et al., 2004; Šmejkal et al., 2007a; Asai et al., 2008; Si et al., 2008b; Šmejkal et al., 2008a; Wollenweber et al., 2008). The group of iridoids and iridoid glycosides (7-hydroxytomentoside and tomentoside) was also found in P. tomentosa (Adriani et al., 1981; Damtoft et al., 1993). Several sesquiterpenes were isolated from the flowers (Cao et al., 2009), and furanoquinone compounds were extracted from the stem (Kang et al., 1999; Park et al., 2009). Chemical investigation of the glandular trichome exudates of the leaves resulted in identification of thirty acylglycerols (Asai et al., 2009). Other compounds such as triterpenic ursolic acid and its glycosides, alkaloids, monosacharides, tannic acid, fatty acid and phenolic acids were also isolated from P. tomentosa (Si et al., 2008c; Cao et al., 2009).

3.2.4 Biological activity

Acalypha alopecuroidea displays many biological effects. Consequently, this plant is used in traditional herbal medicine. Plant extracts have anodyne, carminative, diuretic, sedative, vulnerary and energizing effects (Johnson, 1999). The plant is recommended in case of flatulence and inflammation. Because of the latex content, it can cause contact dermatitis (Martínez, 2003). It has been proven that an aqueous extract of *A. alopecuroidea* exhibited antiinflammatory and antiarthritic effects. It acted both in the acute and chronic phase of inflammation and inhibited the growth of some enterobacteria (Zavala-Sánchez et al., 2009).

Morus alba is of a great therapeutic worth and potentially can be used for prevention and treatment of some diseases. Active ingredients need further *in vivo* exploration, which will enhance chances of commercial use of isolated compounds in medicine (Butt et al., 2008). *M. alba* possesses antibacterial (Nomura et al., 1988; Nomura et al., 2001; Park et al., 2003; Sohn et al., 2004), antifungal (Nomura et al., 1988) and antiviral activity against herpes simplex type 1 virus (HSV-1) (Du et al., 2003; Butt et al., 2008) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Venkatesh et al., 2008). Flavonoids and anthocyanins from *M. alba* have the potential to act as immuno-stimulating nutrients and they can play an important role as in the prevention and cure of disorders such as inflammation and cancer. Cyanidin 3-rutinoside and cyanidin 3-glucoside exert inhibitory effect on the invasion of human lung cancer cells (Chen et al., 2006), prenylated flavanones exhibit cytotoxic activity against rat hepatoma cells (Nam et al., 2002). Leaf extracts possess antiinflammatory and chemopreventive potential as a consequence of suppression of inflammatory mediators, inhibition of cyclooxagenase-2 activity, nitric oxide production and production of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) (Chung et al., 2004).

2003; Sohn et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2005). Some investigation examined the antiallergic potential of hot water extracts of mulberry leaves (Chai et al., 2005, Butt et al., 2008).

A high content of phenolic compounds with radical scavenging and antioxidant activity in leaves, root bark, fruits and stem supports a possible application of white mulberry extracts or their functional components to reduce *in vitro* and *in vivo* harmful oxidation processes (Doi et al., 2000; Du et al., 2003). Flavonoids such as quercetin and its glycosides (Sývacý et al., 2004; Enkhmaa et al., 2005; Katsube et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007), prenylflavanes and prenylflavane glycosides (Kim et al., 1999a; Doi et al., 2001), anthocyanins (cyanidin 3-rutinoside and cyanidin 3- $O-\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside) (Seeram et al., 2001; Konczak-Islam et al., 2002) display antioxidant potential. It has been shown that diet supplementation of antioxidants from white mulberry can enhance lipid resistance to oxidative modification (Seifried et al., 2007) and decrease the development of atherosclerosis and mortality from coronary heart disease (Enkhmaa et al., 2005; Katsube et al., 2006; Shibata et al., 2006). Free radical production is often associated with neurodegenerative disorders, hence mulberry extracts protect the brain against cerebral ischemia (Kang et al., 2006) and endothelial dysfunction (Seeram et al., 2007).

The hypolipidemic effect of the total flavonoid fraction from white mulberry leaves was confirmed (Chen et al., 2007; El-Beshbishy et al., 2006). Hypotensive compounds were found in the ethyl acetate extract of root bark (Venkatesh et al., 2008). The leaves, roots and root bark have antidiabetic potential (Singab et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2008). Much of the antidiabetic action can be attributed to the alkaloid 1-deoxynojirimycin, which is one of the most potent α -glycosidase inhibitors (Sývacý et al., 2004; Oku et al., 2006; Kimura et al., 2007) and moran 20K, which is similar to insulin and decreases the blood glucose level (Kim et al., 1999b; Butt et al., 2008; Venkatesh et al., 2008). Antityrosinase activity, which prevents the overproduction of melanin and which may be beneficial for skin depigmentation (Iozumi et al., 1993), was detected with mulberroside F and in extracts from leaves and root bark (Lee et al., 2002; Andallu et al., 2003; Khan et al., 2003; Butt et al., 2008).

Paulownia tomentosa and its extracts have been studied by many research groups to investigate their biological activity, which can be attributed to mainly flavonoid content. Investigations led to the detection of the antibacterial activity of geranylflavonoids (Šmejkal et al., 2008a; Šmejkal et al., 2008b) and sesamin (Cao et al., 2009); the antiviral activity of furanoquinone (Kang et al., 1999); the antiinflammatory activity of fruits (Tunon et al., 2009) and apigenin (Jiang et al., 2004); the antiasthmatic activity (Jiang et al., 2004; Cao et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2009); the cytotoxic and antiproliferative activity of geranylflavonoids (Šmejkal et al., 2008b) and apigenin (Jiang et al., 2004); the antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of geranylflavanones such as acteoside, isoacteoside, diplacone, diplacol (Šmejkal et al., 2007a; Šmejkal et al., 2007b; Asai et al., 2008), gallic and caffeic acid isolated from the leaves (Si et al., 2008c; Cao et al., 2009); the antihepatotoxic; vasculo-protected; vasorelaxant; spasmolithic activity and the antidiarrhoetic activity of apigenin (Jiang et al., 2004).

3.2.5 Practical applications

Acalypha alopecuroidea is used in traditional Mayan medicine in the form of a decoction or infusion to wash severe skin conditions and in large quantities per day as a tea for various stomach and urinary complaints (Arvigo et al., 1993). The plant is also recommended in the case of indigestion,

dyspepsia, diarrhoea, flatulence, asthma, bruises, sprains, infection, acute and chronic inflammations and cancer (Argueta, 1994; Johnson, 1999; Martínez, 2003).

Morus alba is cultivated through Europe for leaves, which are preferred feedstock for caterpillars of Bombyx mori (silkworms). The leaves are cut as food for livestock in some areas during dry seasons. Fleshy perianth of white, rose or red infructescences is consumable and sweet in taste. The fruits are eaten fresh or dried, made into juice, squashed and fermented to yield a spirit, added into dishes, pastry and desserts (Tutin et al., 1964; Bean, 1978; Venkatesh et al., 2008). The high quality proteins of mulberry leaves can be used with wheat flour to make parathas (Indian flat bread). Furthermore, a supplementation of mulberry powder improves the storage stability of wheat (Srivastava et al., 2003; Butt et al., 2008). The Chinese Pharmacopoeia from 1985 lists the leaves, root bark, branches, sap and fruits of M. alba as ingredients in medicinal preparations (Venkatesh et al., 2008). The fruits of white mulberry have cooling and laxative properties, they are used in case of digestive disorders (dyspepsia, loss of appetite, flatulence, constipation, intestinal worms) and urinary diseases (chronic nephritis, kidney asthenia), to tonify the blood and to promote urination, to treat fever, headache and melancholia, to reduce high blood pressure and high cholesterol, to prevent thrombus formation, to treat cerebral arteriosclerosis, heart diseases, diabetes and nasopharyngeal cancer. The fruits are also used to improve eyesight, to help in case of sore and dry eyes, to prevent alopecia areata, prematurely grey hair and aging (Doi et al., 2001; Venkatesh et al., 2008; Dugo et al., 2009). Mulberry tea made from leaves is claimed to be an antidiabetic drink in various Asian countries (Lee et al., 2008). The root is astringent and is one of the components of an oriental antidiabetic remedy (Butt et al., 2008). The bark is anthelmintic and used against chronic bronchitis, emphysema and asthma, to treat cough, wheezing, oedema and to promote urination (Venkatesh et al., 2008).

Paulownia tomentosa is an ornamental tree with a tropical appearance, which is grown for its large showy fragrant flowers and large leaves (Leopold et al., 2003). Pollard trees with characteristic large size, production of massive leaves and vigorous new growth every year are exploited by gardeners. These trees are popular features in modern gardens. P. tomentosa is very robust tree, it can survive wildfires and its roots can regenerate new, very fast-growing stems, but can not thrive when shaded by other taller trees. It functions ecologically as a pioneer plant, because it is tolerant to pollution and different soil types. Its leaves rich in nitrogen provide a good fertilizer and fodder and its roots prevent soil erosion (Hall, 2008; Fast, 2010). Carving the wood of P. tomentosa is an art form in Japan and China. The wood is strong, but soft and light and it is prized for its utilitarian and ornamental characteristics. It is very useful in the manufacture of furniture, toys, and crates, its outstanding resonant qualities make it suitable for musical instruments such as the Asian string instruments, the koto and the zither, which are made from P. tomentosa (Rodd et al., 2008). The timber is fire resistant and prevents clothes from being eaten by moths (Levy-Yamamori et al., 2004). The soft, lightweight seeds were used by exporters as a packing material for Chinese porcelain in the 19th century, before the development of polystyrene packaging. Parts of P. tomentosa have been used in traditional Chinese herbal medicine for a treatment of enteritis, tonsillitis, bronchitis and dysentery. The flowers are considered as the most important plant part (Chen et al., 2009). The stem bark of P. tomentosa has been used as a component of several remedies for treatment of infectious diseases such as gonorrhoea and erysipelas (Kang et al., 1999).

3.3 Plant secondary metabolites

Primary plant metabolites comprise the basic molecules of the cell (sugars, amino acids, proteins, lipids, nucleic acids) and are directly produced and involved in primary processes (photosynthesis, respiration). Other diverse organic molecules, which are produced by pathways derived from primary metabolic routes and which have no direct function in plant growth and development, are referred to as plant secondary metabolites. In practice, the distinction between primary and secondary metabolites is not easily made and there is an overlap between these two terms. In contrast with primary metabolites, secondary metabolites occur in relatively low quantities and they usually have restricted distribution among the plants. Each plant species produces a characteristic series of secondary metabolites, therefore these compounds can be used as taxonomic characteristic of plants (Seigler, 1998; Hopkins et al., 2003; Taiz et al., 2006).

Plant secondary metabolites can be classified according to different characteristics such as the composition, the chemical structure, the solubility in solvents or the metabolic pathway of their biosynthesis. The three major classes of plant secondary metabolites are terpenes (terpenoids, isoprenoids), phenolics (phenylpropanoids, polyphenols) and nitrogen-containing compounds (Hopkins et al., 2003; Taiz et al., 2006). Two significant metabolic pathways leading to both primary and secondary metabolites are the mevalonate pathway (mevalonic acid pathway, MVA) and shikimic acid pathway. Mevalonate pathway produces five-carbon compounds (isopentenyl pyrophosphate and dimethylallyl pyrophosphate), which are the basis for terpenoids. Shikimic acid pathway gives rise to aromatic acids (phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan), which are the basis for phenolics (phenylalanine) and some alkaloids (tyrosine and tryptophan) (Hopkins et al., 2003). A scheme of the major pathways involved in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and their connections with primary metabolism are shown in Figure 4 (Taiz et al., 2006).

Terpenes represent the largest class of secondary metabolites, which are composed of five-carbon units (C5 units, isoprene units). Compounds of this class are generally insoluble in water. Terpenes are classified according to the number of present C5 units to monoterpenes (two C5 units), sesquiterpenes (three C5 units), diterpenes (four C5 units), triterpenes (six C5 units), tetraterpenes (eight C5 units) and polyterpenoids (more than eight C5 units) (Taiz at el., 2006). Terpenes include essential oils, pigments (carotene, xanthophyl), hormones (giberellins, abscisic acid), sterols (ergosterol, sitosterol, steroid glycosides), sterol derivatives (cardiac glycosides) and latex. Cytokinins and chlorophyll, which do not belong to the class of terpenes, contain terpenoid side chain (Hopkins et al., 2003). Terpenes are biosynthesized in the mevalonate pathway from acetyl-coenzyme A (AcCoA) or in the methylerythritol phosphate pathway (MEP) from glycolytic intermediates (Taiz at el., 2006).

Phenolics represent a chemically heterogenous group of compounds, which contain a hydroxyl functional group on an aromatic ring. Some compounds of this class are water-soluble (carboxylic acids, glycosides), some are soluble only in organic solvents and polymers are insoluble. Phenolic compounds are classified according to their structure to simple phenolics (phenylpropanoids, phenylpropanoid lactones and benzoic acid derivatives), flavonoids, which contain two aromatic rings connected by a C3 bridge (flavones, flavonols, isoflavones, anthocyanins) and phenolic polymers (lignin, tannins). Phenolics are biosynthesized mainly by shikimic acid pathway from carbohydrate precursors via phenylalanine and cinnamic acid and by malonic acid pathway, which is significant in fungi and bacteria, but less important in plants (Hopkins et al., 2003; Taiz et al., 2006).

Nitrogen-containing compounds include alkaloids, cyanogenic glycosides, non-protein amino acids and sulfur-containing glucosinolates (thiglucosides). The majority of these compounds is biosynthesized from common amino acids (Taiz et al., 2006). Highly bioactive alkaloids are soluble in water and possess at least one nitrogen atom, which is usually part of heterocyclic ring. The exceptions are some aliphatic nitrogen compounds, which are also considered as alkaloids. Alkaloids are classified according to the predominant ring system presented in the molecule (quinoline, isoquinoline, indole, pyrrolizidene, quinolizidene, tropane, piperidine, and purine). Most alkaloids are biosynthesized from a few common amino acids (tyrosine, tryptophan, ornithines, arginine, and lysine), some representatives are generated from nicotinic acid (nicotine) and some are purine derivatives (caffeine) (Hopkins et al., 2003).



SECONDARY CARBON METABOLISM

Figure 4. A scheme of the major pathways involved in secondary metabolism and their interconnections with primary metabolism (Taiz et al., 2006).

Plant secondary metabolites have always been constituents of vegetarian diets of animals and men. They have shown to have significant biological effects when ingested (Acamovic et al., 2005) and their metabolites have been investigated and searched in animal kingdom (Le Page-Degivry et al., 1986; Schram, 1998; Schoch et al., 2000). Hence, the application of modern phytochemical methods on an animal material could be considered as one of the directions in the field of phytochemistry, which fade into animal biology and pharmacology. For example, the typical high fibre diet of beaver (Castor) can be the basic presumption of the presence of plant derived metabolites in beaver body fluids. Beavers are the second largest type of rodents (Nowak, 1999). They consume bark, sapwood, shoots and leaves of twigs and small branches of trees (Wilsson, 1971; Godin, 1977), such as poplar, willow, birch and alder (Nowak, 1999; Burton et al., 2002).

The following chapters are focused on the groups of phytochemicals, which were studied in this doctoral thesis.

3.3.1 Flavonoids and prenylated flavonoid derivatives

Flavonoids are one of the largest groups of plant secondary metabolites and play an important role not only in plants, but also in human and animal health, because they are an integral part of the diet. The multiple structural varieties of the basic flavonoid skeleton result in an extremely large number of compounds. More than 4,000 flavonoids, comprising 12 subclasses, have been identified in plants (Cook et al., 2006; De Rijke et al., 2006). Plant flavonoids are the goal of many scientists, because they exert a wide range of biochemical and pharmacological activities, they have obvious positive effects on human health and disease prevention and therefore they are investigated as treatment options against many chronic human diseases (Skibola et al., 2000).

3.3.1.1 Chemical structure

Flavonoids are low molecular weight polyphenolic substances. The structure is the determining factor of their biological activities and it is based on the phenylpropanoid flavan nucleus (C6-C3-C6 carbon skeleton) composed of three rings assigned as A, B, and C as shown in Figure 5. In fact, it is the chroman type skeleton with a phenyl substituent in the *C*2 or *C*3 position.



Figure 5. The basic structure and numbering system of flavonoids.



Figure 6. The structures of classes of flavonoids.

Flavonoids are classified into groups according to the structural feature around the heterocyclic ring (bond saturation, hydroxylation and ring position) (Peterson et al., 1998; Cook et al., 2006). Flavonoids can be diversified also within each group by prenylation. Differences in the prenylated position on aromatic rings, differing lengths of prenyl chain and further modifications of the prenyl moiety (cyclisation, hydroxylation) has resulted in approximately 1,000 prenylated flavonoids occurring in plants (Yazaki et al., 2009). The six major classes (Figure 6) of flavonoids are flavonols, flavones, flavanones, flavans (also called flavanols, catechins, leucoanthocyanidins, proanthocyanidins and tannins), isoflavonoids and anthocyanidins. Isoflavonoids differ from the common flavonoids in B ring orientation. Other flavonoid classes include dihydroflavonols, aurones, chalcones and coumarins (Peterson et al., 1998; Merken et al., 2000; Cook et al., 2006). The possible modifications of flavan nucleus are hydroxylation (in positions 3, 5, 7, 3', 4', 5'), hydrogenation, reduction, oxidation, alkylation, malonylation, sulphation, and glycosylation (Fowler et al., 2009). One or more of the hydroxyl groups can be methylated, acetylated, prenylated or sulphated (De Rijke et al., 2006).

Many natural flavonoids occur in the form of O-glycosides with sugar substituents bound to a hydroxyl group of the aglycone, usually located in position C3 or C7. Less frequent C-glucosides have the sugar moiety attached directly to the carbon of the aglycone usually C6 or C8. The most common sugars are glucose, rhamnose, glucorhamnose, galactose, arabinose and lignin (Cook et al., 2006). The sugars can be further substituted by acyl residues such as malonate and acetate. Flavonoid glycosides from the diet are hydrolysed by animal intestinal flora to biologically active aglycones (Peterson et al., 1998; Cook et al., 2006; De Rijke et al., 2006). Flavonoids can be monomeric, dimeric, oligomeric or polymeric. Polymeric flavonoids (condensed tannins, non-hydrolysable tannins, proanthocyanidins) are polymers of flavan-3-ol subunits (mainly epicatechin and catechin) attached by carbon-carbon bonds, which can not be cleaved by hydrolysis. They give characteristic colours, flavours, and astringency to plant drugs and extracts (Hagerman, 1998; Cook et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2008). The group of prenylated flavonoids is rich in structural variety and biological activity and is characterized by the presence of isoprenoid side chain attached to the heterocyclic ring. An isoprenyl (3,3-dimethylallyl), a geranyl (E-3,7-dimethyl-2,6-octadienyl), a 1,1-dimethylallyl or a lavandulyl (5methyl-2-isoprephenyl-hex-4-enyl) moiety is a part of the flavonoid structure (Chi et al., 2001; Sohn et al., 2004).

3.3.1.2 Natural occurrence in plants

Flavonoids are naturally occurring substances in fruits, vegetables, nuts, seeds, flowers and bark of many plant species (Cook et al., 2006). Flavonoids in plants have several functions as defence and signalling compounds in reproduction, pathogenesis and symbiosis (Maxwell et al., 1990; Stafford, 1990). They are involved in responses to and protection against oxidative injury (Swain, 1986), stress caused by UV radiation (Reuber et al., 1996; Heldt, 1997; Olsson et al., 1998; Zand et al., 2002), infection by fungal parasites (Harborne, 1988) and other pathogens and herbivore attack (Wang et al., 1998a). Flavonoids act in the production of root nodules after infection by *Rhizobium* in leguminous plants (Etherington, 1983), they give colour and odour to plants (Coultate, 1990), attract and guide pollinating insects (Biggs et al., 1978, Harborne, 1988; De Rijke et al., 2006) and produce stimuli to assist in pollination (Harborne, 1986; Cook et al., 2006).

Flavanones are the most abundant class of flavonoids and are found in citrus fruits (Peterson et al., 2006a; Peterson et al., 2006b), where they contribute to the flavour of citrus (naringin, hesperidin).

They occur also in chick peas, cumin, peppermint (hesperidin), hawthorn berry, rowanberry (narirutin and naringenin), licorice (liquiritigenin) (Kuhnau, 1976; Horowitz, 1986; Peterson et al., 1998). The group of flavones (apigenin, luteolin, nobiletin, neodismin) contributes to the taste of herbs (parsley, rosemary, and thyme), grains and vegetables (Herrman, 1976). From the group of flavonols, quercetin, kaempferol, myricetin and isorhamnetin, which occur in fruits and vegetables, are the best known (Herrman, 1976; Peterson et al., 1998). Isoflavonoids (genistein, diadzein, biochanin A, formononetin, coumesterol) occur predominantly in legumes, soya bean is the major source of genistein and daidzein (Franke et al., 1994; Mazur et al., 1996).

The next group of flavonoids is represented by coloured anthocyanins (delphinidin, cyanidin, petunidin, peonidin and malvidin) giving the blue and red colour to fruits and flowers. Anthocyanins may be complexed with flavones and metal ions such as iron and magnesium in flowers. The colour of anthocyanins depends on pH (red in case of low pH, shifting to blue with increasing pH (Herrman, 1976; Pierpoint, 1986). Flavans are rarely glycosylated, but can be polymerized or esterified with gallic acid. Monoflavans occur in ripe fruits and fresh leaves, biflavans and triflavans in fruits (Pierpoint, 1986; Peterson et al., 1998; Cook et al., 2006). Prenylated flavonoids have been isolated from a limited number of plant families especially Leguminosae, Moraceae, Asteraceae, Cannabaceae with few reports of pharmacological activities available to date. Prenylated polyphenols act in plants as protectants against pathogenic microorganisms and herbivores, they may serve as protection against abiotic environmental stresses like oxidative stress (Sohn et al., 2004).

3.3.1.3 Biosynthesis and metabolism

Flavanones as direct precursors of each flavonoid class are synthesized from the amino acids, phenylalanine or tyrosine. The enzyme phenylalanine/tyrosine ammonia lyase (PAL/TAL) converts phenylalanine and tyrosine into phenylpropanoic acids. Cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (cytochrome P450 enzyme, C4H) adds a 4'-hydroxyl group to phenylalanine aromatic ring. The coenzyme A (CoA) esters of aminoacids are subsequently synthesized from phenylpropanoic acids by the action of phenylpropanoyl-CoA ligases. The chalcone synthase (type III polyketide synthase, CHS) then catalyses the condensation of three malonyl-CoA moieties with one CoA-ester molecule to form chalcones. This is the first step leading to flavonoid biosynthesis. The chalcones are stereospecifically isomerised into (2*S*)-flavanones by chalcone isomerase (CHI) in an alkali environment and form the final flavanone structure (Figure 7). The generation of over 8,000 different chemical structures is the result of subsequent functionalisation and alteration of the flavan skeleton by the action of numerous enzymes (Fowler et al., 2009).

Prenylated flavonoids, namely kuwanons G and H, are considered to be formed through an enzymatic Diels-Alder reaction of a chalcone and a dehydro-kuwanon C or its equivalent. About forty kinds of Diels-Alder type adducts (e.g. kuwanon J, chalcomoracin) structurally similar to kuwanon G has been isolated from moraceous plants. A novel way of isoprenoid biosynthesis of prenylflavonoids through the junction of glycolysis and pentose-phosphate cycle was proposed in *Morus alba* callus tissue (Nomura, 2001). The biosynthetic pathway of prenylated flavonoids represents the crucial coupling reaction of two major metabolic pathways, the shikimate or polyketide (acetate/malonate) pathway providing an aromatic moiety (Knaggs, 2003) and the isoprenoid pathway derived from the mevalonate or methylerythritol phosphate pathway providing the isoprenoid side chain. Membrane-bound

flavonoid-specific prenyltransferases catalyse the key step of flavonoid prenylation in plants (Yazaki et al., 2009).



Figure 7. Detailed biosynthetic steps for flavanones and the diversification of flavonoids (Fowler et al., 2009). Abbreviations are defined in the text or as follows: 4CL, 4-coumaryl:CoA ligase; CHR, chalcone reductase; IFS, isoflavanone synthase; FHT, flavanone hydroxytransferase; FLS, flavonol synthase; FSI, flavon synthase; DFR, dihydroflavanone reductase; LAR, leucoanthocyanidin reductase; ANS, anthocyanidin synthase; 3GT, uridine flavanone-3-glucoside transferase.

3.3.1.4 Biological activity and benefits for humans

Flavonoids have been reported to exhibit a wide range of biological effects, including antibacterial, antiviral, antiinflammatory, analgesic, cytostatic, antiallergic, estrogenic (isoflavonoids) and vasodilatory (Cook et al., 1996; Bravo, 1998). Flavonoids also reduce capillary permeability and fragility, inhibit lipid peroxidation, platelet aggregation and the activity of enzymes (cyclooxygenase, lipooxygenase, protein kinase, tyrosine protein kinase and topoisomerase II). Flavonoids also act as antioxidants, free radical scavengers and chelators of divalent metal ions (Cook et al., 1996; Cao et al., 1997; Heim et al., 2002; Williams et al., 2004). Flavonoids may prevent *in vivo* free radical mediated cytotoxicity and lipid peroxidation, which is associated with cell aging and chronic diseases, and are proposed as anticarcinogens and cardioprotective agents on account of their positive effects on the human body (Cook et al., 1996; Manthey et al., 2001; Kinghorn et al., 2004).

Flavonoids are believed to be non-toxic at the usual levels of dietary intake, but they are often consumed by human in dietary supplements in doses exceeding the normal concentrations in vegetarian diets. Despite of beneficial effect, a potential toxicity can be connected with excessive flavonoid intake. Several studies have shown mutagenic, genotoxic, pro-oxidant, DNA damaging activity of flavonoids in a number of *in vitro* assays, when using high doses in experimental system (Peterson et al., 1998; Skibola et al., 2000). Flavonoids are common components of natural medicines. Preparations containing rutin and diosmin are used to increase vascular tone, anthocyanins from bilberry improve vision. The whole family Labiaceae is a source of traditional herbal medicines where, with the exception of flavonoids, terpenes and saponins also play an active role (Peterson et al., 1998).

Prenylated flavonoids also act as active compounds in medicinal plants and a few reports of pharmacological activities of prenylated flavonoids is available (Iinuma et al., 1992; Kang et al., 2000; Chi et al., 2001; Son et al., 2001). Proven biological activities include anticancer, antibacterial and antiparasitical (Wang et al., 1998b; Sohn et al., 2004; Shakil et al., 2007), antileishmania (Yazaki et al., 2009), antiandrogen, antioxidant, and antiinflammatory activity, inhibition of cyclooxygenases, lipooxygenases, tyrosinases and glucosidases (Kimura et al., 1986; Chi et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2002; Yazaki et al., 2009), cytochrome P450 interactions (Hodek et al., 2002), prevention of osteoporosis and enhancement of collagen synthesis in the skin (Tielens et al., 2008). Prenylated flavonoids contribute to the antiinflammatory effect by reduction of TNF- α , suppression of nitric oxide production and cytotoxic protein kinase C, and inhibition of platelet aggregation (Yazaki et al., 2009). Prenylated flavonoids are more hydrophobic than the non-prenylated ones. Consequently they may more easily penetrate through the cell membrane and skin barrier when used topically. Plants containing various types of prenylated flavonoids as the major constituents have been used as antiinflammatory agents in Chinese medicine (Chi et al., 2001). The prenyl moiety often plays a crucial role in divergent biological activities of these prenylated compounds (Yazaki et al., 2009).

3.3.2 Purine derivatives

The heterogenous group of purines is the most widely distributed group of *N*-heterocycles in nature. As a consequence of many possible modifications to the purine skeleton, this group includes a broad range of biologically active compounds, ensuring many essential functions and involved in numerous metabolic processes. Purine alkaloids, purine bases of nucleic acids, cytokinins, and purine nucleoside antibiotics can be named as representatives of this group of natural compounds. Many synthetic derivatives have also been prepared and examined for their biological activities. The name purine was first used by Emil Fischer, who synthesized a colourless crystalline weak purine base for the first time in 1899 from uric acid isolated from gallstones by C.W. Scheele in 1776 (Rosemeyer, 2004).

3.3.2.1 Chemical structure

The basic chemical structure of purines (imidazo[4,5-d]pyrimidine) is shown in Figure 8. Many of purine derivatives were isolated long before their structures were elucidated and are generally described by trivial names in the literature. The compounds like adenine, hypoxanthine, guanine, isoguanine, xanthine, and uric acid are the basic structures, which can be further modified by methylation, alkylation, glycosylation to give the active natural components as demonstrated in Figure 9 (Rosemeyer, 2004).



Figure 8. The basic chemical structure and numbering system of purines.

3.3.2.2 Natural occurrence in plants

Purines can occur in nature in the form of free bases, nucleosides (*N*-glycosides) and nucleotides. The unsubstituted purine base does not occur in the nature. The simplest natural purine form is the ribonucleoside nebularine (9- β -D-ribofuranosylpurine), which is an antibiotic isolated from the mushroom *Agaricus nebularis* (Rosemeyer, 2004). Adenine derivatives are of the highest importance in living organisms and they are essential molecules found in all cell. Adenosine-5'-triphosphate (ATP) is a storage form of energy, adenosine-3',5'-cyclophosphate (cAMP) acts as a second messenger regulating the activation of protein kinases in the cell as well as in transcription and other metabolic processes. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) participate as coenzymes in cellular reduction/oxidation processes. Acetyl-coenzyme A, which possesses high C2-group transfer potential, is another example of a molecule containing purine with biological importance. Furthermore, nucleic acids are composed of equal amounts of pyrimidine and purine nucleotides, which form the double helical structure of nucleic acids (Rosemeyer, 2004).

3.3.2.3 Biosynthesis and metabolism

The biosynthesis of the purine ring and nucleotide metabolism are basic metabolic functions in all living organisms, and are essential processes in plant development. Nucleotides can be supplied to a plant organism by salvage reactions, which convert corresponding free nucleobases and nucleosides into nucleotides and thus recycle nucleotides for everyday needs (Zrenner et al., 2006). As a consequence, the requirement for *de novo* purine biosynthesis in differentiated cells is small and the activity of this metabolic pathway is relatively low. New purine rings are only synthesised when DNA is replicated (Smith et al., 2002; Boldt et al., 2003).

The first basic step for *de novo* purine biosynthesis is catalysed by phosphoribosylpyrophosphate amidotransferase (PRAT) which uses phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) and glutamine (Gln) as substrates (Figure 9). Simple molecules such as CO_2 , Gln, glycine (Gly), N¹⁰-formyltetrahydrofolate (N¹⁰-formyl THF) are substrates for subsequent reactions. Inosine-5'-monophosphate (IMP) is the final product and also the starting purine nucleotide providing the basic purine nuclei for further structural modifications and synthesis of other purine nucleotides, xanthosine-5'-monophosphate (XMP), adenosine-5'-monophosphate (AMP) and guanosine-5'-monophosphate (GMP) (Smith et al., 2002; Boldt et al., 2003; Stasolla et al., 2003).

AMP and GMP provide a purine base for the formation of nucleic acids (DNA and RNA), nicotinamide and flavine coenzymes, coenzyme A, and for the signalling molecule (cAMP). AMP is also the precursor of the phytohormones, cytokinins. ATP and guanosine-5'-triphosphate (GTP) participate in the energy metabolism of the cell, ATP providing energy for many chemical reactions. Both xanthosine and xanthine are used as precursors for secondary metabolites such as purine alkaloids (caffeine, theobromine, theofyline), and their further oxidation give rise to ureides, allantoin and allantoic acid. Purines also regulate the synthesis of amino acids, phospholipids, glycolipids, sugars and polysaccharides. Nucleotides are degraded to simple metabolites and permit the recycling of phosphate, nitrogen, and carbon into central metabolic pools (Smith et al., 2002; Boldt et al., 2003; Stasolla et al., 2003; Zrenner et al., 2006).



Figure 9. Diagram of *de novo* purine biosynthesis and metabolism in plant cells (Smith et al., 2002). Abbreviations are defined in the text or as follows: PRA, phosphoribosylamine; GARS, glycinamide ribonucleotide synthetase; GAR, glycinamide ribonucleotide; GART, glycinamide ribonucleotide transformylase; FGAR, formylglycinamidie ribonucleotide; FGARAT, formylglycinamide ribonucleotide amidotransferase; FGAM, formylglycinamidine ribonucleotide; AIRS, aminoimidazole ribonucleotide synthetase; AIR, aminoimidazole ribonucleotide; AICR, aminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide synthetase; SAICAR, succinoaminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide; AICR, aminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide transformylase; FAICAR, succinoaminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide transformylase; FAICAR, succinoaminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide transformylase; FAICAR, formylaminoimidazolecarboximide ribonucleotide transformylase; Pi - inorganic phosphate; XDH/XO, xanthine di-hydrogenase/oxidase; NADP, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate.

3.3.2.4 Biological activity and benefits for humans

Some nucleosides have therapeutic potential in human nutrition and diseases. As an example, the combination of inosine and the p-(acetylamino) benzoate salt of 1-(dimethylamino) propan-2-ol (Inosiplex®) is administered as a stimulating agent for normal human T-cells and human leukocytes. The sodium salts of inosine- and guanosine-5'-monophosphate are widely used as flavour enhancers in food industry (Rosemeyer, 2004).

Modern purine research makes efforts to find new agonists and antagonists of the purine receptors with pharmacological potential and use in medical practice. Adenosine receptors in the human body (sub-types A1, A2A, A2B, A3 are currently known) play an important role in regulation of blood pressure, they are involved in regulation of pain signal transmission. A3 receptors are over-expressed in certain tumour tissues. A3 receptor stimulation using A3 agonists can inhibit growth of some cancer cells. New A2A agonists are helpful in the treatment of asthma as an alternative to traditionally used glucocorticoides (Rosemeyer, 2004). Different types of modified purines and nucleosides have been found and isolated as marine metabolites and display potent bioactivites, such as the antifungal (phidolopine), hypotensive (1-methylisoguanosine, known as doridosine), and cytotoxic activity in the case of mycalisines. Spongothymidine and spongouridine served as models for the development of marine-derived commercially available drugs, such as adenine-arabinoside used for treatment of *Herpes simplex* infections and cytosine-arabinoside for treatment of leukaemia (Lindsay et al., 1999a).

3.3.2.5 Selected groups of naturally occurring purines

The vast majority of common natural purines and their nucleosides occur as mono- or polymethylated derivatives. The methylation reactions are very important metabolic pathways (Rosemeyer, 2004).

N-methylated purines and purine nucleosides

The most widespread methylated purines are methyl derivatives of xanthine (3,9-dihydro-purine-2,6-dione). 1-methylxanthine together with uric acid is present in human urine in very high concentrations (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Chemical structure of xanthine, methylated derivatives of xanthine and uric acid.

Caffeine (1,3,7-trimethylxanthine) is the most important purine alkaloid occurring in coffee beans and in tea leaves. Caffeine is linked by non-covalent bonds to chlorogenic acid in unroasted coffee beans and to tannic acids (gallic and ellagic acid) in tea leaves. Caffeine is an adenosine antagonist and influences the human central nerve system by inhibition of a cAMP-specific phosphodiesterase. Therefore, the cAMP is not converted to AMP and prolongs the effect of adrenalin-mediated cAMP. Caffeine has addictive effects and a dose of 100 mg stimulates metabolism, heart function and respiration, increases blood pressure and body temperature and promotes blood vessel constriction in the intestines and vasodilatation in brain (Waldvogel, 2003; Rosemeyer, 2004). Theophylline (1,3dimethylxanthine) is found together with caffeine in tea plants. Both compounds have diuretic effect. Theophylline has bronchodilatant effects and is an active component of antiasthmatic medicines. Theobromine (3,7-dimethylxanthine) is the main xanthine component in cocoa bean. These compounds were used as lead structures for synthesis of modern medicine such as 1-(5-oxohexyl)theobromine, which is a potent inhibitor of TNF- α , decreases blood viscosity and is prescribed for patients suffering from tinnitus. *N*-methyladenine, *N*,*N*-dimethyladenine (Figure 11) and methylated adenosines are regular components of transfer-RNA (tRNA) (Rosemeyer, 2004).

A relatively wide range of simple methylated purine derivatives was isolated from marine organisms as secondary metabolites with no obvious benefit for the producing organisms, some of these compounds exhibited pharmacological activity. Herbipolin (7,9-dimethylguanine with betaine structure, Figure 11) was isolated from giant silica sponge and it is a representative of purines carrying several methyl groups on the imidazole ring (Rosemeyer, 2004). 1,3-dimethylisoguanine (Figure 11) is active against human ovarian cancer cells. 3,7-dimethylisoguanine has antibacterial potential (Lindsay et al., 1999b; Rosemeyer, 2004). 1-methylherbipolin (1,7,9,-trimethylguanine) is an inhibitor of collagenase (Yagi et al., 1994). 1,3,7-trimethylguanine and 1,9-dimethylhypoxanthine (Figure 11) have also been isolated from marine sponges (Capon et al., 2000).



Figure 11. Chemical structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyladenine, herbipolin, 1,3-dimethylisoguanine and 1,9-dimethyl-hypoxanthine.

Heteromines A, B and C (Figure 12) similar to herbipolin are used to treat certain tumours in traditional Taiwan medicine (Lin et al., 1996). The group of alkaloids agelasines (7,9-dialkylpurinium salts) is structurally related to herbipolines, the diterpenoid side chain is attached to N7 of adenine nucleus. Agelasines (Figure 12) are associated with antimicrobial and cytotoxic activity, contrastive responses of the smooth muscles and inhibition of sodium-potassium pump (Na,K-ATPase) (Nakamura et al., 1984; Fathi-Afshar et al., 1988; Vik et al., 2007).



diterpenoid side chain of agelasine A

Figure 12. Chemical structure of heteromines (R = -NH₂ (A), -NHMe (B), -NMe₂ (C)) and agelasines.

8-oxopurines were also isolated from marine organisms and are mainly thought to be the main products of oxidative damage to DNA purine bases. This group is represented by 6-methoxy-7-methyl-8-oxoguanine, phosmidosine and aplidiamine with labile *N*-glycosidic bond of a purine 2'-deoxyribonucleoside (Itaya et al., 1999; Lindsay et al., 1999a).

Only a few naturally occurring methylated purine nucleosides have been detected besides the methylated adenosines. 7-methylguanosine is the 5'-terminal nucleoside in mRNA and has an important role in mRNA splicing procedures (Rosemeyer, 2004). Doridosine (1-methylisoguanosine) extracted from the marine sponges acts as an A1-receptor agonist, binds to the human benzodiazepine receptor and has blood pressure reducing and heart rate slowing properties (Fuhrman et al., 1980).

N-alkylated purines and purine nucleosides

Besides methylated purines a large number of higher alkylated purines can be found in the nature. The most important of them is the group of phytohormones cytokinins described in more details in another section of this thesis. Discadenine (Figure 13) isolated from the slime mold *Dictyostelium discoideum* also possesses cytokinin activity and is an inhibitor of slime mold spore germination (Obata et al., 1973; Abe et al., 1976).



Figure 13. Chemical structure of discadenine and eritadenine.

N9-alkylated adenines were isolated from the Japanese Shii-take mushroom *Lentinus edodes*, which is consider as a life elixir. Eritadenine (Figure 13) showed hypocholesteremic effect and improves the cholesterol transport along the blood vessels. N9-(3-oxoprop-1-enyl)purines as well as N3-(3-oxoprop-1-enyl)pyrimidines are cytotoxic to a variety of tumour cells. Other example of higher-alkylated purine system is higher-alkylated adenine alkaloids (Rosemeyer, 2004). Alkaloid triacanthine (6-amino-3-(γ , γ -dimethylallyl)purine) was the first detected and isolated from the tree *Gleditsia triacanthos* (Leonard et al., 1962). A group of interesting tricyclic purine alkaloids asmarines contain [1,4]diazepino[1,2,3-gh]purine skeleton and was isolated from the Red Sea sponge *Raspailia*. Asmarines exhibited significant toxicity towards various tumour cell lines (Yosief et al., 1998; Ohba et al., 2002).

N-glycosylated purines

N-glycosylated purines are mainly represented by natural purine nucleoside antibiotics and antimycotics. Many of them were isolated a long time ago, but the structure was fully elucidated only recently. Some of these compounds were used as leading structures for the development of new chemotherapeutic agents from the group of purine antimetabolites, which are characterised by extraordinary structural features. The sinefungins (Figure 14) are active against fungi, viruses, and some tumour cell lines. Compounds of this group contain an ornithine side chain at the 5'-deoxyadenosine nuclei. The side chain may simulate the *S*-adenosylmethionine and hence inhibit methyltransferase reactions (Boeck et al., 1973; Fuller et al., 1978). Amipurimycin (Figure 14) (Harada et al., 1977) and miharamycin contain 2-aminopurine which is otherwise not found in nature (Rosemeyer, 2004).

The sugar moiety was recognized as heptuluronic acid (Fairbanks et al., 1995). Septacidin (Figure 14) is unusually glycosylated by aminoaldoheptose with a coupled branched fatty acid at the exocyclic amino group of adenine (Fasman, 1975). Agrocin (Figure 14) is the only known *N6*-phosphoramidate with bound glucofuranose and is an inhibitor of the induction of crown gall tumours by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (Roberts et al., 1977; Suhadolnik, 1979).



Figure 14. Chemical structure of sinefungin, amipurimycin, septacidin and agrocin.

Crotonoside (isoguanosine) was isolated from *Croton tiglium* and later from the butterfly *Prioneris* thestylis and from the slug *Diaulula sandiegensis* (Fuhrman et al., 1981; Rosemeyer, 2004). Isoguanosine and 2-aminoguanosine are the only known natural guanine nucleoside antibiotics. Di- and triphosphates of isoguanosine strongly inhibit glutamic acid dehydrogenase (Mantsch et al., 1975).

The series of purine nucleoside antibiotics acting as inhibitors of protein biosynthesis can be found in nature with following examples: puromycin, nucleocidin, ascamycin and its dealanyl derivative, trachycladine A, kumusine (Rosemeyer, 2004). Cordyceptin (3'-deoxyadenosine) inhibits the phosphoribosylpyrophosphate amidotransferase and hence acts as a feedback inhibitor of purine nucleotide biosynthesis (Rottman et al., 1964). Thuringiensin (Figure 15) is a potent insecticide that acts as an inhibitor of DNA-dependent RNA polymerases (Šebesta et al., 1969a; Šebesta et al., 1969b).



Figure 15. Chemical structure of thuringiensin, psicofuranine, decoyinine and oxetanocin A.

Spongosine (2-methoxyadenosine) represents one of the rare cases in which the 2'deoxyribonucleoside is present (Suhadolnik, 1979). Nebularine (9-2'-deoxy- β -ribofuranosylpurine) is a highly toxic nucleoside from *Agaricus nebularis* which exerts its toxicity as a very potent inhibitor of adenosine deaminase (Suhadolnik, 1979; Evans et al., 1970; Brown et al., 1994). The only currently known ketose adenine nucleoside antibiotics found in nature are psicofuranine and decoyinine (Suhadolnik, 1979) (Figure 15), which act as non-competitive inhibitors of xanthosine-5'monophosphate aminase and therefore inhibitors of GMP synthesis. Oxetanocin A (Figure 15) is the natural tetrose nucleoside, which exhibits both antibiotic and anti-HIV activity (Hoshino et al., 1987; Hambalek et al., 1990).

The group of griseolic acids (Figure 16) isolated from *Streptomyces griseoaurantiacus* contain a bicyclic 1,4:3,6-dianhydrohexitol derivative as sugar moiety and show inhibitory activity against cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (Nakagawa et al., 1985; Pickering et al., 1997). A powerful herbicide herbicidin B (Figure 16) is substituted by the more complicated tricyclic undecose as sugar substituent (Ichikawa et al., 1999). The adenophostines (Figure 16) are potent agonists of the inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate receptor and possess a high potential as regulators of many physiological processes (Takahashi et al., 1994; Rosemeyer, 2004). One big disappointment in purine nucleoside antibiotic research is the fact that these compounds are too toxic and none of them exhibits an acceptable therapeutic gap to be used clinically. One of the most toxic non-protein substances is a reduced purine derivative saxitoxin (Figure 16), which is produced by a group of dinoflagellates (*Alexandrium cantenella*). It is a potent and extremely selective sodium channel blocker having no effect on potassium or calcium channels. The danger could be in poisoning of humans via the food chain resulting in a syndrome called paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) (Schantz et al., 1966; Scheuer, 1977).



Figure 16. Chemical structure of griseolic acid, herbicidin B, adenophostine A and saxitoxin.

3.3.2.6 Synthetic purine derivatives

Synthetic purine analogues have been prepared and studied by many research groups in an attempt to find new potent compounds for cancer therapy and as agents against viral, bacterial and fungal diseases. Also synthetic purine analogues can be incorporated in normal cell metabolism and then they act like false metabolites called antimetabolites. Particular groups of antimetabolites differ in the type of chemical modification of the basic purine core. Some examples of selected synthetic purine derivatives and their biological and pharmacological effects are given in this section. The focus is given to *N9*-substituted purines, which were also studied in the experimental section of this thesis.

The group of acyclic analogues exhibit high biological activity and significant resistance against chemical and biological degradation due to absence of a glycosidic bond. The flexibility of the acyclic chain enables the compounds to adapt with suitable conformation for interaction with an active site of the enzyme or receptor. For this reason several α -branched acyclic adenosine analogues with side chain attached at N7- or N9- position were synthesised and can be used as starting materials for other acyclic adenosine analogues (Hocková et al., 1999; Marek et al., 2002). N9-polymethylene derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine substituted with functional groups in the ω -position of the alkyl substituent were prepared and the effects on the HIV reverse transcriptase and human DNA topoisomerase I, which are the targets of most of the known antiviral and antitumour drugs, were examined (Makinsky et al., 2001). N9-pentylarginin-hypoxanthine derivative increases immune functions both *in vitro* and *in* *vivo* experiments (De Simone et al., 1993). 3,9-diemthylhypoxanthines (Itaya et al., 1977; Itaya et al., 1985) and 7- and 9-methoxymethyl-hypoxanthines, as well as bismethoxymethyl-hypoxanthins were synthesized (Madre et al., 1986). The activity of hypoxanthine, adenine, and 6-chloropurine substituted at the N9-position with alkyl and cycloalkyl groups against human epidermal carcinoma cell line (either sensitive to 6-mercaptopurine or resistant to 6-mercaptopurine) were tested and it was found that some of the tested compounds showed an inhibitory effect on the cell lines used (Kelley et al., 1962).

The reason for synthesis of acyclic nucleoside analogues was the fact that a guanosine analogue, acyclovir, was found to be active against herpes viruses (especially HSV-1 and HSV-2) and is used to treat virus infections. Ganciclovir is other acyclic guanosine anologue active against human cytomega-lovirus infection. 6-(alkylthio)purines and 9-alkyl-2-aminopurine-6-thiols expressed activity against adenocarcinoma and leukaemia cells. Some alkenyl purines, such as 2-penten-1-yl and 3-methyl-2-buten-1-yl derivatives of 5-aminothiazolo(4,5-d)pyrimidine-2,7,-dione, have been found to be more active against cytomegalovirus than ganciclovir in similar experiments *in vitro* (Rao et al., 1995). 4-aminopyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidine exhibited significant inhibition of TNF- α production in the human monocytic leukaemia cells together with poor toxicity profile (Rao et al., 1997). Serotonine-like 9-substituted hypoxanthine derivatives possess unexpected pharmacological effects such as inhibition of the monoamineoxidases activity, positive effects on obesity, increase of the serum cholesterol and the level of high density lipoprotein (Glasky, 1999). The synthesized 9-(3-oxoprop-1-enyl) derivatives of adenine and guanine displayed high cytotoxicity towards a variety of tumour cell lines and inhibited macromolecular synthesis in cultured human cervical carcinoma cells (HeLa). Also this group of compounds can be further studied as a new class of cytotoxic agents (Johnson et al., 1984).

3.3.3 Purine-type plant hormones

Phytohormones are natural organic compounds with an ability to affect physiological processes in plants at concentration far below those of nutrients and vitamins. Phytohormones do not fulfil the same requirements as mammalian hormones, but the essentiality and crucial role in controlling growth and development are common. Auxin was the first identified plant hormone, isolated as a compound which caused coleoptile cell elongation. Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) is the major natural auxin and produces a response at a distance from the place of synthesis (Hooykaas et al., 1999; Davies, 2004). To date, plant hormones have been studied in different plant species, for instance, in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, which is used as a model plant in molecular biology and plant physiology. *Arabidopsis* is a small, spring, annual, flowering plant with a relatively short and rapid life cycle (six weeks). The genome of *A. thaliana* is one of the smallest plant genomes and it became the first completely sequenced plant genome (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, 2000). These properties are advantageous for research and *A. thaliana* has become the model organism of choice for research in plant biology, plant molecular biology, and genetics (Meyerowitz et al., 1994; Meinke et al., 1998; Bomblies et al., 2010).

Purine-type plant hormones, cytokinins (CKs), can be briefly characterized as a group of phytohormones that promote a cell growth, division and differentiation in plant tissue cultures in the presence of another plant hormone, auxin (Davies, 2004). Nowadays, this group includes a large set of natural and synthetic compounds which are adenine or phenylurea derivatives. CKs are of great interest to many scientists and both natural and synthetic compounds exhibiting an cytokinin activity are widely studied. The first described cytokinin, kinetin, was isolated by Skoog and Miller in 1955
from autoclaved products of herring sperm DNA (Miller et al., 1955) and is present in human urine (Barciszewski et al., 2000). Zeatin was the first isolated plant cytokinin from Zea mays (Letham, 1963). Its trans- and cis-isomers differ in their biological activity and function (Spiess, 1975). Isopentenyladenine was isolated as the free base from Corynebacterium fasciens (Hall et al., 1971). Interestingly, CKs have been previously found also in animals, e.g. in the salivary glands of the moths Stigmella argyropeza and S. argentipedellacose (Rosemeyer, 2004). Isopentenyladenine is an atypical base present in the tRNA of mammals, which is released into the cytosol and body fluids as a result of tRNA turnover (Chheda et al., 1972; Schram, 1998).

3.3.3.1 Chemical structure

The naturally occurring cytokinins are adenine derivatives which can be classified according to the configuration of their side chain at the N6-terminus as either isoprenoid or aromatic cytokinins. Both are naturally occurring (Figure 17). Small variations in side chain structure such as the presence of hydroxyl groups occur in both CK type, affect the interaction with CK receptors and signify the functional specificity (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006).

Structure of	CKs	CK-type	\mathbf{R}_1	R ₆
		N6- isopentenyladenine (iP)		
(-SCH ₃) R ₁ NH NH R ₄ NH R ₅ NH R ₅ NH NH R ₅ NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH NH N	$\begin{array}{c} R_{1} \\ NH \\ N_{1} \\ \beta \\ \beta \\ -D \\ -D \\ -glucose \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \beta \\ -D \\ -glucose \\ \beta \\ -D \\ -glucose \\ alanine \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \beta \\ -D \\ -glucose \\ \beta \\ -D \\ -glucose \\ alanine \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \beta \\ -D \\ -glucose $	<i>trans</i> -zeatin (tZ)	OR ₆	$\begin{array}{l} \beta\text{-}D\text{-}glucose\\ \beta\text{-}D\text{-}xylose \end{array}$
		<i>cis</i> -zeatin (cZ)	OR6	β-D-glucose
		dihydrozeatin (DHZ)	OR ₆	β-D-glucose β-D-xylose
		N6- benzyladenine (BA)		
methylthiol β-D-glucose		ortho-topolin (oT)		β-D-glucose
		<i>meta</i> -topolin (mT)	OR ₆	β-D-glucose
		<i>para</i> -topolin (pT)		β-D-glucose

Figure 17. Cytokinins and their conjugates with sugars, sugar phosphates, and others, O-glycosylation of the side chain (Sakakibara, 2006; Novák et al., 2008). Studied cytokinin derivatives are displayed in Supplement III.

Cytokinins with isoprenoid side chain are classified into four basic molecules: N6-isopentenyladenine (iP), *trans*-zeatin (tZ), *cis*-zeatin (cZ) and dihydrozeatin (DHZ) (Kamada-Nobusada et al., 2009). Especially those with an unsaturated *trans*-hydroxylated N6-side chain, such as tZ, iP and their sugar conjugates, are by far the most represented. DHZ with a saturated side chain has been identified in many species, while cZ is generally a minor component (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006).

Kinetin (K) and N6-benzyladenine (BA) are the representatives of aromatic cytokinins with ring substitutions at the N6-position of adenine nucleus. *Meta*-topolin (mT) and *ortho*-topolin (oT) are hydroxylated forms of BA which occur naturally, together with their nucleosides, nucleotides, and *O*-glucosides (Strnad, 1997). Their methoxy-derivatives (*ortho*-methoxytopolin, *meta*-methoxytopolin) as well as BA were detected only in some plant species (Horgan et al., 1973; Ernst et al., 1983; Nandi et al., 1989; Strnad, 1997; Baroja-Fernández et al., 2002; Hauserová et al., 2005).

The third group of phenylurea derivatives represents synthetic highly active cytokinins, not occurring naturally in plant tissues. Diphenylurea was the first phenylurea derivative with cytokinin activity discovered. Although it was first detected in liquid coconut endosperm (Shantz et al., 1955), it is now considered to be a contaminant from prior chemical analysis (Mok et al., 2001). The discovery was followed by synthesis of a number of potent analogues such as N-phenyl-N'-[2-chloro-4-pyridyl]urea and thidiazuron with cytokinin activity and stability exceeding zeatin. The major metabolites are glucosyl derivatives (Shudo, 1994; Mok et al., 2001).

3.3.3.2 Natural occurrence in plants

Cytokinins appear in plants mainly as free bases, nucleosides (ribosides), glycosides (O- and N-glucosides) and nucleotides (ribotides) and are generally present at very low concentrations (pmol·g⁻¹ fresh weight) (Hauserová et al., 2005). The occurrence, distribution and variation of individual cytokinins depend on plant species, tissue, and developmental stage. The group of isoprenoid cytokinins is the most abundant. It is not clear yet if the distribution of aromatic cytokinins is limited to only a few species or if they are more ubiquitous in plants (Mok et al., 2001). Although CKs are probably present in every tissue and they have been found in roots, stems, leaves, flowers, fruits and seeds, traditionally the root tips were considered to be the main site of cytokinin biosynthesis (Letham et al., 1983). However, according to recent research, the roots are not the only place of cytokinin biosynthesis in the plant (Miyawaki et al., 2004; Kudo et al., 2010).

3.3.3 Biosynthesis and metabolism

The molecular mechanism of biosynthesis and the signal transduction of CKs have been elucidated recently due to the identification and characterization of key pathway genes encoding enzymes and proteins with control function in CK biosynthesis and signalling. On the basis of these findings a basic model for the CK biosynthesis pathway was proposed (Sakakibara, 2006; Hirose et al., 2008; Kamada-Nobusada et al., 2009; Werner et al., 2009; Kudo et al., 2010) and is shown in Figure 18.

The initial step in the biosynthesis of isoprenoid CKs is catalysed by two classes of isopentenyltransferases, adenosine phosphate-isopentenyltransferase (IPT) and tRNA-isopentenyltransferase (tRNA-IPT). IPT (Kakimoto, 2001) is responsible for the synthesis of iP- and tZ-type CKs (Miyawaki et al., 2006), when adenosine-5'-phosphates (AMP, ADP, or ATP) are *N*-prenylatated at the N6-terminus by dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP) or hydroxymethylbutenyl diphosphate (HMBDP). DMAPP is synthesized via the methylerythritol phosphate pathway (MEP) and mevalonate pathway (MVA) located in the cytosol of eukaryotes. HMBDP is a metabolic intermediate of the MEP pathway, which is formed only in plastids of higher plants. The isoprenoid side chain of iP-and tZ-type CKs predominantly originates from the MEP pathway (Kakimoto, 2001; Sakakibara, 2006), whereas a substantial portion of the cZ side chain in *Arabidopsis* is provided by the MVA pathway (Kasahara et al., 2004). The plant IPTs are believed to utilize predominantly DMAPP and ADP or ATP as precursors to form N6-isopentenyladenosine-5'-diphosphate (iPRDP) and N6-isopentenyladenosine-5'-triphosphate (iPRTP) as reaction products (Kakimoto, 2001; Hirose et al., 2008).



Figure 18. Current model of isoprenoid cytokinin biosynthesis pathways in *Arabidopsis* (Sakakibara, 2006; Hirose et al., 2008; Kamada-Nobusada et al., 2009; Werner et al., 2009). Abbreviations are defined in the text or as follows: 1, phosphatase; 2, 5'-ribonucleotide phosphohydrolase; 3, adenosine nucleosidase; 4, purine nucleoside phosphorylase; 5, zeatin *cis-trans* isomerase; tZRTP, *trans*-zeatin riboside-5'-triphosphate; tZRDP, *trans*-zeatin riboside-5'-diphosphate; iP7G, N6-isopentenyladenine-7-glucoside; iP9G, N6-isopentenyladenine-9-glucoside; Ade, adenine; Ado, adenosine; βGlc, β-glucosidase; t/cZOG, *trans/cis*-zeatin O-glucoside; t/cZROG, *trans/cis*-zeatin riboside O-glucoside; Z7G, zeatin-7-glucoside; Z9G, zeatin-9-glucoside.

The tZ-type compounds can be formed by two possible pathways, the iP nucleotide-dependent and the iP necleotide-independent (Sakakibara, 2006). In the iP nucleotide-dependent pathway, *trans*-hydroxylation of the side chain of iP nucleotides is catalysed by the cytokinin *trans*-hydroxylases (cytochrome P450 monooxygenases) CYP735As in *Arabidopsis* (Takei et al., 2004). In the iP nucleotide-independent pathway, tZ nucleotides are produced directly by IPT using a hydroxylated side-chain precursor HMBDP (Åstot et al., 2000). In summary, if DMAPP is a substrate for the IPT, the product is iP nucleotide, when HMBDP is taken as substrate, tZ is formed (Sakakibara, 2006). The cZ-type CKs are generated by tRNA-dependent pathway from tRNA species containing prenylated adenine core. The prenylation of tRNA using DMAPP from the MVA pathway is catalysed by tRNA-IPT. Subsequent hydrolysis of *cis*-hydroxy isopentenyl tRNAs is capable of forming cZRMP (Kasahara et al., 2004; Miyawaki et al., 2006). It was proven that the degradation of prenylated tRNA is the main pathway to supply cZ in *Arabidopsis* (Miyawaki et al., 2006).

CK nucleotides are converted to their active free-base form by two possible pathways. In the two step pathway the nucleotides are dephosphorylated to the ribosides (Chen et al., 1981a) and then

deribosylated to free bases (Chen et al., 1981b). The cytokinin nucleoside-5'-monophosphate phosphoribohydrolase (LONELY GUY, LOG) (Kurakawa et al., 2007) directly converts CK nucleotides to the free bases. Reversely, nucleotides can be formed by the phosphorylation of nucleosides catalysed by adenosine kinase (AK), or directly from free bases by the phosphoribosylation catalysed by adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT). APRTs have broad substrate specificity and act both on CK bases and on adenine (Mok et al., 2001; Kamada-Nobusada et al., 2009).

The main enzymes of CK degradation are cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenases (CKXs), which selectively catalyse the irreversible cleavage of unsaturated N6-isoprenoid side chains and convert active cytokinins to adenine. CK bases and nucleosides are sensitive, nucleotides are not susceptible. Different CKX gene expression, regulated by biotic and abiotic factors, contributes to specification of the catalytic properties of individual CKX enzymes and their localization and is important for regulation of cytokinin catabolism and functions (Galuszka et al., 2000; Bilyeu et al., 2003; Galuszka et al., 2005; Werner et al., 2006). Aromatic CKs and cZ are resistant to CKXs which recognize the double bond of the isoprenoid side chain (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006).

An important CK modification reaction is glycosylation, which has been observed at the hydroxyl group of the prenyl side chain of tZ, cZ, and DHZ (*O*-glucosides or *O*-xylosides), at the N3, N7 and N9 position of adenine core (*N*-glucosides) and at the ribose moiety of cytokinin nucleosides (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006). *O*-glucosylation is reversible and serves as an important reaction in regulating the level of active cytokinins. *O*-glucosides represent stable, inactive storage forms of CKs, because they are resistant to CKX attack, but they are ready to be converted to active aglycone by β -glucosidase (Brzobohatý et al., 1993; Sakakibara, 2006). The existence of *trans*- and *cis*-specific zeatin *O*-glycosyltransferases (ZOGTs) fortifies the precision of metabolic regulation (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006). *N*-glucosylation is catalysed by *N*-glucosyltransferases (NGT), which recognize quite a large number of adenine derivatives as substrates, and is irreversible. *N*-glucoconjugates are not efficiently cleaved by any of plant β -glucosidases (Entsch et al., 1979; Brzobohatý et al., 1993).

The highly specific zeatin reductase (ZR) catalyses the reduction of the *trans*-zeatin side chain to dihydrozeatin, which is resistant to cytokinin oxidases. This may consequently conserve CK activity, especially in tissues with high levels of oxidases (Martin et al., 1989). c*is*-Zeatin and *trans*-zeatin can be enzymatically interconverted by zeatin *cis*-trans isomerase (Bassil et al., 1993). This represent a possible conversion of the *cis*-isomer, derived from the indirect tRNA-dependent cytokinin biosynthesis pathway, to the active *trans*-zeatin and hence the contribution to the synthesis of tZ from cZ (Taller, 1994; Prinsen et al., 1997).

The biosynthetic and degradation pathway of aromatic cytokinins remains unknown. No enzymes mediating the substitution of adenine with a benzyl ring have been identified up to date. The enzymes and receptors of isoprenoid CKs recognize aromatic CKs. The glycosylation of aromatic CKs and their interaction with the cellular signalling system appear to be shared with isoprenoid CKs. A precursor suggested for topolin is the amino acid phenylalanine (Mok et al., 2001; Hirose et al., 2008).

De novo cytokinin biosynthesis is tissue and cell specific. The expression of key pathway genes is upregulated or down-regulated by internal and external factors such as phytohormones including CKs themselves, auxin, and abscisic acid and by inorganic nitrogen sources (Nordström et al., 2004; Takei et al., 2001; Takei et al., 2002). The interdependent regulation of phytohormones is responsible for morphogenetic responses of plants to environmental stimuli (Sakakibara, 2006).

3.3.3.4 Biological activity in plants

Cytokinins play a crucial role in plant grow and development. They act at various sites in the plant body and coordinate plant functions as long-distance messengers as well as local paracrine signals. The action of CKs is often masked by interaction with other phytohormones, either synergistically or antagonistically (Mok, 1994; Galinha et al., 2009). In plants, CK free bases are considered to be the most active forms, which may be related to rapid uptake and high intrinsic activity. CK ribosides display almost the same biological effects as free bases, whilst CK nucleotides and glucosides show only weak or no activity (in bioassays based on bonding of substrate on CK receptors) (Spíchal et al., 2004; Yonekura-Sakakibara et al., 2004). The levels of active CK in plants are determined by the rate of their degradation, inactivating conjugation and release of free bases from their conjugates representing translocation or depot forms. Local CK composition in organs and tissues at particular stages of development may be more important than total CKs in plants (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006).

The three forms of CK are transported to the target cells differentially. Selective transport is based on the capability of plant cells to absorb CK bases and nucleosides, and on the accumulation of tZtype CK in xylem and iP- and cZ-type in phloem (Sakakibara, 2006; Hirose et al., 2008). The major CK forms in the xylem are nucleosides (mainly tZR), which act as a root-to-shoot acropetal signal (Sakakibara, 2006; Hirose et al., 2008). Phloem CKs play role as a basipetal or systemic signal (Hirose et al., 2008). Free bases are present in xylem and phloem (Sakakibara, 2006). Transport of CK bases across the plasma membrane shares the same proton-coupled multiphasic transport systems with purine derivatives and nucleosides (Cedzich et al., 2008). Some members of the purine permease family with broad substrate specificity (Gillissen et al., 2000; Bürkle et al., 2003) and equilibrative nucleoside transporter family (Hirose et al., 2005; Hirose et al., 2008) appear to be involved in the selective transport of CK nucleosides (Kudo et al., 2010). The identification of CK receptors and detailed analysis of their ligand specificity led to a better understanding of the relative activity of different CKs (Kakimoto, 2003). At least three CK histidine kinase receptors (AHKs) were identified in Arabidopsis (Suzuki et al., 2001; Yamada et al., 2001). Structural modifications of the side chain or modifications of adenine moiety impute specificity of the CK-receptor interaction. CK bases are the primary ligands for receptors, sugar conjugates are less active or inactive (Spíchal et al., 2004; Yonekura-Sakakibara et al., 2004; Mizuno et al., 2010).

CKs, in conjunction with auxin, regulate the plant cell proliferation and differentiation (Galinha et al., 2009; Nieuwland et al., 2009), control essential processes in plant growth and development such as delay of senescence, apical dominance, root and shoot branching, chloroplast development and phylolotaxis (Mok, 1994; Werner et al., 2001; Hirose et al., 2008). Cytokinins control balance between shoot and root, transport nutritional signals such as nitrogen nutrient signal from roots to shoot (Takei et al., 2001; Takei et al., 2002) and regulate reproductive competence (Ashikari et al., 2005). It is also known, that CKs participate in the maintenance of meristem function (Werner et al., 2003; Nieuwland et al., 2009) and in the modulation of metabolism and morphogenesis in response to environmental stimuli (Werner et al. 2001; Sakakibara 2006, Hirose et al., 2008).

3.3.3.5 Synthetic cytokinin derivatives and benefits for humans

Both natural CKs and their synthetic analogues have been tested in various assays for cytokinin activity, cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitory activity and anticancer activity (among others) with the aim of discovering useful substances for further CK research, and with applications in agriculture

or medicine. Cytokinins can be conceivably used to optimize agronomic characteristics (Mok et al., 2001; Eckardt et al., 2003) and for further improvement of agricultural outputs (Kudo et al., 2010). Besides cytokinin activity, the natural cytokinins can affect growth and differentiation of human cells. They were found to inhibit various protein kinases such as CDKs, which play an essential role in the regulation of the cell division cycle and their alterations are associated with human tumour development (Veselý et al., 1994; Vermeulen et al., 2002a). The proapoptotic and anticancer activities of natural CKs have been demonstrated in a variety of cultured tumour cell lines (Voller et al., 2010).

During recent decades, many compounds derived from the natural cytokinin structures have been prepared and intensively studies. Screening of chemically synthesized aromatic cytokinin-derived inhibitors of CDK activity led to the discovery of olomoucine (6-(benzylamino)-2-[(2hydroxyethyl)amino]-9-methylpurine), (R)-roscovitine (6-(benzylamino)-2(R)-[[1-(hydroxymethyl)propylamino]-9-isopropylpurine), bohemine, purvalanols, olomoucine II and other C2-, C6-, N9trisubstituted adenines, which exerted different levels of inhibitory activity on CDK1 and CDK2 (Havlíček et al., 1997; Meijer et al., 1997; Kryštof et al., 2002; Vermeulen et al., 2002a; Vermeulen et al., 2002b; Kryštof et al., 2005). The discovered antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of CK derived CDK inhibitors suggest that these compounds are a perspective class of cytostatic agents and that they may find an application in the chemotherapy of cancer, as reviewed recently (Diaz-Padilla et al., 2009; Wesierska-Gadek et al., 2009; Galons et al., 2010; Kryštof et al., 2010). (R)-roscovitine (CYC202, Seliciclib) exhibited the best profile both in vitro studies and in vivo pharmacokinetic behaviour (Fischer et al., 2005; Raynaud et al., 2005) and showed highly selective inhibitory effects for rapidly proliferating cells in comparison with normal ones (McClue et al., 2002). As a consequence, (R)-roscovitin was chosen as a lead CDK inhibitor drug, which selectively inhibits multiple cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK2/E, CDK2/A, CDK7 and CDK9). Nowadays, it is being evaluated in the APPRAISE trial (Phase 2b randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study) as a third line treatment in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, and in a randomized Phase 2 study as a single agent in patients with nasopharyngeal cancer (Cyclacel, 2010a; Cyclacel, 2010b; Cyclacel 2010c).

A group of synthetically prepared N6-benzyladenine and N6-benzyladenosine derivatives with different phenyl ring substitutions were found to be very active in different cytokinin bioassays, but to a much lower extent they were able to interact with the cytokinin receptors. Some of the prepared derivatives displayed high cytotoxic activity against various cancer cell lines. This effect may be caused by the inhibition of CDK activity in these cells. The results from the antitumour assay and human recombinant CDK2 inhibition assay were helpful to design novel trisubstituted compounds potent as CDK inhibitors and inducers of apoptosis in cancer cells (Doležal et al., 2006; Doležal et al., 2007). Kinetin (6-furfuryladenine) has been intensively studied as a potent anticancer, antioxidant and antiaging natural substance (Minorsky, 2003; Griffaut et al., 2004; Barciszewski et al., 2007; Rattan, 2008). Nowadays, the improved chemical modification has a significant growth-stimulating and antisenescence activity towards human skin fibroblasts and is commercially distributed under the name Pyratine[™] by Senetek PLC as antiaging skin care (Pyratine-6, 2010; PyratineXR, 2010).

3.4 Phytochemical methods

The basic challenging steps in investigation of pure natural products are the isolation of individual substances from the plant matrix, chemical analysis and identification of the compound, as well as testing its biological activity. The phytochemical approach to the isolation and analysis of a plant metabolite can vary according to a character of plant material, group of targeted compounds as well as availability of methods and instruments. The isolation procedure has been described in many publications and articles both from the general point of view (Starmans et al., 1996; Sarker et al., 2006; Colegate et al., 2008) and from the point of particular groups of plant metabolites (Hooykaas et al., 1999; Davies, 2004).

The procedure leading from the plant material to the elucidated structure will be explained in this theoretical part in relation to the protocols and methods used in the experimental part of this thesis. Preparation of the plant material and extraction procedure may be assigned as the first step of compound isolation. Subsequently, the crude extract is cleaned-up and fractionated to isolate a group of structurally related compounds, which are further separated to obtain pure individual compounds. Finally, the individuals are identified and/or quantified.

3.4.1 Extraction

Extraction from plant material is a procedure in which different solvents with ability to extract plant components are used under specific conditions such as the time and temperature. The purpose of extraction is to remove desired compounds from the plant material to the solvent. The selection of an optimal solvent can maximize yields of target compounds and minimize the extraction of unwanted balast. The number of possible solvents is very broad, starting with polar solvents such as water and methanol on one side, ending with non-polar solvents such as hexane and heptane on the other side. The extraction can be further improved by the use of a solvent mixture and specific extraction conditions. The chemical character and solubility of the compounds of interest are the main factors influencing the choice of solvent. The quotation "similia similibus solvuntur" (like dissolves like) should be kept in mind, polar compounds can be dissolved and extracted in polar solvents and nonpolar compounds in non-polar solvents.

Prior to the extraction procedure, antioxidants may be added to prevent enzymatic reactions and decomposition of analytes. Internal (stable isotope) standards (²H, ¹⁵N, ¹³C) are often used as internal tracers to control losses at each stage of extraction and purification and to increase the precision during quantification of isolated target compounds. It may be useful to perform several trial extractions using different solvents and conditions and then compare total yield of extract or target compounds or intensity of biological activity to see which method gives the best results. The plant material used for extraction can be fresh, air-dried of freeze-dried, and should be well homogenized in mill or with a mortar and pestle to improve the efficiency of extraction. The simplest way of extraction in case of small amounts of plant material (0.01-10 g) is maceration. It is recommended to repeat the extraction with a new portion of fresh solvent. The plant material should be almost completely exhausted after three solvent changes. Then the collected supernatants are evaporated if necessary prior to further purification (Sarker et al., 2006; Colegate et al., 2008).

3.4.2 Fractionation and purification methods

The target analytes are extracted from the plant material usually as a mixture of compounds with similar physical and chemical properties and they need to be separated to individuals and then identified. Isolation of a pure compound from crude extract or fraction is often time consuming, expensive and requires several separation steps involving different chromatographic techniques. Generally, conventional methods such as low pressure column chromatography (using silica gel, polyamide, Sephadex LH-20) and preparative reversed-phase high pressure liquid chromatography are the most often used to fractionate crude extract and isolate pure substances (Cannel et al., 1998; Colegate et al., 2008).

3.4.2.1 Solid-phase extraction

Solid-phase extraction (SPE) is a very efficient method for isolation, purification and concentration of analytes from relatively large volumes of liquid mixture. SPE is based on affinity of solutes dissolved or suspended in a liquid for a solid sorbent. It can offer initial fractionation of a crude extract, separation of target analytes from other substances present in extract and also sample clean-up and concentration prior to high performance liquid chromatographic separation. SPE is more efficient than liquid/liquid extraction. The selection of the most suitable SPE product for target analytes depends on the physical and chemical properties of analytes (Hennion, 1999; Poole et al., 2000; Sarker et al., 2006; Colegate et al., 2008).

SPE extraction cartridges and disks are produced by many companies and they are commercially available in a wide variety of chemistries, sorbents, retention mechanisms and sizes. The basic types of stationary phases are the reversed-phase, normal-phase, ion-exchange and mixed-mode phase, which differ in their retention mechanisms. The majority of stationary phases are based on silica with bound specific functional groups, including hydrocarbon chains of variable lengths, e.g. C8, C18 (reversed-phase), quarternary ammonium or amino groups (anion exchange) and sulfonic acid or carboxyl groups (cation exchange) (Hennion, 1999; Poole et al., 2000; Sarker et al., 2006; Colegate et al., 2008). DEAE-Sephadex (cross linked dextran) can also be used as SPE sorbent. It combines the advantages of cellulose and resin ion exchangers, the diethylaminoethyl (DEAE) functional group remains charged and maintains a high capacity over the pH range 2-9 ensuring a weak basic anion exchange retention mechanism (DEAE, 2007).

Except the chemically modified silicas, highly cross-linked copolymers and functionalized copolymers are available in different functionalities such as mixed-mode sorbents, restricted access matrix sorbents, immunosorbents and molecular imprinted polymers (Hennion, 1999). More modern copolymer-based stationary phases overcome some of the disadvantages of the traditional silica-based sorbents. The copolymer-based sorbents bring new benefits such as high retention and capacity for a wide spectrum of analytes. The desired adsorption properties of these sorbents are kept also when the sorbent pores run dry, whilst the retention of analytes by classical silica-based sorbents in this case is reduced and the resulting recovery is very poor. The general procedure consists of conditioning and equilibration of the SPE sorbent and subsequent loading the liquid sample (extract dissolved in a weak solvent) onto sorbent. Then balast components are washed with weak solvent, the desired analytes are eluted with strong solvent and the eluate is evaporated to dryness (Waters, 2010a).

3.4.2.2 Immunoaffinity extraction

Immunoaffinity extraction (IAE) is a highly effective type of SPE, which enables a specific isolation of analytes of interest from the complex liquid sample. The method is based on a specific molecular recognition and a selective, highly affinity antibody-antigen interaction. Specific antibodies against the target molecules are immobilized to a solid support and bind analytes by specific non-covalent interactions. After washing non-bound compounds away, the captured analytes are released from the interaction with antibodies. IAE provides selective sample enrichment and is useful in the field of biomedical and biological analysis where co-extraction of analytes at trace concentrations with interfering substances at much higher concentration is a serious problem (Yarmush et al., 1992; Hage, 1999; Hennion et al., 2003). IAE can be performed in different ways; as immunoaffinity extraction in a batch configuration (Hauserová et al., 2005), or immunoaffinity chromatography (IAC) using a column arrangement (Novák et al., 2003). Immunoaffinity extraction was developed for different groups of plant metabolites such as plant hormones occurring at very low levels in plants, where a highly selective purification step is necessary (Novák et al., 2003; Hradecká et al., 2007; Pěnčík et al., 2009).

Immuno-based extraction sorbent can be characterised by several parameters which need to be controlled and optimised when developing a new purification method. The bonding density of the immunosorbent is defined by the number and density of antibodies linked to the surface of the sorbent, and is usually expressed in mg·ml⁻¹ of sorbent bed or mg·g⁻¹ of sorbent. The value of this parameter determines the future antigen-binding capacity. The capacity corresponds to the total number of accessible binding sites. The specificity and affinity of the antibodies used determines the group of analytes which an antibody can bind, and is usually not the same towards different members of the analyte group. The stronger the affinity of the immobilized antibodies for a particular analyte, the higher is the extraction recovery for a given sample volume. Extraction recovery through the purification procedure gives information about the specificity of antibodies and is determined with help of a mixture of labelled standards added in exact amount to the sample. From the amount of standards added and yielded after the IAE, the percentage recovery is calculated (Novák et al., 2008).

Cross-linked reactivity of antibodies ensures that all compounds with the same binding epitopes can be bound, extracted from the liquid sample and then separated by analytical techniques. A loss of analytes can occur due to the overloading of the capacity or due to an insufficient retention. The design of antibodies defines the potential of immunosorbent (Hennion et al., 2003). Polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies differ in their interaction with antigens. Polyclonal antibodies are a mixture of many antibody varieties, each responding to different epitopes by slightly different mechanism. Slightly different elution conditions are required to remove all the antigen molecules from polyclonal antibodies. Monoclonal antibodies always bind one specific epitope by the same combination of noncovalent bonds and the effective elution can be achieved by one type of elution solvent.

Appropriate buffer conditions for binding and elution of antigen from antibody vary and also need optimisation. Antibody-antigen binding is usually most efficient in aqueous buffers at physiological pH and ionic strength such as phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), subsequent elution can be achieved by the change in pH or in the ionic state to disrupt the binding interaction without irreversibly denaturing or inactivating antibodies or antigens (Optimize, 2004). The already developed basic method for IAE of cytokinins (Vaňková et al., 1998; Novák et al., 2003) was modified and applied in this thesis.

3.4.2.3 High performance liquid chromatography

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), sometimes called high pressure liquid chromatography, is now one of the most powerful tools in preparative and analytical scale separations, identifications, and quantifications of soluble analytes present in complex samples. The method is used for compounds that are not volatile, often thermolabile and not suitable for gas chromatography (GC). The components to be separated are selectively distributed between two immiscible phases: a mobile phase, which is flowing through the column, and a stationary phase inside the column. The chromatographic process can be described as a series of repeated sorptions and desorptions during the movement of analytes along the stationary phase. The separation is due to difference in distribution of the individual analytes between the mobile phase and stationary phase (Niessen, 1999). In classical phytochemical approach of isolation of new natural compounds also low pressure column liquid chromatography and medium pressure liquid chromatography are used to separate components in a crude plant extract or in an isolated fraction (Siems et al., 1996; Amakura et al., 1999; Kambara et al., 2006; Nahrstedt, et al., 2006; Šmejkal et al., 2007a; Šmejkal et al., 2008a).

The basic difference between the high pressure and low pressure liquid chromatography is that in HPLC the size of particles of stationary phase is much smaller (3-10 μ m), and the flow of the solvent through the stationary phase is achieved by pumping it through the column under pressure. Generally, the smaller the particles of the sorbent, the higher the pressure of the mobile phase required (exceeding 10 MPa in HPLC) and the better the separation efficiency and chromatographic resolution. The stationary phase (chromatographic packing material) is usually packed into a column made from a rigid material such as stainless steel to withstand the high pressures required. In general, HPLC columns are 20-500 mm long and have an internal diameter in the range of 1-100 mm. Most HPLC applications are done in reversed-phase mode, where the stationary phase is non-polar and the mobile phase is polar. This is ideally suited for the analysis of polar and ionogenic analytes. The non-polar stationary phases are usually chemically-modified silicas (octadecyl, octyl, phenyl), styrenedivinylbenzene copolymers (XAD, PRP) or hybrid silicon-carbon particles (XTerra), and are used with aqueous-organic solvent mixtures (water or aqueous buffers and an organic modifier such as methanol, acetonitrile, or tetrahydrofuran) as the mobile phase. Conventional chemically-modified silica materials are stable in organic and aqueous solvents (pH range 2.5-8) whilst the styrene-divinylbenzene copolymers and the XTerra material can be used over a wider pH-range. Buffers are frequently used in real applications to reduce the protolysis of ionogenic analytes, which in ionic form show little retention in reversed-phase mode (Niessen, 1999; Waters, 2010b).

Several basic parameters can be used to describe the chromatographic process. The degree to which two compounds are separated by an HPLC column is called chromatographic resolution (also called separation power) and is determined by both mechanical separation power (efficiency), created by the column length, particle size, and packed-bed uniformity, and chemical separation power (selectivity), created by a combination of particle chemistry and mobile phase composition. The most powerful means of creating a separation is to optimize selectivity by the choice among a multiplicity of phase combinations (stationary and mobile phase) and retention mechanisms (modes of chromatography) (Waters, 2010b). The choice of the most suitable chromatographic conditions is based on the sample type, the complexity of the biological matrix and on the required sensitivity. These influence the time spent on sample pretreatment, the chromatographic resolution and the detection method. Further advances in instrumentation and column technology led to the development of ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC), which has recently become a widely used analytical technique. The UHPLC is characterized by further reduction of the particle size of the stationary phases (sub-2-micron particles), smaller diameter and length of analytical columns, and specially designed instruments capable to deliver mobile phase at 100 MPa. These improvements resulted in higher separation power and resolution, higher sensitivity, increased speed of analysis and much lower solvent consumption in liquid chromatography (Nguyen et al., 2006; Nováková et al., 2009).

3.4.3 Identification and quantification methods

With increasing interest in identification and structure elucidation of phytochemicals, HPLC is often combined with sophisticated analytical instrumentation including ultraviolet-diode-array detection (UV-DAD), mass spectrometric detection and nuclear magnetic resonance. The development of mass spectrometry combined online with efficient HPLC separation has enabled more reliable and precise identification and quantification to be realized in one analysis of a complex samples containing low levels of analytes (Crews et al., 1998; Silverstein et al., 2005; Niessen, 2006).

3.4.3.1 Ultraviolet detection

Ultraviolet (UV) detectors, mainly photodiode array detectors (PDAs), are nowadays the most widely used detectors in HPLC separation. The detection is based on the absorption of photons by a chromophore (double bond, aromatic ring, hetero-atom) and it is a concentration sensitive device. PDAs can operate at a wide range of wavelengths and enable determination of the basic characteristic of the analysed compounds such as the retention time (t_R) and wavelength of maximum absorbance (λ_{max}) (Niessen, 1999). The problem while using the UV profile of a compound as an identification parameter is that structurally related compounds may give very similar UV spectra and therefore their applicability in identification is very limited. Whilst HPLC/UV often gives good quantitative results, more reliable data, with better selectivity and lower detection limits can be achieved using HPLC combined with mass spectrometric detection (HPLC/MS) (Niessen, 1999; Waters, 2010b).

3.4.3.2 Mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a powerful analytical technique for the determination of molecular weight and elemental composition of a molecule (ion), which can be used both for qualitative and quantitative purposes. These include the identification of unknown compounds and help to elucidate the chemical structure of analytes, or quantification of the amount of a known compound present in the sample. The method is based on the production of gas-phase ions that are subsequently separated or filtered according to their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) and finally detected.

The mass spectrometer basically consists of five major parts: (1) sample introduction is performed by direct infusion or direct insertion methods; (2) ionization source converts sample molecules into ions; (3) mass analyser sorts ions according to their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z), in either time or space, by applying either static or dynamic, magnetic or electric fields.; (4) ion detector transforms the ions which passed through into a usable signal, usually an electric current, that is proportional to the ion abundance; (5) data system converts the signal from a detector to a digital information and displays it as a mass spectrum. All mass spectrometers must operate under high vacuum to allow ions to reach the detector without undergoing collision with other gaseous molecules, which can result in deviation of the ion trajectory or loss of its charge. Some techniques use controlled collision in specific regions of the mass spectrometer (Niessen, 2006; De Hoffman et al., 2007).

A wide variety of ionization techniques is available. The most used are atmospheric pressure ionization methods (APIs), such as electrospray ionization (ESI), atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) and atmospheric pressure photo-ionization (APPI). APIs are classified as soft techniques generating mainly even electron protonated molecules in positive ion mode or deprotonated molecules in negative ion mode. APIs represent the liquid-phase ion sources, when the analyte is in solution. In solid-state ion sources, the analyte is in an non-volatile deposit and the matrix, which can be either a solid or viscous liquid and play an important role in ionization process. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization, plasma desorption, field desorption use this strategy for production of ions (Niessen, 2006; De Hoffman et al., 2007; Waters, 2010c).

As in the case of ion sources, many types of mass analysers are available, each with their advantages and limitations. The five main parameters characterizing the performance of mass analyser are the mass range limit, the speed of analysis, the transmission, the mass accuracy and the resolution. Magnetic sector instruments and linear quadrupoles (qQ) are scanning analysers, which transmit ions of different mass successively along the time scale. Other analysers such as time-of-flight mass analyser (TOF), ion trap (IT), Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR) and orbitrap instruments allow simultaneous transmission of all ions (Niessen, 2006; De Hoffman et al., 2007; Waters, 2010c).

Very useful are instruments, which combine two or more mass analysers to perform tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), e.g. triple quadrupole (QqQ) and hybrid instruments such as quadropole timeof-flight instrument (QqTOF) and IT-FTICR. MS/MS involve at least two steps of mass analysis connected with a controlled fragmentation (collision-induced dissociation), which causes a change in the mass or charge of an ion. MS/MS allow to obtain a mass spectrum of fragments (product ions) of a precursor ion, which is selected and isolated in the first analyser, decomposed through collision with another molecule (typically a gas like argon), and analysed (as product ions) by a second analyser (De Hoffman et al., 2007). The general aim is to improve the selectivity, specificity and sensitivity of detection over single-stage-instruments. MS/MS can be performed in a number of scan modes, in which either a product ion (daughter scan), a precursor ion (parent scan), a loss of neutral fragment (neutral loss scan) or a selected fragmentation reaction (selected-reaction monitoring, multiple-reaction monitoring) can be monitored. Except mass analysers in series, also two stages of mass analysis in a single instrument, e.g. IT and FTICR, can be used for MS/MS experiments (Waters, 2010c).

MS is the most often used in online combination with HPLC or GC. The complex sample is separated and the products are introduced one after another either in a solution (HPLC/MS) or in gaseous state (GC/MS) into the mass spectrometer. The most obvious advantage of coupling both HPLC/MS and GC/MS is the obtained mass spectrum for identifying each of isolated products. Several coupling methods to connect HPLC with MS were developed. Atmospheric pressure ionization sources (ESI, APCI, APPI) are the interfaces of choice, because they can tolerate low concentration of volatile buffers and flow rates up to 1 ml·min⁻¹ without requiring a flow split, therefore the detection sensitivity is increased. The sensitivity of analysis can be improved by precolumn derivatization of non-volatile thermolabile compounds. Nowadays, the HPLC coupled with MS is the analytical technique of choice for most tasks both in plant metabolite analysis and discovery of new drugs (Willoughby et al., 1998; Niessen, 1999; Niessen, 2006; De Hoffman et al., 2007).

3.4.3.4 Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is one of the most direct and general tools for identifying the structure of compounds, which allows physical, chemical, electronic and structural information about molecules to be obtained. The technique can provide detailed information on the topology, dynamics and three-dimensional structure of molecules, either in solution or in the solid state. NMR spectroscopy is also used to study molecular physics of crystals and non-crystalline materials and in advanced medical imaging techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging (Akitt et al., 2000; Lambert et al., 2004; Keeler, 2005; Tyszka et al., 2005; Edwards et al., 2009; Hornak, 2009).

The NMR measurements are performed on the atomic nuclei. Structural and dynamic information is obtainable from NMR studies of stable isotopes with non-zero spins, which contain an odd number of protons and neutrons and have their intrinsic magnetic moment. The most commonly studied nuclei are ¹H and ¹³C. NMR is a property that nuclei of certain atoms have when immersed in a static magnetic field and exposed to a second oscillating magnetic field after application of an electromagnetic pulse (EMP) or pulses. The EMP causes the nuclei to absorb energy from the EMP and to radiate this energy back out at a specific resonance frequency, which depends mainly on the nuclei under observation and the strength of the static magnetic field. Different protons in a molecule resonate at slightly different frequencies. The resonant frequency, energy of the absorption and the intensity of the signal are proportional to the strength of the magnetic field. The NMR experiment usually involves two sequential steps; the polarization of the magnetic nuclear spins in an applied constant magnetic field, and interruption of this alignment of the nuclear spins by employing an electromagnetic radio-frequency pulse. Chemical shift, coupling constant and integration of proton signals can be read from a one-dimensional spectrum and give information not only about the chemical environment of the nuclei, but also the number of neighbouring NMR active nuclei within the molecule (Lambert et al., 2004; Keeler, 2005; Edwards et al., 2009; Hornak, 2009).

The process of identifying the compound using NMR spectroscopy often involves performing several NMR experiments to deduce the molecular structure from the magnetic properties of the atomic nuclei and surrounded electrons. The basic one-dimensional technique for proving the probable structure is the recording of hydrogen spectra (¹H spectrum). The ¹³C spectra are also useful in structure determination. Frequency and intensity serve as the axis of the standard onedimensional spectrum and represent the characterisation of the nuclei in terms of chemical shifts and couplings (Lambert et al., 2004; Hornak, 2009). Two-dimensional (2D) spectra provide more information about a molecule than one-dimensional. The second dimension refers to an additional frequency axis, where also magnetic interactions between nuclei are considered. 2D-experiments can be homonuclear such as COSY (correlation spectroscopy) observing proton-proton correlations, and heteronuclear providing correlation, e.g. between the 13C and 1H resonances. HSQC (heteronuclear single quantum correlation) spectrum contains a peak for each proton attached to the heteronucleus which is observed. HMQC (heteronuclear correlation through multiple quantum coherence) and HMBC (heteronuclear multiple bond coherence) are 2D inverse correlation techniques where the ¹³Cresponse is observed in ¹H spectrum and allow the determination of connectivity between two different nuclear species. HMQC is selective for direct coupling whereas HMBC detects longer range couplings through 2-4 bonds (Martin et al., 1988; Lambert et al., 2004).

3.5 Cytotoxicity testing

The testing of cytotoxic activity of substances usually serves for screening and development of new therapeutic agents. The *in vitro* cytotoxicity tests can detect compounds that target rapidly dividing cancer cells or compounds exerting unwanted cytotoxic effects in normal cells, prior to their subsequent *in vivo* testing as pharmaceuticals. Cytotoxicity and cytotoxicity-correlated cell viability can be monitored by various chemical and biological reagents. Cell viability is the most often measured by assessing cell membrane integrity after cell treatment, because cytotoxically active compounds often compromise the cell membrane integrity (Invitrogen, 2010).

3.5.1 Basic principles of cytotoxicity assays

Cytotoxicity and cell viability assays are used to enumerate the proportion of live and dead cells in a population. These assays can be based on the measurement of enzymatic activity (using esterase substrates), membrane permeability and oxidation-reduction (redox) potential. Each of the approaches has advantages and limitations. Fluorescence based cell viability assays are generally more sensitive than colorimetric techniques and less hazardous and less expensive than radioisotopic methods (Invitrogen, 2010).

Cytotoxicity assays using esterase substrates

The fluorogenic esterase substrates, mainly acetates or acetoxymethylester (AM) derivatives (calcein AM, bis-carboxyethyl-carboxyfluorescein AM, fluorescein diacetate derivatives) can be passively loaded both into adherent and non-adherent cells. These cell-permeable esterase substrates serve as viability probes to measure enzymatic activity, which is required to activate the fluorescence of substrate, as well as membrane integrity, which is required for intracellular retention of fluorescent products. The non-fluorescent substrates are converted by non-specific intracellular esterases into fluorescent products inside the live cell. The products are retained by cells with intact membranes, but the unhydrolyzed substrates leak rapidly from dead or damaged cells even when the cells retain some residual esterase activity (Wang et al., 1993; Kolber et al., 1988).

Cytotoxicity assays using membrane permeability

Viability assessments of cells frequently use polar (cell-impermeant) nucleic acid stains to detect the dead cell population (Roth et al., 1997). Nucleic acid stains (probes) are often used in combination with the intracellular esterase substrates mentioned above, and with membrane-permeant nucleic acid stains, membrane potential sensitive probes, organelle probes or cell-permeant indicators, to detect the live cell population. Many other cell-impermeant dyes could be used to detect dead or dying cells such as the red, fluorescent, cell-impermeant ethidium and propidium dyes (ethidium bromide, propidium iodide) and trypan blue. These vital dyes are excluded from the inside of live cells, but freely cross the membrane and stain intracellular component in case of cell membrane damage (Beletsky et al., 1990; Riss et al., 2004). Another way to assess membrane integrity is to monitor the passage of substances, that are normally present inside cells (such as lactate dehydrogenase) to the external environment (Decker et al., 1988).

Cytotoxicity assays that measure oxidation and reduction

Live cells can oxidise or reduce a variety of substrates, which then provide a measure of cell viability or cell health differently from the assays based on detection of esterase activity and cell permeability. Some oxidation-reduction indicators such as rezaurin and dodecylresazurin provide the products, which are retained by a single cell and the developed fluorescence is proportional to cell number (De Fries et al., 1995). Dihydrofluorescein, dihydrorhodamine, dihydroethidium, dihydrocalcein derivatives are readily oxidized back to the parent dye by reactive oxygen species, which are produced only by live cells. Fluorescent oxidation products are retained in cells and serve as fluorogenic probes for detecting oxidative activity in metabolically active cells (Burghardt, 1994).

Tetrazolium salts are widely used for detecting redox potential of cells. The water soluble colorless compounds are reduced in viable cells to uncharged brightly coloured non-fluorescent formazans and after solubilization in an organic solvent they are quantified by standard spectrophotometric techniques. The most common assay for tetrazolium salt-based viability testing is the MTT test, which measures the reducing potential of the cell on the bases of colorimetric reaction. Several types of tetrazolium salts are used: 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT); 2,3-bis-(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium-5-carboxanilide; 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxy-phenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (Imamura et al., 1994).

Other cytotoxicity assays

Every viable cell contains ion pumps and channels that maintain intracellular ion concentrations and transmembrane potentials. The loss of activity in maintenance of ion gradients in a dead cell can be determined using potentiometric dyes (methyl and ethyl esters of tetramethylrhodamine, styryl dyes, oxonol and carbocyanine dyes), acidotropic stains (lysosomal stain neutral red, Acridine orange), Ca²⁺ indicators and pH indicators. Measurements of glucose uptake using fluorescent glucose analogs can be used to assess cell viability. Fluorescent phosphatase substrate can be utilized as a marker for membrane integrity and the intracellular phosphatase activity of membrane-intact cells is detected (Invitrogen, 2010). Protease biomarkers are another example of biomarkers, which allow measurement of the relative numbers of live and dead cells within one cell population (Niles et al., 2007). Assays, which use ATP content as a marker of viability, are also available. Bioluminiscent assays use ATP as the limiting reagent for the luciferase reaction (Fan et al., 2007). Electric cell-substrate impedance sensing is a label-free approach, which monitors the cytotoxic response of adherent animal cells in real time and therefore provides the kinetics of the cytotoxic cell response. The cells are grown on gold coated electrodes and the electric impedance is measured (Heijink et al., 2010; Xiao et al., 2010).

3.5.2 Calcein AM cell viability assay

Basic principle

The Calcein AM cell viability assay is a simple, rapid and accurate method to determine cell viability and cytotoxicity of tested compounds. Calcein acetoxymethylester (calcein AM) is a non-fluorescent, hydrophilic compound that posses the ability to easily permeate intact, live cells. Calcein AM is then hydrolysed by intracellular esterases and produces calcein (fluorescein complexon, 2,7-bis(*N*,*N*bis(carboxymethyl) aminomethylene) fluorescein) (Figure 19). Calcein is a hydrophilic, strongly fluorescent compound that is well-retained in the cell cytoplasm, it has better retention and brightness compared to other fluorescent compounds such as fluorescein (BD Calcein, 2006; Calcein, 2007; Calcein, 2008). Tested cells are usually grown in 96-well microplates, after which they are stained and quantified in less than two hours. The generated fluorescent signal, which is proportional to the number of living cells in the sample (well), is monitored using 485 nm excitation wavelength and 530 nm emission wavelength.



Figure 19. Formation of fluorescent calcein from calcein acetoxymethylester in living cells (Calcein, 2008).

There are two options for quantification; measurement of the relative differences, or determination of absolute cell number. When calculating the relative changes in the cell number, the system does not have to be calibrated and the results are presented as the percentage change in fluorescence intensity relative to an experimental control. Calibration is required when the absolute cell numbers are used. The calibration involves determination of cell numbers in a sample (well) and preparation of dilution in triplicate across the range of $1 \cdot 10^3$ cells·ml⁻¹ to $5 \cdot 10^5$ cells·ml⁻¹ in 50 µl of medium. After performing the assay, the averages of triplicates values are determined and the data are expressed as linear dependence of cell number per well versus intensity of fluorescence (BD Calcein, 2006; Calcein, 2007; Calcein, 2008).

Practical use

Calcein AM fluorescent dye can be used to fluorescently label viable cells, both proliferating and non-proliferating cells, whether in suspension or adherent cells. This labelling method is suitable for use with a wide variety of techniques, including microplate assays, immunocytochemistry, flow cytometry, and *in vivo* long-term cell tracing due to its lack of cellular toxicity (Wang et al., 1993; De Clerck et al., 1994; Papadopoulos et al., 1994). This assay is useful for studies of cell membrane integrity (Sroda et al., 2008) and determination of cell viability, cytotoxicity and apoposis (Moravcová et al., 2003; Kryštof et al., 2005; Malíková et al., 2008). It can be used to quantify cell number, to study cell adhesion (Braut-Boucher et al., 1995), chemotaxis, tumour cell invasion, endothelial cell migration (Weston et al., 1990), endothelial cell tubulogenesis (Arnaoutova et al., 2010) and multi-drug resistance (Eneroth et al., 2001).

4. Materials and methods

The following list of materials and methods contains a brief summary of all the experimental approaches used in this doctoral thesis. Full details are described in the following articles attached as Supplement I-III:

- I Madlener S., Svačinová J., Kitner M., Kopecký J., Eytner R., Lackner A., Vo T.P.N., Frisch R., Grusch M., De Martin R., Doležal K., Strnad M., Krupitza G. (2009) In vitro antiinflammatory and anticancer activities of extracts of *Acalypha alopecuroidea* (Euphorbiaceae). *International Journal of Oncology* 35 (4): 881-891.
- II Šmejkal K., Svačinová J., Šlapetová T., Schneiderová K., Dall'Acqua S., Innocenti G., Závalová V., Kollár P., Chudík S., Marek R., Julínek O., Urbanová M., Kartal M., Csöllei M., Doležal K. (2010) Cytotoxic activities of several geranyl-substituted flavanones. *Journal of Natural Products* 73 (4): 568-572.
- III Svačinová J., Novák O., Lenobel R., Plačková L., Hanuš J., Strnad M., Doležal K. A new miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation from plant tissues using pipette tip solid-phase extraction (manuscript in preparation).

The materials and methods included in Supplement I-III are completed in this section with full description of non-published experimental approaches, which were also used to achieve the three main objectives of this thesis:

- 1. Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from Acalypha alopecuroidea.
- 2. Geranylated flavanones from Morus alba and Paulownia tomentosa and their anticancer potential.
- 3. Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material.

4.1 List of chemicals

- All chemicals and solvents were at least of analytical reagent grade from Lach-Ner (Neratovice, Czech Republic); Merck (Darmstadt, Germany) or Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA)
- N9-substituted purine derivatives were synthesised by RNDr. Marek Zatloukal, Ph.D. in the Laboratory of Growth Regulators (Palacký University, Olomouc, Czech Republic) and the synthesis will be described elsewhere (1)
- Geranylated flavanones were obtained from Department of Natural Drugs (Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Brno, Czech Republic) (II, 2)
- Authentic and deuterium-labelled CK standards were obtained from OlChemim Ltd (Olomouc, Czech Republic) (III, 3)
- Tritium-labelled CK standards ([³H]tZR, 0.851 TBq·mmol⁻¹; [³H]cZ, 0.777 TBq·mmol⁻¹; [³H]iPR, 1.184 TBq·mmol⁻¹; [³H]BA, 1.0 TBq·mmol⁻¹) with radiochemical purity >98% were obtained from the Isotope Laboratory (Institute of Experimental Botany AS CR, Prague, Czech Republic) (III, 3)
- [¹³C₆]IAA was a generous gift from Dr. Karin Ljung (Umeå Plant Science Center, Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Umeå, Sweden) (3)
- Deionised (Milli-Q) water was obtained from Simplicity 185 system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA)
- Scintillation cocktail Ultima GoldTM from Packard BioScence (Groningen, The Netherlands) (III, 3)

4.2 List of biological materials

- Acalypha alopecuroidea plants collected in the Botanical garden of the Institute for Ethnobiology (Playa Diana, San José, Petén, Guatemala) were mechanically cleaned and lyophilized. Extracts of individual plant parts were produced at the Laboratory of Growth Regulators (Palacký University, Olomouc) (I, 1).
- Arabidopsis thaliana (ecotype Colombia) were grown *in vitro* in Petri dishes containing Murashige & Skoog medium (Duchefa Biochemie B.V., Haarlem, The Nederland) including vitamins. 10-day old seedlings, or roots and shoots were harvested, weighted, immediately plunged into liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C (III).
- Castor fiber blood plasma samples in syringes were delivered by Mgr. Jaroslav Maloň from the Department of Ecology & Environmental Sciences (Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc). Samples were stored at -70 °C until precipitation and phytohormone purification. Blood was obtained either from beavers from the rescue stations or beavers trapped in Southern Moravia region Lanžhot area (flooded forests) and in Czech forest around Přimda (piedmont brooks and grasslands). Blood was taken in full consciousness (with no full anaesthesia) from the veins on upper part of the hind footpad. Afterwards, beavers were set free in the same territory (3).

4.3 List of solid-phase extraction materials

- Agarose gel (Affi-Gel 10, Bio-Rad Labs, Hercules, USA) (3)
- C18 cartridge AccuBond SPE ODS-C18, 500 mg/6 ml (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA) (I, 1)
- C18 cartridge Sep-Pak C18, 0.5 × 1.5 cm, 360 mg (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) (I, 1)
- DEAE-Sephadex A25 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Lous, MO, USA) for preparation of activated DEAE-Sephadex column (1.0 × 5.0 cm) (I, 1)
- EmporeTM High Performance Extraction Disks, sorbent type C18 (Octadecyl), SDB-RPS and Cation-SR (3M Center, St. Paul, MN, USA) (III)
- Chitosan coated magnetic nanoparticles with immobilized group-specific monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies NZRD or 1G6 (magnetic nanoparticles were from the Centre of Nanomaterial Research, Palacký University, Olomouc; preparation of antibodies and immobilization was done in the Laboratory of Growth Regulators, Palacký University, Olomouc) (3)
- Immunoaffinity agarose gel Affi-Gel 10 (Bio-Rad Labs, Hercules, USA) with bound group-specific monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies NZRD or 1G6 (prepared in the Laboratory of Growth Regulators, Palacký University, Olomouc) (3)
- Oasis MCX cartridges 30 mg/1 ml (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) (3)

4.4 List of experimental equipment

- Centrifuge AvantiTM (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA)
- Dynal MPC[®]-S magnetic particle concentrator (Dynal A.S, Oslo, Norway) (III)
- HPLC systems
 - preparative HPLC (I)

- LabAlliance[™] system, DeltaChrom[™] Prep 100 pumps (Watrex, Prague, Czech Republic)
- diode array detector Agilent 1100 DAD and ion trap mass spectrometer MSD Ion Trap SL (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, SA, USA)
- \circ reversed-phase column Reprosil 100, C8, 5 µm, 25 × 250 mm (Dr. Maisch GmbH, Ammerbuch-Entringen, Germany)
- semipreparative 2D-HPLC: 1st fractionation (1)
 - Beckman System Gold 125 Solvent Module (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA)
 - o photodiode array detector Beckman 168 Detector (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA)
 - $\circ\,$ reversed-phase column Symmetry Shield RP-18, 7 $\mu\text{m},$ 8 mm $\times\,250$ mm
- semipreparative 2D-HPLC: 2nd fractionation (1)
 - Alliance 2695 Separations Module (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - $\circ~$ photodiode array detector PDA 2996 (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - $\,\circ\,$ reversed-phase column Symmetry C18, 5 $\mu m,$ 2.1 \times 150 mm (Waters)
 - $\circ\,$ reversed-phase column Synergi 4
u Fusion-RP, 4 µm, 10 × 250 mm (Phenomenex, Torrance, California, USA)
- HPLC (UHPLC)/MS systems
 - System HPLC-ESI-qQ (1)
 - Alliance 2695 Separations Module (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - photodiode array detector PDA 2996 (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - ZMD 2000 single quadrupole mass spectrometer with an electrospray interface (Micromass, Manchester, UK)
 - \circ reversed-phase column Symmetry C18, 5 μ m, 2.1 \times 150 mm (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - System HPLC-ESI-QqTOF (1)
 - Aliance 2695 Separations Module (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - o photodiode array detector PDA 2996 (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - Q-TOF micro[™] hybrid tandem mass analyzer with an electrospray interface (Micromass, Manchester, UK)
 - \circ reversed-phase column Symmetry C18, 5 μ m, 2.1 \times 150 mm (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - System UPLC-ESI-MS/MS (III, 3)
 - Acquity UPLCTM System (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - o 2996 PDA detector (Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
 - XevoTM TQ MS mass analyzer with an electrospray interface (Waters MS Technologies, Manchester, UK)
 - reversed-phase column Acquity UPLCTM BEH C18, 1.7 μm, 2.1 × 150 mm (Waters)
 - ° reversed-phase column Acquity UPLC[™] BEH C18, 1.7 μm, 2.1 × 50 mm (Waters)
 - \circ reversed-phase column BetaMax Neutral, 5 μm, 1.0 × 150 mm with UniguardTM column protection Hypurity advance, 5 μm, 1.0 mm × 10 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA)
 - MS data were processed by MassLynxTM software with QuanLynxTM program (version 4.0) or TargetLynxTM program (version 4.2, Waters, Milford, MA, USA)
- Multi-purpose scintillation counter LS 6500 (Beckman, Ramsey, MN, USA) (III, 3)

- NMR spectrometers Varian Unity Inova 700 MHz and 500 HMz, Varian Mercury 400 MHz (Varian, Walnut Creek, CA, USA) (1)
- pH/mV/°C meter (Cole Parmer, East Bunker Court Vernon Hills, Illinois, USA)
- Rotary evaporator Rotavapor[®] R-200 equipped with Vacuum Controler V-805 and Heating Bath B-490 (Büchi Labortechnik AG, Postfach, Switzerland)
- Solid-phase extraction vacuum manifold VisiprepTM (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA) (3)
- Sonicator Transsonic 310 (Elma, Singen, Germany)
- Speed-Vac concentrator RC1010 (Jouan, Winchester, UK)
- Vacuum centrifuge concentrator Univapo 150 H (UniEquip, Munich, Germany)
- Vibration mill MM 301 (Retsch GmbH & Co. KG, Haan, Germany), 12 mm stainless steel grinding balls, 25 ml stainless steel grinding jars, 3 mm tungsten carbide beads (Retsch GmbH & Co. KG, Haan, Germany)
- Vortex mixer Wizard X (Velp Scientifica, Usmate, Italy)

4.5 Sample preparation and SPE purification

4.5.1 Acalypha alopecuroidea extract preparation

Lyophilized plants *A. alopecuroidea* were divided into roots (0.5 g or 2.0 g), stems (1.0 g), leaves (1.0 g) and inflorescences (0.5 g), homogenized using the vibration mill and extracted separately in different extraction solvents, e.g. 20 ml of ethanol 70% (v/v), methanol-tetrahydrofurane (MeOH-THF, 1:1), with addition of antioxidant (sodium diethyldithiocarbamate), 400 μ g·g⁻¹ DW). After overnight extraction and centrifugation, the sediments were re-extracted for 1 h in the same way. The supernatants were pooled and evaporated to dryness under vacuum at 35 °C prior to the cytotoxicity testing (Supplement I).

According to the results from the Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay (see the section Results and discussion), the subsequent fractionation (see Figure 20, p. 66) focussed only on the MeOH-THF extracts from the roots (2.0 g DW), which were immediately without evaporation purified by passage through AccuBond C18 cartridges and then concentrated to the aqueous phase. This was diluted in 20 ml of ammonium acetate buffer (40 mM, pH 6.5) and purified by DEAE-Sephadex coupled to two Sep-Pak C18 cartridges in tandem. The Sep-Pak cartridges were separately eluted with 5 ml methanol 80% (v/v) (fraction B and C) after decoupling and washing with 10 ml of distilled water. The load through fraction and water used to rinse the Sep-Pak cartridges was collected as fraction A. Afterwards, the DEAE-Sephadex column was coupled to third Sep-Pak cartridge and washed with 10 ml of formic acid 6% (v/v). Sep-Pak was eluted (fraction E) the same way as the first and second Sep-Pak was collected as fraction D. The last fraction F was obtained from the precipitate that did not dissolve in the ammonium acetate buffer prior to the SPE purification. All six of these fractions (A-F) were evaporated to dryness and stored at -20 °C (Supplement I).

On the bases of the results from Calcein AM assay, only fraction B was used for the routine isolation of active compounds from the MeOH-THF root extract. In this case, the SPE was optimized and performed with gradient elution of the first Sep-Pak cartridge and without the second and third

Sep-Pak. The first Sep-Pak was eluted with 5 ml methanol 40% (v/v) and subsequently with 5 ml methanol 70% (v/v). Only the methanol 70% (v/v) eluate, which contained the targeted biologically active compounds, was collected, evaporated to dryness and further purified by HPLC (Objective 1).

4.5.2 Liquid microextraction and pipette tip SPE

Samples of 10-day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings, roots or shoots (1.0, 2.0 and 5.0 mg FW) were placed into 2.0 ml microcentrifuge tubes with Bieleski buffer (60% methanol, 25% CHCl₃, 10% formic acid and 5% H₂O) in proportion 50 μ l of buffer per 1 mg FW. Stable isotope-labelled cytokinin internal standards (see Supplement III) at concentration 0.5 pmol of each compound per 50 μ l of Bieleski buffer were added to the samples to determine the endogenous cytokinin levels and to check the recoveries during the purification procedure. Tritium-labelled standards ([³H]iPR, [³H]tZR, [³H]cZ; 1·10⁵ dpm per sample) were added for the method development and the selectivity, affinity, and capacity tests of different sorbents; non-labelled standards (1 pmol) were used for spiking samples to verify the analytical precision and accuracy of the whole method. Plant material was extracted using a vibration mill (27 Hz, 3 min) after adding 3 mm tungsten carbide bead to each tube. The tube contents were ultrasonicated for 3 min, then stirred for 30 min at 4 °C and centrifuged (10 min; 15,000 rpm; 4 °C). The supernatants (50 μ l aliquots) were immediately purified by pipette tip SPE (PT-SPE). Samples containing only selected CK standards in 50 μ l of Bieleski buffer without plant matrices were prepared during the method optimization and directly purified (Supplement III).

The PT-SPE was performed using self-packed solid-phase extraction microcolumns in pipette tips termed StageTips (STop And Go Extraction Tips), which were prepared manually from the EmporeTM High Performance Disks as described by Rappsilber et al. (2007). Briefly, very small disks (ca. 1.0 mm diameter, 0.5 mm thickness) were cut from Empore disks using a hollow blunt-ended syringe needle and placed inside a pipette tip with help of a plunger that ideally fitted into the needle (Rappsilber et al., 2007). C18, SDB-RPS and Cation-SR Empore disk sorbents were used individually or in combinations. The prepared StageTip was inserted into a hole at the centre of the lid of a microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml). Solutions (in 50 µl portions) were loaded from the top of the tip using a pipette and the liquid was pressed through the column by centrifugation of the StageTip. The StageTip sorbent was activated with isopropanol and equilibrated with 50% MeOH + 2% formic acid and Bieleski buffer. Then the sample was loaded and the sorbent was washed with methanol. Elution of the sample was performed with 60% MeOH + 0.5 M NH₄OH to the new clean microcentrifuge tube. Eluate was either immediately mixed with scintillation cocktail prior to measurement of radioactivity of samples containing tritium-labelled CK standards, or evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator prior to UPLC-MS/MS analyses (Supplement III).

4.5.3 Blood plasma precipitation and SPE

Samples of *Castor fiber* plasma, stored at -70 °C in syringes, were defrosted, transferred to glass test tubes, ultrasonicated for 5 min and divided into three similar aliquots of approximately 500 μl. At the beginning of the extraction, the following stable isotope-labelled standards were added as internal tracers for recovery studies and quantification: [¹³C₆]IAA (5 pmol); CK bases (3 pmol): [¹³C₅]cZ, [¹³C₅]tZ, [²H₅]tZR, [²H₅]tZ9G, [²H₃]DHZ, [²H₃]DHZR, [²H₃]DHZ9G, [²H₆]iP, [²H₆]iPR, [²H₆]iP9G, [²H₇]BAR, [²H₇]BA9G, [¹⁵N₄]mT, [¹³C₅]oT, [¹⁵N₄]K; CK nucleotides (5 pmol): [²H₅]tZRMP,

 $[^{2}H_{3}]$ DHZRMP, $[^{2}H_{6}]$ iPRMP, $[^{2}H_{7}]$ BARMP and CK *O*-glucosides (5 pmol): $[^{2}H_{5}]$ tZOG, $[^{2}H_{5}]$ tZROG, $[^{2}H_{7}]$ DHZOG. Samples containing only authentic standards in 100 µl of water (IAA, iPR, oT) and mammalian plasma samples (200 µl) spiked with stable isotope-labelled standards ($[^{13}C_{6}]$ IAA, $[^{2}H_{6}]$ iPR, $[^{13}C_{5}]$ oT) at concentrations 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 pmol in both cases, were prepared and used for optimization of the extraction and purification procedures. For protein precipitation, samples were mixed with the first portion of acetonitrile (420 µl) and vortexed. Then the second portion of acetonitrile (2400 µl) was added, samples were vortexed and centrifuged (3,000 rpm, 10 min, 4 °C). Supernatant was transferred to glass test tubes and evaporated to dryness (Objective 3).

The solid-phase extraction was performed as described by Dobrev et al. (2002), with slight modifications, in Oasis MCX extraction columns (3 ml/60 mg). Evaporated samples were diluted in 2 ml of 1 M formic acid and immediately passed through a MCX column, which was activated with 2 ml of methanol and equilibrated with 2 ml of 1 M formic acid. After applying the sample, the column was washed with 2 ml 1 M formic acid followed by 2 ml 100% MeOH. This methanol wash was collected as the fraction containing indole-3-acetic acid (fraction IAA). Subsequently, the cytokinin ribonucleotides (fraction NT) were eluted using 2 ml of 0.35 M NH₄OH. Finally, cytokinin free bases, ribosides and *O*-glucosides (fraction B+OG) were eluted with 2 ml of 0.35 M NH₄OH in MeOH 60% (v/v). All samples were evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator and further purified by immunoaffinity chromatography (Objective 3).

4.6 HPLC fractionation

Preparative HPLC separation of the *A. alopecuroidea* fraction B was carried on a LabAllianceTM system linked to an UV-DAD (Agilent 1100) and ion trap mass spectrometer. The column thermostat was set to 30 °C. Fraction B was injected on a preparative reversed-phase column Reprosil 100 and eluted using a linear water-methanol gradient of 30-100% methanol in water (v/v) (0-30 min) at a flow rate of 15 ml·min⁻¹. One-minute fractions were collected and evaporated to dryness (Supplement I).

Later, during the routine isolation of active compounds, semipreparative 2D-HPLC separation was used for fractionation of fraction B (see Figure 21, p. 68). The first HPLC fractionation was carried on a Beckman System linked to a Beckman 168 Detector. Fraction B was injected on a Symmetry Shield RP-18 column. The elution was performed at a flow rate of 2.5 ml min⁻¹ with a linear water-methanol gradient rising from 70:30 to 0:100 (water:methanol, v/v) over 30 min. Either one-minute fractions or the range of 22nd-25th min as one fraction (assigned B22-25) were collected and evaporated to dryness. Fraction B23 and fraction B22-25 selected according to the Calcein AM assay was submitted to the second HPLC fractionation carried out on an Alliance 2695 Separation Module, linked simultaneously to a Waters PDA 2996 detector. Fraction B23 was repeatedly injected onto an analytical Symmetry C18 column and eluted with a linear methanolic gradient rising from 50:50 to 40:60 (A:B) over 30 min at a flow rate of 0.25 ml·min⁻¹. Solvent A was composed of water + 2% methanol + 0.05% formic acid, solvent B was 100% methanol + 0.05% formic acid (see Figure 22, p. 68). Half-minute fractions were collected and evaporated to dryness. Fraction B22-25 was repeatedly injected onto a semipreparative Synergi Fusion-RP column and eluted with a 30-min isocratic elution of water + 2% methanol:methanol (30:70) at a flow rate of 2.0 ml·min⁻¹ (see Figure 23, p. 69). Fractions corresponding to individual chromatographic peaks (B22-25/1-4) were collected and evaporated to dryness (Objective 1).

4.7 Cytokinin immunoaffinity extraction

4.7.1 Immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles

The batch immunoaffinity extraction of cytokinins on magnetic nanoparticles was performed in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes using group-specific monoclonal antibodies against cytokinins (Novák et al., 2003). The antibodies were immobilized onto superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (MNPs) coated with chitosan (Belessi et al., 2008) using two different methods, the glutaraldehyde method (Kluchová et al., 2009) and the carbodiimide method (Aslam et al., 1998). Prepared nanocomposites were used as immunosorbent in the batch immunoaffinity extraction with magnetic separation.

The method was tested using samples containing cytokinin standards in 150 µl of PBS buffer. Following selected standards were used either individually or in a mixture: tritium-labelled standards ([³H]iPR, [³H]tZR, [³H]BA; 1·10⁵ dpm per sample); non-labelled standards (iPR, cZR, oT, oTR, mT, mTR, pT, pTR; 0.1 or 0.5 pmol of each compound per sample). Defined amount of antibodies bound on magnetic nanoparticles (100-300 µg) was added in 50 µl of PBS buffer to each sample prior to the IAE. The total samples volume was then 200 µl. The PBS buffer contained 7.8 g NaH₂PO₄· 2H₂O · l⁻¹ (pH 7.2). Samples were homogenized for 5 s every 5 min using sonicator during the 60 min incubation at laboratory temperature (21 °C). The supernatant (PBS fraction) was easily removed after putting the microcentrifuge tubes with samples on the magnetic particle concentrator for ca. 20 s. Cytokinin bases, ribosides and 9-glucosides (fraction B) were retained by antibodies and eluted with ice cold methanol (200 µl twice) after washing the nanocomposites in the microcentrifuge tubes with PBS buffer and water (200 µl twice of each solvent). The eluate was evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator. The regeneration of antibodies after elution was performed as follows: 200 µl of water twice, 200 µl of MeOH, 200 µl of water twice and 200 µl of PBS twice. Antibodies in nanocomposites were stored in PBS with 0.02% natrium azide at 4 °C (Objective 3).

4.7.2 Immunoaffinity chromatography

IAC of cytokinins in column format was performed in plastic cartridges using the generic monoclonal antibodies against cytokinins bound on an immunoaffinity gel (IAG). IAG was prepared, used and stored as described previously in more detail (Vaňková et al., 1998; Novák et al., 2003). Briefly, the monoclonal antibodies were raised against *ortho*-topolin riboside by hybridoma technology and purified by affinity chromatography on protein G. Purified antibodies were used for preparation of an IAG based on the coupling of antibodies to *N*-hydroxysuccinimide-ester activated agarose Affi-Gel 10. Each immunoaffinity column contained 0.5 ml of IAG packed in 3 ml-polypropylene cartridge. The pre-immune gel was prepared by coupling rabbit IgG to Affi-Gel 10 (25 mg ml·1-1). The pre-immune and IAC columns were stored in PBS buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 15 mM NaCl, pH 7.2) with 0.1% natrium azide at 4 °C.

The IAC was performed as described previously (Novák et al., 2003). Briefly, fraction B+OG from the solid-phase extraction was dissolved in 50 μ l ethanol 70% (v/v) and 450 μ l PBS buffer and purified using pre-immune gel (0.5 ml). Afterwards, the flow through fraction together with a 0.5 ml PBS wash was repeatedly (five times) applied to an immunoaffinity column and then collected as the fraction OG and evaporated to dryness. The elution (fraction B) was performed with 3 ml ice-cold 100% methanol (-20 °C). Evaporated fraction OG was dissolved in 200 μ l of 100 mM CH₃COONH₄ (pH 5.0), treated

with 0.1 mg of β -glucosidase (4.0 U·mg⁻¹) and immunopurified again as described above. Fraction NT from the solid-phase extraction was dissolved in 20 µl of ethanol 70% (v/v) and 180 µl of NaHCO₃ (420 mg·100 ml⁻¹, pH 9.6), treated with 50 µl of alkaline phosphatase solution (5 µl of alkaline phosphatase in 2.5 ml NaHCO₃) and purified using pre-immune gel and IAG. Finally, all samples were evaporated to dryness and stored at -20 °C until further UPLC-MS/MS analysis. According to this purification protocol, ribonucleotides (fraction NT) and *O*-glucosides (fraction OG) were analysed after enzyme treatment as appropriate ribosides and bases, respectively (Objective 3).

4.8 Instrument conditions for substance identification

(Objective 1)

4.8.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy

NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian Unity Inova 700 MHz, a Varian Unity Inova 500 HMz (¹H: 500.13 MHz ¹³C: 125.77 MHz), or a Varian Mercury 400 MHz spectrometer (¹H: 399.880 MHz ¹³C: 100.559 MHz) at 25 °C. The ¹H and ¹³C chemical shifts were recorded in parts per million relative to the residual solvent signal ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.31 and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 49.0 ppm for CD₃OD, $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.49 and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 39.51 ppm for DMSO-*d*₆). For an accurate measurement of the coupling constants, the one-dimensional ¹H NMR spectra were transformed at 64K points (digital resolution 0.09 Hz). Homonuclear ¹H connectivities were determined by ¹H-¹H COSY (mixing time 100 ms) experiments. One-bond heteronuclear ¹H-¹³C connectivities were determined with 2D reverse single-quantum heteronuclear correlation pulse sequence (¹H-¹³C HSQC) with an interpulse delay set for ¹J_{CH} of 145 Hz. Two and three bond heteronuclear ¹H-¹³C HMBC) optimised for ^{2,3}J_{CH} of 8 Hz (Objective 1).

4.8.2 HPLC/MS analysis

HPLC/MS experiments were carried out on an Alliance 2695 Separations Module linked simultaneously to a photodiode array detector (PDA 2996, Waters) and either a ZMD 2000 single quadrupole mass spectrometer (HPLC-ESI-qQ) or a hybrid mass analyser Q-TOF microTM (HPLC-ESI-QqTOF) both equipped with an electrospray interface. Samples were injected onto an analytical Symmetry C18 column, the column/sample thermostat was set at 30/4 °C. Elution was performed with a linear methanolic gradient composed of water + 2% methanol + 0.05% formic acid (A) and 100% methanol + 0.05% formic acid (B) at a flow rate of 0.25 ml min⁻¹. The following binary gradient was used: 0 min, 50:50 (A:B); 0-30 min, 40:60 (A:B); 30-32 min, 0:100 (A:B). At the end of the gradient the column was washed with 100% methanol and re-equilibrated to initial conditions for 11 min. Effluent was simultaneously introduced to the UV-DAD (scanning range 210-400 nm, resolution 1.2 nm, sampling rate 1.0 spectra s⁻¹). For Fullscan mode performed at both ZMD 2000 and Q-TOF microTM mass spectrometer, MS conditions were as follows: source/desolvation gas temperature 100/350 °C, capillary voltage 2.5 kV, cone voltage 25 V, mass monitoring interval 50-1000 amu. Nitrogen was used both as desolvation gas (550 l·h⁻¹) and as cone gas (50 l·h⁻¹). Collision energy for MS/MS experiments performed at Q-TOF micro[™] was ranging 15.0-30.0 eV, scan time was 1.5 s. Argon was used as collision gas with an optimized pressure of $5 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mbar (Objective 1).

4.9 Instrument conditions for phytohormone quantification (Supplement III, Objective 3)

4.9.1 Radioactivity measurement

The radioactivity of tritium-labelled cytokinin standards was measured by scintillation counting using the Beckman LS 6500 scintillation counter after addition of liquid scintillation cocktail Ultima GoldTM (1 ml of cocktail per 50 μ l or 200 μ l of liquid sample). Calculations of cytokinin content were performed using Microsoft Excel 2000 software.

4.9.2 Cytokinin UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis

All cytokinins were analysed and quantified according to the modified method described by Novák et al. (2008). Briefly, an AcquityTM UPLC System, including a 2996 PDA detector, was coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer, XevoTM TQ MS, equipped with an electrospray interface and a ScanWaveTM collision cell. The samples were dissolved in 20 µl of the mobile phase used for quantitative analysis (10% methanol). 10 ul of each sample was injected onto an Acquity UPLCTM BEH C18 column (column/sample temperature 40/4 °C) and eluted with a binary gradient composed of methanol as solvent A and 15 mM ammonium formate pH 4.0 as solvent B (Supplement III, Objective 3).

Slightly different conditions were used for UPLC analysis of samples purified by PT-SPE and for analysis of immunopurified samples. The samples pre-purified by PT-SPE were injected onto a BEH C18 column (1.7 μ m; 2.1 × 150 mm) and eluted with a 24-min gradient (0-7 min, 5:95 (A:B); 7-16 min, 20:80 (A:B); 16-23 min, 50:50 (A:B); 23-24 min, 50:50 (A:B); flow rate of 0.25 ml·min⁻¹). At the end of the gradient the column was washed with 100% methanol and re-equilibrated to initial conditions for 10 min (Supplement III). The samples pre-purified by IAC were injected onto a BEH C18 column (1.7 μ m; 2.1 × 50 mm) and eluted with a 4.2-min gradient (0-0.5 min, 10:90 (A:B); 0.5-4.0 min, 45:55 (A:B); 4.0-4.2 min, 100:0 (A:B); flow rate of 0.5 ml·min⁻¹). At the end of the gradient the column was washed with 100% methanol for 1.3 min (Objective 3).

The effluent from UPLC column was passed through an UV-DAD (scanning range 200-400 nm, resolution 1.2 nm, sampling rate 5 points s⁻¹) and the tandem mass spectrometer without post-column splitting. Cytokinins were quantified by multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) of [M+H]⁺ and the appropriate product ion. For selective MRM experiments, optimal conditions, dwell times, cone voltages, and collision energies in the collision cell corresponding to exact diagnostic transitions were optimized earlier for each cytokinin with few modifications to maximize the sensitivity (Novák et al., 2008). Quantification was performed by TargetLynxTM software using a standard isotope dilution method. Briefly, the ratio of endogenous cytokinin to the appropriate labelled standard was determined and used to quantify the level of endogenous compound in the original extract according to the knowledge of the quantity of an added internal standard (Novák et al. 2003) (Supplement III, Objective 3).

4.9.3 Indole-3-acetic acid UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis

Indole-3-acetic acid was analysed using the same instruments as cytokinins, but with conditions optimized for IAA according to the modified method described by Malá et al. (2009). The samples purified by MCX column (fraction IAA) were dissolved in 25 μ l of ACN:water (10:90, v/v) and

filtered through a Micro-spin[®] filter tube (0.2 μ m, Grace, USA) 3 min at 8,000 rpm. 15 μ l of each sample was injected onto a BetaMax Neutral column with a UniguardTM column protection. The samples were eluted with a 20-min gradient composed of water with 1% ACN and 0.1% formic acid (solvent A) and 95% ACN with 0.1% formic acid (solvent B) at a flow rate of 0.05 ml·min⁻¹, column/sample temperature of 40/4 °C. The following binary gradient was used: 0-5 min, 90:10 (A:B); 5-10 min, 80:20 (A:B); 10-18 min, 70:30 (A:B); 18-19 min, 50:50 (A:B); 19-20 min, 10:90 (A:B). At the end of the gradient the column was equilibrated to initial conditions for 5 min. Under these conditions, retention times for the monitored IAA was 13.44 min and for [¹³C₆]IAA 13.41 min (Malá et al., 2009).

The effluent was passed through an UV-DAD (scanning range 200-400 nm, resolution 1.2 nm, sampling rate 20 points s⁻¹) and the tandem mass spectrometer without post-column splitting. Indole-3-acetic acid was quantified by selective MRM experiments (IAA transition: 175.95 > 129.93; [¹³C₆]IAA transition: 181.95 > 135.93). Optimized conditions were as follows: capillary voltage 1.5 kV; cone voltage 20 V; collision energy 15.0 eV; source/desolvation gas temperature 150/350 °C; cone/desolvation gas flow rates 2.0/350 l·hr⁻¹; LM/HM resolution 3.0/15.0; ion energy 1/2 0.5 V; entrance, exit and multiplier voltages of 0.5 V, 0.5 V and 490.60 eV, respectively. Argon was used as the collision gas with an optimized pressure of $5 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mbar. The dwell times (1.09 s) for diagnostic transitions were calculated to provide 16 scan points per peak and to maximize the sensitivity. Quantification was performed by MassLynx software using a standard isotope dilution method (Malá et al., 2009) (Objective 3).

4.10 Calcein AM cell viability assay

The Calcein AM assay was used to determine the anticancer potential of the plant extracts, extract fractions, and isolated and synthetic compounds in Objectives 1 and 2 and is described in detail in Supplement I and II. The brief summary is given in this chapter.

Anticancer potential was determined as cytotoxic effects on the growth of malignant human cancer cell lines in 96-well microtitre plates. Each of the tested substance was characterized by the value of IC_{50} (inhibitory concentration 50%, Supplement I) or EC_{50} (effective concentration 50%, Supplement II). These values represents the quantity of the starting lyophilized plant material (mg·ml⁻¹) or the concentration of the compound (μ M) required for inhibition of the growth of 50% of the cells in the tested cell lines. Two different sample preparation protocols were used, one for the plant extracts and extract fractions (Supplement I) and the modified one for the pure compounds (Supplement II).

Sample preparation

Each of the extract and/or purified fraction was dissolved in 1 ml of 20% methanol in 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 7.2, Serva Electrophoresis, Heidelberg, Germany). Six 3-fold dilutions were prepared by subsequent dilutions in the 96-well microplates. It can be calculated that the resulting concentrations in the wells with cell suspension ranged from 0.8 to 200.0 mg·ml⁻¹ cell culture medium in case of extract/fraction prepared from 1 g of lyophilized plant material (Supplement I). In case of tested pure compounds, 100 mM stock solutions were prepared in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and then diluted to 15 mM with DMSO. The first concentration to be applied to the cells was prepared by diluting 15 mM DMSO solution distilled water to 500 μ M. Starting with the 500 μ M concentration, serial 3-fold dilutions (six in total) ranging from 2 to 500 μ M were prepared by diluting the solution with water. The highest final concentration of a tested compound in the wells with cell suspension was $100 \ \mu\text{M}$ and the lowest 0.4 μM . The final concentration of DMSO in the reaction mixture never exceeded 0.6% (Supplement II).

Cell cultures

For the basic screening of the cytotoxic activity against human cancer cell lines, the breast adenocarcinoma (MCF-7) and the acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (CEM) cancer cell lines were used. For deeper investigations of cytotoxicity and anticancer potential of selected compounds the human breast carcinoma cell line adriamycin resistantant (MCF-7AL), the human estrogen independent breast carcinoma (MDA-MB-468), the human multiple myeloma (RPMI 8226 and U266), the human cervical carcinoma cells (HeLa), the human lung adenocarcinoma epithelial cell line (A549) as well as normal human uterine fibroblasts (DV41) and normal human fibroblasts (BJ) were also used. The cell cultures were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockvill, Maryland, USA) and maintained in plastic tissue culture flasks.

Treatment of cell cultures

The cells were grown on DMEM medium (Gibco BRL) supplemented with 10% (v/v) foetal bovine serum, 0.3 g·1⁻¹ L-glutamine, 100 U·ml⁻¹ penicillin and 100 μ g·ml⁻¹ streptomycin. The cultures were maintained at 37 °C in a fully humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Cells were subcultured two or three times a week using the standard trypsinization procedure. The cell suspensions were counted in a Bürker chamber and diluted in DMEM to an approximate density of $1.25 \cdot 10^{5}$ cells·ml⁻¹. Then 80 μ l of cell suspension was placed into each well of a 96-well microtitre plate and stabilized for 3 h. Afterwards, six prepared 3-fold diluted concentrations of extracts or compounds to be tested were added in triplicates in 20 μ l aliquots to the appropriate microtitre plate wells. The cell suspensions in wells were incubated for 72 h at 37 °C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ and then treated and incubated with 100 μ l of Calcein AM solution (2 μ M) for further 1 h. This resulted in fluorescent staining of viable cells by means of the free calcein produced.

Fluorescence measurement and cytotoxicity estimations

The fluorescence from viable cells was measured and quantified using a 485 nm excitation filter and a 538 nm emission filter in a Fluoroskan Ascent reader (Labsystems, Finland). The data measured by fluoroskan were processed by Ascent Calcein, Origin 6.0 and Microsoft Excel 2000 software. The percentage of surviving cells in each well was calculated as the ratio of the fluorescence obtained from each well with exposed cells/the mean fluorescence obtained from control wells multiplied by 100%. Finally, cytotoxic effective concentrations were calculated from the generated dose-response curves and expressed as IC_{50} or EC_{50} values (the concentrations causing a 50% reduction in the number of live cells).

5. Results and discussion

All the obtained results are summarized and discussed in this section separately according to the three main objectives of this doctoral thesis:

- 1 Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from *Acalypha alopecuroidea*. (Chapter 5.1: Investigation of *Acalypha alopecuroidea*.)
- 2 Geranylated flavanones from *Morus alba* and *Paulonnia tomentosa* and their anticancer potential. (Chapter 5.2: Anticancer potential of geranylated flavanones.)
- 3 Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material. (Chapter 5.3: Miniaturized methods for phytohormone analysis.)

The majority of results is described in detail in publications attached as Supplement I-III.

5.1 Investigation of Acalypha alopecuroidea

Acalypha alopecuroidea (Euphorbiaceae) belongs to a group of plants widely used in traditional Mayan medicine in Central America to treat various diseases, among them acute and chronic inflammation and cancer. This plant has not been investigated phytochemically, hence the isolation and identification of active compounds may result in the discovery of potentially useful new compounds. On the basis of the above mentioned facts, this doctoral thesis was mainly focused on a search for anticancer active compounds in A. alopecuroidea extracts and fractions and the subsequent isolation and identification of compounds with detected anticancer potential. Anticancer activity was determined as a cytotoxic effect on the growth of malignant human cancer cells by a Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay in 96-well plates. Each extract and fraction was characterized by the IC_{50} value. This value indicated the quantity (mg) of the starting lyophilized plant material per ml cell culture medium, which inhibits the growth of 50% of the cells. Human breast adenocarcinoma cell line (MCF-7) and human leukaemic lymphoid cells (CEM) were used for the basic cytotoxicity screening. On the basis of the results from Calcein AM assay, the most active extract or extract fraction was chosen at each step of the whole isolation procedure and further purified. The phytochemical research on A. alopecuroidea was started by Prof. Georg Krupitza (Institute of Clinical Pathology, Medical University of Vienna, Austria) and Dr. Richard Frisch (Institute for Ethnobiology and Maya Research, Guatemala) who provided and delivered the plant material to the Laboratory of Growth Regulators.

5.1.1 Compound isolation and anticancer activity of isolated fractions

The first step in the isolation of compounds from *Acalypha alopecuroidea* with potential anticancer activity was a determination of the anticancer potential of individual plant parts extracted in different extraction solvents. *A. alopecuroidea* roots, leaves, stems and inflorescences were extracted in either ethanol 70% (v/v) or a mixture of methanol-tetrahydrofurane (MeOH-THF, 1:1). Polar organic solvents such as ethanol serve mainly to extract polar compounds, while the mixture of solvents with different polarity ensured extraction of as broad spectrum of compounds as possible in one extraction procedure. In this case, methanol extracted polar compounds while tetrahydrofurane extracted non-polar ones. As determined by Calcein AM assay, the stem extracts were the least effective and the root extracts the most effective. In case of 70% ethanol root extract, IC₅₀ concentration for MCF-7 and

CEM cell line was 2.5 mg·ml⁻¹ and less than 0.4 mg·ml⁻¹, respectively. In case of MeOH-THF root extract, IC_{50} concentration for MCF-7 and CEM cells was 1.1 mg·ml⁻¹ and 0.9 mg·ml⁻¹, respectively (Supplement I). The MeOH-THF root extract was considered as the most active. After this initial cytotoxicity testing, only roots were extracted in a variety of different solvents and examined towards four cell lines to prove the highest effectivity of the MeOH-THF extraction solvent (Table 1, Objective 1). Slight differences in IC_{50} values of one extract type determined towards the same cell line are probably incurred by different batch of plant extract as well as the actual health condition and variability of cells as living organisms.

Extracted	Extraction	Extr.	IC ₅₀ (mg·ml ⁻¹)			
DW (g)	solvent	temp.	MCF-7	CEM	HeLa	DV41
1.0	MeOH-THF (1:1)	-20 °C	0.65	0.51	34.50	ND
1.0	methanol	Lab t.	7.87	0.41	ND	ND
1.0	methanol 80% (v/v)	Lab t.	2.75	0.41	ND	ND
1.0	ethanol	Lab t.	6.90	0.90	ND	ND
1.0	ethanol 70% (v/v)	Lab t.	2.73	0.98	24.50	6.10
2.0	H_2O	4 °C	>50.00	27.33	>50.00	ND
2.0	H_2O	Lab t.	>50.00	25.00	>50.00	ND
2.0	$\rm H_2O~H^+$	4 °C	>50.00	28.00	>50.00	ND
2.0	$H_2O H^+$	Lab t.	>50.00	27.00	>50.00	ND
2.0	$H_2O OH^-$	4 °C	>50.00	13.50	32.00	ND
2.0	H ₂ O OH ⁻	Lab t.	>50.00	18.50	>50.00	ND

Table 1. Cytotoxic activities, towards different cell lines, of extracts prepared from A. alopecuroidea roots.

Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays towards MCF-7, CEM, HeLa and DV41 cells. The IC₅₀ values in the table indicate the quantity (mg) of the lyophilized starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells. Water was acidified with 0.3% formic acid (pH = 2.91), or alkalined with 0.3% NH₄OH (pH = 9.94). ND, not determined.

The most potent MeOH-THF root extract was taken for the further investigation. In the next step of the compound isolation, root samples (5.0 or 2.0 g DW) extracted in MeOH-THF were purified by solid-phase extraction on AccuBond C18, DEAE-Sephadex and Sep-Pak C18 columns (Figure 20). This purification resulted in six fractions (A-F), which were evaluated by Calcein AM assay. Fractions A, B, and E expressed significant cytotoxicity towards MCF-7 and CEM cell lines in contrast with fractions C, D and F, which had negligible effects on MCF-7 cell line and minimal effects on CEM cells. Fraction A (IC_{50 (CEM)} = 46.0 mg·ml⁻¹, IC_{50 (MCF-7)} = 215.0 mg·ml⁻¹) was the buffer flow through solution of the coupled DEAE-Sephadex and first Sep-Pak C18 column. Fraction B (IC_{50 (CEM)} = 15.3 mg·ml⁻¹, IC_{50 (MCF-7)} = 127.5 mg·ml⁻¹) was collected as the methanolic eluate of the first Sep-Pak. Fraction E (IC_{50 (CEM)} = 130.0 mg·ml⁻¹, IC_{50 (MCF-7)} = 550.0 mg·ml⁻¹) was the methanolic eluate of the third Sep-Pak coupled to the DEAE-Sephadex column (Supplement I).

The cytotoxicity data published in Supplement I were completed with cytotoxicity testing of fractions A-F towards human cervical carcinoma cells (HeLa) and normal human uterine fibroblasts (DV41) (Table 2). These additional data confirmed that fraction B was the most active one. Therefore, fraction B was used for further studies and fractionated by two-dimensional high performance liquid chromatography. During the routine isolation of active compounds, the optimized SPE with gradient elution of the first Sep-Pak cartridge was performed to reduce the background of co-eluting

compounds prior to the HPLC fractionation. The second and third Sep-Pak cartridges were not used. This modified SPE was repeated many times to obtain active fraction B in amount sufficient for identification of individual content substances (Objective 1).



Figure 20. Initial protocol of root extraction and purification of the MeOH-THF extract of *A. alopecuroidea*. Plant material (2.0 g DW) is homogenized and extracted in 20 ml of MeOH-THF (1:1) with addition of antioxidant. Supernatant is immediately applied on a pre-conditioned AccuBond C18 column and the flow through fraction is concentrated to the aqueous phase. This is dissolved in ammonium acetate buffer (40 mM, pH 6.5) and purified by application on a DEAE-Sephadex column coupled with two Sep-Pak cartridges in tandem. Afterwards, the DEAE-Sephadex is coupled to the third Sep-Pak and washed with formic acid 6% (v/v). The flow through portions are collected as fractions A and D. The compounds retained on Sep-Pak cartridges are eluted with 5 ml methanol 80% (v/v) as fractions B, C and E. Collected fractions are evaporated to dryness and stored at -20 °C.

Table 2. Cytotoxic activities of SPE-fractions derived from the MeOH-THF root extract of A. alopecuroidea.

Fraction	Extracted	IC ₅₀ (mg·ml ⁻¹)		
	DW (g)	HeLa	DV41	
А	2.0	179.0	>200.0	
В	2.0	59.0	>200.0	
С	2.0	>200.0	>200.0	
D	2.0	>200.0	>200.0	
E	2.0	177.0	199.0	
F	2.0	81.0	84.0	

Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assays towards HeLa and DV41 cells. The IC_{50} values in the table indicate the quantity (mg) of the lyophilized starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells.

The initial HPLC fractionation of *A. alopecuroidea* fraction B was performed on a preparative reversed-phase column Reprosil 100. Twenty-seven one-minute fractions were collected and their cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assay. The fraction with the highest activity had a retention time of 25 min and showed comparable biological activity as fraction B of the MeOH-THF extract towards CEM cells (Table 3). A weaker activity was detected in fractions B7, B17 and B26. Consequently, fractions B7, B25 and B26 were used in different biological assays, which are described in details in Supplement I.

	IC ₅₀ (mg·ml ⁻¹)					
Fraction	Preparative column		Semiprepara	tive column		
-	MCF-7	CEM	MCF-7	СЕМ		
B1	> 200.0	148.0	> 200.0	151.5		
B2	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	164.5		
B3	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	130.5		
B4	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	146.5		
B5	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	117.0		
B6	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	174.0		
B7	> 200.0	89.0	> 200.0	160.0		
B8	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	152.0		
B9	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	167.0		
B10	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	138.0		
B11	> 200.0	173.0	> 200.0	131.5		
B12	> 200.0	> 200.0	167.0	97.0		
B13	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	200.0		
B14	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	160.0		
B15	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	196.0		
B16	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	163.0		
B17	175.0	153.0	> 200.0	156.5		
B18	200.0	166.0	> 200.0	140.5		
B19	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	183.5		
B20	> 200.0	174.0	> 200.0	200.0		
B21	> 200.0	> 200.0	> 200.0	200.0		
B22	> 200.0	> 200.0	30.5	13.5		
B23	> 200.0	125.0	86.5	0.5		
B24	ND	ND	92.5	52.5		
B25	32.0	12.0	> 200.0	130.5		
B26	> 200.0	73.0	> 200.0	145.5		
B27	> 200.0	140.0	> 200.0	134.5		
B28	ND	ND	> 200.0	145.0		
B29	ND	ND	> 200.0	167.5		
B30	ND	ND	> 200.0	190.0		

Table 3. Cytotoxic activities of HPLC fractions obtained by separating fraction B of the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea*.

Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assays. The IC_{50} values in the table indicate the quantity (mg) of the lyophilized starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells. ND, not determined.

The routine HPLC fractionation and purification (Objective 1) in order to isolate individual active compounds present in fraction B and to maximize the yields of active components was performed by a semipreparative 2D-HPLC separation using reversed-phase columns (Figure 21). The first HPLC fractionation on a Symmetry Shield RP-18 column resulted in thirty one-minute fractions. The cytotoxicity profile of collected one minute fractions was similar to that in case of the preparative C8 Reprosil 100 column. Using the Symmetry Shield RP-18 column, fraction B23 was the most active one (Table 3) and displayed similar biological activity to the whole fraction B. The isolated fraction

B23 was repeatedly fractionated by the second HPLC (Figure 22) to half-minute fractions using an analytical Symmetry C18 column and utilized for optimization of the second HPLC step. Collected half-minute fractions were subsequently tested by Calcein AM assay (Table 4). Fractions B23/17-18, which displayed the highest cytotoxic activity, corresponded to one chromatographic peak. Therefore, these fractions were combined together and submitted to MS and NMR analysis (Objective 1).



Figure 21. Scheme of 2D-HPLC purification of fraction B of the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea*. Active HPLC fractions obtained from fraction B were selected according to the Calcein AM assay and subsequently isolated in higher amounts using two slightly modified HPLC conditions. The structure of isolated fractions was determined by means of MS and NMR experiments.



Figure 22. Chromatographic separation of partially purified fraction B23 of the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea* on an analytical Symmetry C18 column. UV chromatogram is monitored at 250 nm. Half-minute fraction were collected and examined by Calcein AM assay, MS and NMR.

Fraction	Extracted	IC₅₀ (mg·ml-1)		
	DW (g)	MCF-7	CEM	
B23/16.0	2.8	>280.0	169.0	
B23/16.5	2.8	>280.0	133.0	
B23/17.0	2.8	69.0	17.0	
B23/17.5	2.8	101.0	4.7	
B23/18.0	2.8	74.0	18.0	
B23/18.5	2.8	264.0	61.0	
B23/19.0	2.8	>280.0	243.0	
B23/19.5	2.8	>280.0	>280.0	
B23/20.0	2.8	>280.0	>280.0	

Table 4. Cytotoxic activities of selected HPLC fractions obtained by separating fraction B23 of the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea*.

Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assays. The IC_{50} values in the table indicate the quantity (mg) of the lyophilized starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells.

The 2D-HPLC separation of fraction B was later modified (see Figure 21) to ensure the highest yields of the desired fraction B23 necessary for successful structure elucidation. For this purpose, the crude fraction B corresponding to 1.0-2.0 g of dry plant material was re-applied (ca. 240 injections in total) onto the first column (Symmetry Shield RP-18) and not only fraction B23, but the range of fractions B22-25 was collected. The total yield of fraction B22-25, isolated from 436.0 g of lyophilized *A. alopecuroidea* roots by means of SPE and the first HPLC, was 31.47 mg. Isolated fraction B22-25 was repeatedly submitted to the second HPLC fractionation using a semipreparative Synergi Fusion-RP column (instead of the analytical Symmetry C18 column used for fractionation of fraction B23). The second HPLC step allowed a separation of four major individual chromatographic peaks, assigned with numbers 1-4 (Figure 23). The total fraction (peak) yield after ca. 72 injections, peak retention times (t_R), wavelength of maximum absorbance (λ_{max}), and IC₅₀ values are summarized in Table 5 (Objective 1).



Figure 23. Chromatographic separation of partially purified fraction B22-25 of the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea* on a semipreparative Synergi Fusion-RP column. UV chromatogram is monitored at 250 nm. Four individual chromatographic fractions (B22-25/1-4) were isolated.

Fraction	Isolated	t _R (min)	1 (2022)	IC ₅₀ (mg·ml ⁻¹)	
	amount (mg)	UV-DAD	Λ_{\max} (IIIII)	MCF-7	CEM
B22-25/1	1.94	18.51	277.2	98.0	59.0
B22-25/2	2.78	19.89	279.5	84.0	16.0
B22-25/3	4.18	22.96	279.5	78.0	1.3
B22-25/4	0.41	29.17	215.8	>400.0	358.0

Table 5. Chromatographic, UV and cytotoxicity characteristics of four chromatographic fractions (peaks) B22-25/1-4 separated on a semipreparative Synergi Fusion-RP column.

The fractions were isolated from the MeOH-THF root extract of A. *alopecuroidea* by means of the SPE and 2D-HPLC using semipreparative reversed-phase columns. Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assays. The IC₅₀ values in the table were calculated as the quantity (mg) of the lyophilized starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells.

5.1.2 Biological activity of Acalypha extracts

In addition to the cytotoxicity tests, other biological assays were used to discriminate between the effects of *Acalypha alopecuroidea* extracts on the cell cycle machinery (growth inhibition) and cell death (apoptosis). All the other assays were performed by Sibylle Madlener and Prof. Georg Krupitza (Institute of Clinical Pathology, Medical University of Vienna, Austria). Briefly, the root extract inhibited TNF- α -induced E-selectin (CD62E) expression and c-Jun activation (phosphorylation) in HUVECs (human umbilical vein endothelial cells). The activation of c-Jun probably plays a role in hepatic inflammation and in arteriosclerosis. Another mediator of inflammatory reaction is the enzyme cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2). It was found out that COX-2 enzymatic activity was not inhibited by MeOH-THF extract of *A. alopecuroidea* (Supplement I).

Fraction B25 obtained from the initial preparative HPLC fractionation displayed cell cycle inhibitory activity by inactivation of cyclin D1 and Cdc25A and induction of cyclin A. The inhibition of the cell cycle progression and cell proliferation appeared to be mediated by down-regulation and suppression of the positive cell cycle regulators cyclin D1 and Cdc25A, which causes the G1/S phase arrest and abrogation of mitotic signalling. Together with the rapid induction of cyclin A, which accelerates the G2/M transition, the controlled cell cycle arrest is disturbed. Furthermore, fraction B25 inhibited the cell proliferation in chemoresistant MCF-7 clones (resistant to tamoxifen and cytosine-arabinoside) and may be a potent candidate for the treatment of breast cancer. The apoptotic response rate of MCF-7 clones (dependent on caspase 7) to fraction B25 was rather low, whereas the apoptosis of human promyelocytic leukaemia cells (HL-60), dependent on activation of caspase 3, was induced. These findings indicate that constituents of fraction B25 may also posses potential value as caspase 3 specific apoptosis-inducing agents.

All the results are fully described in Supplement I and confirm the high prospects for the isolation of biologically active constituents from *Acalypha alopecuroidea* and the use of purified compounds for *in vivo* preclinical studies.

5.1.3 Identification of isolated compounds

Isolated active fractions, namely combined fraction B23/17-18, which was collected during optimization of the purification procedure, and isolated individual fractions B22-25/1-4, were submitted to mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in order to identify the structure of present compounds (Objective 1). The MS identification of the fractions based on

measurement of precursor and product ions was performed by HPLC/MS analyses using a single quadrupole or hybrid tandem (QqTOF) mass spectrometers. The samples were injected onto an analytical Symmetry C18 column and monitored simultaneously by a photodiode array detector and mass spectrometric analysers. The summary of detected retention times (t_R), wavelength of maximum absorbance (λ_{max}) and exact masses of protonated and sodium adduct ions are shown in Table 6.

0 1	<i>a</i>	;				
Fraction	t _R (min) UV-DAD	t _R (min)	λ _{max} (nm) -	Exact mass (m/z)		
		MS		$[M+H]^+$	[M+Na] ⁺	$[2M+Na]^+$
B23/17-18	17.42	17.16	279.93	281.0875	303.0722	583.1599
B22-25/1	12.61	12.73	275.93	236.0989	258.0828	ND
B22-25/2	13.64	13.71	279.93	265.1039	287.0844	551.1890
B22-25/3	18.41	18.50	279.93	281.0948	303.0731	583.1682
B22-25/4	24.39	24.54	217.93	297.0805	319.0623	615.1388

Table 6. Chromatographic, UV and MS characteristics of isolated active fraction B23/17-18 and four chromatographic fractions (peaks) B22-25/1-4.

The fractions were isolated from the MeOH-THF root extract of *A. alopecuroidea* by means of the SPE and 2D-HPLC using initial (fraction B23/17-18) or modified (fractions B22-25/1-4) conditions. Fractions were injected onto a Symmetry C18 column and analysed by UV-DAD and Q-TOF micro[™] mass analyser. ND, not detected.

Moreover, structures of isolated compounds were proposed with help of the second method for structure elucidation. The NMR measurements were successfully applied on fractions B23/17-18 and B22-25/3 purified by HPLC on the analytical Symmetry C18 and semipreparative Synergi Fusion-RP columns, respectively. All the NMR data were measured by Prof. Virginia Lanzotti, Elisa Barile and Adriana Romano at the Department of Chemistry of Natural Substances (Pharmaceutical Faculty, University of Naples Federico II, Italy) using the 400 MHz, 500 MHz and 700 MHz spectrometers. Two structures (Figure 24) were finally designed according to one- (¹H) and two-dimensional (COSY, HSQC, HMBC) NMR spectra, full-scan mass spectra and the measured accurate mass of protonated or sodium adduct ions in positive MS mode (Figure 25).



Figure 24. Designed structures of isolated compounds from fractions B23/17-18 (Compound 1) and B22-25/3 (Compound 2).

Under the same chromatographic conditions, compound **1** (fraction B23/17-18) had comparable retention time, absorption maximum and mass spectra to compound **2** (fraction B22-25/3, see Table 6, Figure 25). Although both compounds gave corresponding molecular weights, different structures and elemental compositions were predicated according to their divergent NMR spectra (Figure 26 and 27).



Figure 25. Full scan mass spectra of compound **1** (A) and compound **2** (B) isolated form the MeOH-THF root extract of *Acalypha alopecuroidea*.

As demonstrated in Figure 24, the structure of compound **1** was determined as 9-(3,6dimethylhepta-2,6-dienyl)-hypoxantine. On the bases of QqTOF analysis ([M+Na]⁺, m/z 281.0875, see Figure 25) and NMR spectral data (Figure 26), the molecular formula of **1** was deduced as $C_{14}H_{18}N_4O$. The ¹H NMR spectrum (500 MHz, CD₃OD) displayed signal for a proton at *C*2 ($\delta = 8.49$ ppm, 1H) and *C*8 ($\delta = 6.98$ ppm, 1H), which revealed the probable presence of hypoxanthine skeleton. Signals for protons attached to carbons in the unsaturated side chain at position *N*9 of hypoxanthine were detected as follows: $\delta = 4.01$ ppm (2H, *C*1'-H), 5.60 ppm (1H, *C*2'-H), 1.61 ppm (3H, *C*4'-H), 2.37 ppm (2H, *C*5'-H), 2.37 ppm (2H, *C*6'-H), 1.72 ppm (3H, *C*8'-H). Signals observed for protons at *C*9' ($\delta = 6.09$ ppm, 1H; $\delta = 5.45$ ppm, 1H) indicated the presence of terminal methylene group. Homonuclear COSY experiments showed correlations between hydrogen atoms. Heteronuclear HSQC and HMBC experiments showed one-bond and long-range correlations between hydrogen and carbon atoms. These 2D experiments disclosed the position of atoms in the molecule and enabled to design the complete structure of compound **1**.


Figure 26. NMR spectra of compound **1** isolated form the MeOH-THF root extract of *Acalypha alopecuroidea*. A) ¹H NMR spectra (500 MHz, CD₃OD); B) ¹H-¹H COSY (400 MHz, CD₃OD); C) ¹H-¹³C HSQC (700 MHz, CD₃OD); D) ¹H-¹³C HMBC (700 MHz, CD₃OD).

On the other hand, the NMR spectra interpretation of compound **2** resulted in tentative elucidation of 1,3,7,9-tetraethyluric acid (1,3,7,9-tetraethyl-7,9-dihydro-1*H*-purine-2,6,8(3*H*)-trion; TEUA). The structure of TEUA is shown in Figure 24. On the bases of QqTOF analysis ([M+H]⁺, m/z 281.0948, see Figure 25) and NMR spectral data (Figure 27), the molecular formula of **2** was determined as $C_{13}H_{20}N_4O_3$. Chemical shifts in ¹H NMR spectra were attributed to hydrogen atoms present in the molecule. In the ¹H NMR spectrum (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆), signals for methyl groups were observed at $\delta = 1.06$ ppm (bs, 2H), 1.19 ppm (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.27 ppm (bs, 2H) and 1.32 ppm (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H). Signals for methylene groups were detected at $\delta = 3.53$ ppm (bs, 2H), 3.91 ppm (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H) and 3.96 ppm (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H). The interpretation of ¹H and 2D NMR spectra (COSY, HSQC, HMBC) disclosed the presence of ethyl groups in the structure of compound **2**, which were attached at position *N*1, *N*3, *N*7 and *N*9 of the basic skeleton of uric acid.



Figure 27. NMR spectra of compound **2** isolated form the MeOH-THF root extract of *Acalypha alopecuroidea*. A) ¹H NMR spectra (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆); B) ¹H-¹H COSY (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆); C) ¹H-¹³C HSQC (700 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆); D) ¹H-¹³C HMBC (700 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆).

Although the amount of lyophilized plant material used for compound isolation was almost 500 g, the final 0.5-4.5 mg fraction weight of isolated individual peaks was not very high and probably not sufficient for the nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy measurements and generation of highquality spectra. It was not possible to completely elucidate the structure of B22-25/1, because of the complexity of this fraction and probable presence of several compounds. Unfortunately, compounds occurring in fractions B22-25/2 and B22-25/4 were also not identified. Therefore, the structures shown above are only one of the structural possibilities to the detected compounds and they need to be further verified. It is also not clear, why fractions B23/17-18 and B22-25/3 with similar mass spectra provided different nuclear magnetic resonance spectra resulting in propose of two different structures. The main difference in those two fractions was that they were isolated from different batches of plant material and purified by slightly modified HPLC fractionation (Figure 21). In the first case, the analytical C18 column was used and the fraction at 17-18 min, which exhibited the highest cytotoxic activity, was collected and analysed (Figure 22). In the second case, the semipreparative C18 column was applied after optimization of HPLC conditions and the individual chromatographic peaks were isolated (Figure 23). Despite an incomplete structure elucidation, the designed structures give some insight to the novel possible chemical modification of natural substances.

5.1.4 Synthetic analogues

The suggested chemical structures of isolated compounds served as templates for the synthesis of a group of new N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and the group of N-alkyl derivatives of uric acid (Objective 1). The structures shown in Figure 28 were synthesized by RNDr. Marek Zatloukal, Ph.D. at the Laboratory of Growth Regulators and detailed procedures of the syntheses as well as structural confirmation will be published elsewhere.



Figure 28. Synthetically prepared N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and N-alkyl derivative of uric acid tested in Calcein AM assay.

The structure-activity relationship of these synthesized compounds became an object of further investigation. Cytotoxic activity was tested using Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay and the obtained IC_{50} values are summarized in Table 7. Isopentenyl (dimethylallyl) derivatives were less active than geranyl derivatives of both adenine and hypoxanthine. Therefore, the presence of geranyl side chain can be considered as the crucial factor of the higher cytotoxicity. Presence of chlorine as the heteroatom bound on *C*2 of adenine core of 9-geranyladenine brought further rise in cytotoxic activity against human cancer cell lines. On the other hand, these chlorine derivatives displayed some level of cytotoxicity also towards normal human fibroblasts. Usually, compounds with IC_{50} less than 10 μ M are considered as interesting structures in relation to their cytotoxic effects. Compounds with higher IC_{50} values can be further chemically modified to obtain compounds with selective anticancer activity and lower side effects on normal cells.

	IC ₅₀ (μM)									
Compound	MCF-7	СЕМ	HeLa	DV41	MCF	A 5 4 0 1	BI	U266	RPMI MDA	
					7AL	A349	Бј		8226	MB-468
9-DMAA	>100	99.1	>100	>100	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
9-DMAH	>100	>100	>100	>100	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
9-GA	78.8	44.2	24.7	>100	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
9-GH	80.7	43.9	45.9	>100	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
9-IPA	>100	>100	>100	>100	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
2-Cl-9-GA	16.3	27.1	41.0	ND	45.8	ND	30.6	ND	ND	ND
cis-2-Cl-N6-Me-9-GA	41.1	27.1	38.8	ND	26.6	84.1	87.5	ND	ND	ND
trans-2-Cl-N6-Me-9-GA	36.3	33.4	32.1	ND	31.5	60.0	88.6	ND	ND	ND
TEUA	>600	>600	178.9	ND	>600	>600	ND	>600	>600	>600

Table 7. Cytotoxic activities of synthetic N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and N-alkyl derivatives of uric acid.

Cytotoxicity was determined by Calcein AM assays towards MCF-7, CEM, HeLa, DV41 cells. The IC₅₀ values in the table indicate the concentration (μ M) of tested compounds lethal to 50% cancer cells. ND, not determined.

For the first time, according to our current knowledge, the group of several N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine is described in this thesis. The exception is 9-dimethylallyl-adenine (9-(3-methylbut-2-en-1-yl)adenine; 9-DMAA), which was synthesised in 1970 (Miyaki et al., 1970; Shimizu et al., 1970) and later isolated from a plant material, the leaves of *Bridelia balansae* (Tsai et al., 2003). The biological activity of 9-DMAA has not been examined. Some previous studies have shown other compounds with similar structure and investigated their biological activity. Cytotoxicity assays and the way of calculating IC₅₀ values differ in each publication and it is not possible to compare adequately the results. Vik et al. (2007) synthesized N6-aminopurine, N6-alkoxypurine and 3-methyladenine derivatives with diterpenoid (geranylgeranyl) side chain attached in the position N7 or N9 as analogues of agelasine and agelasimine (Vik et al., 2007). This type of compounds was originally isolated form marine sponges as natural products (Nakamura et al., 1984; Fathi-Afshar et al., 1988). The synthesized derivatives exhibited excellent activity against cancer cells (CEM, RPMI 8226) with IC₅₀ values lower than 10 μ M (Vik et al., 2007).

Rao et al. (1997) have reported the synthesis of two N9-alkenyl derivatives of adenine (2-penten-1yl and 3-methyl-2-buten-1-yl) and evaluated their *in vitro* cytotoxicity against human monocytic lekemia cells. Both compounds had IC₅₀ less than 2.34 μ g·ml⁻¹ (Rao et al., 1997). Synthetic 9-(3-oxoprop-1enyl) derivatives of adenine and guanine exerted cytotoxicity towards HeLa cells with IC₅₀ values 2 μ M and 24 μ M, respectively (Johnson et al., 1984). Kelley et al. (1962) performed a systematic study of the activity of hypoxanthine, adenine, and 6-chloropurine with alkyl and cycloalkyl substitutions at the 9-position. The butyl, pentyl, cyclopentyl, hexyl, cyclohexyl, heptyl and octyl derivatives displayed an inhibitory effect on a human epidermal carcinoma cell line. The compounds were tested at 10 μ g·ml⁻¹ and the decrease in cell population was calculated. In this case, no IC₅₀ values are available. The cycloalkyl derivatives were the most effective (decrease in tested cell population up to 5%), the alkyl derivatives of hypoxanthine were more active than the corresponding derivatives of adenine and 6-chloropurine (Kelley et al., 1962).

One of the disappointments was the fact that 1,3,7,9-tetraethyluric acid displayed no activity towards the majority of tested cell lines in this thesis, except its slight toxicity towards HeLa cells (IC₅₀ = 178.9 μ M). There are no reports in the literature focused on anticancer activity of urate derivatives, in contrast with numerous studies concerning potent antioxidant activity of uric acid (Ames et al., 1981; Simic et al., 1989) and *N*-alkylated urates (Smith et al., 1987; Fraisse et al., 1993).

5.2 Anticancer potential of geranylated flavanones

Geranylated flavonoids are often in focus for their interesting chemical properties and great therapeutic potential in the field of treatment of inflammation (Kimura et al., 1986; Chi et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2002; Yazaki et al., 2009), cancer, and bacterial infections (Wang et al., 1998b; Sohn et al., 2004; Shakil et al., 2007). The type of the modification of basic flavonoid structure as well as the type of prenyl substitution affects the biological activity. In contrast to the phytochemical research on *A. alopecuroidea*, directed towards the isolation of unknown compounds according to their determined cytotoxic activity, the second aim of this doctoral thesis was focused on cytotoxic activity of compounds already isolated from plants with fully elucidated structure, the geranylated flavanones. Isolation of these compounds was the main research field of scientists at the Department of Natural Drugs (Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Brno). Screening of the anticancer activity of isolated compounds was done at the Laboratory of Growth Regulators and is included in this doctoral thesis. All the results are completely described in Supplement II.

Fruits of the Chinese medicinal plant *Paulownia tomentosa* (Scrophulariaceae) served as a source for the isolation of eight geranylated flavanones (Šmejkal et al., 2007b; Šmejkal et al., 2008a) and a geranylated substance called schizolaenone C (Supplement II). In addition, two *C*-geranylflavanones were obtained by HPLC fractionation of chloroform fraction of the root extract of *Morus alba* (Moraceae) and their structures were determined as kuwanon E, which was also previously isolated from *M. alba* (Nomura et al., 1978), and a new compound 4'-O-methylkuwanon E (Supplement II). The cytotoxicity of the flavonoid compounds isolated from *P. tomentosa* and *M. alba* was tested using Calcein AM cell viability assay against five selected human cancer cell lines to determine the anticancer potential as well as normal human fibroblast to detect the non-specific cytotoxicity.

The cell lines used for the cytotoxicity screening were as follows: MCF-7, CEM, RPMI 8226, U266, HeLa and BJ. Each compound was diluted to six different concentrations and EC_{50} value were determined. Simple non-geranylated flavanones (taxifolin, naringenin and hesperetin) and standard anticancer lead compounds (olomoucine II, diaziquon, oxaliplatin) were used to compare the level of cytotoxic effects. From the EC_{50} values determined for each compound it can be concluded that the geranylation of the flavanone skeleton significantly increases cytotoxicity. Among the geranylated compounds, the activity was higher, when the *C*-geranyl side chain was attached at the position *C*6 on the ring A compared to the attachment of a geranyl side chain at *C*3' position of the ring B. The positive effect of the geranyl substitution in the *C*6 position (ring A) on the cytotoxic activity was also observed by Phommart et al. (Phommart et al., 2005). Modification of *C*-geranyl side chain by hydroxylated in reduced cytotoxic activity. Decreased cytotoxicity for similar flavanones with hydroxylated geranyl substituent was also shown in previous study (Šmejkal et al., 2008b).

The effect of the presence of hydroxy group at position C3 of ring C was observed as a reduction in activity of hydroxy-substituted flavanones. The effect of differing hydroxy-substitutions on flavanone ring B of geranylated derivatives was deduced from the EC₅₀ values and is discussed in detail in Supplement II. In summary, mono-, dihydroxy-, and dihydroxy-methoxy-substitution of flavanone ring B resulted in more cytotoxically active compounds in comparison with hydroxy-methoxy- and hydroxy-dimethoxy-substituted compounds. In addition to human cancer cell lines, normal human fibroblasts were also tested. All compounds expressed significant toxicity to BJ comparable to those of the standards used. This suggests a very narrow therapeutic window of all the compounds tested (Supplement II).

5.3 Miniaturized methods for phytohormone analysis

Cytokinins are naturally occurring adenine derivatives. In addition to their physiological functions *in planta*, they can also act on animal cells. Therefore, the study of cytokinins may bring the better knowledge of plant growth and development as well as investigation of new potent pharmacologically active compounds. Because of the low levels of naturally occurring phytohormones, selective and efficient purification and sensitive analytical methods are necessary. That is why the third goal of this doctoral thesis was focused on the development of new methods for isolation of selected phytohormones, which can also be applied for other interesting biologically active compounds. Firstly, a new miniaturized method for isolation of cytokinins from very small amounts of plant material (1-5 mg) was developed. Secondly, the previously developed method of isolation of phytohormones was modified and optimized for beaver blood samples (plasma) to investigate phytohormone profile in mammalian blood. Both isolation procedures represented a sample pre-treatment prior to an efficient ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (AcquityTM UPLC, Waters) coupled to a sensitive fast scanning triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (XevoTM TQ MS, Waters) equipped with an electrospray interface (UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS), which was applied to measure the phytohormone concentrations.

5.3.1 Isolation of cytokinins by new miniaturized method

(Supplement III, Objective 3)

The new micromethod was developed for fast and simple isolation and quantification of a wide range of naturally occurring isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites (bases, ribosides, *N*- and *O*-glucosides and nucleotides) in samples containing very small amount of plant tissue, only 1-5 mg fresh weight. The development of the miniaturized method was based mainly on the principles of the current method of cytokinin analysis reported by Novák et al. (2008) with the main aim of its further miniaturization. On this account, the purification step was successfully optimized by utilization of self-packed StageTips microcolumns as a novel potential PT-SPE. As described in Supplement III, this simplified one-step purification was finally completed with efficient UPLC-MS/MS analysis, which was modified to single 24.5-min chromatographic run on a C18 analytical column with fast sensitive and selective mass spectrometric detection in optimized multiple reaction monitoring mode. The possible two-step modification of the developed micropurification, which might be obtained by an introduction of a miniaturized immunoaffinity extraction, is discussed in this thesis as a part of Objective 3.

5.3.1.1 StageTip purification method (Supplement III)

The newly developed miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation was composed of two equiponderant parts, isolation and quantification procedures. The isolation was performed with help of self-packed microcolumns in pipette tips termed StageTips (STop And Go Extraction Tips), which are often used as a desalting microdevice or as fractionation columns and has been reported mainly for sample enrichment and clean-up prior to an HPLC/MS analysis in proteomics (Ishihama et al., 2006; Rappsilber et al., 2007). In Supplement III, the StageTip solid-phase extraction was applied in phytohormone analysis for the first time to achieve fast one-step isolation of cytokinins from minute amounts of plant material. During the StageTip method development, three sorbent types (C18, SDB-RPS and Cation-SR) were inserted individually (single-StageTip) or in combinations (multi-StageTip) in

the tips. The sorbent parameters (affinity and capacity) were determined in samples without and with plant matrix with help of selected tritium-labelled cytokinin standards with different polarities. In the tests on single-StageTips, recovery of ³H-CKs in fraction elute was in average 80% when using the cation-exchange sorbent (SDB-RPS, Cation SR) and 0.5% in case of reversed-phase sorbent. In the tests on multi-StageTips (C18/SDB-RPS, C18/Cation-SR, C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR), recovery of ³H-CKs in samples without plant extract was 70-99%. The recovery values decreased with increasing amount of plant matrix. The combination of three sorbents (two reverse phases and one cation-exchange phase) displayed the highest efficiency in the purification of spiked 1 and 2 mg FW plant extracts with recoveries 99 ± 4% and 92 ± 3% for [³H]cZ, 72 ± 6% and 32 ± 1% for [³H]tZR, 97 ± 3% and 91 ± 3% for [³H]iPR, respectively. Hence, the triple combination of sorbents in StageTips was considered as the best tool in the new one-step PT-SPE approach, with the total extraction recovery higher than 80% and reproducibility with a RSD less than 10%.

The fast, simple, one-step PT-SPE method might bring an increased number of pre-purified samples per one day. High number of samples to be analysed, small amount of sample, low content of target molecules to be analysed and the complexity of the plant matrix require very powerful techniques for sensitive detection and quantification of all present analytes. Novák et al. (2008) reported the UPLC-MS/MS analysis of 32 CK derivatives in samples pre-purified by SPE and batch IAE, which was based on two baseline chromatographic separations using short C18 column $(2.1 \times 50 \text{ mm})$ packed with sub-2-micron bridged ethylsiloxane/silica hybrid (BEH) particles and a MS quantification in MRM modes. In the simplified one-step PT-SPE method described in Supplement III, the immunoaffinity step was replaced by the modified UPLC-MS/MS analysis using a longer (2.1×150 mm) BEH C18 column. This optimized 24.5-min analyses provided a baseline separation and direct estimation of 25 isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites (trans-zeatin-, cis-zeatin-, dihydrozeatin-, and isopentenyladenine-types) during one analysis without necessity of enzyme treatment or separate analysis of O-glucosides and nucleotides. Limits of detection (signal to noise ratios 3:1) were ranging between 50 amol-1 fmol and limits of quantification (signal to noise ratios 10:1) between 100 amol-5 fmol. The method could be also applied for analysis of aromatic CKs, because the optimized conditions enabled baseline separation of 17 aromatic CKs (benzyladenine-, topolin-, and kinetin-types) and their corresponding derivatives. In summary, the modified UPLC method might be suitable for a routine analysis of 42 cytokinins in single chromatographic run.

The whole developed approach was tested and verified using extracts prepared from three different amounts of plant material (A. *thaliana* seedlings; 1.0, 2.0 and 5.0 mg FW), which were spiked with authentic and stable isotope-labelled cytokinin standards. Recoveries of cytokinin standards in samples reached on average $77 \pm 17\%$, $46 \pm 17\%$ and $10 \pm 6\%$ for examined 1.0, 2.0, and 5.0 mg FW, respectively. The results indicated that the effect of plant matrix grew rapidly with increasing amount of applied plant tissues. The highest recovery in case of all tested amounts was obtained for CK-bases, followed by *N*-glucosides, *O*-glucosides, and ribosides. The lowest recovery was detected for nucleotides. The potential of the newly developed and validated StageTip purification linked with optimized UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method was demonstrated on isolation and analysis of endogenous cytokinins in minute amounts of 10-day old *A. thaliana* seedling, roots and shoots (1.0, 2.0 and 5.0 mg FW). Fifteen isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites were quantified in the range 0.15-65.76 pmol·g⁻¹ FW. No endogenous CK nucleotides were detected The cytokinin profile was consistent with previously published data (Novák et al., 2008; Jones et al., 2010; Gajdošová et al., 2011). Additionally, the negative factors, which influenced the analysis of CK nucleotides as well as the effect of the plant tissue type (seedlings, shoots, roots) on recovery values are discussed more deeply in Supplement III.

In conclusion, the isolation based on one-step solid-phase extraction in StageTips represents a new miniaturized modification of previous isolation methods. The effectiveness of the StageTip purification depends on the right choice of the sorbent type in relation to the sample type, amount of plant tissue and sensitivity of the detection method. The StageTip purification can be easily modified and used for fast, effective and cheap isolation of not only cytokinins, but also other biologically active target compounds from milligram amounts of plant material. In combination with single optimized UPLC-MS/MS analysis, the whole developed procedure allow fast, effective, selective and sensitive quantification of plant material (Supplement III).

5.3.1.2 Future modification of the miniaturized method (Objective 3)

A modification of the developed one-step micropurification of cytokinins using PT-SPE can be achieved by addition of a suitable miniaturized immunopurification. For this purpose, a batch IAE based on monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies immobilized on superparamagnetic iron nanoparticles (MNPs) was designed and separately examined in this thesis. The IAE is performed in microcentrifuge tubes with small samples volumes (50-200 μ l), therefore it ideally fits as a selective purification step, that can follow the StageTip SPE. The optimization of the complete two-step micropurification method will be performed in the future. As a consequence the two-step protocol shares the same principles with the method described previously (Novák et al., 2008), it will enable selective separation of cytokinin bases with ribosides and 9-glucosides (fraction B) and O-glucosides with ribonucleotides (fraction OG+NT) into individual fractions. Finally, the analysis of CKs will be completed with two fast chromatographic separations using a short reversed-phase column (1.7 μ m, 2.1 × 50 mm) and accurate, sensitive quantification by MS/MS as described by Novák et al. (2008).

Immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles

The immunoaffinity extraction provides highly specific sample enrichment and is often used in combination with conventional SPE as an advantageous final pre-treatment step during the analysis of complex biological samples (Hage, 1999; Hennion et al., 2003). The application of IAC in column format for production of highly purified cytokinin metabolites was published by Novák et al. (2003). Later, Hauserová et al. (2005) and Novák et al. (2008) explained the batch IAE as a sensitive and relatively cheap method for purifying of cytokinins from biological samples. In the batch configuration, the amount of antibodies is decreased and the sample volume, consumption of solvents and extraction time is reduced. The batch configuration was further modified and tested for purification of cytokinins in this work. For this purpose, the group-specific monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies were immobilized to a solid support of chitosan coated magnetic nanoparticles of magnetite (synthetic and bacterial Fe₃O₄, particle size 20-50 nm) and tested as fast and simple type of IAE with magnetic separation, which was designed to be used in combination with StageTip purification.

Non-toxic, biocompatible and biodegradable MNPs of iron oxides are used in biomedical and biotechnological applications, such as a negative contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging, targeted drug delivery, magnetic cell separation (Alexiou et al., 2006) or a magnetic solid support to immobilize different types of biomolecules (proteins, oligonucleotides) (Bilková et al., 2006; Rotková et

al., 2009). Magnetite MNPs with diameters 20-50 nm have ferromagnetic behaviour, large surface area and they can be controlled by an external magnetic field. It is necessary to modify the surface of these MNPs by coating biocompatible surfactant, especially naturally occurring polysaccharides such as chitosan or dextran, to protect aggregation and to introduce functional groups. Subsequently, the agent of interest (drug, protein, enzyme, or antibody) can be either chemically conjugated or ionically bound to the outer layer of the polymer coating (Belessi et al., 2008; Kluchová et al., 2009). Hence, magnetic nanocomposites are made up of magnetite as a core and chitosan as a shell. In this work, monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies were used to functionalize the surface of MNPs.

Immobilization of antibodies on amine group of chitosan coating of MNPs was performed with help of two methods and the success of each approach was checked. In glutaraldehyde method, the antibodies and the chitosan coating of nanoparticles are linked via glutaraldehyde cross-linking agent by their amino groups (Kluchová et al., 2009). This method is less specific in comparison with the one-step carbodiimide active ester method, where the immobilization is based on specific peptide bond between carboxylic group of antibodies and amine group of chitosan MNPs, which is formed due to the activation of carboxylic groups in presence of 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride and *N*-hydroxysulfosuccinimide (Aslam et al., 1998). With help of anticytokinin antibodies immobilized to the surface of MNPs, cytokinins are captured on magnetic nanocomposites and can be then selectively separated from the solution of small volume (50-200 μ l) by attraction of magnetic nanocomposites with use of external magnetic filed. The process can be assigned as batch immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles, which represents a possible practical use of magnetic nanoparticles in relation to cytokinin analysis.

For the initial testing of the IAE on MNPs, the binding affinity and specificity of the immobilized antibodies towards selected CKs was determined as the extraction recovery using cytokinin standards and different amount of immobilized antibodies. Unfortunately, antibodies immobilized by glutaraldehyde method did not capture the tested cytokinins (iPR, cZ, ZR). The zero recovery values pointed at no cytokinins in the desired elute fraction. In comparison, a carbodiimide method of immobilization was more successful and the resulted recovery was higher (Table 8).

CKs –	100 µg Ab	300 µg Ab		200 µg Ab				
	one STD	one STD	CKs	0.1 pmol, one STD	0.5 pmol, one STD	0.1 pmol, STD mixture		
[³ H]iPR	0.14 ± 0.03	0.25 ± 0.05	iPR	ND	0.69 ± 0.40	ND		
[³ H]tZR	0.09 ± 0.02	0.40 ± 0.05	cZR	ND	0.32 ± 0.11	ND		
[³ H]BA	ND	0.79 ± 0.06	оТ	31.60 ± 6.22	22.85 ± 4.56	21.35 ± 1.45		
			oTR	39.49 ± 15.24	18.11 ± 1.43	26.91 ± 1.74		
			mТ	ND	ND	0.70 ± 0.10		
			mTR	ND	ND	1.03 ± 0.15		
			рТ	ND	ND	1.78 ± 0.08		
			pTR	ND	ND	0.70 ± 0.02		

Table 8. Recovery (%) of cytokinins from standard solutions without plant matrices following the batch immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles.

Standard solutions were prepared in PBS buffer and purified using antibodies bound on magnetic nanoparticles. Values are means \pm SD (n=3). CKs, cytokinins; Ab, antibody; STD, standard; ND, not detected.

Interestingly, the recovery of *ortho*-topolins was significantly higher (ca. 30%) compared to other cytokinin groups (benzyladenine, isopentenyladenine, zeatin, *meta*-topolin, *para*-topolin), where the recovery was below 2%. Therefore, the immobilization of antibodies resulted in increased selectivity towards the *ortho*-topolin group of cytokinins (oT and oTR), which was used for preparation of anticytokinin antibodies. No cross-linked reactivity for related cytokinin species (*meta*-topolin and *para*-topolin) was observed. The opposite situation was in the case of antibodies bound to the *N*-hydroxysuccinimide ester activated agarose Affi-Gel 10, where the cross-linked reactivity played significant role in purification of *ortho*-topolins as well as other cytokinin groups (*meta*-topolin, *para*-topolin, benzyladenine, isopentenyladenine, zeatin) with recoveries higher then 50% (Novák et al., 2003; Hauserová et al., 2005). Increasing of anticytokinin antibodies immobilization on MNPs led to the idea of the use of other method of immobilization. The plan for the future is to perform the immobilization through the avidin-biotin interaction and to test the extraction recovery and capacity of newly prepared immunoaffinity nanocomposites.

Complete protocol of the miniaturized two-step purification

In the future, successfully prepared nanocomposites will be finally used in the IAE of samples prepurified on the StageTips and the efficiency of the two-step purification method will be determined. The proposed complete purification protocol is illustrated in Figure 29.



Figure 29. Proposed two-step protocol of CK extraction and micropurification. Plant material (1-5 mg F.W.) is homogenized and extracted in Bieleski buffer with addition of isotope-labelled internal standards. Supernatant (50 μ l) is immediately applied on a pre-conditioned multi-StageTip and CKs are eluted with solvent after washing the tip. The eluate is evaporated to dryness, dissolved in 150 μ l of ethanol:PBS (5:95, v/v), mixed with antibodies immobilized on MNPs (100 μ g/50 μ l) and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Afterwards, the PBS fraction (containing *O*-glucosides and nucleotides) is collected and desalted using C18-StageTip. Compounds retained by antibodies are eluted with 200 μ l methanol twice. All fractions are evaporated to dryness and stored at -20 °C.

The sample after StageTip purification is immunopurified on the MNPs and hence separated into two fractions, fraction B as the eluate, and fraction OG+NT as the PBS fraction. The PBS fraction is desalted using C18-StageTip prior to the UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis, fraction B is directly analysed after its evaporation. The time needed for the batch immunoaffinity extraction as the additional cleanup step is compensated with application of two shortened (less than 10-min) UPLC separations of cytokinin metabolites, where CK bases, ribosides and 9-glucosides (fraction B) are analysed in the first one and O-glucosides and nucleotides (fraction OG+NT) in the second as described by Novák et al. (2008). In summary, the StageTip purification followed by IAE on magnetic nanoparticles will represent new, easy, time and cost-saving selective two-step micropurification method for routine isolation of cytokinins from milligram amount of plant material after its successful optimization.

5.3.2 Isolation of phytohormones from beaver blood samples

(Objective 3)

Except intensive studies of cytokinins in plants, some attempts to detect these phytohormones in human plasma were performed. In 1998, Schram et al. detected iPR in human blood. Later, other groups of CKs were successfully identified (Strnad et al., unpublished), but the obtained results were unfortunately not reproducible and varied according to the blood donor and year season. This indicated that CKs in human plasma could partially originate from human diet (Strnad et al., unpublished). In the work presented here, beavers were chosen as the model mammals for screening of plant hormones in blood, because of their stable and homogeneous diet rich in phytohormones, which consists mainly of trees such as poplar, willow, and birch. Although the beaver diet can be influenced by the actual season, there is a presumption of more consistent phytohormone levels.

As a consequence of the fact that mammalian blood is completely different matrix in comparison with plant tissues, diverse and simplified purification protocol was used for isolation of adenine and indole derivatives from beaver blood samples. The purification procedure was based on protein precipitation of blood plasma samples and a combination of SPE on Oasis MCX columns and cytokinin immunoaffinity extraction. SPE was performed as described previously by Dobrev et al. (2002) with slight modifications, the applied immunoaffinity extraction was documented in details by Novák et al. (2003).

The Oasis MCX sorbent was chosen for the purification of precipitated beaver plasma due to its beneficial properties and facilitation of the more complex phytohormone analysis compared to the classical methods of CK purification (Hoyerová et al., 2006), such as the multi-step DEAE-Sephadex RP-C18 method (Redig et al., 1996; Novák et al., 2003). DEAE-Sephadex has been successfully used for the separation of CK nucleotides from CK bases, ribosides and *O*-glucosides. The retention of CK nucleotides is quite poor and the method does not provide the separation of the anionic IAA from anionic CK nucleotides (Hoyerová et al., 2006). The mixed-mode reversed-phase and cation-exchange mode of the Oasis MCX sorbent enable the increased retention of the cationic CK free bases, ribosides and *O*-glucosides (fraction B+OG) as well as the anionic CK nucleotides (fraction NT) and indole-3-acetic acid and abscisic acid (fraction IAA). Retained compounds can be sequentially eluted using different concentrations of methanol and ammonium hydroxide. Furthermore, the method is characterised by high recoveries of analytes and their sufficient purity for HPLC/MS quantification (Dobrev et al., 2002; Hoyerová et al., 2006). In summary, the use of Oasis MCX sorbent allow simple

and fast separation and purification of different classes of phytohormones in one pre-purification step on a single Oasis MCX column from the liquid sample. The need of only one sample for isolation of both CKs and IAA is beneficial for unique material, such as beaver blood.

The purification of phytohormones from beaver plasma was optimized using standard phytohormone water solutions and mammalian plasma containing a mixture of indole-3-acetic acid and selected cytokinin authentic and/or stable isotope-labelled standards. After conjunct Oasis MCX purification, CKs (fraction B+ OG and fraction NT) where further selectively purified by IAC and afterwards analysed by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS using Acquity UPLCTM BEH C18 column. Fraction IAA was directly injected onto BetaMax Neutral column and analysed by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS without immunopurification step. The recoveries for IAA and selected cytokinin types were calculated during the method optimization (Table 9). The recoveries higher than 40% were obtained for IAA in the concentration range 1.0-10 pmol. The recoveries in the range 35-73% were obtained for iPR, the recoveries were the lowest (23-58%) for oT in the concentration range 0.1-10 pmol.

Table 9. Recoveries (%) of indole-3-acetic acid and selected cytokinins from standard solutions with and without blood plasma matrix following the purification on Oasis MAX columns.

STD	Re	ecovery (%), SI	ſD	Recovery (%), plasma matrix			
conc (pmol)	IAA	iPR	oT	[¹³ C ₆]IAA	[² H ₆]iPR	[¹³ C ₅]oT	
0.1	ND	72.9 ± 6.7	26.9 ± 2.8	ND	53.8 ± 3.8	23.4 ± 10.4	
1.0	50.1 ± 3.6	59.6 ± 5.1	57.8 ± 6.0	85.6 ± 0.5	46.2 ± 7.8	46.1 ± 8.0	
10.0	40.4 ± 1.1	44.3 ± 4.4	34.1 ± 1.2	71.0 ± 2.3	35.6 ± 8.8	26.3 ± 10.0	

Samples containing 100 μ l of water or 200 μ l of mammalian plasma were spiked with phytohormone standards, precipitated with acetonitrile and purified by Oasis MCX columns (IAA, CKs) and by IAC (CKs). Finally, phytohormones were measured by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS. Mean values \pm SD from triplicate measurements of samples are shown. STD, standard; conc, concentration; ND, not detected.

The levels of indole-3-acetic acid and cytokinins in real beaver blood plasma samples were finally determined and the results are summarized in Table 10. Cytokinins not displayed in the table were below the limit of detection (LOD; based on 3:1 signal to noise ratios). Very high content of indole-3acetic acid (93.5-2,579.3 pmol·ml-1) found in beaver plasma correlates with higher endogenous concentration of IAA in the plant material (up to hundreds pmol·g⁻¹ of fresh weight; Hellgren et al., 2004; Pěnčík et al., 2009) compared to lower cytokinin content (less than 50 pmol g^{-1} of fresh weight; Novák et al., 2003). On the other hand, only three cytokinin ribosides, cZR, iPR and oTR, respectively, were detected in all studied samples. Furthermore, the majority of CK derivatives (t/cZ(R), iP, BA,mT(R), oT, and pT) determined in samples with the different levels underline the probable variability between beaver individuals. No cytokinin 9-glucosides, O-glucosides and nucleotides as well as DHZtype cytokinins were found in beaver plasma. This indicate, that cytokinin glucoconjugates and riboside-5'-monophosphates are the most probably metabolised or cleaved during the passage through beaver digestive system. Moreover, the higher concentrations of ortho-topolin (757.9-957.0 fmol·ml⁻¹), meta-topolin (202.9-586.9 fmol·ml⁻¹), and iPR (129.8-631.1 fmol·ml⁻¹) in comparison with the lower levels of other CKs (7.1-167.6 fmol ml^{-1}) were measured in beaver plasma. The results correlate with previously published iPR levels (Novák et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2010), which showed up to ten times higher content of iPR, varying from 3.4 ± 0.2 pmol·g⁻¹ to 25.7 ± 1.7 pmol·g⁻¹ FW, in contrast with other isoprenoid cytokinins presented in poplar. Furthermore, mature poplar leaves are known to be a rich source of aromatic cytokinins (Horgan et al., 1973). Strnad et al. (1994; 1997) published the endogenous levels of topolin-type cytokinins in poplar leaves, 20.5 ± 4.1 , 35.7 ± 4.7 , and $48.7 \pm 9.3 \text{ pmol} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$ FW for oT, oTR, and oT9G, as well as 22.2 ± 5.3 , 37.1 ± 6.3 , and $13.2 \pm 3.4 \text{ pmol} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$ FW for mT, mTR, and mT9G, respectively. This data support the statement, that the content of cytokinins is influenced by the beaver diet rich in poplar. Finally, the general question of phytohormone metabolization when ingested by mammals still remains open and requires deeper investigation and collaboration with animal physiologists in the future.

	Auxin content (pmol·ml ⁻¹)										
	5486	5487	5488	5489	5490	5491	5492	5493	5494		
IAA	134.0 ± 5.4	169.3 ± 11.7	1562.4 ± 81.5	853.5 ± 22.7	2579.3 ± 173.7	727.9 ± 37.7	332.7 ± 22.4	257.5 ± 24.3	93.5 ± 3.9		
	Cytokinin content (fmol·ml-1)										
	5486	5487	5488	5489	5490	5491	5492	5493	5494		
tΖ	8.1 ± 1.6	22.5 ± 2.3	15.6 ± 7.9	13.8 ± 4.5	35.3 ± 19.2	ND	ND	ND	ND		
tZR	ND	9.6 ± 0.3	9.0 ± 0.6	7.5 ± 0.5	7.1 ± 0.5	ND	ND	ND	ND		
cZ	ND	122.4 ± 9.3	ND	ND	46.0 ± 3.8	ND	ND	ND	ND		
cZR	67.6 ± 13.4	97.4 ± 1.2	90.0 ± 24.6	44.8 ± 16.1	74.1 ± 2.6	82.8 ± 9.2	167.6 ± 10.0	106.2 ± 9.6	25.4 ± 5.5		
iP	ND	166.8 ± 3.3	52.2 ± 7.2	24.1 ± 5.0	72.7 ± 13.8	39.6 ± 7.5	ND	25.4 ± 8.8	ND		
iPR	160.6 ± 14.8	452.0 ± 40.9	495.3 ± 9.5	253.4 ± 11.2	631.1 ± 41.4	453.9 ± 30.4	365.4 ± 9.9	320.9 ± 37.3	129.8 ± 9.9		
BA	ND	116.0 ± 9.4	45.4 ± 1.3	38.2 ± 4.3	45.1 ± 12.4	ND	ND	ND	ND		
mТ	227.2 ± 14.2	586.2 ± 39.1	ND	212.9 ± 29.4	202.9 ± 29.5	ND	ND	ND	ND		
mTR	ND	4.6 ± 2.1	2.6 ± 0.6	4.0 ± 0.4	3.6 ± 0.6	ND	ND	ND	ND		
oT	ND	957.0 ± 35.1	757.9 ± 53.8	813.4 ± 47.2	775.9 ± 57.7	ND	ND	ND	ND		
oTR	37.6 ± 5.4	57.3 ± 14.6	54.0 ± 5.6	34.9 ± 7.3	98.2 ± 4.8	70.3 ± 14.3	41.3 ± 6.6	37.1 ± 8.9	32.2 ± 9.8		
ъT	ND	112.4 ± 18.1	41.7 ± 20.4	46.0 ± 10.7	616 ± 60	ND	ND	ND	ND		

Table 10. Levels of indole-3-acetic acid (pmol·ml⁻¹) and cytokinins (fmol·ml⁻¹) in beaver blood plasma

Samples of beaver plasma were divided into triplicates of approximately 500 μ l and precipitated with acetonitrile. The obtained supernatant was evaporated to dryness and purified by Oasis MCX columns (IAA, CKs) and IAC (CKs). Phytohormone levels were measured by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS. Mean values \pm SD from triplicate measurements are shown; ND, not detected.

6. Conclusions and perspectives

The study of plant endogenous metabolites can lead to a better understanding of plant growth and development and to the discovery of phytochemicals with antioxidant, antimicrobial, antiinflammatory or chemopreventive potential. Therefore, it can subsequently reveal new compounds with possible therapeutical applications, which can be further studied as potential new medicines. Although working with isolated pure natural compounds brings many advantages for further investigations due to defined structure and molecular weight, and the fact that exact amounts and concentrations can be used, the isolation of pure natural substance is very difficult and requires development and use of effective and selective purification and analytical tools. Among the plant kingdom many species used in traditional herbal medicine have not been yet sufficiently studied from the chemical point of view and they represent a hidden source of new potentially biologically-active compounds. On the basis of the above mentioned facts, this doctoral thesis focused on cytotoxic and antiproliferative activities of plant metabolites with the aim of isolating and identifying bioactive compounds as well as developing and applying new methods of isolating the phytohormones and quantifying them. Hence, the main goals are connected with the common aim of isolating, identifying and quantifying plant metabolites and investigating their anticancer potential.

The whole work dealt with various features and was divided into three main fields of research:

- 1. Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from Acalypha alopecuroidea.
- 2. Geranylated flavanones from Morus alba and Paulownia tomentosa and their anticancer potential.
- 3. Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material.

All the obtained findings are described and discussed in the section Results and Discussion and in the attached articles (Supplement I-III) and can be briefly summarized in several main points, which are appointed in the following pages.

1. Isolation and identification of anticancer active compounds from Acalypha alopecuroidea.

- The MeOH-THF root extract prepared from the euphorbiaceous plant, *Acalypha alopecuroidea*, was fractionated by solid-phase extraction and two-dimensional high performance liquid chromatography. All the procedure was performed according to the results obtained by Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay. Cytotoxic activity testing was essential for following the bioactive extract constituents and targeting their isolation.
- Biological activity and mechanism of action of the *A. alopecuroidea* MeOH-THF extract and the HPLC extract fraction B23 was studied in more depth to discriminate between the effects on cell cycle machinery (growth inhibition) and on cell death (apoptosis). The effect of the isolated fraction on cell proliferation, expression of cyclins, activation of the Chk 2 kinase (DNA damage response pathway) and induction of chromatin condensation was studied. All the results suggested that there were good prospects for purifying biological active compounds from *A. alopecuroidea* and for their use for *in vivo* preclinical studies.

- Four fractions (chromatographic peaks) cytotoxic to the human breast adenocarcinoma cell line and the human leukaemic lymphoid cells, were isolated by means of SPE and 2D-HPLC purification from the MeOH-THF root extract from *A. alopecuroidea*.
- The structures of two isolated compounds were designed according to MS and NMR spectra as 9-(3,6-dimethylhepta-2,6-dienyl)-hypoxantine and 1,3,7,9-tetraethyluric acid. However, the presumable structures still need the further verification using complementar analytical methods.
- A series of N9-prenylated derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and N-ethyl derivatives of uric acid were synthesised as new compounds according to the natural template represented by the designed structure of isolated compounds.
- The biological activity of synthetic purine derivatives was examined against different cell types using Calcein AM assay. The geranyl-substituted derivatives of adenine and hypoxanthine and chlorine-derivatives of geranyladenine exhibited some interesting cytotoxic effects.
- The cytotoxicity of extracts prepared from *A. alopecuroidea* was studied against human breast adenocarcinoma cell line (MCF-7) and human leukaemic lymphoid cells (CEM) using the Calcein AM cell viability assay. Extracts were characterized by an IC₅₀ value, which represents the quantity of the starting lyophilized plant material per ml cell culture medium (mg·ml⁻¹) required for inhibition of the growth of 50% cells in the tested cell line. The highest antiproliferative activity was found in methanol-tetrahydrofurane (1:1) root extract (IC₅₀ = 1.1 mg·ml⁻¹ for MCF-7; 0.9 mg·ml⁻¹ for CEM) and in extract fractions designated B (IC₅₀ = 127.5 mg·ml⁻¹ for MCF-7; 15.3 mg·ml⁻¹ for CEM) and B23 (IC₅₀ = 86.5 mg·ml⁻¹ for MCF-7; 0.5 mg·ml⁻¹ for CEM).

2. Geranylated flavanones from *Morus alba* and *Paulownia tomentosa* and their anticancer potential.

- Anticancer activity of nine *C*-geranylated flavanones isolated from the fruits of *Paulownia tomentosa* and two from the roots of *Morus alba* was studied towards five selected human cancer cell lines and normal human fibroblast *in vitro*, using the Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay. Each compound was characterized by an EC₅₀ value for each cell line and the values for these compounds were compared with those of known simple flavanone standards and standard antineoplastic compounds.
- The isolated *C*-geranyl flavanones showed interesting cytotoxic activity towards the tested human cancer cell lines and normal human fibroblast used as a control to distinguish between the specific and non-specific action towards tumour cells. Comparison of the cytotoxicity against normal cell line and cancer cell lines revealed a very narrow therapeutic window of all the compounds tested.
- The effects of structural modifications on activity were discussed. The presence of a geranyl side chain was an important factor for cytotoxic activity. Compounds substituted with the *C*-geranyl chain at ring B of the flavanone core were less cytotoxic than compounds with the side chain attached on ring A. Mono- and dihydroxy- substitution and the dihydroxy methoxy- substitution of flavanone ring B resulted in compounds with the most potent activity.

3. Miniaturized fast isolation and quantification of phytohormones from biological material.

- A new miniaturized approach was developed for fast isolation and quantification of biologically active compounds (cytokinins) from minute amount of plant material. The method combines a simple one-step purification and an ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography-fast scanning tandem mass spectrometry.
- For the first time, plant tissue samples (1-5 mg fresh weight), were purified in one step by STop And Go Extraction Tips (StageTips). The triple combination of sorbents (two reversed-phases and one cation-exchange phase) was found to be the best tool in the StageTip purification with the extraction recoveries higher than 80% for tritium-labelled cytokinin standards.
- The process was completed with single chromatographic analysis of naturally occurring cytokinins (bases, ribosides, *O*-, *N*-glucosides, and nucleotides) using sub-2-micron particle packed analytical column in 24.5 minutes and a mass spectrometric detection in multiple reaction monitoring mode.
- The potential of the micromethod was demonstrated with the isolation of isoprenoid cytokinins from seedlings, roots and shoots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Fifteen compounds were successfully determined in the concentration range 0.15-65.76 pmol·g⁻¹.
- Improvement in the developed miniaturized approach might be achieved by addition of selective immunoaffinity extraction on magnetic nanoparticles, where specific monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies are bound onto magnetic iron nanoparticles. This additional step requires further optimization.
- A previously developed method for phytohormone isolation, which was based on mixed-mode cation exchange solid-phase extraction, was applied to blood samples (plasma). The optimized method was finally used for purification of cytokinins together with indole-3-acetic acid from beaver plasma samples in order to study the occurrence of phytohormones in beaver blood.
- The samples of beaver plasma were precipitated in acetonitrile and purified on Oasis MCX columns. The purification allowed separation of the cytokinin bases with ribosides and *O*-glucosides, cytokinin nucleotides and indole-3-acetic acid in individual fractions. Cytokinin metabolites were further specifically purified by immunoaffinity chromatography using monoclonal anticytokinin antibodies bound on an immunoaffinity gel.
- Significantly higher levels of indole-3-acetic acid (93.5-2,579.3 pmol·ml⁻¹), *ortho*-topolin (757.9-957.0 fmol·ml⁻¹), *meta*-topolin (202.9-586.9 fmol·ml⁻¹) and N6-isopentenyladenosine (129.8-631.1 fmol·ml⁻¹) in comparison with other detected cytokinin types were found in beaver plasma. Cytokinin 9-glucosides, O-glucosides and nucleotides as well as DHZ-type cytokinins were not detected in beaver plasma.
- The newly developed qualitative and quantitative UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis of phytohormones was performed by ultra-performance liquid chromatography (AcquityTM UPLC, Waters) coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (XevoTM TQ MS, Waters) equipped with an electrospray interface.

In summary, this doctoral thesis comprises the first phytochemical study of the herb *Acalypha alopecuroidea*, which is widely used in traditional Mayan medicine, but which has not previously been investigated from the chemical point of view. The knowledge about the anticancer activity of the compounds extracted from this herb, as well as their antiinflammatory potential and interference with cell cycle is now extended. There is a high prospect that the isolated fractions and compounds will undergo further *in vivo* testing and preclinical studies and be used as lead structures. This group of naturally-based synthetic compounds represents a novel type of structural modifications and *in vitro* biological activity testing. The group of natural anticancer active geranylated flavanones, occurring in *Morus alba* and *Paulownia tomentosa*, is an example of an other potent natural product class. The screening of biological activity of these compounds may bear fruit in the discovery of highly bioactive compound and the further exploration of potential therapeutic usage in the future is of great interest.

In the field of phytohormone analysis, the new approaches of isolation from small amount of the plant material and/or blood samples, were developed, optimized and used for real applications. The miniaturization is necessary for small samples size (less than 5 mg FW), the specific immunoaffinity step provide selective enrichment of samples and increase the effectiveness of purification of minute quantities of phytohormones from large amounts of interfering material. Except the progress in the field of miniaturization, the simple-based micromethod coupled with powerful analytical techniques such as fast and efficient ultra-high performance liquid chromatography separation and potent sensitive and selective tandem mass spectrometric detection already provides great improvements in terms of time reduction, cost effectiveness, robustness, through-put, sensitivity and selectivity for plant samples. Modern phytochemical methods can be easily modified and applied to isolate and determine phytochemicals in matrices different from plant material, such as animal or human blood. Mammalian body fluids might contain plant metabolites, such as plant hormones, originating from the vegetarian diet, as well as their derivatives incurred from the mammalian metabolism. Hence, the study of phytohormones in blood samples can extend the knowledge of phytohormones and their action in relation with animal or human metabolism, health and longevity.

7. References

- (2004) Optimize elution conditions for immunoaffinity purification [online]. Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford. c2004. [cit. 2010-09-04]. http://www.thermo.com/eThermo/CMA/PDFs/Articles/articlesFile_6645.pdf>.
- (2006) BDTM Calcein AM Fluorescent Dye [online]. BD Biosciences, Bedford. c2006. [cit. 2010-09-04]. http://www.bdbiosciences.com/external_files/dl/doc/manuals/live/web_enabled/354216_pug.pdf>.
- (2007) Calcein AM Cell Viability Kit [online]. Trevigen, Gaithersburg. c2007. [cit. 2010-09-04]. http://www.trevigen.com/protocols/pdf/4892-010-K.pdf>.
- (2007) DEAE Sephadex A-25 [online]. GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Uppsala. c1993-2007. [cit. 2010-05-15]. http://www.gelifesciences.com/aptrix/upp00919.nsf/Content/FEF70E55FCAA964C 1257628001D2717/\$file/71710400AD.pdf>.
- (2008) Calcein AM Cell Viability Assay [online]. R&D Systems, Minneapolis. c2008. [cit. 2010-09-04]. http://www.rndsystems.com/pdf/4892-010-K.pdf>.
- (2010) Fast Growing Paulownia Trees [online]. [cit. 2010-06-20]. http://herdbullsonline.com/trees/>.
- (2010) Invitrogen by Life Technologies [online]. Life Technologies, Carlsbad. c2010. [cit. 2010-07-01]. http://www.invitrogen.com>.
- (2010) PLANTS Profile for Morus alba (white mulberry)-USDA PLANTS [online]. [cit. 2010-04-10]. http://plants.usda.gov/java/profile?symbol=MOAL>.
- (2010) *Pyratine-6TM* [online]. Senetek PLC, California. c2010. [cit. 2010-07-01]. <http://www.senetek-plc.com/pyratine-6/view_press_release.asp?ID=247>.
- (2010) *PyratineXR*/Rosacea Tratment/Anti-Aging [online]. Senetek PLC, California. c2010. [cit. 2010-07-01]. ">http://www.pyratine.com/XR/>.
- (2010a) Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. A biopharmaceutical company New Study in CCR demonstrates potential for seliciclib in treating breast cancer resistant to hormone therapy [online]. Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Berkeley Heights. c1997-2009. [cit. 2010-07-01]. http://www.cyclacel.com/cyc/investors/news/ pressreleases/2010/2010=02-17>.
- (2010a) Waters: SPE Sample Enrichment and Purification using Solid-Phase Extraction [online]. c2010. [cit. 2010-05-15]. http://www.waters.com/waters/nav.htm?cid=10083488>.
- (2010b) Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. A biopharmaceutical company Seliciclib (CYC202) [online]. Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Berkeley Heights. c1997-2009. [cit. 2010-07-01]. http://www.cyclacel.-com/cyc/rd/programs/oncology/seliciclib.
- (2010b) Waters: HPLC High Performance Liquid Chromatography Primer [online]. c2010. [cit. 2010-05-15]. http://www.waters.com/waters/nav.htm?cid=10048919>.
- (2010c) Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. A biopharmaceutical company Seliciclib (CYC202) [online]. Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Berkeley Heights. c1997-2009. [cit. 2010-07-01]. http://www.cyclacel.com/cyc/rd/trials/seliciclib/.
- (2010c) Waters: MS Mass Spectrometry [online]. c2010. [cit. 2010-05-15]. <http://www.waters.com/wa-ters/nav.htm?cid=10073244>.
- ABE H., UCHIYAM M., TANAKA Y., SAITO H. (1976) Structure of discadenine, a spore germination inhibitor from the cellular slime mold, *Dictyostelium discoideum*. *Tetrahedron Letters* 42: 3807-3810.

- ACAMOVIC T., BROOKER J.D. (2005) Biochemistry of plant secondary metabolites and their effects in animals. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 64 (3): 403-412.
- ADRIANI C., BONINI C., IAVARONE C., TROGOLO C. (1981) Isolation and characterization of paulownioside, a new highly oxygenated iridoid glucoside from *Paulownia tomentosa*. *Journal of Natural Products* 44 (6): 739-744.
- AKITT J.W., MANN B.E. (2000) NMR and Chemistry. Stanley Thornes, Cheltenham.
- ALEXIOU C., JURGONS R., SELIGER G., IRO H. (2006) Medical applications of magnetic nanoparticles. Journal of Nanoscience Nanotechnology 6 (9-10): 2762-2768.
- AMAKURA Y., MIYAKE M., ITO H., MURAKAKU S., ARAKI S., ITOH Y., LU C.F., YANG L.L, YEN K.Y., OKUDA T., YOSHIDA T. (1999) Acalyphidins M1, M2 and D1, ellagitannins from *Acalypha hispida*. *Phytochemistry* 50 (4): 667-675.
- AMES B.N., CATHCART R., SCHWIERS E., HOCHSTEIN P. (1981) Uric acid provides an antioxidant defense in humans against oxidant and radical caused aging and cancer: a hypothesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 78 (11): 6858-6862.
- ANDALLU B., VARADACJARYULU N.C. (2003) Antioxidant role of mulberry (*Morus indica* L. cv. Anantha) leaves in streptozoticin-diabetic rats. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 338 (1-2): 3-10.
- ARABIDOPSIS GENOME INITIATIVE (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nature 408 (6814): 796-815.
- Argueta V.A. (1994) Atlas de las Plantas de la Medicina Tradicional Mexicana II. Instituto Nacional Indigenista, Mexico City.
- Arnaoutova I., KLEINMAN H.K. (2010) In vitro angiogenesis: endothelial cell tube formation on gelled basement membrane extract. *Nature Protocols* 5: 628–635.
- ARTAUD C.R. (1995) Tri-ology Vol. 34, No. 1, DPI-FDACS [online]. c2004. [cit. 2010-07-01]. <http://www.doacs.state.fl.us/pi/enpp/triology/archive/95-1&2all.htm>.
- ARVIGO R., BALICK M. (1993) Rainforest Remedies: One Hundred Healing Herbs of Belize. 1st edition. Lotus Press, Twin Lakes.
- ASAI T., HARA N., KOBAYASHI S., KOHSHIMA S., FUJIMOTO Y. (2008) Geranylated flavanones from the secretion on the surface of the immature fruits of *Paulonnia tomentosa*. *Phytochemistry* 69 (5): 1234-1241.
- ASAI T., HARA N., KOBAYASHI S., KOHSHIMA S., FUJIMOTO Y. (2009) Acylglycerols (=glycerides) from the glandular trichome exudate on the leaves of *Paulownia tomentosa*. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* 92 (8): 1473-1494.
- ASHIKARI M., SAKAKIBARA H., LIN S., YAMAMOTO T., TAKASHI T., NISHIMURA A., ANGELES E.R., QIAN Q., KITANO H., MATSUOKA M. (2005) Cytokinin oxidase regulates rice grain production. *Science* 309 (5735): 741-745.
- ASLAM M., DENT A. (1998) Bioconjugation. Protein Coupling Techniques for the Biomedical Sciences. Macmillan Press, London.
- ÅSTOT C., DOLEŽAL K., NORDSTRÖM A., WANG Q., KUNKEL T. (2000) An alternative cytokinin biosynthetic pathway. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97 (26): 14778-14783.
- BAILONI M.A., BOBBIO P.A., BOBBIO F.O. (1998) The extracts from Acalypha hispida leaves. Ciencia y Tecnología de los Alimentos 18 (1): 17-18.

- BARCISZEWSKI J., MASSINO F., CLARK B.F.C. (2007) Kinetin-A multiactive molecule. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 40 (3): 182-192.
- BARCISZEWSKI J., MIELCAREK M., STOBIECKI M., SIBOSKA G., CLARK B.F. (2000) Identification of 6furfuryladenine (kinetin) in human urine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 279 (1): 69-73.
- BAROJA-FERNÁNDEZ E., AGUIRREOLEA J., MARTÍNKOVÁ H., HANUŠ J., STRNAD M. (2002) Aromatic cytokinins in micropropagated potato plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 40 (3): 217-224.
- BASSIL N.V., MOK D.W.S., MOK M.C. (1993) Partial purification of a cis-trans-isomerase of zeatin from immature seed of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. *Plant Physiology* 102 (3): 867-872.
- BEAN W.J. (1978) Trees and Shrubs Hardy in the British Isles. Volume 2. 8th edition. John Murray Publishers, London.
- BELESSI V., ZBOŘIL R., TUČEK J., MAŠLAŇ M., TZITZIOS V., PETRIDIS D. (2008) Ferrofluids from magneticchitosan hybrids. *Chemistry of Materials* 20 (10): 3298-3305.
- BELETSKY I.P., UMANSKY S.R. (1990) A new assay for cell death. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 134 (2): 201-205.
- BIGGS D.R., LANE G.A. (1978) Identification of isoflavones calycosin and pseudobaptigenin in *Trifolium* pratense. Phytochemistry 17 (9): 1683-1684.
- BÍLKOVÁ Z., SLOVÁKOVÁ M., MINC N., FÜTTERER C., CECAL R., HORÁK D., BENEŠ M., LE POTIER I., KŇENKOVÁ J., PRZYBYLSKI M., VIOVY J.L. (2006) Functionalized magnetic micro- and nanoparticles: optimization and application to micro-chip tryptic digestion. *Electrophoresis* 27 (9): 1811-1824.
- BILYEU K.D., LASKEY J.G., MORRIS R.O. (2003) Dynamics of expression and distribution of cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase in developing maize kernels. *Plant Growth Regulation* 39 (3): 195-203.
- BOECK L.D., CLEM G.M., WILSON M.M., WESTHEAD J.E. (1973) A9145, a new adenine-containing antifungal antibiotic: fermentation. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 3 (1): 49-56.
- BOLDT R., ZRENNER R. (2003) Purine and pyrimidine biosynthesis in higher plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 117 (3): 297-304.
- BOMBLIES K., WEIGEL D. (2010) Arabidopsis and relatives as models for the study of genetic and genomic incompatibilities. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B Biological Sciences* 365 (1547): 1815-1823.
- BÖSZÖRMÉNYI A., SZARKA S., HÉTHELYI É, GYURJÁN I, LÁSZLÓ M., SIMÁNDI B., SZŐKE É., LEMBERKOVICS É. (2009) Triterpenes in traditional and supercritical-fluid extracts of *Morus alba* leaf and stem bark. *Acta Chromatographica* 21 (4): 659-669.
- BRAUT-BOUCHER F., PICHON J., RAT P., ADOLPHE M., AUBERY M., FONT J. (1995) A non-isotopic, highly sensitive, fluorimetric, cell-cell adhesion microplate assay using calcein AM-labeled lymphocytes. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 178 (1): 41-51.
- BRAVO L. (1998) Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. *Nutrition Reviews* 56 (11): 317-333.
- BROWN E.G., KONUK M. (1994) Plant cytotoxicity of nebularine (purine riboside). *Phytochemistry* 37 (6): 1589-1592.
- BRZOBOHATÝ B., MOORE I., KRISTOFFERSEN P., BAKO L., CAMPOS N., SCHELL J., PALME K. (1993) Release of active cytokinin by a β-glucosidase localized to the maize root meristem. *Science* 262 (5136): 1051-1054.

- BURGHARDT R.C. (1994) Application of cellular fluorescence imaging for in vitro toxicology testing. In *Principles and Methods of Toxicology*. 3rd edition. Raven Press, New York.
- BÜRKLE L., CEDZICH A., DÖPKE C., STRANSKY H., OKUMOTO S., GILLISSEN B., KÜHN C., FROMMER W.B. (2003) Transport of cytokinins mediated by purine transporters of the PUP family expressed in phloem, hydathodes, and pollen of *Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal* 34 (1): 13-26.
- BURTON M., BURTON R. (2002) International Wildlife Encyclopedia. Volume 9. 3rd edition. Marshall Cavendish, New York.
- BUTT M.S., NAZIR A., SULTAN M.T., SCHROËN K. (2008) Morus alba L. nature's functional tonic. Trends in Food Science & Technology 19 (10): 505-512.
- CANNEL R.J.P. (Ed.) (1998) Natural products isolation. Methods in biotechnology. Volume 4. Humana Press, Totowa.
- CAO G., SOFIC E., PRIOR R.L. (1997) Antioxidant and prooxidant behavior of flavonoids: structureactivity relationship. Free Radical Biology & Medicine 22 (5): 749-760.
- CAO Y.C., SHAO C.J., HE H.J. (2009) Paulonnia is a plant chemical constituents and biological activity of an overview of [online]. 14 March 2009. [cit. 2010-05-15]. http://eng.hi138.com/?i133468>.
- CAPON R.J., ROONEY F., MURRAY L.M. (2000) 1,9-Dimethylhypoxanthine from a southern australian marine sponge Spongosorites Species. Journal of Natural Products 63 (2): 261-262.
- CEDZICH A., STRANSKY H., SCHULZ B., FROMMER W.B. (2008) Characterization of cytokinin and adenine transport in *Arabidopsis* cell cultures. *Plant Physiology* 148 (4): 1857-1867.
- COLEGATE S.M., MOLYNEUX, R.J. (2008) *Bioactive natural products: detection, isolation and structural determination.* 2nd edition. CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton.
- COOK N.C., SAMMAN S. (1996) Flavonoids Chemistry, metabolism, cardioprotective effects, and dietary sources. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 7 (2): 66-76.
- COULTATE T.P. (1990) Food: The chemistry of its components. 2nd edition. The Royal Society of Chemistry, London.
- CREWS P., RODRÍGUEZ J., JASPARS M. (1998) Organic structure analysis (Topics in organic chemistry). Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- DAMTOFT S., JENSEN S.R. (1993) Tomentoside and 7-hydroxytomentoside, two iridoid glucosides from *Paulownia tomentosa*. *Phytochemistry* 34 (6): 1636-1638.
- DAVIES P.J. (Ed.) (2004) *Plant hormones: biosynthesis, signal transduction, action!* 3rd edition. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- DE CLERCK L.S., BRIDTS C.H., MERTENS A.M., MOENS M.M., STEVENS W.J. (1994) Use of fluorescent dyes in the determination of adherence of human leucocytes to endothelial cells and the effect of fluorochromes on cellular function. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 172 (1): 115-124.
- DE FRIES R., MITSUHASHI M. (1995) Quantification of mitogen induced human lymphocyte proliferation: comparison of alamarBlue assay to 3H-thymidine incorporation assay. *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis* 9 (2): 89-95.
- DE HOFFMAN E., STROOBANT V. (2007) Mass Spectrometry Principles and Applications. 3rd edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- DE RIJKE E., OUT P., NIESSEN W.M., ARIESE F., GOOIJER C., BRINKMAN U.A. (2006) Analytical separation and detection methods for flavonoids. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1112 (1-2): 36-63.

- DE SIMONE C., FAMULARO G., FORESTA P., ALBERTONI C., ARRIGONI MARTELLI E. (1993) In vivo antitumor activity of the hypoxanthine derivatives ST 789 and ST 689. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 685: 344-346.
- DECKER T., LOHMANN-MATTHES M.L. (1988) A quick and simple method for the quantitation of lactate dehydrogenase release in measurements of cellular cytotoxicity and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) activity. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 115 (1): 61-69.
- DIAZ-PADILLA I., SIU L.L., DURAN I. (2009) Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors as potential targeted anticancer agents. *Investigational New Drugs* 27 (6): 586-594.
- DOBREV P.I., KAMÍNEK M. (2002) Fast and efficient separation of cytokinins from auxin and abscisic acid and their purification using mixed-mode solid-phase extraction. *Journal of Chromatography A* 950 (1-2): 21-29.
- DOI K., KOJIMA T., FUJIMOTO Y. (2000) Mulberry leaf extract inhibits oxidative modification of rabbit and human low-density lipoprotein. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 23 (9): 1066-1071.
- DOI K., KOJIMA T., MAKINO M., KIMURA Y., FUJIMOTO Y. (2001) Studies on the constituents of the leaves of *Morus alba* L. (2001) *Chemical & Pharmacetical Bulletin (Tokyo)* 49 (2): 151-153.
- DOLEŽAL K., POPA I., HAUSEROVÁ E., SPÍCHAL L., CHAKRABARTY K., NOVÁK O., KRYŠTOF V., VOLLER J., HOLUB J., STRNAD M. (2007) Preparation, biological activity and endogenous occurrence of N6benzyladenosines. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 15 (11): 3737-3747.
- DOLEŽAL K., POPA I., KRYŠTOF V., SPÍCHAL L., FOJTÍKOVÁ M., HOLUB J., LENOBEL R., SCHMÜLLING T., STRNAD M. (2006) Preparation and biological activity of 6-benzylaminopurine derivatives in plants and human cancer cells. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 14 (3): 875-884.
- Du J., HE Z.D., JIANG R.W., YE W.C., XU H.X., BUT P.P. (2003) Antiviral flavonoids from the root bark of *Morus alba* L. *Phytochemistry* 62 (8): 1235-1238.
- DU X., SH, Y.P., LI Z.G., LI Y. (2004) Isolation and structure elucidation of flavones from flower of *Paulownia tomentosa. Chinese Traditional and Herbal Drugs* 35 (3): 245–247.
- DUGO P., DONATO P., CACCIOLA F., GERMANO M.P., RAPISARDA A., MONDELLO L. (2009) Characterization of the polyphenolic fraction of *Morus alba* leaves extracts by HPLC coupled to a hybrid IT-TOF MS system. *Journal of Separation Science* 32 (21): 3627-3634.
- ECKARDT N.A. (2003) A New Classic of Cytokinin Research: Cytokinin-Deficient Arabidopsis Plants Provide New Insights into Cytokinin Biology. *The Plant Cell* 15 (1): 2489-2492.
- EDWARDS J.C. (2009) *Principles of NMR*. [online]. Retrieved 2009-02-23. [cit. 2010-07-01]. <http://www.process-nmr.com/pdfs/NMR%20Overview.pdf/>.
- Ehrenberg H., Hedström N., Löfgren N., Takman B. (1946) Antibiotic effect of Agaricus on Tubercle Basilli. Svensk Kemisk Tidskrift 58: 269.
- EL-BESHBISHY H.A., SINGAB A.N.B., SINKKONEN J., PIHLAJA K. (2006) Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of *Morus alba* L. (Egyptian mulberry) root bark fractions supplementation in cholesterol-fed rats. *Life Sciences* 78 (23): 2724-2733.
- ENEROTH A., ASTRÖM E., HOOGSTRAATE J., SCHRENK D., CONRAD S., KAUFFMANN H.M., GJELLAN K.(2001) Evaluation of a vincristine resistant Caco-2 cell line for use in a calcein AM extrusion screening assay for P-glycoprotein interaction. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 12 (3): 205-214.
- ENKHMAA B., SHIWAKU K., KATSUBE T., KITAJIMA K., ANUURAD E., YAMASAKI M., YAMANE Y. (2005) Mulberry (*Morus alba* L.) leaves and their major flavonol quercetin 3-(6-malonylglucoside) attenuate atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *Journal of Nutrition* 135: 729-734.

- ENTSCH B., PARKER C.W., LETHAM D.S., SUMMONS R.E. (1979) Preparation and characterization using high-performance liquid chromatography of an enzyme forming glucosides of cytokinins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 570 (1): 124-139.
- ERCISLI S., ORHAN E. (2007) Chemical composition of white (*Morus alba*), red (*Morus rubra*) and black (*Morus nigra*) mulberry fruits. *Food Chemistry* 103 (4): 1380-1384.
- ERNST D., SCHÄFER W., OESTERHELT D. (1983) Isolation and identification of a new, naturally occurring cytokinin (6-benzylaminopurine riboside) from an old anise cell culture (*Pimpinella anisum* L.). *Planta* 159 (3): 222–225.
- ETHERINGTON J.R. (Ed.) (1983) Wetland Ecology. Edward Arnold Publishers, London.
- EVANS B., WOLFENDEN R. (1970) A potential transition state analog for adenosine deaminase. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 92 (15): 4751-4752.
- FAIRBANKS A.J., SINAY P. (1995) Synthesis of the bicyclic moiety of the miharamycins by samarium (II) iodide induced ring closure. *Synlett* 3: 277-279.
- FAN F., WOOD K.V. (2007) Bioluminescent assays for high-throughput screening. Assay and Drug Development Technologies 5 (1): 127-136.
- FASMAN G.D. (1975) Handbook of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology: Nucleic Acids. Volume 2. 3rd edition. CRC Press, Cleveland.
- FATHI-AFSHAR R., ALLEN T.M. (1988) Biologically active metabolites from Agelas mauritiana. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 66 (1): 45-50.
- FISCHER P.M., GIANELLA-BORRADORI A. (2005) Recent progress in the discovery and development of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs* 14 (4): 457-477.
- FOWLER Z.L., KOFFAS M.A.G. (2009) Biosynthesis and biotechnological production of flavanones: current state and perspectives. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 83 (5): 799-808.
- FRAISSE L., VERLHAC J.B., ROCHE B., RASCLE M.C., RABION A., SERIS J.L. (1993) Long-chain-substituted uric acid and 5,6-diaminouracil derivatives as novel agents against free radical processes: synthesis and in vitro activity. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 36 (10): 1465-1473.
- FRANKE A.A., CUSTER L.J., CERNA C.M., NARALA K.K. (1994) Quantitation of phytoestrogens in legumes by HPLC. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 42 (9): 1905-1913.
- FUHRMAN F.A., FUHRMAN G.J., KIM Y.H., PAVELKA L.A., MOSHER H.S. (1980) Doridosine: a new hypotensive N-methylpurine riboside from the nudibranch *Anisodoris nobilis*. *Science* 207 (4427): 193-195.
- FUHRMAN F.A., FUHRMAN G.J., NACHMAN R.J., MOSHER H.S. (1981) Isoguanosine: isolation from an animal. *Science* 212 (4494): 557-558.
- FUJIMOTO Y., MORISAKI M., IKEKAWA N. (2000) Studies on the biosynthesis of sterol side chain in higher plants. Yakugaku Zasshi 120 (10): 863-873.
- FULLER R.W., NAGARAJAN R. (1978) Inhibition of methyltransferases by some new analogs of Sadenosylhomocysteine. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 27 (15): 1981-1983.
- GAJDOŠOVÁ S., SPÍCHAL L., KAMÍNEK M., HOYEROVÁ K., NOVÁK O., DOBREV P.I., GALUSZKA P., KLÍMA P., GAUDINOVÁ A., ŽIŽKOVÁ E., HANUŠ J., DANČÁK M., TRÁVNÍČEK B., PEŠEK B., KRUPIČKA M., VAŇKOVÁ R., STRNAD M., MOTYKA V. (2011) Distribution, biological activities, metabolism, and the conceivable function of cis-zeatin-type cytokinins in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, doi:10.1093/jxb/erq457.

- GALINHA C., BILSBOROUGH G., TSIANTIS M. (2009) Hormonal input in plant meristems: A balancing act. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 20 (9): 1149-1156.
- GALONS H., OUMATA N., MEIJER L. (2010) Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors: a survey of recent patent literature. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents* 20 (3): 377-404.
- GALUSZKA P., FRÉBORT I., ŠEBELA M., PEČ P. (2000) Degradation of cytokinins by cytokinin oxidases in plants. *Plant Growth Regulation* 32 (2-3): 315-327.
- GALUSZKA P., FRÉBORTOVÁ J., LUHOVÁ L., BILYEU K.D., ENGLISH J.T., FRÉBORT I. (2005) Tissue localization of cytokinin dehydrogenase in maize: Possible involvement of quinone species generated from plant phenolics by other enzymatic systems in the catalytic reaction. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46 (5): 716-728.
- GILLISSEN B., BÜRKLE L., ANDRÉ B., KÜHN C., RENTSCH D., BRANDL B., FROMMER W.B. (2000) A new family of high-affinity transporters for adenine, cytosine, and purine derivatives in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 12 (2): 291-300.
- GLASKY A.J. (inventor) (1999) Novel serotonine-like 9-substituted hypoxanthine and methods of use. U.S. Patent No. WO/1999/057120. Available from http://www.wipo.int/pctdb/en/wo.jsp?WO=1999057120&IA=US1999009811&DISPLAY=STATUS>.
- GODIN A.J. (1977) Wild mammals of New England. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- GRIFFAUT B., BOS R., MAURIZIS J.C., MADELMONT J.C., LEDOIGT G. (2004) Cytotoxic effects of kinetin riboside on mouse, human and plant tumour cells. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 34 (4): 271-275.
- GUTIERREZ-LUGO M.T., SINGH M.P., MAIESE W.M., TIMMERMANN B.N. (2002) New antimicrobial cycloartane triterpenes from *Acalypha communis*. *Journal of Natural Products* 65 (6): 872-875.
- HAGE D.S. (1999) Affinity Chromatography: A Review of Clinical Applications. *Clinical Chemistry* (45) 5: 593-615.
- HAGERMAN A.E. (1998) *Tannin Chemistry*. Miami University, Oxford (USA). Available from: <http://www.users.muohio.edu/hagermae/tannin.pdf>.
- HALL R.H., ALAM S.N., CHEN C.M., DYSON W.H., HONG C.I., CHHEDA G.B. (1971) Physiological activity of derivatives of a modified component of transfer RNA, N-(nebularin-6-ylcarbamoyl)-L-threonine. *Cancer Research* 31 (5): 704-705.
- HALL R.H., ROBINS M.J., STASIUK L., THEDFORD R. (1966) Isolation of N6-(γ,γ-dimethylallyl)adenosine from soluble ribonucleic acid. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 88 (10): 2614-2615.
- HALL T. (2008) Paulownia: An Agroforestry Gem. *Trees for Life Journal* 3 (3). Available from http://www.tfljournal.org/article.php/20080418100402327>.
- HAMBALEK R., JUST G. (1990) A short synthesis of (+/-)-oxetanocin. Tetrahedron Letters 31 (38): 5445-5448.
- HANSON J.R. (2003) Natural Products: The Secondary Metabolites. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge.
- HARADA S., KISHI T. (1977) Isolation and characterization of a new nucleoside antibiotic, amipurimycin. *Journal of Antibiotics* 30 (1): 11-16.
- HARBORNE J.B. (1986) Nature, distribution and function of plant flavonoids. In Plant Flavonoids in Biology and Medicine: Biochemical Pharmacological, and Structure-Activity Relationships. Alan R. Liss, New York. p. 15-24.

- HARBORNE J.B. (1988). Flavonoids in the environment: Structure activity relationships. In *Plant Flavonoids in Biology and Medicine 11: Biochemical, Cellular and Medicinal Properties.* Alan R. Liss, New York. p. 17-27.
- HAUSEROVÁ E., SWACZYNOVÁ J., DOLEŽAL K., LENOBEL R., POPA I., HAJDÚCH M., VYDRA D., FUKSOVÁ K., STRNAD M. (2005) Batch immunoextraction method for efficient purification of aromatic cytokinins. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1100 (1): 116-125.
- HAVLÍČEK L., HANUŠ J., VESELÝ J., LECLERC S., MEIJER L., SHAW G., STRNAD M. (1997) Cytokinin-derived cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors: cynthesis and cdc2 inhibitory activity of olomoucine and related compounds. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 40 (4): 408-412.
- HAYDEN W.J. (2008) *acalypha alopecuroides* [online]. 13 August 2008. [cit. 2010-06-20]. http://chalk.richmond.edu/flora-kaxil-kiuic/a/acalypha_alopecuroides.html.
- HEIJINK I.H., BRANDENBURG S.M., NOORDHOEK J.A., POSTMA D.S., SLEBOS D.J., VAN OOSTERHOUT A.J.M. (2010) Characterisation of cell adhesion in airway epithelial cell types using electric cell-substrate impedance sensing. *European Respiratory Journal* 35 (4): 894-903.
- HEIM K.E., TAGLIAFERRO A.R., BOBILYA D.J. (2002) Flavonoid antioxidants: chemistry, metabolism and structure-activity relationships. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 13 (10): 572-584.
- HELDT H.W. (Ed.) (1997) Plant Biochemistry. Academic Press, New York.
- HELLGREN J.M., OLOFSSON K., SUNDBERG B. (2004) Patterns of auxin distribution during gravitational induction of reaction wood in poplar and pine. *Plant Physiology* 135 (1): 212-220.
- HENDRYCH R. (1977) Systém a evoluce vyšších rostlin. SPN, Praha.
- HENNION M.C. (1999) Solid-phase extraction: method development, sorbents, and coupling with liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* 856 (1-2): 3-54.
- HENNION M.C., PICHON V. (2003) Immuno-based sample preparation for trace analysis. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1000 (1-2): 29-52.
- HERRMAN K. (1976) Flavonols and flavones in food plants: a review. International Journal of Food Science & Technology 11 (5): 433-448.
- HIROSE N., MAKITA N., YAMAYA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2005) Functional characterization and expression analysis of a gene, OsENT2, encoding an equilibrative nucleoside transporter in rice suggest a function in cytokinin transport. *Plant Physiology* 138 (1): 196-206.
- HIROSE N., TAKEI K., KURODA T., KAMADA-NOBUSADA T., HAYASHI H., SAKAKIBARA H. (2008) Regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis, compartmentalization and translocation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59 (1): 75-83.
- HOCKOVÁ D., BUDĚŠÍNSKÝ M., MAREK R., MAREK J., HOLÝ A. (1999) Regioselective preparation of N-7and N-9-alkyl derivatives of N-6-[(dimethylamino)methylene]adenine bearing an active methylene group and their further derivatization leading to alpha-branched acyclic nucleoside analogues. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* 10: 2675-2682.
- HODEK P., TREFIL P., STIBOROVÁ M. (2002) Flavonoids-potent and versatile biologically active compounds interacting with cytochromes P450. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 139 (1): 1-21.
- HOOYKAAS P.J.J., HALL M.A., LIBBENGA K.R. (Ed.) (1999) Biochemistry and molecular biology of plant hormones. New comprehensive biochemistry. Volume 33. 1st edition. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- HOPKINS G., HÜNER N.P.A. (2003) Introduction to Plant Physiology. 3rd edition. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken.

- HORGAN R., HEWETT E.W., PURSE J.G., WAREING P.F. (1973) A new cytokinin from *Populus robusta*. *Tetrahedron Letters* 14 (30): 2827-2828.
- HORNAK J.P. (2009) The Basics of NMR [online]. c1997-2010. [cit. 2010-07-01]. http://www.cis.rit.edu/htbooks/nmr/>.
- HOROWITZ R.M. (1986) Taste effects of flavonoids. Progress in Clinical Biological Research 213: 163-175.
- HOSHINO H., SHIMIZU N., SHIMADA N., TAKITA T., TAKEUCHI T. (1987) Inhibition of infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus by oxetanocin. *The Journal of Antibiotics* 40 (7): 1077-1078.
- HOYEROVÁ K., GAUDINOVÁ A., MALBECK J., DOBREV P.I., KOCÁBEK T., SOLCOVÁ B., TRÁVNÍČKOVÁ A., KAMÍNEK M. (2006) Efficiency of different methods of extraction and purification of cytokinins. *Phytochemistry* 67 (11): 1151-1159.
- HRADECKÁ V., NOVÁK O., HAVLÍČEK L., STRNAD M. (2007) Immunoaffinity chromatography of abscisic acid combined with electrospray liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B* 847 (2): 162-173.
- HUERTA V., MIHALIK K., MAITIN V., CRIXELL S.H., VATTEM D.A. (2007) Effect of Central/South American medicinal plants on energy harvesting ability of the mammalian GI tract. *Journal of Medicinal Plant Research* 1 (2): 38-49.
- HUNGELING M., LECHTENBERG M., FRONCZEK F.R., NAHRSTEDT A. (2009) Cyanogenic and non-cyanogenic pyridone glucosides from *Acalypha indica* (Euphorbiaceae). *Phytochemistry* 70 (2): 270-277.
- CHAI O.H., LEE M.S., HAN E.H., KIM H.T., SONG C.H. (2005) Inhibitory effects of *Morus alba* on compound 48/80-induced anaphylactic reactions and anti-chicken gamma globulin IgEmediated mast cell activation. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 28 (10): 1852-1858.
- CHEN C.M., KRISTOPEIT S.M. (1981a) Metabolism of cytokinin: dephosphorylation of cytokinin ribonucleotide by 5'-nucleotidases from wheat germ cytosol. *Plant Physiology* 67 (5): 494-498.
- CHEN C.M., KRISTOPETT S.M. (1981b) Metabolism of cytokinin: deribosylation of cytokinin ribonucleoside by adenosine nucleosidase from wheat germ cells. *Plant Physiology* 68 (5): 1020-1023.
- CHEN J., LI X. (2007) Hypolipidemic effect of flavonoids from mulberry leaves in triton WR-1339 induced hyperlipidemic mice. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 16 (Suppl 1): 290-294.
- CHEN J., LIU Y., SHI Y.P. (2009) Determination of flavonoids in the flowers of *Paulownia tomentosa* by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 64 (3): 282-288.
- CHEN P.N., CHU S.C., CHIOU H.L., KUO W.H., CHIANG C.L., HSIEH Y.S. (2006) Mulberry anthocyanins, cyanidin 3-rutinoside and cyaniding 3-glucoside, exhibited an inhibitory effect on the migration and invasion of a human lung cancer cell line. *Cancer Letters* 235 (2): 248-259.
- CHEN W., GAI Y., LIU S., WANG R., JIANG X. (2010) Quantitative analysis of cytokinins in plants by high performance liquid chromatography: electronspray ionization ion trap mass spectrometry. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 52 (10): 925–932.
- CHHEDA G.B., MITTELMAN A. (1972) N⁶-(2-isopentenyl)adenosine metabolism in man. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 21 (1): 27-37.
- CHI Y.S., JONG H.G., SON K.H., CHANG H.W., KANG S.S., KIM H.P. (2001) Effects of naturally occurring prenylated flavonoids on enzymes metabolizing arachidonic acid: cyclooxygenases and lipoxygenases. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 62 (9): 1185-1191.
- CHOI E.M., HWANG J.K. (2005) Effects of *Morus alba* leaf extract on the production of nitric oxide prostaglandin E2 and cytokines in RAW2647 macrophages. *Fitoterapia* 76 (7-8): 608-613.

- CHUNG K.O., KIM B.Y., LEE M.H., KIM Y.R., CHUNG H.Y., PARK J.H., MOON J.O. (2003) In-vitro and invivo anti-inflammatory effect of oxyresveratrol from *Morus alba* L. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 55 (12): 1695-1700.
- ICHIKAWA S., SHUTO S., MATSUDA A. (1999) The first synthesis of herbicidin B. stereoselective construction of the tricyclic undecose moiety by a conformational restriction strategy using steric repulsion between adjacent bulky silyl protecting groups on a pyranose ring. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 121 (44): 10270-10280.
- IINUMA M., OHYAMA M., TANAKA T., MIZUNO M., HONG S.K. (1992) Three 2',4',6'-trioxygenated flavones in roots of *Echinosophora koreensis*. *Phytochemistry* 31 (2): 665-669.
- IMAMURA H., Такао S., Аікоu T. (1994) A modified invasion-3-(4,5-dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide assay for quantitating. *Cancer Research* 54 (13): 3620-3624.
- INA H., ONO M., SASHIDA Y., IIDA H. (1987) (+)-Piperitol from *Paulownia tomentosa*. *Planta Medica* 53 (5): 504.
- IOZUMI K., HOGANSON G.E., PENNELLA R., EVERETT M.A., FULLER B.B. (1993) Role of tyrosinase as the determinant of pigmentation in cultured human melanocytes. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 100 (6): 806-811.
- ISHIHAMA Y., RAPPSILBER J., MANN M. (2006) Modular Stop and Go Extraction Tips with Stacked Disks for Parallel and Multidimensional Peptide Fractionation in Proteomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* 5 (4): 988-994.
- ITAYA T., HOZUMI Y., KANAI T., OHTA T. (1999) Synthesis and structure of the marine ascidian 8oxoadenine aplidiamine. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 47 (9): 1297-1300.
- ITAYA T., OGAWA K. (1977) A new class of purines. Synthesis of 3,9-dialkylhypoxanthines by the cyclization of 1-alkyl-5-alkylaminoimidazole-4-carboxamides. *Heterocycles* 6 (7): 965-970.
- ITAYA T., OGAWA K. (1985) 3,9-Dialkylhypoxanthines. Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin 33 (5): 1906-1913.
- JIANG T.F., DU X., SHI Y.P. (2004) Determination of flavonoids from *Paulownia tomentosa* (Thunb) Steud by micellar electrokinetic capillary electrophoresis. *Chromatographia* 59 (3-4): 255-258.
- JOHNSON F., PILLAI K.M., GROLLMAN A.P., TSENG L., TAKESHITA M. (1984) Synthesis and biological activity of a new class of cytotoxic agents: N-(3-oxoprop-1-enyl)-substituted pyrimidines and purines. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 27 (8): 954-958.
- JOHNSON T. (1999) CRC Ethnobotany Desk Reference. CRC Press, USA.
- JONES B., GUNNERAS S.A., PETERSSON S.V., TARKOWSKI P., GRAHAM N., MAY S., DOLEŻAL K., SANDBERG G., LJUNG K. (2010) Cytokinin regulation of auxin synthesis in *Arabidopsis* involves a homeostatic feedback loop regulated via auxin and cytokinin signal transduction. *Plant Cell* 22 (9): 2956-2969.
- KAKIMOTO T. (2001) Identification of plant cytokinin biosynthetic enzymes as dimethylallyl diphosphate: ATP/ADP isopentenyltransferases. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 42 (7): 677-685.
- KAKIMOTO T. (2003) Perception and signal transduction of cytokinins. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 54: 605-627.
- KAMADA-NOBUSADA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2009) Molecular basis for cytokinin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry* 70 (4): 444-449.
- Kambara H., Yamada T., Tsujiokab M., Matsunagab S., Tanakab R., Ali H.I., Wiart C., Yusof M., Hassan H., Hanifah A., Fauzi Z.M., Mazlan N.H., Jay M., Kunishima M., Akaho E. (2006) A Study

on Medicinal Plants from Malaysia Focused on *Acalypha siamensis* Oliv. ex Gage. Isolation and Structure of a New Tetraterpene, Acalyphaser A. *Chemistry & Biodiversity* 3 (12): 1301-1306.

- KANG K.H., HUH H., KIM B.K., LEE C.K. (1999) An antiviral furanoquinone from *Paulownia tomentosa* Steud. *Phytotherapy Research* 13 (7): 624-626.
- KANG S.S., KIM J.S., SON K.H., CHANG H.W., KIM H.P. (2000) A new prenylated flavanone from the roots of *Sophora flavescens*. *Fitoterapia* 71 (5): 511-515.
- KANG T.H., HUR J.Y., KIM H.B., RYU J.H., KIM S.Y. (2006) Neuroprotective effects of the cyanidin-3-O-beta-Dglucopyranoside isolated from mulberry fruit against cerebral ischemia. *Neuroscience Letters* 391 (3): 122-126.
- KASAHARA H., TAKEI K., UEDA N., HISHIYAMA S., YAMAYA T., KAMIYA Y., YAMAGUCHI S., SAKAKIBARA H. (2004) Distinct isoprenoid origins of cis- and trans-zeatin biosyntheses in Arabidopsis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279 (14): 14049-14054.
- KATSUBE T., IMAWAKA N., KAWANO Y., YAMAZAKI Y., SHIWAKU K., YAMANE Y. (2006) Antioxidant flavonol glycosides in mulberry (*Morus alba* L.) leaves isolated based on LDL antioxidant activity. *Food Chemistry* 97 (1): 25-31.
- KEELER J. (2005) Understanding NMR Spectroscopy. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- KELLEY G.G., WHEELER G.P., MONTGOMERY J.A. (1962) The effects of a series of 9-alkylpurines on growth of sensitive and 6-MP-resistant H-Ep. number 2 cells. *Cancer Research* 22 (3): 329-333.
- KHAN K.M., MAHARVI G.M., ABBASKHAN A., HAYAT S., KHAN M.T.H., MAKHMOOR T., CHOUDHARY M.I., SHAHEEN F., RAHMAN A. (2003) Three tyrosinase inhibitors and antioxidant compounds from *Salsola foetida*. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* 86 (2): 457-464.
- KIKUCHI T., NIHEI M., NAGAI H., FUKUSHI H., TABATA K., SUZUKI T., AKIHISA T. (2010) Albanol A from the root bark of *Morus alba* L. induces apoptotic cell death in HL60 human leukemia cell line. *Chemical & Pharmacetical Bulletin (Tokyo)* 58 (4): 568-571.
- KIM D.W., CHI Y.S., SON K.H., CHANG H.W., KIM J.S., KANG S.S., KIM H.P. (2002) Effect of sophoraflavanone G, a prenylated flavonoids from Sophora flavescens, on cyclooxygenase-2 and in vivo inflammatory response. *Archives of Pharmaceutical Research* 25 (3): 329–335.
- KIM E.S., PARK S.J., LEE E.J., KIM B.K., HUH H., LEE B.J. (1999b) Purification and characterization of Moran 20K from *Morus alba*. *Archives of Pharmacal Research* 22 (1): 9-12.
- KIM J.K, SI C.L, BAE Y.S. (2007) Epimeric phenylpropanoid glycosides from inner bark of *Paulownia* coreana Uyeki. Holzforschung 61 (2): 161-164.
- KIM J.W., KIM S.U., LEE H.S., KIM I., AHN M.Y., RYU K.S. (2003) Determination of 1-deoxynojirimycin in *Morus alba* L. leaves by derivatization with 9-fluorenylmethyl chloroformate followed by reversedphase high-performance liquid chromatography *Journal of Chromatography A* 1002 (1-2): 93-99.
- KIM S.Y., GAO J.J., LEE W.C., RYU K.S., LEE K.R., KIM Y.C. (1999a) Antioxidative flavonoids from the leaves of *Morus alba. Archives of Pharmacal Research* 22 (1): 81-85.
- KIMURA T., NAKAGAWA K., KUBOTA H., KOJIMA Y., GOTO Y., YAMAGISHI K., OITA S., OIKAWA S., MIYAZAWA T. (2007) Food-grade mulberry powder enriched with 1-deoxynojirimycin suppresses the elevation of postprandial blood glucose in humans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55 (14): 5869-5874.
- KIMURA T., NAKAGAWA K., SAITO Y., YAMAGISHI K., SUZUKI M., YAMAKI K., SHINMOTO H., MIYAZAWA T. (2004) Determination of 1-deoxynojirimycin in mulberry leaves using hydrophilic interaction chromatography with evaporative light scattering detection. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52 (6): 1415-1418.

- KIMURA Y., OKUDA H., NOMURA T., FUKAI T., ARICHI S. (1986) Effects of phenolic constituents from the mulberry tree on arachidonate metabolism in rat platelets. *Journal of Natural Products* 49 (4): 639-644.
- KINGHORN A.D., SU B.N., JANG D.S., CHANG L.C., LEE D., GU J.Q., CARCACHE-BLANCO E.J., PAWLUS A.D., LEE S.K., PARK E.J., CUENDET M., GILLS J.J., BHAT K., PARK H.S., MATA-GREENWOOD E., SONG L.L., JANG M., PEZZUTO J.M. (2004) Natural inhibitors of carcinogenesis. *Planta Medica* 70 (8): 691-705.
- KLUCHOVÁ K., ZBOŇIL R., TUČEK J., PEČOVÁ M., ZAJONCOVÁ L., ŠAFAŘÍK I., MAŠLÁŇ M., MARKOVÁ I., JANČÍK D., ŠEBELA M., BARTOŇKOVÁ H., BELLESI V., NOVÁK P., PETRIDIS D. (2009) Superparamagnetic maghemite nanoparticles from solid-state synthesis, their functionalization towards peroral MRI contrast agent and magnetic carrier for trypsin immobilization. *Biomaterials* 30 (15): 2855-2863.
- KNAGGS A.R. (2003) The biosynthesis of shikimate metabolites. Natural Products Reports 20 (1): 119-136.
- KOFUJITA H., YAGUCHI M., DOI N., SUZUKI K. (2004) A novel cytotoxic prenylated flavonoid from the root of *Morus alba*. *Journal of Insect Biotechnology and Sericology* 73 (3): 113-116.
- KOLBER M.A., QUINONES R.R., GRESS R.E., HENKART P.A. (1988) Measurement of cytotoxicity by target cell release and retention of the fluorescent dye bis-carboxyethyl-carboxyfluorescein (BCECF). *Journal of Immunological Methods* 108 (1-2): 255-264.
- KONCZAK-ISLAM I., OKUNU S., YOSHIMOTO M., YAMAKAWA O. (2003) Composition of phenolics and anthocyanins in a sweet potato cell suspension culture. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 14 (3): 155-161.
- KRYŠTOF V., LENOBEL R., HAVLÍČEK L., KUZMA M., STRNAD M. (2002) Synthesis and biological activity of olomoucine II. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 12 (22): 3283-3286.
- KRYŠTOF V., MCNAE I.W., WALKINSHAW M.D., FISCHER P.M., MÜLLER P., VOJTĚŠEK B., ORSÁG M., HAVLÍČEK L., STRNAD M. (2005) Antiproliferative activity of olomoucine II, a novel 2,6,9trisubstituted purine cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 62 (15): 1763-1771.
- KRYŠTOF V., ULDRIJAN S. (2010) Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors as anticancer drugs. *Current Drug Targets* 11 (3): 291-302.
- KUDO T., KIBA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2010) Metabolism and long-distance translocation of cytokinins. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 52 (1): 53-60.
- KUHNAU J. (1976) The flavonoids. A class of semi-essential food components: their role in human nutrition. *World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics* 24: 117-191.
- KURAKAWA T., UEDA N., MAEKAWA M., KOBAYASHI K., KOJIMA M., NAGATO Y., SAKAKIBARA H., KYOZUKA J. (2007) Direct control of shoot meristem activity by a cytokinin-activating enzyme. *Nature* 445 (7128): 652–655.
- LAMBERT J.B., MAZZOLA E.P. (2004) Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy: an introduction to principles, applications, and experimental methods. Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River.
- LE PAGE-DEGIVRY M.T., BIDARD J.N., ROUVIER E., BULARD C., LAZDUNSKI M. (1986) Presence of abscisic acid, a phytohormone, in the mammalian brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 83 (4): 1155-1158.
- LEE J., CHAE K., HA J., PARK B.Y., LEE H.S., JEONG S., KIM M.Y., YOON M. (2008). Regulation of obesity and lipid disorders by herbal extracts from *Morus alba*, *Melissa officinalis* and *Artemisia capillaris* in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 115 (2): 263-270.
- LEE S.H., CHOI S.Y., KIM H., HWANG J.S., LEE B.G., GAO J.J., KIM S.Y. (2002) Mulberroside F isolated from the leaves of *Morus alba* inhibits melanin biosynthesis. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 25 (8): 1045-1048.

- LEONARD N.J., DEYRUP J.A. (1962) The Chemistry of Triacanthine. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 84 (11): 2148-2160.
- LEOPOLD D.J., BROWN H.P. (2003) Trees of New York State: native and naturalized. 1st edition. Syracuse University Press, Syracuse.
- LETHAM D.S. (1963) Zeatin, a factor inducing cell division isolated from Zea mays. *Life Sciences* 8: 569-573.
- LETHAM D.S., PALNI L.M.S. (1983) The biosynthesis and metabolism of cytokinins. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology* 34: 163-197.
- LEVY-YAMAMORI R., TAAFFE G. (2004) Garden plants of Japan. Timber Press, Portland.
- LIN Y.L., LEE H.P., OU J.C., KUO Y.H. (1996) Three new purinium derivatives, heteromines A, B, and C from *Heterostemma brownii*. *Heterosycles* 43 (4): 781-786.
- LINDSAY B.S., ALMEIDA A.M., SMITH C.J., BERLINCK R.G., DA ROCHA R.M., IRELAND C.M. (1999a) 6-Methoxy-7-methyl-8-oxoguanine, an unusual purine from the ascidian *Symplegma rubra*. *Journal of Natural Products* 62 (11): 1573-1575.
- LINDSAY B.S., BATTERSHILL C.N., COPP B.R. (1999b) 1,3-Dimethylguanine, a New Purine from the New Zealand Ascidian *Botrylloides leachi*. *Journal of Natural Products* 62 (4): 638-639.
- MADRE M.A., LIEPINSH E.E., ZHUK R.A., SAKHARTOVA O.V., LIDAK M.Y. (1986) Analogs of purine nucleosides. 3. Alkoxyalkylation of hypoxanthine by the silyl method. *Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds* 22 (4): 425-431.
- MAKINSKY A.A., KRITZYN A.M., UL'YANOVA E.A., ZAKHAROVA O.D., BUGREEV D.V., NEVINSKY G.A. (2001) Polymethylene derivatives of nucleic bases with omega-functional groups: II. Adenine and hypoxanthine derivatives. *Russian Journal of Bioorganic Chemistry* 27 (3): 167-172.
- MALÁ J., MÁCHOVÁ P., CVRČKOVÁ H., KARÁDY M., NOVÁK O., MIKULÍK J., HAUSEROVÁ E., GREPLOVÁ J., STRNAD M., DOLEŽAL K. (2009) Micropropagation of wild service tree (*Sorbus torminalis* [L.] Crantz): The regulative role of different aromatic cytokinins during organogenesis. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 28 (4): 341-348.
- MALÍKOVÁ J., SWACZYNOVÁ J., KOLÁŘ Z., STRNAD M. (2008) Anticancer and antiproliferative activity of natural brassinosteroids. *Phytochemistry* 69 (2): 418-426.
- MANTHEY J.A., GROHMANN K., GUTHRIE N. (2001) Biological properties of citrus flavonoids pertaining to cancer and inflammation. *Current Medicinal Chemistry* 8 (2): 135-153.
- MANTSCH H.H., GOIA I., KEZDI M., BÂRZU O., DÂNȘOREANU M., JEBELEANU G., TY N.G. (1975) Structural and enzymatic properties of adenine 1-oxide nucleotides. *Biochemistry* 14 (26): 5593-5601.
- MAREK R., BRUS J., TOUŠEK J., KOVÁCS L., HOCKOVÁ D. (2002) N7- and N9-substituted purine derivatives: a N15 NMR study. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry* 40 (5): 353-360.
- MARTIN G.E., ZEKTER A.S. (1988) Two-Dimensional NMR Methods for Establishing Molecular Connectivity. VCH Publishers, New York.
- MARTIN R.C., MOK M.C., SHAW G., MOK D.W.S. (1989) An enzyme mediating the conversion of zeatin to dihydrozeatin in *Phaseolus* embryos. *Plant Physiology* 90 (4): 1630-1635.
- MARTÍNEZ N. (2003) Las plantas medicinales [online]. 8 November 2003. [cit. 2010-06-20]. http://www.slan.org.ve/publicaciones/completas/plantas_medicinales_2.asp>.
- MATSUMOTO T. (ED.) (2008) Phytochemistry Research Progress. Nova Science Publishers, New York.

- MAXWELL C.A., PHILIPS D.A. (1990) Concurrent synthesis and release of nod-gene-inducing flavonoids from alfalfa roots. *Plant Physiology* 93 (4): 1552-1558.
- MAZUR W., FOTSIS T., WÄHÄLÄ K., OJALA S., SALAKKA A., ADLERCREUTZ H. (1996) Isotope dilution gas chromatographic Mass spectrometric method for the determination of isoflavonoids, coumestrol, and lignans in food samples. *Analytical Biochemistry* 233 (2): 169-180.
- McClue S.J., BLAKE D., CLARKE R., COWAN A., CUMMINGS L., FISCHER P.M., MACKENZIE M., MELVILLE J., STEWART K., WANG S., ZHELEV N., ZHELEVA D., LANE D.P. (2002) In vitro and in vivo antitumor properties of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor CYC202 (R-roscovitine). *International Journal of Cancer* 102 (5): 463-468.
- MECCIA G., ROSQUETE C., ROJAS L.B., SAN FELICIANO A. (2006) New labdane derivative from the essential oil of *Acalypha plicata* Müll.Arg. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal* 21 (3): 559-561.
- MEIJER L., BORGNE A., MULNER O., CHONG J.P., BLOW J.J., INAGAKI N., INAGAKI M., DELCROS J.G., MOULINOUX J.P. (1997) Biochemical and cellular effects of roscovitine, a potent and selective inhibitor of the cyclin-dependent kinases cdc2, cdk2 and cdk5. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 243 (1-2): 527-536.
- MEINKE D.W., CHERRY J.M., DEAN C., ROUNSLEY S.D., KOORNNEEF M. (1998) *Arabidopsis thaliana*: a model plant for genome analysis. *Science* 282 (5389): 662, 679-682.
- MERKEN H.M., BEECHER G.R. (2000) Measurement of food flavonoids by high-performance liquid chromatography: A review. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48 (3): 577-599.
- MEYEROWITZ E.M., SOMERVILLE C.R. (1994) Arabidopsis. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, New York.
- MILLER C.O., SKOOG F., VON SALTZA M.H., STRONG M. (1955) Kinetin, a cell division factor from deoxyribonucleic acid. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 77: 1329-1334.
- MINORSKY P.V. (2003) The Hot and the Classic. Kinetin. Plant Physiology 132 (3): 1135-1136.
- MIYAKI M., SHIMIZU B. (1970) N→N Alkyl and glycosyl migration of purines and pyrimidines. III. N→N alkyl and glycosyl migration of purine derivatives. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 18 (7): 1446-1456.
- MIYAWAKI K., MATSUMOTO-KITANO M., KAKIMOTO T. (2004) Expression of cytokinin biosynthetic isopentenyltransferase genes in Arabidopsis: tissue specificity and regulation by auxin, cytokinin, and nitrate. *The Plant Journal* 37 (1): 128-138.
- MIYAWAKI K., TARKOWSKI P., MATSUMOTO-KITANO M., KATO T., SATO S., TARKOWSKA D., TABATA S., SANDBERG G., KAKIMOTO T. (2006) Roles of Arabidopsis ATP/ADP isopentenyltransferases and tRNA isopentenyltransferases in cytokinin biosynthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 103 (44): 16598-16603.
- MIZUNO T., YAMASHINO T. (2010) Biochemical characterization of plant hormone cytokinin-receptor histidine kinases using microorganisms. *Methods in Enzymology* 471: 335-336.
- MOK D.W.S., MOK M.C. (2001) Cytokinin metabolism and action. *Annual Review of Plant Physology and Plant Molecular Biology* 52: 89-118.
- Мок М.С. (1994). Cytokinins and plant development: An overview. In *Cytokinins: Chemistry, activity and function*. CRC Press, Boca Raton. Chapter 4, p. 155-156.
- MORAVCOVÁ D., KRYŠTOF V., HAVLÍČEK L., MORAVEC J., LENOBEL R., STRAND M. (2003) Pyrazolo[4,3d]pyrimidines as new generation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 13 (18): 2989-2992.

- NAHRSTEDT A., HUNGELING M., PETEREIT F. (2006) Flavonoids from *Acalypha indica*. Fitoterapia 77 (6): 484-486.
- NAHRSTEDT A., KANT J.D., WRAY V. (1982) Acalyphin, a cyanogenic glucoside from *Acalypha indica*. *Phytochemistry* 21 (1): 101-105.
- NAKAGAWA F, OKAZAKI T, NAITO A, IIJIMA Y, YAMAZAKI M. (1985) Griseolic acid, an inhibitor of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase I. Taxonomy, isolation and characterization. *The Journal fo Antibiotics* 38 (7): 824-829.
- NAKAMURA H., WU H., OHIZUMI Y., HIRATA Y. (1984) Agelasine-A, -B, -C and -D, novel bicyclic diterpenoids with a 9-methyladeninium unit possessing inhibitory effects on Na,K-atpase from the okinawa sea sponge *Agelas* sp. *Tetrahedron Letters* 25 (28): 2989-2292.
- NAM S.Y., YI H.K., LEE J.C., KIM J.C., SONG C.H., PARK J.W., LEE D.Y., KIM J.S., HWANG P.H. (2002) Cortex mori extract induces cancer cell apoptosis through inhibition of microtubule assembly. *Archives of Pharmacological Research* 25 (2): 191-196.
- NANDI S.K., LETHAM D.S., PALNI L.M.S., WONG O.C., SUMMONS R.E. (1989) 6- Benzylaminopurine and its glycosides as naturally occurring cytokinins. *Plant Science* 61 (2): 189-196.
- NGUYEN D.T.T., GUILLARME D., RUDAZ S., VEUTHEY J.L. (2006) Fast analysis in liquid chromatography using small particle size and high pressure. *Journal of Separation Science* 29 (12): 1836-1848.
- NIESSEN W.M.A. (1999) State-of-the-art in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography* A 856 (1-2): 179-197.
- NIESSEN W.M.A. (2006) Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. 3rd edition. CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton.
- NIEUWLAND J., SCOFIELD S., MURRAY J.A.H. (2009) Control of division and differentiation of plant stem cells and their derivatives. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology* 20 (9): 1134-1142.
- NIIDOME T., TAKAHASHI K., GOTO Y., GOH S., TANAKA N., KAMEI K., ICHIDA M., HARA S., AKAIKE A., KIHARA T., SUGIMOTO H. (2007) Mulberry leaf extract prevents amyloid beta-peptide fibril formation and neurotoxicity. *Neuroreport* 18 (8): 813-816.
- NILES A.L., MORAVEC R.A., ERIC HESSELBERTH P., SCURRIA M.A., DAILY W.J., RISS T.L. (2007) A homogeneous assay to measure live and dead cells in the same sample by detecting different protease markers. *Analytical Biochemistry* 366 (2): 197-206.
- NOMURA T. (2001) Chemistry and biosynthesis of prenylflavonoids. Yakugaku Zasshi 121 (7): 535-556.
- NOMURA T., FUKAI T., HANO Y., YOSHIZAWA S., SUGANUMA, M., FUJIKI H. (1988) Chemistry and anti-tumor promoting activity of *Morus* flavonoids. *Progress in Clinical Biology and Research* 280: 267-281.
- NOMURA T., HANO Y. (1994) Isoprenoid-substituted phenolic compounds of moraceous plants. *Natural Product Reports* 11 (2): 205-218.
- NOMURA T., HANO Y., AIDA M. (1998) Isoprenoid-substituted flavonoids from Artocarpus plants (Moraceae). *Heterocycles* 47 (2): 1179-1205.
- NOMURA T., HANO Y., FUKAI T. (2009) Chemistry and biosynthesis of isoprenylated flavonoids from Japanese mulberry tree. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy Series B: Physical & Biological Sciences* 85 (9): 391-408.
- NOMURA T., TOSHIO F. (1978) Kuwanon E, a new flavanone derivatives from the root bark of the cultivated mulberry tree (*Morus alba* L.). *Heterocycles* 9 (9): 1295-1300.

- NORDSTRÖM A., TARKOWSKI P., TARKOWSKÁ D., NORBAEK R., ÅSTOT C., DOLEŽAL K., SANDBERG G. (2004) Auxin regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis thaliana: A factor of potential importance for auxin-cytokinin-regulated development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101 (21): 8039-8044.
- Novák F. A. (1961) Vyšší rostliny: Tracheophyta. ČSAV, Praha.
- NOVÁK O., HAUSEROVÁ E., AMAKOROVÁ P., DOLEŽAL K., STRNAD M. (2008) Cytokinin profiling in plant tissues using ultra-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Phytochemistry* 69 (11): 2214-2224.
- NOVÁK O., TARKOWSKI P., TARKOWSKÁ D., DOLEŽAL K., LENOBEL R., STRNAD M. (2003) Quantitative analysis of cytokinins in plants by liquid chromatography-single-quadrupole mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 480 (2): 207-218.
- NOVÁKOVÁ L., VLČKOVÁ H. (2009) A review of current trends and advances in modern bio-analytical methods: chromatography and sample preparation. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 656 (1-2): 8-35.
- NOWAK R. M. (1999) Walker's Mammals of the World. Volume 1. 6th edition. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- OBATA Y., ABE H., TANAKA Y., YANAGISAWA K., UCHIYAM M. (1973) Isolation of a spore germination inhibitor from a cellular slime mold *Dictyostelium discoideum*. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 37 (8): 1989-1990.
- OH H., KO E.K., JUN J.Y., OH M.H., PARK S.U., KANG K.H., LEE H.S., KIM Y.C. (2002) Hepatoprotective and free radical scavenging activities of prenylflavonoids coumarin and stilbene from *Morus alba*. *Planta Medica* 68 (10): 932-934.
- OHBA M., TASHIRO T. (2002) Preparatory Study for the Synthesis of the Marine Sponge Alkaloids Asmarines A-F: Synthesis of Their Heterocyclic Portions. *Heterocycles* 57 (7): 1235-1238.
- OKU T., YAMADA M., NAKAMURA M., SADAMORI N., NAKAMURA S. (2006) Inhibitory effects of extractives from leaves of *Morus alba* on human and rat small intestinal disaccharidase activity. *British Journal of Nutrition* 95 (5): 933-938.
- OLSSON L.C., VEIT M., WEISSENBÖCK G., BORNMAN J.F. (1998) Differential flavonoid response to enhanced UV-B radiation in *Brassica napus*. *Phytochemistry* 49 (4): 1021-1028.
- PAPADOPOULOS N.G., DEDOUSSIS G.V., SPANAKOS G., GRITZAPIS A.D., BAXEVANIS C.N., PAPAMICHAIL M. (1994) An improved fluorescence assay for the determination of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity using flow cytometry. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 177 (1-2): 101-111.
- PARK K.M, YOU J.S, LEE H.Y., BAEK N.I., HWANG J.K. (2003) Kuwanon G: an antibacterial agent from the root bark of *Morus alba* against oral pathogens. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 84 (2-3): 181-185.
- PARK Y., KIM B.K., KIM Y.B. (1992) Constituents of *Paulownia tomentosa* Stem (III): The crystal structure of methyl 5-hydroxy-dinaphtho [1,2-2',3'] furan-7,12-dione-6-carboxylate. *Archives of Pharmacal Research* 15 (1): 52-57.
- PARK Y., KONG J.Y., CHO H. (2009) A furanquinone from *Paulownia tomentosa stem* for a new cathepsin K inhibitor. *Phytotherapy Research* 23 (10): 1485-1488.
- PĚNČÍK A., ROLČÍK J., NOVÁK O., MAGNUS V., BARTÁK P., BUCHTÍK R., SALOPEK-SONDI B., STRNAD M. (2009) Isolation of novel indole-3-acetic acid conjugates by immunoaffinity extraction. *Talanta* 80 (2): 651-655.
- PETERSON J.J., BEECHER G.R., BHAGWAT S.A., DWYER J.T., GEBHARDT S.E., HAYTOWITZ D.B., HOLDEN J.M. (2006a) Flavanones in grapefruit, lemons, and limes: A compilation and review of the data from the analytical literature. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 19: S74-S80.

- PETERSON J.J., DWYER J. (1998) Flavonoids: Dietary occurrence and biochemical activity. *Nutrition Research* 18 (12): 1995-2018.
- PETERSON J.J., DWYER J.T., BEECHER G.R., BHAGWAT S.A., GEBHARDT S.E., HAYTOWITZ D.B., HOLDEN J.M. (2006b) Flavanones in oranges, tangerines (mandarins), tangors, and tangelos: a compilation and review of the data from the analytical literature. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 19: S66-S73.
- PHOMMART S., SUTTHIVAIYAKIT P., CHIMNOI N., RUCHIRAWAT S., SUTTHIVAIYAKIT S. (2005) Constituents of the leaves of *Macaranga tanarius*. *Journal of Natural Products* 68 (6): 927-930.
- PIAO S.J., FENG Q., CHEN L.X., YA P., DOU D.Q. (2009) New stilbene, benzofuran, and coumarin glycosides from *Morus alba*. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* 92 (3): 579-587.
- PICKERING L., NAIR V. (1997) Novel bicyclic nucleoside analogues related to natural griseolic acids. Nucleosides & Nucleotides 16 (7-9): 1435-1438.
- PIERPOINT W.S. (1986) Flavonoids in the human diet. Progress in Clinical Biological Research 213: 125-140.
- POOLE C.F., GUNATILLEKA A.D., SETHURAMAN R. (2000) Contributions of theory to method development in solid-phase extraction. *Journal of Chromatography A* 885 (1-2): 17-39.
- PRINSEN E., KAMÍNEK M., VAN ONCKELEN H.A. (1997) Cytokinin biosynthesis: a black box? *Plant Growth* Regulation 23 (1-2): 3-15.
- RAO T.S, OJWANG J.O., MARSHALL H.B., REVANKAR G.R. (1997) Synthesis of certain alkenyl purines and purine analogs as inhibitors of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha). *Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry* 34 (1): 257-262.
- RAO T.S., REVANKAR G.R. (1995) Snythesis of certain alkenyl purines and purine analogs. *Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry* 32 (3): 1043-1049.
- RAPPSILBER J., MANN M., ISHIHAMA Y. (2007) Protocol for micro-purification, enrichment, prefractionation and storage of peptides for proteomics using StageTips. *Nature Protocols* 2 (8): 1896-1906.
- RATTAN S.I. (2008) Hormesis in aging. aging Research Reviews 7 (1): 63-78.
- RAYNAUD F.I., WHITTAKER S.R., FISCHER P.M., MCCLUE S., WALTON M.I., BARRIE S.E., GARRETT M.D., ROGERS P., CLARKE S.J., KELLAND L.R., VALENTI M., BRUNTON L., ECCLES S., LANE D.P., WORKMAN P. (2005) In vitro and in vivo pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationships for the trisubstituted aminopurine cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors olomoucine, bohemine and CYC202. *Clinical Cancer Research* 11 (13): 4875-4887.
- REDIG P., SCHMULLING T., VAN ONCKELEN H. (1996) Analysis of cytokinin metabolism in ipt transgenic Tobacco by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Plant Physiology* 112 (1):141-148.
- REIERSEN B., KIREMIRE B.T., BYAMUKAMA R., ANDERSEN Ø.M. (2003) Anthocyanins acylated with gallic acid from chenille plant, *Acalypha hispida*. *Phytochemistry* 64 (4): 867-871.
- REMALEY T. (2009) PCA Alien Plant Working Group Princess Tree (Paulownia tomentosa) [online]. Last revision 07 July 2009. [cit. 2010-06-10]. http://www.nps.gov/plants/alien/fact/pato1.htm>.
- REUBER S., BORNMAN J.F., WEISSENBÖCK G. (1996) Phenylpropanoid compounds in primary leaf tissues of rye (*Secale cereale*). Light response of their metabolism and the possible role in UV-B protection. *Physiologia Plantarum* 97 (1): 160-168.
- RISS T.L., MORAVEC R.A. (2004) Use of multiple assay endpoints to investigate the effects of incubation time, dose of toxin, and plating density in cell-based cytotoxicity assays. *Assay and Drug Development Technologies* 2 (1): 51-62.

- ROBERTS W.P., TATE M.E., KERR A. (1977) Agrocin 84 is a 6-N-phosphoramidate of an adenine nucleotide analogue. *Nature* 265 (5592): 379-381.
- RODD T., STACKHOUSE J. (2008) Trees: A Visual Guide. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles.
- ROSEMEYER H. (2004) The Chemodiversity of Purine as a Constituent of Natural Products. *Chemistry & Biodiversity* 1 (3): 361-401.
- ROTH B.L., POOT M., YUE S.T., MILLARD P.J. (1997) Bacterial viability and antibiotic susceptibility testing with SYTOX green nucleic acid stain. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 63 (6): 2421-2431.
- ROTKOVÁ J., ŠULÁKOVÁ R., KORECKÁ L., ZDRAŽILOVÁ P., JANDOVÁ M., LENFELD J., HORÁK D., BÍLKOVÁ Z. (2009) Laccase immobilized on magnetic carriers for biotechnology applications. *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 321 (10): 1335-1340.
- ROTTMAN F., GUARINO A.J. (1964) The inhibition of phosphoribosyl-pyrophosphate amidotransferase activity by cordycepin monophosphate. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 89 (3): 465-472.
- SAKAKIBARA H. (2006) Cytokinins: Activity, biosynthesis, and translocation. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57: 431-449.
- SARKER S.D., LATIF Z., GRAY A.I. (2006) Natural product isolation. 2nd edition. Humana Press, Totowa.
- SEERAM N.P., MOMIN R.A., NAIR M.G., BOURQUIN L.D. (2001) Cyclooxygenase inhibitory and antioxidant cyanidin glycosides in cherries and berries. *Phytomedicine* 8 (5): 362-369.
- SEIFRIED H.E., ANDERSON D.E., FISHER E.I., MILNER J.A. (2007) A review of the interaction among dietary antioxidants and reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 18 (9): 567-579.
- SEIGLER D.S. (1998) Plant Secondary Metabolism. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- SERRAINO I., DUGO L., DUGO P., MONDELLO L., MAZZON E., DUGO G., CAPUTI A.P., CUZZOCREA S. (2003) Protective effects of cyanidin-3-O-glucoside from blackberry extract against peroxynitrite-induced endothelial dysfunction and vascular failure. *Life Science* 73 (9): 1097-1114.
- SHAKIL N.A, PANKAJ, KUMAR J., PANDEY R.K., SAXENA D.B. (2008) Nematicidal prenylated flavanones from *Phyllanthus niruri*. *Phytochemistry* 69 (3): 759-764.
- SHANTZ E.M., STEWARD F.C. (1955) The identification of compound A from coconut milk as 1,3diphenylurea. *Journal ot the American Chemical Society* 77 (23): 6351-6353.
- SHIBATA Y., KUME N., ARAI H., HAYASHIDA K., INUI-HAYASHIDA A., MINAMI M., MUKAI E., TOYOHARA M., HARAUMA A., MURAYAMA T., KITA T., HARA S., KAMEI K., YOKODE M. (2006) Mulberry leaf aqueous fractions inhibit TNF-alpha-induced nuclear factor kappaB (NF-kappaB) activation and lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) expression in vascular endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* 193 (1): 20-27.
- SHIMIZU B., MIYAKI M. (1970) N→N Alkyl and glycosyl migrations of purines and pyrimidines. I. A new migration of 3-alkyl-N6-acyladenine. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 18 (3): 570-580.
- SHUDO K. (1994) Chemistry of phenylurea cytokinins. In *Cytokinins: Chemistry, activity and function.* CRC Press, Boca Raton. Chapter 3, p. 35-42.
- SCHANTZ E.J., LYNCH J.M., VAYVADA G., MATSUMOTO K., RAPOPORT H. (1966) The purification and characterization of the poison produced by *Gonyaulax catenella* in axenic culture. *Biochemistry* 5 (4): 1191-1195.

SCHEUER P.J. (1977) Marine toxins. Accounts of Chemical Research 10 (2): 33-37.

- Schilling G., Hugel M., MAYER W. (1982) Verbascoside and isoverbascoside from *Paulownia tomentosa* Steud. *Journal of Chemical Sciences* 37 (12): 1633-1635.
- SCHMÜLLING T., WERNER T., RIEFLER M., KRUPKOVÁ E., MANNS I.B.Y. (2003) Structure and function of cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase genes of maize, rice, *Arabidopsis* and other species. *Journal of Plant Research* 116 (3): 241-252.
- Schoch T.K., Gardner D.R., Stegelmeier B.L. (2000) GC/MS/MS detection of pyrrolic metabolites in animals poisoned with the pyrrolizidine alkaloid riddelliine. *Journal of Natural Toxins* 9 (2): 197-206.
- SCHRAM K. (1998) Urinary nucleosides. Mass Spectrometry Reviews 17 (3): 131-251.
- SI C.L., DENG X.J., LIU Z., KIM J.K., BAE Y.S. (2008a) Studies on the phenylethanoid glycosides with anti-complement activity from *Paulownia tomentosa* var. tomentosa wood. *Journal of Asian Natural Products Research* 10 (11-12): 1003-1008.
- SI C.L., DENG X.J., XU Q. (2008c) Characterisation of Phenolic Acids and Antioxidant Activities of Paulownia tomentosa var. tomentosa Leaves. In *International Conference on Pulping, Papermaking and Biotechnology, May 04-06, 2008, Nanjing, China.* Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing. p. 31-33.
- SI C.L., DENG X.K., LIU Z. (2008b) Structure and activity relationship of antioxidant flavonoids from leaves of *Paulownia tomentosa* var. *tomentosa*. In *Second International Papermaking and Environment Conference, Proceeding, Books A and B, May 14-16, 2008, Tianjin, China*. Tianjin University of Science and Technology, Tianjin. p. 263-266.
- SI C.L., WU L., ZHU Z.Y., KIM J.K., KWON D.J., BAE Y.S. (2009) Apigenin derivatives from *Paulonnia* tomentosa Steud. var. tomentosa stem barks. *Holzforschung* 63 (4): 440-442.
- SIEMS K., JAKUPOVIC J., CASTRO V., POVEDA L. (1996) Constituents of two *Acalypha* species. *Phytochemistry* 41 (3): 851-853.
- SILVERSTEIN R.M., WEBSTER F.W., KIEMLE D.J. (2005) Spectrometric identification of organic compounds. 7th edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- SIMIC M.G., JOVANOVIC S.V. (1989) Antioxidation mechanisms of uric acid. (1989) Journal of the American Chemical Society 111 (15): 5778-5782.
- SINGAB A.N., EL-BESHBISHY H.A., YONEKAWA M., NOMURA T., FUKAI T. (2005) Hypoglycemic effect of Egyptian *Morus alba* root bark extract: effect on diabetes and lipid peroxidation of streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 100 (3): 333-338.
- SKIBOLA C.F., SMITH M.T. (2000) Potential health impacts of excessive flavonoid intake. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 29 (3-4): 375-383.
- SMITH M.C., ATKINS C.A. (2002) Purine Biosynthesis. Big in Cell Division, Even Bigger in Nitrogen Assimilation. *Plant Physiology* 128: 793–802.
- SMITH R.C., REEVES J., MCKEE M.L., DARON H. (1987) Reactions of methylated urates with l,l-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 3 (4): 251-257.
- SOHN H.Y., SON K.H., KWON C.S., KWON G.S., KANG S.S. (2004) Antimicrobial and cytotoxic activity of 18 prenylated flavonoids isolated from medicinal plants: *Morus alba L., Morus mongolica* Schneider, *Broussnetia papyrifera* (L.) Vent, *Sophora flavescens* Ait and *Echinosophora koreensis* Nakai. *Phytomedicine* 11 (7-8): 666-672.
- SOLADOYE M.O., SONIBARE M.A., ROSANWO T.O. (2008) Phytochemical and Morphometric Analysis of the Genus Acalypha Linn. (Euphorbiaceae). *Journal of Applied Sciences* 8 (17): 3044-3049.
- Son K.H., Kwon S.J., Chang H.W., Kim H.P., Kang S.S. (2001) Papyriflavonol A, a new prenylated flavonol from *Broussnetia papyrifera*. *Fitoterapia* 72 (4): 456-458.
- SPIESS L.D. (1975) Comparative activity of isomers of zeatin and ribosyl-zeatin on Funaria hygrometrica. Plant Physiology 55 (3): 583-585.
- SPÍCHAL L., RAKOVÁ N.Y., RIEFLER M., MIZUNO T., ROMANOV G.A., STRNAD M., SCHMÜLLING T. (2004) Two cytokinin receptors of Arabidopsis thaliana, CRE1/AHK4 and AHK3, differ in their ligand specificity in a bacterial assay. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 45 (9): 1299-1305.
- SRIVASTAVA S., KAPOOR R., THATHOLA A., SRIVASTAVA R.P. (2003) Mulberry (Morus alba) leaves as human food: a new dimension of sericulture. International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition 54 (6): 411-416.
- SRIVASTAVA S., KAPOOR R., THATHOLA A., SRIVASTAVA R.P. (2006) Nutritional quality of leaves of some genotypes of mulberry (*Morus alba*). *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 57 (5-6): 305-313.
- SRODA K., MICHALAK K., MANIEWSKA J., GRYNKIEWICZ G., SZEJA W., ZAWISZA J., HENDRICH A.B. (2008) Genistein derivatives decrease liposome membrane integrity-calcein release and molecular modeling study. *Biophysical Chemistry* 138 (3): 78-82.
- STAFFORD H.A. (1990) Flavonoid Metabolism. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- STARMANS D.A.J., NIJHUIS H.H. (1996) Extraction of secondary metabolites from plant material: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 7 (6): 191-197.
- STASOLLA C., KATAHIRA R., THORPE T.A., ASHIHARA H. (2003) Purine and pyrimidine nucleotide metabolism in higher plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160 (11): 1271-1295.
- STICHER O., LAHLOUB M.F. (1982) Phenolic glycosides of *Paulownia tomentosa* bark. *Planta Medica* 46 (11): 145-148.
- STRNAD M. (1997) The aromatic cytokinins. Physiologia Plantarum 101 (4): 674-688.
- STRNAD M., HANUŠ J., VANĚK T., KAMÍNEK M., BALLANTINEE J.A., FUSSELLE B., HANKE D.E. (1997) Metatopolin, a highly active aromatic cytokinin from poplar leaves (*Populus × canadensis* Moench., cv. *Robusta*). *Phytochemistry* 45 (2): 213-218.
- STRNAD M., PETERS W., HANUŠ J., BECK E. (1994) Ortho-topolin-9-glucoside, an aromatic cytokinin from Populus x canadensis cv Robusta leaves. Phytochemistry 37 (4): 1059-1062.
- SUHADOLNIK R.J. (1979) Nucleosides as Biological Probes. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- SUZUKI T., MIWA K., ISHIKAWA K., YAMADA H., AIBA H., MIZUNO T. (2001) The Arabidopsis sensor Hiskinase, AHK4, can respond to cytokinins. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 42 (1): 107-113.
- SWAIN T. (1986) The evolution of flavonoids. In *Plant Flavonoids in Biology and Medicine: Biochemical, Pharmacological, and Structure-Activity Relationships.* Alan R. Liss, New York. p. 1-14.
- SÝVACÝ A., SÖKMEN M. (2004) Seasonal changes in antioxidant activity total phenolic and anthocyanin constituent of the stems of two *Morus* species (*Morus alba* L. and *Morus nigra* L.). *Plant Growth Regulation* 44: 251-256.
- SEBESTA K., HORSKÁ K., VAŇKOVÁ J. (1969a) Isolation and properties of insecticidal exotoxin of *Bacillus* thuringiensis var. gelechiae Auct. Collection of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications 34 (3): 891-900.
- ŠEBESTA K., HORSKÁ K., VAŇKOVÁ J. (1969b) Inhibition of de novo RNA synthesis by the insecticidal exotoxin of Bacillus thuringiensis var. gelechiae. Collection of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications 34 (6): 1786-1788.
- ŠMEJKAL K., BABULA P., ŠLAPETOVÁ T., BROGNARA E., DALL'ACQUA S., ŽEMLIČKA M., INNOCENTI G., CVAČKA J. (2008b) Cytotoxic activity of C-geranyl compounds from *Paulownia tomentosa* fruits. *Planta Medica* 74 (12): 1488-1491.

- ŠMEJKAL K., GRYCOVÁ L., MAREK R., LEMIÈRE F., JANKOVSKÁ D., FOREJTNÍKOVÁ H., VANCO J., SUCHÝ V. (2007a) C-Geranyl compounds from *Paulownia tomentosa* fruits. *Journal of Natural Products* 70 (8): 1244-1248.
- ŠMEJKAL K., HOLUBOVÁ P., ZIMA A., MUSELÍK J., DVORSKÁ M. (2007b) Antiradical activity of *Paulonnia* tomentosa (Scrophulariaceae) extracts. *Molecules* 12 (6): 1210-1219.
- ŠMEJKAL K., CHUDÍK S., KLOUČEK P., MAREK R., CVAČKA J., URBANOVÁ M., JULÍNEK O., KOKOŠKA L., ŠLAPETOVÁ T., HOLUBOVÁ P., ZIMA A., DVORSKÁ M. (2008a) Antibacterial C-geranylflavonoids from Paulownia tomentosa fruits. Journal of Natural Products 71 (4): 706-709.
- TAIZ L., ZEIGER E. (2006) Plant Physiology. 4th edition. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland.
- TAKAHASHI K., NAKAGAWA T. (1966) Studies on constituents of medicinal plants. VII. The stereochemistry of paulownin and isopaulownin. *Chemical & Pharmacetical Bulletin (Tokyo)* 14 (6): 641-647.
- TAKAHASHI S., KINOSHITA T.K., TAKAHASHI M. (1994) Adenophostins A and B: potent agonists of inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor produced by Penicillium brevicompactum. Structure elucidation. *The Journal fo Antibiotics* 47 (1): 95-100.
- TAKEI K., SAKAKIBARA H., TANIGUCHI M., SUGIYAMA T. (2001) Nitrogen-dependent accumulation of cytokinins in root and the translocation to leaf: implication of cytokinin species that induces gene expression of maize response regulator. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 42 (1): 85-93.
- TAKEI K., TAKAHASHI T., SUGIYAMA T., YAMAYA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2002) Multiple routes communicating nitrogen availability from roots to shoots: a signal transduction pathway mediated by cytokinin. Journal of Experimental Botany 53 (370): 971-977.
- TAKEI K., YAMAYA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2004) Arabidopsis CYP735A1 and CYP735A2 encode cytokinin hydroxylases that catalyze the biosynthesis of trans-zeatin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279 (40): 41866-41872.
- TALLER B.J. (1994) Distribution, biosynthesis, and function of cytokinins in tRNA. In *Cytokinins: Chemistry, activity and function.* CRC Press, Boca Raton. Chapter 8, p. 101-112.
- TIAN H.Y., HE X., ZENG G.Y., TAN J.B, LI F.S., LIU G.R., TAN G.S., ZHOU Y.J. (2010) A new prenylated arylbenzofuran derivative from *Morus alba* L. *Chinese Chemical Letters* 21 (3): 329-331.
- TIELENS S., WYMEERSCH F., DECLERCQ H., CORNELISSEN M. (2008) Effect of 17beta-estradiol on the in vitro differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells into the osteogenic lineage. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology – Animal 44 (8-9): 368-378.
- TSAI Y.H., CHEN L.S., TSAI I.L. (2003) New long-chain esters and adenine analogs from the leaves of Formosan *Bridelia balansae*. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* 86: 2452-2457.
- TUNON M.J., GARCIA-MEDIAVILLA M.V., SANCHEZ-CAMPOS S., GONZÁLEZ-GALLEGO J. (2009) Potential of flavonoids as anti-inflammatory agents: modulation of pro- inflammatory gene expression and signal transduction pathways. *Current Drug Metabolism* 10 (3): 256-271.
- TUTIN T.G., HEYWOOD V.H. (1964) Flora Europeana. Volume 1. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- TYSZKA J.M., FRASER S.E., JACOBS R.E. (2005) Magnetic resonance microscopy: recent advances and applications. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 16 (1): 93-99.
- Vaňková R., Gaudinová A., Süssenbeková H., Dobrev P., Strnad M., Holík J., Lenfeld J. (1998) Comparison of oriented and random antibody immobilization in immunoaffinity chromatography of cytokinins. *Journal of Chromatography A* 811 (1-2): 77-84.

- VENKATESH K.P., CHAUHAN S. (2008) Mulberry: Life enhancer. Journal of Medicinal Plant Research 2 (10): 271-278.
- VERMEULEN K., STRNAD M., HAVLIČEK L., VAN ONCKELEN H., LENJOU M., NIJS G., VAN BOCKSTAELE D.R., BERNEMAN Z.N. (2002b) Plant cytokinin analogues with inhibitory activity on cyclin-dependent kinases exert their antiproliferative effect through induction of apoptosis initiated by the mitochondrial pathway: determination by a multiparametric flow cytometric analysis. *Experimental Hematology* 30 (10): 1107-1114.
- VERMEULEN K., STRNAD M., KRYŠTOF V., HAVLIČEK L., VAN DER AA A., LENJOU M., NIJS G., RODRIGUS I., STOCKMAN B., VAN ONCKELEN H., VAN BOCKSTAELE D.R., BERNEMAN Z.N. (2002a) Antiproliferative effect of plant cytokinin analogues with an inhibitory activity on cyclin-dependent kinases. *Leukemia* 16 (3): 299-305.
- VESELÝ J., HAVLÍČEK L., STRNAD M., BLOW J.J., DONELLA-DEANA A., PINNA L., LETHAM D.S., KATO J., DETIVAUD L., LECLERC S., MEIJER L. (1994) Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases by purine analogs. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 224 (2): 771-786.
- VICHASILP C., NAKAGAWA K., SOOKWONG P, SUZUKI Y, KIMURA F, HIGUCHI O, MIYAZAWA T. (2009) Optimization of 1-deoxynojirimycin extraction from mulberry leaves by using response surface methodology. *Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 73 (12): 2684-2689.
- VIK A., HEDNER E., CHARNOCK C., TANGEN LW., SAMUELSEN Ø., LARSSON R., BOHLIN L., GUNDERSEN L.L. (2007) Antimicrobial and cytotoxic activity of agelasine and agelasimine analogs. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 15 (12): 4016-4037.
- VOLLER J., ZATLOUKAL M., LENOBEL R., DOLEŽAL K., BÉRES T., KRYŠTOF V., SPÍCHAL L., NIEMANN P., DŽUBÁK P., HAJDÚCH M., STRNAD M. (2010) Anticancer activity of natural cytokinins: a structureactivity relationship study. *Phytochemistry* 71 (11-12): 1350-1359.
- WALDVOGEL S.R. (2003) Caffeine A Drug with a Surprise. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 42 (6): 604-605.
- WANG C.Y., HUANG H.Y., KUO K.L., HSIEH Y.Z. (1998a) Analysis of *Puerariae* radix and its medicinal preparations by capillary electrophoresis. *Journal of Chromatography A* 802 (1): 225-231.
- WANG J.P., TSAO L.T., RAUNG S.L., LIN C.N. (1998b) The signal transduction mechanism involved in kazinol B-stimulated superoxide anion generation in rat neutrophils. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 125 (3): 517-525.
- WANG X.M., TERASAKI P.I., RANKIN G.W., CHIA D., ZHONG H.P., HARDY S. (1993) A new microcellular cytotoxicity test based on calcein AM release. *Human Immunology* 37 (4): 264-270.
- WERNER T., KÖLLMER I., BARTRINA I., HOLST K., SCHMÜLLING T. (2006) New insights into the biology of cytokinin degradation. *Plant Biology* 8 (3): 371-381.
- WERNER T., MOTYKA V., LAUCOU V., SMETS R., VAN ONCKELEN H., SCHMÜLLING T. (2003) Cytokinindeficient transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants show multiple developmental alterations indicating opposite functions of cytokinins in regulating shoot and root meristem activity. *The Plant Cell* 15 (11): 2532– 2550.
- WERNER T., MOTYKA V., STRNAD M., SCHMÜLLING T. (2001) Regulation of plant growth by cytokinin. Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98 (18): 10487-10492.
- WERNER T., SCHMÜLLING T. (2009) Cytokinin action in plant development. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12 (5): 527-538.
- WESIERSKA-GADEK J., CHAMRAD I., KRYŠTOF V. (2009) Novel potent pharmacological cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Future Medicinal Chemistry* 1 (9): 1561-1581.

- WESTON S.A., PARISH C.R. (1990) New fluorescent dyes for lymphocyte migration studies: Analysis by flow cytometry and fluorescence microscopy. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 133 (1): 87-97.
- WILLIAMS R.J., SPENCER J.P., RICE-EVANS C. (2004) Flavonoids: antioxidants or signalling molecules? Free Radical Biology & Medicine 36 (7): 838-849.
- WILLOUGHBY R., SHEEHAN E., MITROVICH S. (1998) A global view of LC/MS: How to solve your most challenging analytical problems. Global View Publishing, Pittsburgh.
- WILSSON L. (1971) Observations and experiments on the ethology of the European beaver (*Castor fiber* L.). *Viltrevy* 8 (3): 115-266.
- WOLLENWEBER E., WELIDE R., CHRIST M., DORR M. (2008) Title: Surface flavonoids in Catalpa ovata, Greyia sutherlandii and Paulownia tomentosa. *Natural Product Communications* 3 (8): 1285-1287.
- XIAO C., LUONG J.H. (2010) A simple mathematical model for electric cell-substrate impedance sensing with extended applications. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 25 (7): 1774-1780.
- YAGI H., MATSUNGA S., FUSETANI N. (1994) solation of 1-methylherbipoline, a purine base, from a marine sponge, *Jaspis* sp. *Journal of Natural Products* 57 (6): 837-838.
- YAMADA H., SUZUKI T., TERADA K., TAKEI K., ISHIKAWA K., MIWA K., YAMASHINO T., MIZUNO T. (2001) The Arabidopsis AHK4 histidine kinase is a cytokinin-binding receptor that transduces cytokinin signals across the membrane. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 42 (9): 1017-1023.
- YANG Y., GONG T., LIU C., CHEN R.Y. (2010a) Four new 2-arylbenzofuran derivatives from leaves of Morus alba L. Chemical & Pharmacetical Bulletin (Tokyo) 58 (2): 257-260.
- YANG Y., ZHANG T., XIAO L., YANG L., CHEN R. (2010b) Two new chalcones from leaves of *Morus alba* L. *Fitoterapia* 81 (6): 614-616.
- YARMUSH M.L., WEISS A.M., ANTONSEN K.P., ODDE D.J., YARMUSH D.M. (1992) Immunoaffinity purification: Basic principles and operational considerations. *Biotechnology Advances* 10 (3): 413-446.
- YAZAKI K., SASAKI K., TSURUMARU Y. (2009) Prenylation of aromatic compounds, a key diversification of plant secondary metabolites. *Phytochemistry* 70 (15-16): 1739-1745.
- YONEKURA-SAKAKIBARA K., KOJIMA M., YAMAYA T., SAKAKIBARA H. (2004) Molecular characterization of cytokinin-responsive histidine kinases in maize: differential ligand preferences and response to ciszeatin. *Plant Physiology* 134: 1654-1661.
- YOSIEF T., RUDI A., STEIN Z., GOLDBERG I., GRAVALOS G.M.D., SCHLEYER M., KASHMAN Y. (1998) Asmarines A-C; Three novel cytotoxic metabolites from the marine sponge Raspailia sp. Tetrahedron Letters 39 (20): 3323-3326.
- ZAND R.S.R., JENKINS D.J.A., DIAMANDIS E.P. (2002) Flavonoids and steroid hormone-dependent cancers. Journal of Chromatography B - Analytical Technologies in Biomedical and Life Sciences 777 (1-2): 219-232.
- ZAVALA-SÁNCHEZ M.A., PÉREZ-GONZÁLEZ C., ARIAS-GARCÍA L., PÉREZ-GUTIÉRREZ S. (2009) Antiinflammatory activity of *Wigandia urens* and *Acalypha alopecuroides*. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 8 (21): 5901-5905.
- ZELENÝ V. (2005) Systematic botany for students of ITS and FAFNR. Czech University of Agriculture, Prague.
- ZHANG L.L., LIN Y.M. (2008) HPLC, NMR and MALDI-TOF MS analysis of condensed tannins from *Lithocarpus glaber* leaves with potent free radical scavenging activity. *Molecules* 13 (12): 2986-2997.
- ZRENNER R., STITT M., SONNEWALD U., BOLDT R. (2006) Pyrimidine and purine biosynthesis and degradation in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57: 805-836.

8. Supplements

The author's personal contribution to the papers listed below includes the work described and discussed in the section Results and discussion.

Supplement I

Madlener S., **Svačinová J.**, Kitner M., Kopecký J., Eytner R., Lackner A., Vo T.P.N., Frisch R., Grusch M., De Martin R., Doležal K., Strnad M., Krupitza G. (2009) In vitro anti-inflammatory and anticancer activities of extracts of *Acalypha alopecuroidea* (Euphorbiaceae). *International Journal of Oncology* 35 (4): 881-891.

Supplement II

Šmejkal K., **Svačinová J.,** Šlapetová T., Schneiderová K., Dall'Acqua S., Innocenti G., Závalová V., Kollár P., Chudík S., Marek R., Julínek O., Urbanová M., Kartal M., Csöllei M., Doležal K. (2010) Cytotoxic activities of several geranyl-substituted flavanones. *Journal of Natural Products* 73 (4): 568-572.

Supplement III

Svačinová J., Novák O., Lenobel R., Plačková L., Hanuš J., Strnad M., Doležal K. A new miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation from plant tissues using pipette tip solid-phase extraction (manuscript in preparation).

Supplement I

Supplement II

Supplement III

MADLENER S., **SVAČINOVÁ J.**, KITNER M., KOPECKÝ J., EYTNER R., LACKNER A., VO T.P.N., FRISCH R., GRUSCH M., DE MARTIN R., DOLEŽAL K., STRNAD M., KRUPITZA G. (2009) In vitro anti-inflammatory and anticancer activities of extracts of *Acalypha alopecuroidea* (Euphorbiaceae). *International Journal of Oncology* 35 (4): 881-891.

In vitro anti-inflammatory and anticancer activities of extracts of *Acalypha alopecuroidea* (Euphorbiaceae)

SIBYLLE MADLENER^{1*}, JANA SVACINOVÁ^{4*}, MILOSLAV KITNER^{4,8}, JIRÍ KOPECKY^{5,6}, RUTH EYTNER², ANDREAS LACKNER³, THAN PHUONG NHA VO¹, RICHARD FRISCH⁷, MICHAEL GRUSCH³, RAINER DE MARTIN², KAREL DOLEZAL⁴, MIROSLAV STRNAD⁴ and GEORG KRUPITZA¹

 ¹Institute of Clinical Pathology, ²Department of Vascular Biology and Thrombosis Research, ³Department of Medicine I, Institute of Cancer Research, Medical University of Vienna, Währinger Gürtel 18-20, A-1090 Vienna, Austria;
 ⁴Laboratory of Growth Regulators, Palacky University and Institute of Experimental Botany AS CR, Slechtitelu 11, 783 71 Olomouc; ⁵Institute of Microbiology, Laboratory of Algal Biotechnology, Opatovicky mlyn, 379 81 Trebon; ⁶Institute of Physical Biology, University of South Bohemia, 373 33 Nové Hrady, Czech Republic;
 ⁷Institute for Ethnobiology, Playa Diana, San José/Petén, Guatemala

Received March 26, 2009; Accepted May 25, 2009

DOI: 10.3892/ijo_00000403

Abstract. More than 60% of conventional drugs are derived from natural compounds, some of the most effective pharmaceuticals (e.g. aspirin, quinine and various antibiotics) originate from plants or microbes, and large numbers of potentially valuable natural substances remain to be discovered. Plants with considerable medicinal potential include members of the genus Acalypha. Notably, extracts of A. platyphilla, A. fruticosa, A. siamensis, A. guatemalensis and A. wilkesiana have been recently shown to have antioxidant, antimicrobial and cytotoxic effects. In the study presented here we investigated the anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative and proapoptotic activities of A. alopecuroidea, which is endemic in parts of Central America and is traditionally used by the Mopan- and Itza-Maya in the form of decoctions to treat skin conditions, and as a tea to treat stomach and urinary complaints. We demonstrate here that extracts of A. alopecuroidea can inhibit TNFa-induced E-selectin production, providing a mechanistic validation of its traditional use against inflammatory diseases. Furthermore, a fraction of A. alopecuroidea root extracts purified by solid phase extraction and separated

E-mail: georg.krupitza@meduniwien.ac.at

*Contribured equally

Present address: ⁸Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Palacky University, Slechtitelu 11, 783 71 Olomouc, Czech Republic

Key words: Acalypha alopecuroidea, cancer, anti-inflammatory activity, anticancer activity, MCF-7 cells, CEM cells

by HPLC displayed strong cell cycle inhibitory activity by down-regulating and inactivating two proto-oncogenes (cyclin D1 and Cdc25A), and simultaneously inducing cyclin A, thereby disturbing orchestrated cell cycle arrest, and thus (presumably) triggering caspase 3-dependent apoptosis. The results of this study indicate that there are high prospects for purifying an active principle from *A. alopecuroidea* for further *in vivo* and preclinical studies.

Introduction

There is increasing interest in traditional plant-based medicines (e.g. Ayurveda and traditional Chinese medicines) as potential sources of new anticancer drugs, partly because many conventional drugs originate from plant sources (1). For example, both ginger and an active principle obtained from it, [6]-gingerol, have been shown to have antibacterial and anti-angiogenic effects in vitro and in vivo (2). Further, plant extracts frequently contain various compounds, such as the polyhydroxyphenol gallic acid, that have high radical and/or reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavenging activities. These substances may have profound health effects, since radicals and ROS are capable of severely damaging proteins and nucleic acids, leading to cell or tissue injury. ROS are also involved in the development of inflammation, various cancers and several major degenerative diseases, such as arteriosclerosis, liver injury, Alzheimer's disease, diabetes, Parkinson's disease and coronary heart pathologies (3-5). We have previously shown that the radical scavenging properties of gallic acid make it an effective inhibitor of the enzyme ribonucleotide reductase (RR; EC1.17.4.1), which is frequently overexpressed in cancer cells and catalyses the rate-limiting step for dNTP synthesis and cell division (6).

Gallic acid and several other compounds (including geraniin, corilagin and cycloartane-type triterpenoids) obtained from various members of the genus *Acalypha* of the Euphorbiaceae (including *A. wilkesiana*, *A. hispidia* and *A.*

Correspondence to: Dr Georg Krupitza, Institute of Clinical Pathology, Medical University of Vienna, Waehringer Guertel 18-20, A-1090 Vienna, Austria

communis) have been isolated and shown to have biological activities (7,8). In addition, extracts of the Acalypha species A. platyphilla, A. fruticosa, A. siamensis, A. wilkesiana and A. guatemalensis have been recently shown to have antioxidant, antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities (9-13). These encouraging studies with various Acalypha taxa prompted the investigation reported here of the species A. alopecuroidea, which is endemic in parts of Central America and traditionally used (together with A. arvensis) by the Mopan- and Itza-Maya in the form of decoctions as washes to treat severe skin conditions (deep sores, ulcers, blisters, rashes, fungal infections and inflammations) and as teas (in large quantities per day) to treat stomach and urinary complaints (14). Hyper-proliferative disorders and cancer of the uterus are also treated by A. alopecuroidea decoctions. Interestingly, the extracts of foliage and twigs of A. arvensis have been found to be inactive towards colon cancer cells (15). In the investigation presented here we studied the anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic properties of fractionated A. alopecuroidea extracts. The findings show that extracts prepared from A. alopecuroidea roots were highly active against selected cancer cell lines.

Materials and methods

Plant material and chemicals. Acalypha alopecuroidea plants were collected in the Botanical garden of the Institute for Ethnobiology, Playa Diana, San José, Petén, Guatemala. The plants were mechanically cleaned and lyophilised at the Institute and samples were then imported from Guatemala into the Czech Republic and extracts of specific parts were produced, as described below, at the Laboratory of Growth Regulators, Palacky University, Olomouc. Glutaraldehyde (25%), SigmaFast-OPD, Hoechst 33258 and propidium iodide were purchased from Sigma.

Extract preparation. The plant material was divided into shoots, leaves and inflorescences, which were separately ground to a fine powder at laboratory temperature and homogenised. Portions of the ground roots (0.5 g), shoots (1.0 g), leaves (1.0 g) and inflorescences (0.5 g) were then extracted separately in 70% (v/v) ethanol and/or methanoltetrahydrofurane (MeOH:THF, 1:1). After 16 h (overnight) extraction at -20°C, the resulting homogenates were centrifuged (15,000 rpm, 4°C, 20 min), the sediments were re-extracted for 1 h in the same way, and centrifuged. The supernatants were pooled and dried in vaccuo at 35°C, then dissolved in 200 µl of methanol and 800 µl of 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 7.2). The cytotoxic activity of extracts was subsequently screened in Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays as described below. After screening the biological activity of extracts prepared from each of the plant parts using the two procedures, further analyses focussed solely on the root samples. For these assays each sample (5.0 g) was extracted in 40 ml of MeOH:THF (1:1) with 400 μ g/g dried weight of the antioxidant sodium diethyldithiocarbamate. After 16 h (overnight) extraction at -20°C, the homogenate was centrifuged (15,000 rpm, 4°C, 20 min), then the sediment was re-extracted for 1 h in the same way, centrifuged, supernatants were pooled and further purified by solid phase extraction, as described below.

Purification of root extracts by solid phase extraction (SPE). The extracts (from 5 g of each sample) were initially purified by passage through octadecylsilica columns (AccuBond SPE ODS-C18 cartridges, 500 mg/6 ml activated with 80% methanol) and concentrated to the aqueous phase by rotary evaporation in vaccuo at 35°C. The aqueous phase was diluted in 20 ml of ammonium acetate buffer (40 mM, pH 6.5) and purified by applying it to a DEAE-Sephadex (1.0x5.0 cm) column coupled to two octadecylsilica (Sep-Pak C18, 0.5x1.5 cm) cartridges in tandem. After washing the coupled columns with a further 10 ml of the ammonium acetate buffer the columns were decoupled, the reversed-phase Sep-Pak cartridges were separately washed with 10 ml of distilled water, and the compounds retained by each cartridge were eluted in 5 ml 80% (v/v) methanol. The buffer wash solution that passed through the columns and water used to rinse the Sep-Pak cartridges was pooled and designated fraction A, while the fractions eluting from the first Sep-Pak C18 cartridge (coupled to the DEAE-Sephadex column) and the second cartridge were designated fractions B and C, respectively. The DEAE-Sephadex column was then coupled to another Sep-Pak C18 cartridge and eluted with 10 ml of 6% HCOOH. Compounds retained on this cartridge were eluted in 5 ml of 80% (v/v) methanol (fraction E) after washing the column with 10 ml of water. The liquid (acidified water) which passed through, and water used to rinse this third Sep-Pak C18 was pooled and designated fraction D. A final fraction, designated fraction F, was prepared from the material that did not dissolve in the ammonium acetate buffer prior to purification. All six of these fractions (A-F) were evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator (UniEquip) and stored at -20°C until subsequent analysis.

High-performance liquid chromatography separation and fractionation. Fraction B had the strongest anticancer activity of fractions A-F according to Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays (see below). Therefore, this fraction was further purified by a preparative HPLC system-including Prep 100 HPLC pumps, a column thermostat and LabAlliance[™] gradient controller from Watrex, Prague, a DeltaChrom[™] processor and a Reprosil 100, C8 reversed-phase column (5 µm, 250x25 mm)linked to a diode array detector (DAD Agilent 1100) and ion trap mass spectrometer (MSD Ion Trap SL, Agilent). The column thermostat was set to 30°C, and injected samples were eluted using a linear methanol gradient rising from 70:30 to 0:100 water:methanol (v/v) over 30 min at a flow rate of 15 ml.min⁻¹. Twenty-seven one-minute fractions of the eluate were collected after the void fraction had cleared, each of which was evaporated to dryness in vaccuo, stored at -20°C, and its cytotoxicity was then tested in Calcein AM assays (following dilution just prior to the assays), as described below.

Cytotoxicity testing. The anticancer activity of the extracts and each of the fractions described above was assessed by measuring their cytotoxic effects on malignant human cancer cell lines in Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays in 96-well microtitre plates, as follows. Each of the fractions was dissolved in 1 ml of 20% methanol in 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 7.2) and six 3-fold dilutions were prepared. In addition, cultures of human breast adenocarcinoma MCF-7 and acute lymphoblastic leukemia CEM cancer lines (purchased from the

American Type Culture Collection, ATCC) were cultivated in DMEM medium (Gibco-BRL) supplemented with 10% (v/v) foetal bovine serum, L-glutamine (0.3 g/l), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2 to densities of ca. Cells/ml (1.25x10⁵) in wells of a 96-well plate. After 3 h of stabilization 20 µl portions of each of the tested fractions and extracts were added in triplicate at six concentrations ranging from 0.4 to 100.0 mg.well⁻¹ (5 g root extract) and from 0.08 to 20.00 mg.well⁻¹ (1 g root extract) of the original extract, respectively. The cells were then incubated at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ for three days, after which Calcein AM solution (Molecular Probes) was added for 1 h according to the manufacturer's instructions. The fluorescence of viable cells was quantified using a Fluoroscan Ascent (Labsystems) reader. Cytotoxic effective concentrations were calculated and expressed as IC_{50} values from dose-response curves. The IC50 value represents the quantity of the starting lyophilised plant material lethal to 50% of the cancer cells used.

CD62E (E-selectin, ELAM)-induction assays. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were isolated and cultured in M199 medium supplemented with 20% foetal calf serum (FCS), antibiotics, endothelial cell growth supplement and heparin as previously described (16). Each well of a 96well plate was coated with gelatine by applying 200 μ l of 1% gelatine for 10 min at room temperature. Outer wells (A1-A12, H1-H12, A1-H1 and A12-H12) contained only 200 $\mu l/$ well medium and served as an evaporation barrier. HUVECs $(1x10^4)$ were seeded in each of the other wells in 200 μ 1 medium and grown for 48 h to optimal confluence. Prior to treatment with plant extracts the cultivation medium was removed and collected in a reagent reservoir. Then, 100 µl medium was back-transferred to each well (no fresh medium was added, since that would have stimulated further growth of the HUVECs). Plant extracts (corresponding to 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, 3.0, 3.5 mg dried root weight per ml culture medium) were then added to the HUVEC-containing wells, in triplicate, and the cells were incubated with the extracts for an hour, after which 10 ng/ml TNFa was added per well to stimulate NF κ B, and thus CD62E. After a further 4 h incubation the levels of CD62E in each of the HUVEC-containing wells were determined by enzyme-linked activity assays (ELISAs) as described below.

Cell-surface CD62E ELISAs. The extract/fraction and TNF α treated HUVECs were washed once with PBS and fixed with 100 μ l 25% glutaraldehyde per well for 15 min at room temperature. The cells were then washed with 3x200 μ l PBS/ 0.05% Tween-20, blocked with 200 μ l 5% BSA/PBS for 1 h, and washed again 3 times with 200 μ l/well PBS/0.05% Tween-20. Then, anti-ELAM-antibody (clone BBA-1, R&D Systems) diluted 1:5,000 in 0.1% BSA/PBS (100 μ l/well) was added, the cells were incubated for a further hour at room temperature and subsequently washed 5 times with 200 μ l/well PBS/0.05% Tween-20. Goat anti-mouse-HRP conjugated antibody (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:10,000 in 0.1% BSA/PBS (100 μ l/well) was then applied, the cells were incubated for a further hour in the dark at room temperature for 1 h and, after decanting, washed 5 times with 200 μ l/well PBS/0.05% Tween-20. The HRP-activity of the cells in each of the wells was estimated using Fast-OPD (o-phenylene-diamine dihydrochloride) assays, as follows. An OPD tablet (silver foil) and a urea hydrogen peroxide tablet (gold foil, Sigma) were vortex-mixed in 20 ml H₂O until dissolved, then 200 μ l of the resulting substrate mixture was added to each well and the plates were incubated for 30 min in the dark. The reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l of 1 M H₂SO₂ per well and the absorbance was measured at OD_{492 nm} in a vertical spectrophotometer.

Proliferation assays. MCF-7 cells that had been transfected with mutant p53 cDNA (MCF-7^{mtp53}) using Lipofectamin 2000 (Invitrogen) and acquired specific resistance to AraC (17) or tamoxifen (Vo et al, unpublished) were grown in low glucose DMEM medium supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS, 1% each of penicillin and streptomycin, and 400 μ g/ml G418, at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2. The cells were then seeded at a density of $1x10^{5}$ cells/ml in 24-well plates and grown to 30% confluence. To determine its anti-proliferative effects on the cells, HPLC fraction B-25 (i.e. the 25th fraction collected from HPLC separations of fraction B, see above) at concentrations corresponding to 1.5 and 3.5 mg dried root weight per ml medium was then added to separate wells. After 24 and 72 h triplicates of treated MCF-7mtp53 cells were washed with PBS, trypsinised, and counted with a semi-automatic cell counter (Sysmex Corp., Japan). The degree of cell division inhibition was calculated in terms of numbers of cells in treated wells relative to controls, in percentages, as follows:

 $[(C_{72 h + drug} - C_{24 h + drug})/(C_{72 h - drug} - C_{24 h - drug})] x100 = \%$ cell division

 $C_{72\;h\,+\,drug}$... cell number after 72 h of drug treatment

 $C_{24 \; h \; + \; drug} \; ... \; cell \; number \; after \; 24 \; h \; of \; drug \; treatment$

 $C_{72 \ h \ \text{-} \ drug}$... cell number after 72 h without drug treatment

 $C_{24\,h\,\text{-}\,drug}$... cell number after 24 h without drug treatment

Determination of cell death by Hoechst 33258/propidium iodide (HOPI) double staining. Two types of cell lines (MCF-7 and HL60) were used in cell death assays, as follows. MCF-7 cells were seeded at a density of 1x10⁵ cells/ml in a 24-well plate (1 ml medium per well) and incubated as described above for 24 h. HL-60 promyeloic leukaemia cells, purchased from the ATCC, were grown in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS plus 1% penicillin and streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2, then seeded at a density of 1x10⁵ cells/ml in 25 cm² cell culture flasks (5 ml medium per flask). HPLC-fraction B-25, derived from SPE-purified fraction B of the MeOH:THF root extract (concentrations referring to dried root material per ml cell culture medium are given in the text and in respective figures) was then added, in a series of concentrations to triplicates of the HL60 and MCF-7 cell preparations, which were incubated for 72 and 120 h, respectively, at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Then, Hoechst 33258 and propidium iodide were added (to final concentrations of 5 and 2 μ g/ml, respectively) directly to the culture medium, and after further cultivation for 1 h the stained

Plant part	D.W. extracted (g)	Sample ext	traction procedure	IC ₅₀ (mg/ml) MCF-7	IC ₅₀ (mg/ml) CEM	
Roots	0.5	3594	70% EtOH	2.5	<0.4	
	0.5	3594K	MeOH:THF	1.1	0.9	
Leaves	1.0	3595	70% EtOH	7.9	2.3	
	1.0	3595K	MeOH:THF	2.7	1.0	
Inflorescence	0.5	3596	70% EtOH	3.2	1.2	
	0.5	3596K	MeOH:THF	3.6	1.2	
Stems	1.0	3597	70% EtOH	8.0	3.9	
	1.0	3597K	MeOH:THF	16.1	2.6	

Table I. Cytotoxic activities, towards MCF-7 and CEM cells, of extracts from indicated parts of *A. alopecuroidea* according to Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays.

Extracts in six 3-fold dilutions ($20 \mu l$) were added to wells containing $80 \mu l$ of MCF-7 and CEM cell cultures for 72 h. The number of viable cells in each well was then quantified using the Calcein AM method and IC₅₀ values were determined from dose-response curves. The IC₅₀ values in the table indicate the quantity (mg) of the lyophilised starting plant material per ml cell culture medium lethal to 50% cancer cells. MeOH, methanol; THF, tetrahydrofurane and D.W., dried weight in g.

cells were examined under a fluorescence microscope with a DAPI filter, photographed, analysed and counted.

FACS cell cycle distribution analysis. MCF-7^{mp53} cells were seeded in 6-well plates and incubated with portions of fraction B-25 corresponding to 3.5 mg dried root material/ml cell culture medium for 0.5, 2, 8, 24 and 48 h. The cells were then harvested, washed with 5 ml cold PBS, centrifuged (600 rpm for 5 min), re-suspended and fixed in 3 ml cold ethanol (70%) for 30 min at 4°C. After two further washing steps with cold PBS, RNAse A and propidium iodide were each added to a final concentration of 50 μ g/ml and incubated at 4°C for 1 h. The cell cycle distribution of the cells was then analysed using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) in conjunction with ModFit LT software (Verity Software House, Topsham, ME, USA).

Western blotting. MCF-7mtp53 cells were seeded in 6-well plates and HL60 cells were seeded at a density of 1x105 cells/ml in 25 cm² cell culture flasks. Both cell lines were incubated with portions of fraction B-25 corresponding to 3.5 mg dried root material/ml cell culture medium for 0.5, 2, 8, 24 and 48 h. Then the cells were harvested, washed twice with ice cold PBS, centrifuged at 1,000 rpm for 5 min, and finally lysed in a buffer containing 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (PMSF) and protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC; from a 100x stock). The lysates were subsequently centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C, and the resulting supernatants were stored at -20°C until further analysis. Equal amounts (validated by staining membranes with Poinceau S) of protein samples were separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) and electroblotted onto PVDF-membranes (Hybond, Amersham) overnight at 4°C. After washing with phosphate-buffered saline/Tween-20 (PBS/T, pH 7.2) or Tris-buffered saline/ Tween-20 (TBS/T, pH 7.6), membranes were blocked for 1 h in blocking solution (5% non-fat dry milk in PBS containing 0.5% Tween-20 or TBS containing 0.1% Tween-20). To visualise and evaluate protein and phospho-protein expression levels of selected cell cycle regulators and apoptosis effectors in the treated cells the membranes were each incubated with one of the primary antibodies listed below in blocking solution (dilution, 1:500-1:1,000) with gentle rocking at 4°C, overnight. The membranes were then washed with PBS/T or TBS/T and further incubated with a corresponding secondary antibody (peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG or anti-mouse IgG, dilution 1:2000-1:5000 in PBS/T or TBS/T) for 1 h. Antibodies directed against ph(Tyr15)-Cdc2, ph(Ser63)c-Jun, ph(Ser345)-Chk1, Chk1, ph(Thr68)-Chk2, caspase 3, caspase 7 and Chk2, were obtained from Cell Signaling, against ph(Ser177)-Cdc25A from Abgent, against cyclin D1, cyclin A, cyclin E, Cdc25A (F6), c-Jun, and PARP from Santa Cruz, and against Cdc2 and ß-actin from Sigma. Antimouse IgG was from Dako, and anti-rabbit IgG from GE-Healthcare. Chemiluminescence signals from the secondary antibody conjugates were generated and detected by an ECL detection kit (Amersham, UK) then membranes were exposed to Amersham Hyperfilm.

COX-2 inhibition assays. An ELISA kit supplied by IBL products (Hamburg, Germany) was used to determine COX-2 activities of cells treated with the B-25 fraction at a range of concentrations. This assay quantitatively determines prostaglandins F, E and D and thromboxane B-type prostaglandins produced in cyclooxygenase reactions. The measured COX-2 activities were then used to determine IC_{50} values, i.e. the concentration of the fraction that inhibited 50% of the COX-2 activity in the cells.

Statistics. Data regarding the activities of the extracts and fractions obtained from all of the experiments described above were analysed using GraphPad Prism 4.0 software.



Figure 1. (a) Inhibition of TNF α -induced E-selectin expression. HUVEC cells were pre-treated with MeOH:THF extracts of A. alopecuroidea roots in dilutions corresponding to 3.5, 3.0, 2.5, 2.0 and 1.5 mg/ml dried plant material for an hour, then incubated with 10 ng/ml TNF α for a further 4 h, after which their CD62E levels were analysed. Extract (3.0-3.5 mg/ml) suppressed TNF α -induced CD62E induction by ~50%. Error bars indicate SEMs and asterisks significant differences from controls at the 0.05 probability level. Experiments were performed in triplicate. (b) Analysis of *c-Jun* phosphorylation. HUVECs were pre-stimulated with 10 ng/ml TNF α for 10 min then incubated with MeOH:THF root extract at concentrations corresponding to 3.5 and 1.5 mg/ml dried plant material for another 60 min. Extract (3.5 mg/ml) prevented further Ser63-*c-Jun* phosphorylation by TNF α . B-actin was used as loading control.

Table II. Cytotoxicity of partially purified MeOH:THF extract fractions towards MCF-7 and CEM cells determined by Calcein AM assays.

Fraction	D.W. extracted (g)	IC ₅₀ (mg/ml)		
		MCF-7	CEM	
A	5.0	215.0	46.0	
В	5.0	127.5	15.3	
С	5.0	750.0	575.0	
D	5.0	>1000.0	750.0	
E	5.0	550.5	130.0	
F	10.0	1051.0	346.0	

Twenty microliter portions of fractions of the MeOH:THF root extract purified by C18-DEAE Sephadex-C18 chromatography were added in six 3-fold dilutions to wells containing 80 μ l of MCF-7 and CEM cell cultures for 72 h. The number of viable cells in each well was then determined using the Calcein AM method and compared to untreated controls. The numbers in the Table indicate mg amounts of dried roots per ml cell culture medium (mg/ml) which inhibit Calcein AM uptake by 50% (IC₅₀). D.W., dried weight in g.

Results

Cytotoxic activity of A. alopecuroidea extracts. The cytotoxic activities towards MCF-7 and CEM cancer cell lines of ethanol (70%, v/v) and methanol-tetrahydrofurane (MeOH:THF, 1:1) extracts of the roots, leaves, inflorescences and stems of *A. alopecuroidea* were initially examined in Calcein AM cytotoxicity assays. Generally the stem extracts were the least effective (Table I), and root extracts the most effective of the tested extracts, for which IC_{50} concentrations against the

CEM cell line were less than 0.4 mg/ml (70% ethanol extract) and 0.9 mg/ml (MeOH:THF extract), respectively. However, extracts of the leaves and inflorescence were also generally able to inhibit growth of all the cancer cell lines at low concentrations, the MeOH:THF extracts proving to be the most active in this respect (Table I). Further, the *A. alopecuroidea* root extracts were found to be strongly active against all of the tested cancer cell lines, especially those (such as the CEM cell line) bearing mutations and deletions affecting the expression of cell cycle-associated proteins. These findings indicate that root extracts are likely to be effective against tumours with various alterations of tumour suppressor genes such as p53 and pRb. Growth of the normal

Table III. IC_{50} values of selected HPLC factions obtained by separating SPE fraction B of the MeOH:THF root extract.

		IC ₅₀ (mg/ml)		
Fraction	Extracted from g dried roots	MCF-7	CEM	
B-6	1.0	>200.0	>200.0	
B-7	1.0	>200.0	89.0	
B-17	1.0	175.0	153.0	
B-25	1.0	32.0	12.0	
B-26	1.0	>200.0	73.0	

Twenty microliter portions of fractions of the HPLC-separated MeOH:THF root extract were added in six 3-fold dilutions to wells containing 80 μ l of MCF-7 and CEM cell cultures for 72 h, then the number of viable cells was determined using the Calcein AM method and compared to numbers in untreated controls. The numbers indicate the concentrations (in mg amounts of dried roots per ml cell culture medium) that inhibit Calcein AM uptake by 50% (IC₅₀).



mouse and human fibroblasts was not affected by at least at 10-fold higher concentrations (data not shown).

MeOH:THF extracts of A. alopecuroidea roots inhibit TNFainduced inflammatory responses. TNFa is a prominent inducer of inflammation (which plays an important role in the development of cancer and is generally prominent in both cancerous tissues and adjacent stroma) and is involved in the development of rheumatoid arthritis (18), Crohn's disease (19), psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (20). TNFa dysregulation and overexpression have also been found to increase the incidence of lung tumours (21) and liver metastases (22) in mouse models, and have been implicated in increased risks of the development of cervical neoplasia in papillomavirus 16-seropositive women (23). In addition, $TNF\alpha$ contributes to a variety of other human cancers (24) and targeted anti-TNF α therapy has proved to be effective in the treatment of renal cancer (25). TNF α induces NF- κ B and, thus, NF- κ B is also involved in inflammation and tumourigenesis. E-selectin (CD62E) is up-regulated by TNF α and NF- κ B (26,27), and is overexpressed in inflammatory tissues (28,29). Since A. alopecuroidea is used by the Maya as a remedy to treat inflammations we investigated the possibility that MeOH: THF extracts of the plants' roots may inhibit CD62E expression in TNFa-induced HUVEC cells, and found that they dose-dependently suppressed TNFa-induced CD62E induction (extracts corresponding to 3.0-3.5 mg dried root weight per ml medium inhibited CD62E induction by 50%; Fig. 1a). We also examined the phosphorylation state of serine 63 (Ser63) of *c-Jun*, which is enhanced in response to TNFα-treatment, in HUVECs incubated with and without TNFα and MeOH:THF extracts of A. alopecuroidea roots at two concentrations. The results show that TNFα-treatment strongly induced c-Jun(Ser63) phosphorylation (Fig. 1b), and



Figure 2. Inhibition of proliferation of MCF-7^{mtp53}, tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7^{mtp53}, and Ara-C resistant MCF-7^{mtp53} cells. MCF-7^{mtp53} (a), tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7^{mtp53} (b), and Ara-C resistant MCF-7^{mtp53} cells (c) were treated with fraction B-25 at concentrations corresponding to 1.5 and 3.5 mg/ml dried root material. After 24 and 72 h incubation cell numbers were counted, the percentage of proliferation inhibition was calculated and IC₅₀ values were determined. Error bars indicate SEMs and asterisks significant differences from controls at the 0.05 probability level. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

the *A. alopecuroidea* extracts also induced *c-Jun*(Ser63) phosphorylation at both tested concentrations, but only half as intensely as the TNF α -treatment. Co-treatment with TNF α increased the phosphorylation level in cells treated with extracts at a concentration equivalent to 1.5 mg dried root/ml, but not in those treated with 3.5 mg/ml. These findings imply that *A. alopecuroidea* extract dose-dependently inhibited TNF α -induced *c-Jun*(Ser63) phosphorylation, and thus its activation.

The inhibitory effects of *A. alopecuroidea* extracts on COX-2 enzymatic activity were also analysed in a COX-2 inhibition ELISA, because COX-2 (but not COX-1) has been shown to contribute to tumourigenesis. However, incubations with *A. alopecuroidea* MeOH:THF extracts with concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 3.5 mg/ml had no effect on COX-2 activity (data not shown). Thus, *A. alopecuroidea* did not inhibit COX-2-mediated effects, but interfered with the TNF α -induced inflammatory cell response *in vitro*. These findings provide mechanistic evidence for the empirical observation that *A. alopecuroidea* could be an effective remedy against severe inflammation.

Cytotoxic activities of A. alopecuroidea SPE-fractions derived from MeOH:THF root extracts. The A-F fractions of the MeOH:THF A. alopecuroidea root extract were tested for cytotoxicity towards selected cancer cell lines (MCF-7 and CEM). As shown by the data in Table II, fractions A (the buffer wash solution of the coupled DEAE-Sephadex and Sep-Pak C18 columns), B (the methanolic eluate of the 1st Sep-Pak) and E (the methanolic eluate containing substances flushed by 6% HCOOH from the DEAE-Sephadex column but retained by the third Sep-Pak C18) all showed significant cytotoxic activity towards the CEM line, with low IC₅₀ values, and weaker activity towards the MCF-7 line. In contrast, fractions C, D and F had almost negligible effects against the MCF-7 cell line and minimal effects on CEM cells. Therefore,

886

INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ONCOLOGY 35: 881-891, 2009



in further studies we solely used the most active fraction, B, obtained after partial purification of the MeOH:THF *A*. *alopecuroidea* root extract.

Cytotoxic activities of HPLC-separated fractions of the MeOH:THF fraction B A. alopecuroidea root extract. The cytotoxicity of one-minute HPLC fractions of fraction B of the MeOH:THF root extract were tested using the highly specific cytotoxic MCF-7 cell assay. As shown by the illustrative histogram in Table III, the strongest cytotoxicity peak (with respect to both cells lines) had a retention time of 25 min (fraction B-25) and a further, slightly weaker, activity peak was detected in fraction B-17 (Table III). B-26 and a more polar peak, B-7, also exhibited strong cytotoxicity towards the CEM cells, which seemed to be more sensitive than the MCF-7 cells. A few other fractions (e.g. B-6) also



Figure 3. Effects of fraction B-25 on cell cycling. MCF-7^{mip53} cells were treated with fraction B-25 at a concentration corresponding to 3.5 mg/ml dried plant material for 0.5, 2, 8, 24 and 48 h, then harvested for Western blot analyses of activation of the Chk-2 pathway and expression of selected cyclins. (a) Increasing levels of phosphorylation at Chk2-threonine 68 were observed with time, correlating with induced increases in phosphorylation, leading to cell cycle arrest. (b) Expression levels of the indicated cyclins. β-actin was used as a loading control. (c) MCF-7^{mip53} cells harvested at the all the time points mentioned above except 48 h were subjected to FACS analysis to investigate cell cycle phase specific inhibition. Fraction B-25 induced G1-G0 arrest in 70% of the cells after 24 h treatment. Error bars indicate SEMs and asterisks significant differences from controls at the 0.05 probability level. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

had weak activity, but most of them yielded IC_{50} values exceeding 200 mg/ml. Hence, fractions B-7, B-25 and B-26 were used in subsequent biological testing. Interestingly, B-25 showed comparable biological activity to fraction B of the MeOH:THF extract towards CEM, but not MCF-7 cells (cf. Tables II and III).

The Calcein AM cytotoxicity assay is based on the retention of the dye in vital cells, since the dye is washed out of dead cells, so it measures the combined effects of mortality and growth inhibition. To discriminate between the effects of A. alopecuroidea extracts on cell cycle machinery and cell death/apoptosis we analysed the cells at two time points at which information can be obtained on the relative proportions of cells affected in these ways. MCF-7 cells are particularly useful in this respect because apoptosis is not generally initiated in them until at least 72 h after drug treatment, thus any reductions in their numbers before this point (relative to controls) must be induced by cell cycle arrest. Hence, we distinguished cycle inhibitory effects of A. alopecuroidea from apoptotic and necrotic effects by calculating proliferation inhibition in the time window between 24 and 72 h of treatment (when no apoptotic phenotypes are observed), and determining levels of apoptosis after 120 h of treatment (as described in the Materials and methods section).

Fraction B-25 inhibits cell proliferation. To investigate the effects of fraction B-25 on cell proliferation, naïve MCF-7^{mtp53} and tamoxifen- and/or Ara-C- resistant MCF-7^{mtp53} cells were exposed to the fraction at a series of concentrations. The cell numbers were measured after 24 and 72 h of treatment and

887



the results were used to calculate the percentage inhibition of cell proliferation during this period, as described in Materials and methods. The concentration inhibiting cell proliferation by 50% (I_PC_{50}) ranged between 2 and 3 mg/ml (Fig. 2a-c), demonstrating that fraction B-25 suppressed cell division at approximately 10-15x lower concentration than the IC₅₀ cytotoxicity concentration determined by the Calcein AM assay (32 mg/ml; see Table III). However, unlike the MeOH: THF extract, fraction B-25 did not inhibit TNF α -induced CD62E expression (data not shown).

Fraction B-25 interferes with the expression of cyclins and activates the Chk 2 pathway. MCF-7mtp53 cells were incubated with the B-25 fraction at concentrations corresponding to 3.5 mg dried root material/ml cell culture medium for 0.5, 2, 8, 24 and 48 h. Phosphorylation levels of selected cell cycle regulatory proteins (checkpoint kinases 1 and 2, Cdc25A and Cdc2) were analysed by Western blotting after each of these times. Checkpoint kinase 2 (Chk2) is part of a DNA damagesensing mechanism that inactivates downstream cell cycle regulators, including the dual-specificity phosphatase Cdc25Awhich it phosphorylates at serine 177-following genotoxic stress (30-32). This results in cell cycle arrest, allowing DNA to be repaired or, if the damage is too great for repair, apoptosis to be initiated (33). B-25 treatment induced Chk2 phosphorylation within 2 h, peaking after 8 h, and thus increasing Ser177-Cdc25A phosphorylation. Due to the inactivating phosphorylation of Cdc25A phosphatase, the downstream target molecule of Cdc25A, Cdc2 (Cdk1), became hyper-phosphorylated at tyrosine 15 (also an inactivating phosphorylation), which inhibited cell cycle progression and



Figure 4. Cell death induction by B-25. (a) MCF-7^{mup53}, tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7^{mup53} and AraC-resistant MCF-7^{mup53} cells, and (b) MCF-7^{mup53} human breast cancer cells were seeded in 24-well plates and immediately treated with B-25 before cells could attach to the cell culture device, and incubated for 120 h at 37°C. (c) Human HL-60 promyelocytic leukemia cells were treated with fraction B-25 for 72 h. Then, cells were stained with Hoechst 33258/propidium iodide and evaluated by fluorescence microscopy. Error bars indicate SEMs and asterisks significant differences from controls at the 0.05 probability level. Experiments were performed in triplicate. The indicated amounts of fraction B-25 used in the tests correspond to the weight of dried roots in mg.

thus proliferation (34). Chk1 did not become phosphorylated (Fig. 3a).

B-25 also rapidly induced cyclin A expression (which facilitates G2/M transition) and repressed cyclin D1 (which is specifically involved in passage through G1; Fig. 3b). The expression of cyclin E was unchanged. FACS analysis showed that the proportion of cells in G2/M transition was reduced in B-25-treated MCF-7^{mtp53} cells (in accordance with cyclin A induction), while the proportion in the G1 phase was increased (in accordance with cyclin D1 repression and inactivation of Cdc25A; Fig. 3c), relative to controls.

Fraction B-25 induces chromatin condensation. Increasing concentrations of fraction B-25 corresponding to 3.5 and 35 mg dried root material/ml cell culture medium induced chromatin condensation (a typical feature of both type 1 and type 2 apoptosis) (35) in MCF-7mtp53 cells after 120 h of treatment. However, cell death was only elicited when fraction B-25 was administrated to detached MCF-7 cells (which readily detach after cell splitting); it did not trigger apoptosis when cells were already attached to the cell culture dish. These findings imply that anti-apoptotic survival signals, generated by cell attachment (e.g. integrins), interfered with the proapoptotic signal triggered by fraction B-25, reminiscently of classical anoikis type cell death induction (36,37). In chemoresistant MCF-7 clones death induction was further reduced (Fig. 4a). To test whether the weak apoptotic response was due to the p53 mutation, we examined the effects of B-25 on MCF-7 cells harbouring wild-type p53 (MCF-7^{wtp53}). The results showed that the presence of intact p53 did not increase the cells' sensitivity to B-25-induced apoptosis (Fig. 4b). Further, we investigated whether human HL-60 promyeloic leukemia cells, which are very sensitive to various apoptotic triggers, were also sensitive to B-25. HL-60 cells were exposed



Figure 5. After incubation of MCF-7^{mip53} cells (left images) and HL60 cells (right images) with fraction B-25 at a concentration corresponding to 3.5 mg/ml dried plant material cells were harvested and protein lysates were analysed by Western blotting. Left images: Increased levels of pre-activated Caspase 7 [b], but only minute levels of fully activated caspase 7 [c], were observed in MCF-7^{mip53} cells after 24 h of treatment. The non-active form of caspase 7 is indicated as [a]. Right images: High levels of activated caspase 3, but only minute levels of fully activated caspase 7 [c] were observed in MCF-7^{mip53} cells after 24 h of treatment. The non-active form of caspase 7 is indicated as [a]. Right images: High levels of activated caspase 3, but only minute levels of fully activated caspase 7 [c] were observed in HL-60 cells after 24 h. PARP was not cleaved to the 85 kDa fragment characteristically found in apoptotic events in MCF-7^{mip53} cells, but an 85 kDa fragment appeared in HL60 cells after 24 h of treatment. B-actin was used as loading control.

to B-25 and after 72 h a significant increase (40%) in numbers of apoptotic cells was observed (Fig. 4c). Thus, HL-60 cells are also sensitive to fraction B-25.

The possibility that fraction B-25 treatment may activate caspase 3 and caspase 7, and the cleavage of PARP, was investigated by applying it to HL-60 and MCF- 7^{mtp53} cells. Increased levels of pre-activation of caspase 7 were detected in MCF- 7^{mtp53} cells, which are caspase 3-deficient (Fig. 5a). However, full activation of caspase 7 was marginal and PARP, which is a direct target of caspase 7, did not become degraded to the 85 kDa fragment that is a hallmark of apoptotic cell death (38), while in HL-60 cells B-25 treatment activated caspase 3 after 24 h and PARP (also a target of caspase 3) was cleaved into the 85 kDa fragment (Fig. 5b).

Discussion

In this study potential medical uses of extracts of A. alopecuroidea, a member of the Euphorbiaceae family that is endemic in Central America, were investigated. Other Acalypha species have been recently shown to have antioxidant, antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities (10-13), and A. alopecuroidea is used in traditional Maya medicine to treat severe skin conditions, stomach, urinary and endometrial complaints (14). Since A. alopecuroidea is used against severe inflammation we tested the anti-inflammatory potential of extracts of the plant in vitro and obtained evidence that MeOH:THF root extracts inhibited TNFainduced E-selectin (CD62E) expression and c-Jun activation (phosphorylation) in HUVECs. Activation of c-Jun seems to play a role in hepatic inflammation (39) and is indicative of JNK2 signalling, which plays a role in arteriosclerosis (40). In contrast, COX-2, which is another mediator of inflammatory reactions, was not inhibited. This prompted us to investigate whether the tested extracts also have anticancer

properties, since anti-inflammatory formulations (both purified compounds and complex mixtures) can interfere with malignant cell signalling. It is also well known that chronic inflammation plays a critical role in cancer development.

According to this rationale we tested the properties of various *A. alopecuroidea* extracts and fractions, discovering that the MeOH:THF root extract, especially a specific HPLC fraction (designated B-25, see above), exhibited the strongest anti-proliferative activity towards both MCF-7 breast and CEM leukaemia cancer cells. However, it is worth noting that the B-25 fraction did not exhibit anti-inflammatory properties.

The inhibition of proliferation appeared to be mediated by down-regulation and inactivation of the positive cell cycle regulators cyclin D1 and Cdc25A, and thus Cdk1, thereby abrogating mitotic signalling. Cyclins are essential for the activity of cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks), which are ratelimiting for cell cycle progression. The D-type family of cyclins has been associated with a variety of proliferative diseases. Cyclin D1 appears in early G1 of the cell cycle and is required for the activation of Cdk4 and Cdk6 (41,42). Furthermore, cyclin D1 is frequently overexpressed in human neoplasias and has oncogenic effects (43). Therefore, suppression of cyclin D1 is a powerful measure to combat malignancies. Cyclin D1 was transiently down-regulated after treatment with the B-25 fraction, which caused G1/S arrest. In contrast, cyclin A was rapidly induced, accelerating G2/M transition. The only examined cyclin whose expression was not significantly changed by B-25 treatment was cyclin E.

Cdc25A is a phosphatase that plays an essential role in cell-cycle entry (G1/S), it is overexpressed in many human tumours and classified as an oncogene (34). Upon stress Cdc25A becomes inactivated by checkpoint kinases Chk1 or Chk2 (32,44). Fraction B-25 activated Chk2, thereby inducing Ser177-phosphorylation and inhibiting Cdc25A phosphatase activity. Consequently, the inhibitory phosphorylated form

of Tyr15-Cdk1, which is otherwise de-phosphorylated by Cdc25A (34), accumulated and thus inhibited cell cycle progression and cell proliferation.

Following chemotherapeutic treatment cancer cells frequently acquire both specific and non-specific drug resistance. Therefore, novel drugs are needed to provide further treatment options. Agents in the B-25 fraction may be potent candidates since the fraction inhibited the cell proliferation of chemoresistant MCF-7 clones (resistant to tamoxifen and AraC) with similar efficiency, a finding of high possible significance since breast cancer is the second most common type of cancer after lung cancer, globally accounting for 10.4% of all cancers in the total, male and female population, and the fifth most common cause of cancer death. Further, the ability of tumour cells to evade apoptosis is a major cause of the development and progression of cancer and plays a significant role in its resistance to conventional therapeutic regimens (45). Therefore, we examined the apoptosis-inducing properties of the B-25 fraction. The apoptotic response rate of MCF-7 clones was rather low. This was not due to the mutated p53 present in the MCF-7 clone panel (46), because MCF-7 cells expressing intact p53 responded similarly weakly. However, apoptosis was induced by fraction B-25 in HL-60 cells, which are also p53-negative. MCF-7 cells do not express caspase 3, instead caspase 7 is responsible for initiating apoptotic cell death. Interestingly, in MCF-7 cells caspase 7 was only weakly activated following B-25 treatment, whereas in HL-60 cells caspase 3 was strongly activated. This was most likely the reason for the differences in apoptotic effects between the two cell types. These results indicate that the B-25 fraction stimulated the pathway leading to caspase 3 activation, but not the pathway leading to caspase 7 activation. Analysis of caspase-specific proteolysis of PARP, which generates an 85 kDa cleavage fragment, supported this interpretation, because PARP was degraded in a caspase-typical manner in HL-60 cells, but not in MCF-7 cells. Nevertheless, the nuclear chromatin condensation was reminiscent of an apoptotic phenotype in B-25-treated MCF-7 clones. Thus, these findings indicate that substances present in fraction B-25 may also have potential value as apoptosis-inducing agents, at least in some cases.

In conclusion, A. alopecuroidea, which is used in traditional Maya medicine in Central America, especially a specific HPLC fraction of root extracts (designated B-25), contains a strongly cytostatic agent that targets cell cycle regulators and activates caspase 3-specific apoptosis. Therefore, further tests are required to identify and characterise the agent, which could be a potent lead for a new therapeutic drug.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Olga Hustáková for excellent technical assistance and Anton Jäger for preparing the figures. This study was supported by the Funds of the City of Vienna for Innovative Interdisciplinary Cancer Research, and the Hochschuljubiläumstiftung (to G.K.) and a grant (no. MSM 6198959216) from the Czech Ministry of Education.

References

- 1. Gilani AH and Rahman AU: Trends in ethnopharmocology. J Ethnopharmacol 100: 43-49, 2005
- 2. Kim EC, Min JK, Kim TY, Lee SJ, Yang HO, Han S, Kim YM and Kwon YG: [6]-Gingerol, a pungent ingredient of ginger, inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335: 300-308, 2005.
- Chapple IL: Reactive oxygen species and antioxidants in inflammatory diseases. J Clin Periodontol 24: 287-296, 1997.
 Benzi G and Moretti A: Are reactive oxygen species involved in
- Alzheimer's disease? Neurobiol Aging 16: 661-674, 1995.
- 5. Park SW, Kim SH, Park KH, Kim SD, Kim JY, Baek SY, Chung BS and Kang CD: Preventive effect of antioxidants in MPTP-induced mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 363: 243-246, 2004.
- 6. Madlener S, Illmer C, Horvath Z, Saiko P, Losert A, Herbacek I, Grusch M, Elford HL, Krupitza G, Bernhaus A, Fritzer-Szekeres M and Szekeres T: Gallic acid inhibits ribonucleotide reductase and cyclooxygenases in human HL-60 promyelocytic leukemia cells. Cancer Lett 245: 156-162, 2007.
- 7. Adesina SK, Idowu O, Ogundaini AO, Oladimeji H, Olugbade TA, Onawunmi GO and Pais M: Antimicrobial constituents of the leaves of Acalypha wilkesiana and Acalypha hispida. Phytother Res 14: 371-374, 2000.
- 8. Gutierrez-Lugo MT, Singh MP, Maiese WM and Timmermann BN: New antimicrobial cycloartane triterpenes from *Acalypha* communis. J Nat Prod 65: 872-875, 2002
- 9. Mosquera OM, Correa YM, Buitrago DC and Niño J: Antioxidant activity of twenty five plants from Colombian biodiversity. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 102: 631-634, 2007.
- 10. Mothana AR, Salah A, Abdo A, Hasson S, Faisal M, Althawab N, Sama A, Alaghbari Z and Lindequist U: Antimicrobial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activities and phytochemical screening of some Yemeni medicinal plants. eCAM Advance Access, 1-8, 2008.
- 11. Wiart C, Hannah A, Yassim M, Hamimah H and Sulaiman M: Antimicrobial activity of Acalypha siamensis Oliv. ex Gage. J Ethnopharmacol 95: 285-286, 2004.
- 12. Akinyemi KO, Oladapo O, Okwara CE, Ibe CC and Fasure KA: Screening of crude extracts of six medicinal plants used in South-West Nigerian unorthodox medicine for anti-methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus activity. BMC Complement Altern Med 11: 5-6, 2005
- 13. Navarro MC, Montilla MP, Cabo MM, Galisteo M, Cáceres A, Morales C and Berger I: Antibacterial, antiprotozoal and antioxidant activity of five plants used in Izabal for infectious diseases. Phytother Res 17: 325-329, 2003.
- 14. Arvigo R and Balick M: Rainforest Remedies. Lotus Press, Twin Lakes, WI, 1998. 15. Chapuis JC, Sordat B and Hostettmann K: Screening for
- cytotoxic activity of plants used in traditional medicine. J Ethnopharmacol 23: 273-284, 1988.
- Zhang JS, Nelson M, Wang L, Liu W, Qian CP, Shridhar V, Urrutia R and Smith DI: Identification and chromosomal localization of CTNNAL1, a novel protein homologous to alpha-catenin. Genomics 54: 149-154, 1998.
- 17. Maier S, Strasser S, Saiko P, Leisser C, Sasgary S, Grusch M, Madlener S, Bader Y, Hartmann J, Schott H, Mader RM, Szekeres T, Fritzer-Szekeres M and Krupitza G: Analysis of mechanisms contributing to AraC-mediated chemoresistance and re-establishment of drug sensitivity by the novel heterodinucleoside phosphate 5-FdUrd-araC. Apoptosis 11: 427-440, 2006.
- 18. Brennan FM and McInnes IB: Evidence that cytokines play a
- role in rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Invest 118: 3537-3545, 2008. 19. Ardizzone S and Bianchi Porro G: Biologic therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. Drugs 65: 2253-2286, 2005.
- 20. Victor FC, Gottlieb AB and Menter A: Changing paradigms in dermatology: tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) blockade in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Clin Dermatol 21: 392-397, 2003
- 21. Bernert H, Sekikawa K, Radcliffe RA, Iraqi F, You M and Malkinson AM: Tnfa and Il-10 deficiencies have contrasting
- effects on lung tumor susceptibility: gender-dependent modulation of IL-10 haploinsufficiency. Mol Carcinog 38: 117-123, 2003.
 22. Sturm JW, Magdeburg R, Berger K, Petruch B, Samel S, Bönninghoff R, Keese M, Hafner M and Post S: Influence of motion. TNFA on the formation of liver metastases in a syngenic mouse model. Int J Cancer 107: 11-21, 2003.

- 23. Ghaderi M, Nikitina L, Peacock CS, Hjelmström P, Hallmans G, Wiklund F, Lenner P, Blackwell JM, Dillner J and Sanjeevi CB: Tumor necrosis factor α-11 and DR15-DQ6 (B*0602) haplotype increase the risk for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in human papillomavirus 16 seropositive women in Northern Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 9: 1067-1070, 2000.
- Szlosarek PW and Balkwill FR: Tumour necrosis factor alpha: a potential target for the therapy of solid tumours. Lancet Oncol 4: 565-573, 2003.
- 25. Harrison ML, Obermueller E, Maisey NR, Hoare S, Edmonds K, Li NF, Chao D, Hall K, Lee C, Timotheadou E, Charles K, Ahern R, King DM, Eisen T, Corringham R, DeWitte M, Balkwill F and Gore M: Tumor necrosis factor alpha as a new target for renal cell carcinoma: two sequential phase II trials of infliximab at standard and high dose. J Clin Oncol 25: 4542-4549, 2007.
- 26. Rajan S, Ye J, Bai S, Huang F and Guo YL: NF-kappaB, but not p38 MAP kinase, is required for TNF-alpha-induced expression of cell adhesion molecules in endothelial cells. J Cell Biochem 105: 477-486, 2008.
- Nam NH: Naturally occurring NF-kappaB inhibitors. Mini Rev Med Chem 6: 945-951, 2006.
- Rossi B and Constantin G: Anti-selectin therapy for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets 7: 85-93, 2008.
- 29. Austrup F, Vestweber D, Borges E, Löhning M, Bräuer R, Herz U, Renz H, Hallmann R, Scheffold A, Radbruch A and Hamann A: P- and E-selectin mediate recruitment of T-helper-1 but not T-helper-2 cells into inflammed tissues. Nature 385: 81-83, 1997.
- Falck J, Mailand N, Syljuåsen RG, Bartek J and Lukas J: The ATM-Chk2-Cdc25A checkpoint pathway guards against radioresistant DNA synthesis. Nature 410: 842-847, 2001.
- Busino L, Chiesa M, Draetta GF and Donzelli M: Cdc25A phosphatase: combinatorial phosphorylation, ubiquitylation and proteolysis. Oncogene 23: 2050-2056, 2004.
 Karlsson-Rosenthal C and Millar JB: Cdc25: mechanisms of
- Karlsson-Rosenthal C and Millar JB: Cdc25: mechanisms of checkpoint inhibition and recovery. Trends Cell Biol 16: 285-292, 2006.
- 33. Chen CR, Wang W, Rogoff HA, Li X, Mang W and Li CJ: Dual induction of apoptosis and senescence in cancer cells by Chk2 activation: Checkpoint activation as a strategy against cancer. Cancer Res 65: 6017-6021, 2005.
- Ray D and Kiyokawa H: CDC25A levels determine the balance of proliferation and checkpoint response. Cell Cycle 6: 3039-3042, 2007.

- Hüttenbrenner S, Maier S, Leisser C, Polgar D, Strasser S, Grusch M and Krupitza G: The evolution of cell death programs as prerequisites of multicellularity. Rev Mutat Res 543: 235-249, 2003.
- Frisch SM and Screaton RA: Anoikis mechanisms. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13: 555-562, 2001.
- 37. Valentijn AJ, Zouq N and Gilmore AP: Anoikis. Biochem Soc Trans 32: 421-425, 2004.
- 38. Grusch M, Polgar D, Gfatter S, Leuhuber K, Huettenbrenner S, Leisser C, Fuhrmann G, Kassie F, Steinkellner H, Smid K, Peters GJ, Jayaram H, Klepal T, Szekeres T, Knasmüller S and Krupitza G: Maintainance of ATP favours apoptosis over necrosis triggered by benzamide riboside. Cell Death Differ 9: 169-178, 2002.
- 39. Zambon A, Gervois P, Pauletto P, Fruchart JC and Staels B: Modulation of hepatic inflammatory risk markers of cardiovascular diseases by PPAR-alpha activators: clinical and experimental evidence. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26: 977-986, 2006.
- 40. Johnson GL and Nakamura K: The c-jun kinase/stress-activated pathway: regulation, function and role in human disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773: 1341-1348, 2007.
- Parker MA, Deane NG, Thompson EA, Whitehead RH, Mithani SK, Washington MK, Datta PK, Dixon DA and Beauchamp RD: Overexpression of cyclin D1 regulates Cdk4 protein synthesis. Cell Prolif 36: 347-360, 2003.
 Nelsen CJ, Kuriyama R, Hirsch B, Negron VC, Lingle WL,
- Nelsen CJ, Kuriyama R, Hirsch B, Negron VC, Lingle WL, Goggin MM, Stanley MW and Albrecht JH: Short term cyclin D1 overexpression induces centrosome amplification, mitotic spindle abnormalities, and aneuploidy. J Biol Chem 280: 768-776, 2005.
- Moreno-Bueno G, Rodríguez-Perales S, Sánchez-Estévez C, Hardisson D, Sarrió D, Prat J, Cigudosa JC, Matias-Guiu X and Palacios J: Cyclin D1 gene (CCND1) mutations in endometrial cancer. Oncogene 22: 6115-6118, 2003.
 Agner J, Falck J, Lukas J and Bartek J: Differential impact of
- Agner J, Falck J, Lukas J and Bartek J: Differential impact of diverse anticancer chemotherapeutics on the Cdc25A-degradation checkpoint pathway. Exp Cell Res 302: 162-169, 2005.
- checkpoint pathway. Exp Cell Res 302: 162-169, 2005.
 45. Kasibhatla S and Tseng B: Why target apoptosis in cancer treatment? Mol Cancer Ther 2: 573-580, 2003.
- detailion: Not Canton ind 2: 075 305. 2007. Solority and Stanbridge EJ: DNA damage and p53-mediated cell cycle arrest: Areevaluation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 15209-15214, 1996.

Supplement I

Supplement II

Supplement III

ŠMEJKAL K., **SVAČINOVÁ J.,** ŠLAPETOVÁ T., SCHNEIDEROVÁ K., DALL'ACQUA S., INNOCENTI G., ZÁVALOVÁ V., KOLLÁR P., CHUDÍK S., MAREK R., JULÍNEK O., URBANOVÁ M., KARTAL M., CSÖLLEI M., DOLEŽAL K. (2010) Cytotoxic activities of several geranyl-substituted flavanones. *Journal of Natural Products* 73 (4): 568-572.

Cytotoxic Activities of Several Geranyl-Substituted Flavanones

Karel Šmejkal,^{*,†} Jana Svačinová,[‡] Tereza Šlapetová,[†] Kristýna Schneiderová,[†] Stefano Dall'Acqua,[§] Gabbriella Innocenti,[§] Veronika Závalová, ,[⊥] Peter Kollár,[⊥] Stanislav Chudík,[†] Radek Marek,^{II} Ondřej Julínek,[▽] Marie Urbanová,[∨] Murat Kartal,[△] Marek Csöllei,[†] and Karel Doležal[‡]

Department of Natural Drugs, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Palackého 1-3, CZ-612 42, Czech Republic, Laboratory of Growth Regulators, Palacký University and Institute of Experimental Botany, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Šlechtitelů 11, CZ-783 71 Olomouc, Czech Republic, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Padua, Via Marzolo 5, Padua, 351 31, Italy, Department of Human Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacey, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Palackého 1-3, CZ-612 42, Brno, Czech Republic, National Center for Biomolecular Research, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Kamenice 5/A4, CZ-625 00 Brno, Czech Republic, Department of Physics and Measurements and Department of Analytical Chemistry, Institute of Chemical Technology, Technická 5, CZ-166 28 Prague 6, Czech Republic, and Department of Pharmacognosy, Faculty of Pharmaco, Ankara University, 06100, Tandogan, Ankara, Turkey

Received October 24, 2009

Nine geranylated flavanones isolated from the fruits of *Paulownia tomentosa* (4-12) and two from the roots of *Morus alba* (13 and 14) were examined for cytotoxicity to selected human cancer cell lines and normal human fibroblasts. Cytotoxicity was determined in vitro using a calcein AM cytotoxicity assay. Cytotoxicity for the THP-1 monocytic leukemia cell line was tested using erythrosin B cell staining. The geranylated compounds tested were compared with the known simple flavanone standards taxifolin (1), naringenin (2), and hesperetin (3) and with the standard anticancer drugs olomoucine II, diaziquone, and oxaliplatin and the antineoplastic compound camptothecin, and showed different levels of cytotoxicity. The effects of structural changes on cytotoxic activity, including geranyl substitution of the flavanone skeleton and the oxidation pattern of ring B of the flavanones, are discussed.

Polyphenolic compounds occur in nature as secondary metabolites in many plant species. According to their basic skeleton, they can be divided into several categories with one common structural feature, namely, the presence of phenolic hydroxy groups. Aromatic organic acids, coumarins, phthalides, quinones, stilbenes, xanthones, and especially flavonoids are included.¹ The biological activities of plant phenols vary and are often modified by the presence of different substituents on the basic skeleton. One possible structural modification is substitution by a prenyl side chain.

Prenylated flavonoids resulting from the combination of the phenolic and terpenoid metabolic pathways are often the focus of phytochemists and experimental biologists because of their interesting chemical properties and biological activities. The structural characteristic of prenyl flavonoids combines the lipophilic properties of prenyl or geranyl side chains with the hydrophilicity of the phenolic skeleton. The type of prenyl substitution and other modifications affect the biological activity of modified phenolic compounds.²⁻⁴ Prenylated phenols can exhibit a broad spectrum of biological effects, including antioxidative, antiphlogistic, anticarcinogenic, and estrogenic properties, as described, for example, for the prenyl xanthones⁵ and for prenyl compounds isolated from hops.⁶ The ability of prenylated phenols to inhibit growth significantly or to induce cell death of bacteria and cancer cells arises from this wide spectrum of biological activities. The antibacterial activity of prenylated chalcones,⁸ prenyl flavonoids,⁹ or pterocarpans,¹⁰ the effect of prenylation on the cytotoxic potential of flavonoids,^{2,3,11,12} the cancer-related activities of prenylated phenols derived from hops,¹³ and the potent cytotoxic properties of prenylated stilbenes¹⁴ have been described previously. Due to the increasing interest in geranylated flavanones and their possible biological effects in cancer treatment and their antibacterial effects, we isolated eight geranylated flavanones (4-9, 11, and 12) from fruits of the Chinese medicinal plant Paulownia tomentosa Baill. (Scrophulariaceae).¹⁵ We isolated subsequently and identified another geranylated substance called schizolaenone C (10), previously detected only in the fruits of *Schizolaena hystrix* Capuron (Sarcolaenaceae), from *P. tomentosa.*¹⁶ Two *C*-geranyl flavanones (13 and 14) were obtained by HPLC fractionation of a root extract of *Morus alba* L. (Moraceae), as described in this work. On the basis of the analysis of spectroscopic data and comparison with published values, compound 13 was identified as kuwanon E.¹⁷ Compound 14, 4'-methoxykuwanon E, was isolated as a new compound.

On the basis of previous findings, the cytotoxicity of flavanones 4-14 was tested against five human cancer cell lines and on normal human fibroblasts using the calcein AM cytotoxicity assay. Cell viability and cytotoxicity were established also by staining THP-1 monocytic leukemia cells using erythrosin B. The cytotoxic effects were then compared with those of the known simple nongeranylated flavanones taxifolin (1), naringenin (2), and hesperetin (3), as well as the standard anticancer drugs olomoucine II, diaziquone, and oxaliplatin, and the antineoplastic lead compound camptothecin.

р

$HO \xrightarrow{O} \xrightarrow{R_1} R_2$ $R_5 \xrightarrow{OH O} R_1$								
	R ₁	R_2	R ₃	R_4	R_5			
1	OH	OH	OH	Н	Н			
2	Н	Н	OH	Н	Н			
3	Н	OH	OMe	Н	Н			
4	OH	OMe	OH	Н	geranyl			
5	Н	OMe	OH	Н	geranyl			
6	Н	OMe	OH	OMe	geranyl			
7	Н	OMe	OH	OH	geranyl			
8	Н	OH	OH	Н	geranyl			
9	Н	Н	OH	Н	geranyl			
10	н	OH	Н	OH	geranyl			

Results and Discussion

Compounds 4-9, 11, and 12 were isolated from *P. tomentosa* as reported recently,¹⁵ with compound 10 obtained as described in the Experimental Section. Compounds 13 and 14 were isolated as

10.1021/np900681y © 2010 American Chemical Society and American Society of Pharmacognosy Published on Web 03/01/2010

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: +420-541219751. Tel: +420-541562839. E-mail: karel.mejkal@post.cz.

[†] Department of Natural Drugs, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno.

^{*} Palacký University and Institute of Experimental Botany Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic.

[§] University of Padua.

 $^{^\}perp$ Department of Human Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno.

¹¹ Masaryk University.

⁷ Institute of Chemical Technology, Prague.

[△] Ankara University.

Cytotoxic Activities of Geranyl-Substituted Flavanones

Journal of Natural Products, 2010, Vol. 73, No. 4 569

brownish, amorphous powders from the CHCl₃ fraction of *M. alba* extract by exhaustive HPLC fractionation. Compound **13** was determined to be identical with a geranyl flavanone previously isolated from *M. alba* and assigned as kuwanon E.¹⁷ Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopic analysis and comparison with previous results were used to establish the absolute configuration at the C-2 stereogenic center of **13**.¹⁵ The absence of a Cotton effect for $n \rightarrow \pi^*$ electronic transitions at ca. 340 nm and for $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$ at ca. 290 nm led to the conclusion that **13** was obtained as a racemic mixture.

is a crucial structural requirement for the cytotoxic effect of flavanones on the cancer cell lines tested. Comparison of the EC_{50} values of compounds **5**, **11**, and **12** demonstrated that hydroxylation of the geranyl substituent in compounds **11** and **12** decreased the cytotoxic activity for all lines tested. A previous study has also shown reduced cytotoxicity for similar flavanone compounds with the *C*-geranyl side chain modified by hydroxylation.²⁵ The effect of the position of the *C*-geranyl group was clearly visible when the cytotoxicity of compounds **8**, **10**, **13**, and **14** was compared.



Compound 14 was isolated as a new compound, and its structure elucidation is described. The structure of compound 14 was determined to be 4'-O-methylkuwanon E. On the basis of HRAP-ITOFMS analysis ($[M - H]^{-} m/z 437.1867$), the molecular formula of 14 was established as $C_{26}H_{30}O_6$. Chemical shifts similar to those obtained for 13 were observed in the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of 14 (Table 1). However, several minor differences observed between 13 and 14 are highlighted below. In the ¹H NMR spectrum, a signal was detected for a methoxy group at C-4' (δ 3.73 ppm, 3H). The HMBC experiment confirmed the presence of this structural feature from interactions of C-4' with H-1" and CH₃O. The assignments of protons H-3 α and H-3 β were analogous to those obtained for compound **13** [H-3 α (*cis*): δ 2.62 ppm, J = 3.1 Hz; H-3 β (*trans*): δ 3.24 ppm, J = 12.8 Hz)]. A positive Cotton effect for the n $\rightarrow \pi^*$ electronic transition at ca. 330 nm and a negative Cotton effect for the $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$ electronic transition at ca. 290 nm were observed in the CD spectrum of 14. Therefore, a 2S configuration was assigned to this compound.15

Previous reports have described some effects of flavanones in the prevention of cancer development and their cytotoxicity for cancer cell lines.¹⁸ For *C*-geranyl compounds, for example, analysis of propolis from Taiwan and Brazil showed the presence of cytotoxic geranyl flavanones.¹⁹ Propolin C [a synonym for diplacon (**8**)] has been demonstrated to be cytotoxic to human melanoma cells and to be a potent trigger of apoptosis.¹⁹ Propolin H showed similar properties in a subsequent study by Weng et al.,²⁰ while propolin G induced apoptosis in brain cancer cell lines.²¹ A *C*-geranyl compound with an unsubstituted flavanone B-ring showed some activity against the human pancreatic cancer cell line PANC-1.²² Several geranyl flavanones isolated from hops induced apoptosis in the human Burkitt's lymphoma BJAB cell line.²³

Therefore, the flavonoid compounds isolated from *P. tomentosa* (4–12) and *M. alba* (13 and 14) were tested against seven different human cell lines: breast carcinoma (MCF-7), T-lymphoblastic leukemia (CEM), multiple myeloma (RPMI 8226 and U266), cervical cancer cells (HeLa), THP-1, a monocytic leukemia cell line, and a normal BJ fibroblast cell line. Six different concentrations of the compounds were used to obtain EC₅₀ values, which were comparable with previous results (Table 2).^{24,25} Evaluation of the EC₅₀ data showed that the geranylated derivatives exhibited significantly greater cytotoxicity than the corresponding simple flavanones. This suggests that the presence of a geranyl side chain

significant increase in activity was observed when the C-geranyl side chain occurred at position 6 on the A-ring (8 and 10), when compared to position 3' in the B-ring (13 and 14) of the flavanone skeleton.

The effect of the presence of a hydroxy group at position C-3 of ring C was compared for compounds **4** and **5**. The present results confirmed previous reports indicating that OH-3 substitution of flavanones reduces their cytotoxicity for almost all cell lines.²⁵ Consequently, the effect of substitution of flavanone ring B was compared for compounds **4**–**10**, **13**, and **14** on cancer cell cytotoxicity in order to investigate the differing sensitivities of the cell lines to the compounds. For the MCF-7 line, compounds **7** (OCH₃-3', OH-4', OH-5') and **10** (OH-3', OH-5') displayed the least potent cytotoxicity. The CEM line showed the highest sensitivity to **8** (3',4'-di-OH, EC₅₀ 3.2 μ M). This was followed by **9** (OH-4',

 Table 1. NMR Spectroscopic Data for Compound 14 at 303 K

position	$\delta_{ m C}$	$\delta_{\mathrm{H}}~(J~\mathrm{in}~\mathrm{Hz})$
2	73.9	5.61 dd (3.0, 12.7)
3	41.1	2.62 dd (3.1, 17.1)
		3.24 dd (12.8, 17.1)
4	196.6	
4a	101.7	
5	163.6	12.14 (OH)
6	95.8	5.86 dd (2.1, 4.5)
7	166.7	9.0 brs
8	95.0	5.86 dd (2.1, 4.5)
8a	163.3	
1'	115.9	
2'	153.9	9.0 brs
3'	99.0	6.47 s
4'	157.7	
OCH ₃ -4'	55.3	3.73 s
5'	119.7	
6'	127.6	7.11 s
1″	27.4	3.15 d (7.1)
2"	122.8	5.21 t (6.9)
3″	134.9	
4‴	15.9	1.64 s (CH ₃)
5″	39.2	1.99 m
6''	26.2	2.03 m
7″	124.1	5.06 t (6.9)
8″	130.7	
9″	17.5	1.53 s (CH ₃)
10''	25.5	1.59 s (CH ₃)

Table 2. Cytotoxic Activities of Simple and C-Geranyl-Substituted Flavanones Isolated from P. tomentosa and M. alba on Different Cell Lines^a

		cell line tested, EC_{50}^{b} [μ M]					
compound	MCF-7	CEM	RPMI8226	U266	HeLa	BJ	THP-1
5	<10	<10	<10	<10	9.2 ± 4.2	<10	<10
7	<10	<10	7.3 ± 2.4	5.5 ± 4.0	7.4 ± 8.0	4.7 ± 2.0	<10
8	<10	3.2 ± 2.3	<10	2.4 ± 5.8	<10	5.9 ± 1.9	<10
10	<10	<10	7.1 ± 0.7	1.9 ± 1.1	6.3 ± 0.5	7.5 ± 1.1	8.5 ± 2.9
olomoucine II	4.6 ± 3.8	8.1 ± 1.7	6 ± 2.5	7.2 ± 3.0	9.9 ± 2.2	5.4 ± 4.5	
diaziquone	4 ± 1.3	0.86 ± 0.7	3.4 ± 2.1	2.8 ± 2.9	6.4 ± 1.8	<10	
oxaliplatin	<10	1.2 ± 1.4	1.7 ± 6.4	<10	<10	<10	
camptothecin							0.16 ± 0.07

^{*a*} The calcein AM assay was used for MCF-7, CEM, RPMI8226, U266, HeLa, and BJ cells, and erythrosin B staining for THP-1 cells. The EC₅₀ values and corresponding SD were calculated from the dose–response curves of three independent measurements. Compounds with $EC_{50} > 10 \ \mu$ M (or $EC_{50} > 50 \ \mu$ M for THP-1) were not cytotoxic in the range of concentrations used in these cytotoxicity assays. ^{*b*} Compounds 1–4, 6, 9, and 11–14 were inactive ($EC_{50} > 10 \ \mu$ M) for all cell lines in which they were evaluated.

EC₅₀ 11.6 µM) and 10 (3',5'-di-OH, EC₅₀ 12.3 µM). Compound 8 showed a higher cytotoxicity than olomoucine II. For the RPMI 8226 cell line, the most cytotoxic were compounds 7 (OCH3-3', OH-4', OH-5', EC_{50} 7.1 μ M) and 10 (3',5'-di-OH, EC_{50} 7.1 μ M), which had a cytotoxicity similar to that of olomoucine II. Compounds 8 and 9, with 3',4'-di-OH and OH-4', respectively, exhibited EC₅₀ values close to 10 μ M. Three compounds, 7 (OCH₃-3', OH-4', OH-5'), 8 (3',4'-di-OH), and 10 (3',5'-di-OH), showed high cytotoxicity, with EC₅₀ values in the range 1.9–5.5 μ M for the U266 cell line. It is interesting to note that EC_{50} values of the standards were greater in this case. The HeLa cell line was the most sensitive of those used in the experiments, and compounds 5. 7, and 10 showed comparable activities to those of olomoucine II and diaziquone and greater activity than that of oxaliplatin. The BJ human fibroblast cell line was also used for testing; compounds 7, 8, and 10 showed the highest cytotoxicities, with EC_{50} values in the range 4.7 to 7.5 μ M, again comparable to those of the standards used.

For partial comparison, a different method based on erythrosin B staining was used on the monocyte THP-1 cell line. The antineoplastic compound camptothecin was shown to be more than 50 times as active as **10**, the most cytotoxic geranylated flavanone.

These results partially confirm the results published previously for the A2780 ovarian cancer cell line, for which compounds **8** and **9** showed EC₅₀ values of 10 and >10 μ M, respectively.¹⁶ In contrast, for the same cancer cell line, Murphy et al.²⁶ have reported EC₅₀ values for **8** and **9** of 5.5 and >10 μ M, respectively.

It may be concluded from the present data that selected *C*-geranyl flavanones show cytotoxic activity for cancer cell lines. The geranyl substituent is an important factor for flavanone cytotoxicity and should not be modified by hydroxylation. Compounds having a *C*-geranyl side chain attached to ring B of a flavanone skeleton showed less activity than those with the same chain on ring A. Evaluating the effect of B-ring substitution showed that mono- or dihydroxy substitution of flavanones (8–10) led to compounds with the most potent activities; strong cytotoxicity was also displayed by the dihydroxy methoxy-substituted flavanone 7. Comparison of cytotoxicity against normal cells and against cancer cell lines revealed a very narrow therapeutic window for all of the compounds tested.

Experimental Section

General Experimental Procedures. A JASCO P 2000 digital polarimeter (cell volume 1 mL, 10 cm) was used for optical rotation measurement. UV spectra of samples were recorded in MeOH on a Synergy HT multiplate reader. CD spectra were recorded on a JASCO J-810 spectrometer (MeOH; the molar elipticity θ_{λ} values are reported). IR spectra were determined using the ATR method on a Nicolet Impact 400D FT-IR spectrophotometer. NMR spectra were recorded using a Bruker Avance 300 spectrometer operating at frequencies of 300.13 MHz (¹H) and 75.48 MHz (¹³C). The spectra were measured in DMSO- d_6 or CDCl₃ at 303 K. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR chemical shifts (δ in

ppm) were referenced to the signals of the solvent [2.50 (1H) and 39.43 13 C) for DMSO- d_6 and 7.26 (¹H) and 77.00 (¹³C) for CDCl₃]. 2D NMR, gs-COSY, gs-HSQC, and gs-HMBC were used to assign the individual ¹H and ¹³C resonances. The HSQC experiment was adjusted for the coupling ${}^{1}J_{HC} = 150$ Hz and the HMBC experiment for long-range couplings of 7.5 Hz. ESIMS results for samples dissolved in MeOH were collected on an Agilent HP 1100 LC/MSD Trap VL Series, using direct infusion with a linear pump (K & D Electronics) at a flow rate of 300 μ L min⁻¹. The spectra were collected in the negative mode, with the nebulizing and drying gas N_2 (t = 300 °C) flowing at a rate of 10 L min⁻¹, a nebulizer pressure of 80 psi, and a capillary voltage of 3.5 kV. The full mass scan covered the range from m/z 200 to 1500. A Mariner PE Biosystem Workstation (Tekas) with APITOF was used to collect the HRMS. These spectra were collected also in the negative mode. An Agilent 1100 apparatus equipped with a diode-array detector was used for chromatographic semipreparative (Supelcosil ABZ+Plus, 250 mm \times 10 mm i.d., particle size 5 μ m) and analytical (Supelcosil ABZ+Plus, 150 mm \times 4.6 mm i.d., particle size 3 μ m) separation. Preparative HPLC was carried out on a LCP 4100 instrument, with loop injection of 100 µL, column block LCO 101, UV detector LCD 2084 (Ecom, CR), and column Supelcosil ABZ+Plus, 250 mm × 21.2 mm i.d., particle size 5 μ m.

The simple flavanones 1-3 were acquired from Sigma (Czech Republic). The purity of all compounds always exceeded 95%, as determined by analytical HPLC. The geranylated flavonoids 4-9, 11, and 12 used in the cytotoxicity testing were isolated from *P. tomentosa* according to the method described previously.¹⁵

Plant Material. The roots of *M. alba* (Moraceae) were collected in Konya, Turkey, in April 2007. A voucher specimen (MA-07A) was deposited at the herbarium of the Department of Natural Drugs, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic. The plant material was identified by Assoc. Prof. Murat Kartal (Faculty of Pharmacy, Ankara University, Turkey) and Assoc. Prof. Petr Babula (Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic). The fruit of *Paulownia tomentosa* was collected in the area of the University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic, during October 2004. A voucher specimen (PT-04O) has been deposited at the herbarium of the Department of Natural Drugs, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic, during October 2004. A voucher specimen (PT-04O) has been deposited at the herbarium of the Department of Natural Drugs, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences Brno, Brno, Czech Republic.

Extraction and Isolation. Schizolaenone C (10) was obtained from the MeOH part of fraction K (fraction 197–199)¹⁵ of the *P. tomentosa* extract, using flash chromatography and subsequent semipreparative HPLC. Flash chromatography of fraction K was carried out on silica gel Merck 60 (particle size 0.040–0.063 mm), the mobile phase was composed of C₆H₆–CHCl₃–MeOH (v/v/v, 5:85:10, with the addition of 0.1% HCOOH), and 150 mL fractions were collected. Fraction K-8, containing geranylated flavonoids, was subsequently separated by analytical and semipreparative HPLC. Fractions were collected on the basis of the UV detector response at $\lambda = 280$ nm. The identity of comparison of the ¹H and ¹³C NMR, HRMS, IR, and UV data with those in the literature.¹⁶

The dried root of *M. alba* (537 g) was crushed into small pieces and then extracted by maceration with ethanol (3×5 L). The dried ethanol extract (20 g) was dissolved in 90% MeOH (500 mL), and the

Cytotoxic Activities of Geranyl-Substituted Flavanones

resulting uniform suspension was extracted with 3×250 mL of hexane to remove strongly nonpolar compounds. One liter of water was added to the MeOH residue, and the resulting solution was extracted with CHCl₃ (3 \times 500 mL). The CHCl₃ extracts were combined and dried in vacuo to give a brownish mass (15 g). This was dissolved in a sufficient volume of MeOH and separated using reversed-phase preparative HPLC. The gradient elution used 0.2% HCOOH and a mixture of MeCN and MeOH, 8:2 (v/v) (A). The gradient of the mobile phase initially consisted of 20% A and reached 100% A in the 40th minute. Flow rate was 25 mL min⁻¹. Fractions were acquired according to the detector response ($\lambda = 280$ nm). After removing the organic solvent and precipitation, fractions with $t_{\rm R}$ of 22–23 and 26–27 min, respectively, yielded compounds 13 and 14 (138 and 182 mg, respectively).

Schizolaenone C (10): yellowish powder; UV (MeOH) λ_{max} (log ε) 340 (sh) (3.55), 285 (4.08), 235 (sh) (4.10), 210 (4.76) nm; ¹H and NMR data in accord with ref 16; HRAPITOFMS $[M - H]^{-} m/z$ 423.1789 (calcd for $C_{25}H_{27}O_6^-$ 423.1807); ESIMS $[M - H]^- m/z$ 423.5.

Kuwanon E (13): yellowish powder; UV (MeOH) λ_{max} (log ε) 331 (sh), 288 (4.26), 231 (sh), 201 (4.76) nm; ¹H and ¹³C NMR in accord with ref 17; ESIMS $[M - H]^{-} m/z$ 423.

4'-Methoxykuwanon E (14): brownish powder; $[\alpha]^{25}_{D}$ -14.8 (c 0.29, MeOH); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} (log ε) 201 (4.85), 224 (sh), 288 (4.36), 334 (sh) nm; CD (MeOH) θ_{331} +5904, θ_{291} -24 703, θ_{227} 10 595; IR (ATR) ν_{max} 3318, 2966, 2915, 1636, 1604, 1506, 1449, 1356, 1258, 1154, 1107 cm⁻¹; ¹H and ¹³C NMR data, see Table 1; ESIMS [M – $H]^{-} m/z$ 437; HRAPITOFMS $[M - H]^{-} m/z$ 437.1940 (calcd for C26H29O6-, 437.1964).

Calcein AM Cytotoxicity Assay. The cell lines used in the cytotoxicity assays, human breast carcinoma (MCF-7), human Tlymphoblastic leukemia (CEM), human multiple myeloma (RPMI 8226 and U266), human HeLa cervical cancer cells, and human normal fibroblasts (BJ), were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). The cells were grown on Dulbecco's modified Eagle's cell culture medium (DMEM, Gibco BRL) supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum, L-glutamine (0.3 g/L), 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. The cell cultures were maintained at 37 °C in a fully humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2. Cells were subcultured two or three times a week using a trypsinization procedure.2

To determine the anticancer potential of the individual compounds, their cytotoxic effect on the growth of malignant human cancer cell lines was determined by calcein AM cytotoxicity assays in 96-well microtiter plates. For cytotoxicity estimations, 100 mM stock solutions were prepared in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) from each compound and diluted to 15 mM with DMSO. Then, 8 µL of this solution was diluted in 232 μ L of distilled water just before use to obtain the first concentration (500 μ M) to be applied to the cell cultures. Starting with the 500 μ M concentration, six 3-fold dilutions of the intended test concentration (ranging from 2 to 500 μ M) were prepared by adding 160 μ L of distilled water to 80 μ L of the solution with the corresponding higher concentration. The cell suspensions were counted in a Bürker chamber, diluted in DMEM to an approximate density of 1.25×10^5 cells/mL, then placed into each well of a 96-well plate and stabilized for 3 h. Afterward, six serial 3-fold dilutions of the tested compounds were added to the appropriate microtiter plate wells already containing 80 µL of the cell suspension in 20 µL aliquots. Each concentration tested was added in triplicate; the highest final concentration in the wells was 100 μ M and the lowest 0.4 μ M. The final concentration of DMSO in the reaction mixture never exceeded 0.6%. After 72 h of incubation at 37 °C and 5% CO₂, the addition of 100 μ L of 2 μ M calcein AM solution (Molecular Probes) to the microtiter plate wells and incubation for 1 h resulted in the staining of viable cells. The fluorescence of these viable cells was measured and quantified at 485/538 nm (ex/em) using a Fluoroscan Ascent (Labsystems) reader. Each compound was characterized by an EC50 value, the concentration of the compound lethal to 50% of the tumor cells, as calculated from the dose–response curves obtained. Calculations were per-formed using MS Excel 2000.²⁷

Cellular Proliferation and Viability Assay. Human monocytic leukemia THP-1 cells were obtained from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC). These cells were routinely cultured in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin and streptomycin, at 37 °C with 5%

Journal of Natural Products, 2010, Vol. 73, No. 4 571

CO2. The compounds tested were dissolved in DMSO and added in five increasing concentrations to the cell suspension in culture medium. Subsequently, the cells were incubated for 72 h at 37 °C with 5% CO₂. The cell number and viability were determined following staining with erythrosin B (Sigma, Germany). The staining solution (0.1% erythrosin B (w/v) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.2-7.4) was mixed with an equal amount of cell suspension, and the number of viable and nonviable cells was counted manually using a hemocytometer and a light microscope. Cells that remained unstained were considered viable and light red cells as nonviable. The cytotoxic EC50 concentrations of the compounds tested were determined by combining the data from the equation generated by the KURV+ Version 4.4b software with statistical analysis using STAT+ software (used for the EC50 data derived from the values plotted on the graph). The two methods were compared, and the final EC₅₀ values obtained.

Acknowledgment. The authors would like to thank O. Hustáková for excellent technical assistance. This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education of the Czech Republic (MSM 6198959216 to J.S. and K.D. and MSM0021622413 and LC06030 to R.M.) and grant 522/08/H003 from the Czech Science Foundation.

Supporting Information Available: NMR spectra for compound 14 and table of HMBC and NOESY for this substance. This information is available free of charge via the Internet at http:// pubs.acs.org.

References and Notes

- (1) Bruneton, J. Pharmacognosy, Phytochemistry, Medicinal Plants, 2nd ed.; Intercept: London, 1999; p 227.
- Tashiro, M.; Suzuki, F.; Shirataki, Y.; Yokote, Y.; Akahane, K.; Motohashi, N.; Ishihara, M.; Jiang, Y.; Sakagami, H. Anticancer Res. 2002, 22, 53-58.
- Tashiro, M.; Suzuki, F.; Shirataki, Y.; Yokote, Y.; Akahane, K.; Motohashi, N.; Ishihara, M.; Satoh, K.; Sakagami, H. Anticancer Res. (3)2002, 22, 2185–2191.
- Shirataki, Y.; Motohashi, N.; Tani, S.; Sakagami, H.; Satoh, K.; Nakashima, H.; Mahapatra, S. K.; Ganguly, K.; Dastidar, S. G.; Chakrabarty, A. N. *Anticancer Res.* **2001**, *21*, 275–280. (4)
- (5) Peres, V.; Nagem, T. J.; De Oliveira, F. F. Phytochemistry 2000, 55, 683-710
- (6) Stevens, J. F.; Miranda, C. L.; Buhler, D. R.; Deinzer, M. L. J. Am. Soc. Brew. Chem. 1998, 56, 136–145.
 (7) Zanoli, P.; Zavatti, M. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2008, 116, 383–396.
 (8) Ávila, H. P.; Smânia, E.; de, F. A.; Delle Monache, F.; Smânia, A.,
- Jr. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2008, 16, 9790–9794.
 (9) Cushnie, P. T.; Lamb, A. J. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 2005, 26, 343–
- 356.
- (10) Rukachaisirikul, T.; Innok, P.; Aroonrerk, N.; Boonamnuaylap, W.; Limrangsun, S.; Boonyon, C.; Woonjina, U.; Suksamrarn, A. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2007, 110, 171–175.
- (11) Fukai, T.; Sakagami, H.; Toguchi, M.; Takayama, F.; Iwakura, I.; Atsumi, T.; Ueha, T.; Nakashima, H.; Nomura, T. Anticancer Res. 2000, 20, 2525–2536.
- Wätjen, W.; Weber, N.; Lou, Y.-J.; Wang, Z.-Q.; Chovolou, Y.; Kampkötter, A.; Kahl, R.; Proksch, P. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2007, (12)45. 119-124
- (13) Stevens, J. F.; Page, J. E. Phytochemistry 2004, 65, 1317-1330.
- Yoder, B. J.; Cao, S.; Norris, A.; Miller, J. S.; Ratovoson, F.; Razafitsalama, J.; Andriantsiferana, R.; Rasamison, V. E.; Kingston, D. G. I. J. Nat. Prod. 2007, 70, 342–346.
- (a) Šmejkal, K.; Grycová, L.; Marek, R.; Lemiere, F.; Jankovská, D.;
 Forejtníková, H.; Vančo, J.; Suchý, V. J. Nat. Prod. 2007, 70, 1244–1248.
 (b) Šmejkal, K.; Chudík, S.; Klouček, P.; Marek, R.; Cvačka, (b) Smejkal, K.; Chudik, S.; Klouček, F.; Marek, K.; Cváčka, J.; Urbanová, M.; Julinek, O.; Kokoska, L.; Slapetova, T.; Holubova, P.; Zima, A.; Dvorska, M. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2008**, *71*, 706–709.
 (16) Murphy, B. T.; Cao, S.; Norris, A.; Miller, J. S.; Ratovoson, F.; Andriantsiferana, R.; Rasamison, V. E.; Kingston, D. G. I. *Planta Med.*

- 53-66.
- (20) Weng, M.-S.; Liao, C.-H.; Chen, C.-N.; Wu, C.-L.; Lin, J.-K. J. Agric.
- (20) Wong, M. S., Elao, C.-H., Chen, C.-H., Wu, C.-L., Ehn, J.-K. J. Agric. Food. Chem. 2007, 55, 5289–5298.
 (21) Huang, W.-J.; Huang, C.-H.; Wu, C.-L.; Lin, J.-K.; Chen, Y.-W.; Lin, C.-L.; Chuang, S.-E.; Huang, C.-Y.; Chen, C.-N. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2007, 55, 7366–7376.

- (22) Win, N. N.; Awale, S.; Esumi, H.; Tezuka, K.; Kadota, S. *J. Nat. Prod.* 2007, *70*, 1582–1587.
 (23) Diller, R. A.; Riepl, H. M.; Rose, O.; Frias, C.; Henze, G.; Prokop, *A. Planta Med.* 2007, *73*, 755–761.
 (24) Phommart, S.; Sutthivaiyakit, P.; Chimnoi, N.; Ruchirawat, S.; Sutthivaiyakit, S. *J. Nat. Prod.* 2005, *68*, 927–930.
 (25) Šmejkal, K.; Babula, P.; Šlapetová, T.; Brognara, E.; Dall'Acqua, S.; Žemlička, M.; Innocenti, G.; Cvačka, J. *Planta Med.* 2008, *74*, 1488–1491.

- Šmejkal et al.
- (26) Murphy, B. T.; Cao, S.; Norris, A.; Miller, J. S.; Ratovoson, F.; Andriantsiferana, R.; Rasamison, V. E.; Kingston, D. G. I. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 417-419.
- (27) Kryštof, V.; McNae, I. W.; Walkinshaw, M. D.; Strnad, M. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 2005, 62, 1763-1771.

NP900681Y

Supplement I

Supplement II

Supplement III

Svačinová J., Novák O., Lenobel R., Plačková L., Hanuš J., Strnad M., Doležal K. A new miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation from plant tissues using pipette tip solid-phase extraction (manuscript in preparation).

A new miniaturized analytical approach for cytokinin isolation from plant tissues using pipette tip solid-phase extraction

Jana Svačinová^{a,1}, Ondřej Novák^{a,1,*}, René Lenobel^{a,b}, Lenka Plačková^a, Jan Hanuš^c, Miroslav Strnad^{a,b} and Karel Doležal^{a,b}

^aLaboratory of Growth Regulators, Faculty of Science, Palacký University & Institute of Experimental Botany AS CR, Šlechtitelů 11, CZ-783 71 Olomouc, Czech Republic; ^bCentre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research, Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Šlechtitelů 11, CZ 783 71 Olomouc, Czech Republic; ^cIsotope Laboratory, Institute of Experimental Botany ASCR, Vídeňská 1083, 142 20 Praha, Czech Republic.

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +420 585634859; fax: +420 585634870.

E-mail address: ondrej.novak@upol.cz (O. Novák).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract

We have developed a new analytical approach for the isolation and quantification of cytokinins (CK) in minute amounts of fresh plant material, which combines a simple one-step purification with ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography-fast scanning tandem mass spectrometry. For the first time, plant tissue samples (1-5 mg FW) were purified by stop-and-go-microextraction (StageTip purification), which previously has only been applied for clean-up and pre-concentration of peptides. We found that a combination of three sorbents, two reverse phases and one cationexchange phase, was the best tool in the new miniaturized one-step purification, giving a total extraction recovery higher than 80% for tritium-labelled standards. The process was completed by a single chromatographic analysis of a wide range of naturally occurring cytokinins (bases, ribosides, O- and N-glucosides, and nucleotides) in 24.5 minutes using an analytical column packed with sub-2-microne particles. In multiple reaction monitoring mode, the detection limits ranged from 0.05 to 5 fmol and the linear ranges for most cytokinins were at least five orders of magnitude. The accuracy and precision of the method was validated using samples spiked with 1pmol of authentic cytokinin standards. The StageTip purification was optimized using samples from 10-day-old Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings, roots and shoots where fifteen CKs were successfully determined in concentrations ranging from 0.2 to 65.8 pmol g⁻¹ FW.

Keywords

Arabidopsis thaliana, cytokinins, pipette tip solid-phase extraction, StageTip, tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UPLC)

1. Introduction

The plant hormone cytokinin (CKs) is essential to promote cell growth and differentiation in plant tissues in the presence of another phytohormone, auxin (Miller et al., 1955; Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006). Natural cytokinins are adenine derivatives, which are substituted at the N^6 position by either an isoprenoid or an aromatic side chain (Table 1). The presence of a hydroxyl group, double bonds and other structural variations affect cytokinin-receptor interactions and determine the functional specificity of individual CKs (Spíchal et al., 2004; Werner et al., 2009). Cytokinins occur in plants as free bases, nucleosides (ribosides), glycosides (*O*- and *N*-glycosides) and nucleotides. The occurrence, distribution and variation of individual CKs depends on plant species, tissue, and developmental stage (Mok et al., 2001; Sakakibara, 2006).

The analysis of cytokinins is difficult because of their presence in plants at very low concentrations (pmol·g⁻¹ fresh weight: Strnad et al., 1997; Baroja-Fernández et al., 2002; Novák et al., 2003; Stirk et al., 2003; Hauserová et al., 2005; Bairu et al., 2011). Therefore, isolation and quantification of endogenous levels of cytokinins from the complex multi-component plant matrix requires efficient, selective and sensitive analytical approaches. Modern analytical procedures for the determination of cytokinins consist of sample pre-treatment and subsequent instrumental measurement of individual CK metabolites (Tarkowski et al., 2009). Extraction of analytes from the plant material by an organic solvent such as Bieleski buffer (methanol/chloroform/water/formic 12/5/2/1) (Bieleski, 1964), 80% (v/v) methanol or modified Bieleski buffer acid. (methanol/water/formic acid, 15/4/1) (Hoyerová et al., 2006) is usually followed by solid-phase extraction (SPE) using reversed-phase, cation- and anion-exchange sorbents (Dobrev et al., 2002; Novák et al., 2003; Takei et al., 2003; Hoyerová et al., 2006). The SPE step effectively removes ultraviolet absorbing contaminants in cases in which the analytes have greater affinity for the solid phase than for the sample matrix (Nováková et al., 2009). The final step for isolation of biologically active compounds from plant extracts often involves an immunoaffinity chromatography (IAC), which provides selective sample enrichment and is required in cases when co-extraction of analytes at trace concentrations together with interfering substances at much higher concentrations is problematic (Yarmush et al., 1992; Hage et al., 1999; Hennion et al., 1999; Hennion et al., 2003). Antibodies against an analyte immobilized to a solid support bind the target molecule by specific non-covalent interactions. As a result, a highly purified cytokinin fraction free of contaminating sample constituents can be obtained (Hauserová et al., 2005; Novák et al., 2008). Nowadays, lower levels of naturally occurring cytokinins can be analysed as more powerful analytical instruments are being developed. As a result, during the last decade, the starting amount of plant material has decreased from gram- (1-5 g) to milligram quantities (50-100 mg). Miniaturized purification methods (Novák et al., 2008) are more efficient, less time consuming and cheaper in comparison with classical extraction approaches (van Rhijn et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2001; Novák et al., 2003). To minimize the required amount of biological tissues (<5 mg FW), the pipette tip SPE (PT-SPE) method is a useful tool for purification, concentration, and selective compound isolation. The PT-SPE method, in which chromatographic material is polymerized into pipette tips, is widely used in genomic, proteomic, metabolomic, pharmaceutical and biomedical applications (van Hout et al., 2001; Pluskal et al., 2002; Keough et al., 2002; Kumazawa et al., 2007). The so-called StageTip (STop And Go Extraction Tip) purification has been published as a simple and extremely economical approach to desalting, concentration, purification and pre-fractionation of proteins and peptides prior to LC/MS analysis (Rappsilber et al., 2003; Ishihama et al., 2006; Saito et al., 2006). StageTips are ordinary pipette tips containing very small disks made of beads with reversed-phase, cation-exchange or anion-exchange surfaces embedded in a Teflon mesh (Rappsilber et al., 2007). These self-made micro-tips combine flexibility, ease and speed of use, small bed volume and high loading capacity, and provide excellent recovery, high reproducibility, robustness and versatility for even minute amounts of analyte. A further advantage for sample preparation is that the one-time usage eliminates the risk of carryover (Rappsilber et al., 2007). However, no previous applications of PT-SPE for phytohormone analysis have been reported.

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) combined with mass spectrometric (MS) detection has become the main technique of choice in cytokinin analysis after pre-cleaning samples (Prinsen et al., 1998; van Rhijn et al., 2001; Novák et al., 2003). The introduction of ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UPLC), in which sub-2-microne particles (1.7 µm) of hybrid materials utilizing bridged ethyl/siloxane silica structures (BEH technology) are packed in a column, brought new improvements compared with HPLC in terms of separation efficiency, resolution, sensitivity, speed and sample throughput (Nguyen et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2007; Nováková et al., 2009). Fast chromatographic separation of complex samples and low concentration of analytes require a sensitive and selective MS detection. This can be achieved using a fast scanning tandem mass spectrometer (MS/MS) which provides a trace analysis of femtomolar concentrations. Novák et al. (2008) reported the application of a UPLC-MS/MS technique for 32 cytokinin derivatives pre-purified by SPE and batch immunoextraction procedures. The analytical approach was based on two baseline chromatographic separations using a short reversed-phase column (2.1×50 mm) and sensitive, accurate quantification by MS/MS in multiple reaction monitoring modes (MRM). The practical application of UPLC-MS/MS methods has also been reported for some other phytohormone groups (Hirano et al., 2007; Zentella et al., 2007; Kojima et al., 2009; Turečková et al., 2009).

The main aim of this study was further miniaturization of our current method of cytokinin isolation (Novák et al., 2008) with applicability to plant tissue samples weighing as little as 1-5 mg fresh weight. To achieve this, we have successfully optimized the purification step employing self-packed StageTips as a novel powerful PT-SPE approach to complex cytokinin analysis. Finally, we have developed UPLC-MS/MS methods requiring only a single chromatographic run. The improved method uses an efficient separation onto a C18 column packed with sub-2-microne particles, combined with sensitive fast scanning tandem mass spectrometric detection for measurement of naturally occurring isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites (bases, ribosides, *N*-glucosides and nucleotides).

2. Experimental procedures

2.1 Reagents and materials

Authentic and deuterium-labelled CK standards were obtained from Olchemim Ltd (Olomouc, Czech Republic). Tritium-labelled CK standards ([³H]*t*ZR, 0.851 TBq mmol⁻¹; [³H]*c*Z, 0.777 TBq mmol⁻¹; [³H]iPR, 1.184 TBq mmol⁻¹) with radiochemical purity >98% were synthesized in the Isotope Laboratory, Institute of Experimental Botany, AS CR (Prague, Czech Republic). Methanol (gradient grade), formic acid and ammonium hydroxide were from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany); chloroform, acetic acid and formic acid for LC/MS from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA); Murashige & Skoog medium from Duchefa Biochemie B.V. (Haarlem,The Netherlands); Empore[™] High Performance Extraction Disks (sorbent type C18, SDB-RPS and Cation-SR) from 3M Center (St. Paul, MN, USA). Deionised (Milli-Q) water was obtained from Simplicity 185 system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA) and scintillation cocktail Ultima Gold[™] was from Packard BioScence (Groningen, The Netherlands).

2.2 Biological material

Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings (ecotype Colombia) were grown *in vitro* in Petri dishes containing Murashige & Skoog medium including vitamins (4.4 g MS medium, 10 g of sucrose, 10 g of plant agar·l⁻¹, pH 5.7) at 23 °C in a 16 h photoperiod. 10-day-old seedlings, roots and shoots were harvested, weighed, immediately plunged into liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C.

2.3 Pipette tip SPE purification

2.3.1 Liquid microextraction

Bieleski buffer (60% methanol, 25% CHCl₃, 10% HCOOH and 5% H₂O) was used as extraction solvent (50 µl per sample). Tritium-labelled (10⁵ dpm) or unlabelled (1 pmol) cytokinin standards were added to the sample extracts during the method optimization to determine the recoveries of the StageTip purification procedure. To validate the quantification of the endogenous cytokinin levels in 10-day old *A. thaliana* seedlings, roots and shoots, the following stable isotope-labelled cytokinin internal standards (IS) were added as internal tracers at a concentration 0.5 pmol of each compound per 50 µl of Bieleski buffer: $[^{13}C_5]cZ$, $[^{13}C_3]tZ$, $[^{2}H_5]tZR$, $[^{2}H_5]tZ7G$, $[^{2}H_5]tZ9G$, $[^{2}H_5]tZOG$, $[^{2}H_5]tZROG$, $[^{2}H_5]tZMP$, $[^{2}H_3]DHZ$, $[^{2}H_3]DHZR$, $[^{2}H_3]DHZOG$, $[^{2}H_5]tZROG$, $[^{2}H_5]tZROG$, $[^{2}H_5]tZNG$, $[^{2}H_6]iPR$, $[^{2}H_6]iP7G$, $[^{2}H_6]iP9G$, $[^{2}H_6]iPMP$. The plant material was placed in 2.0 ml microcentrifuge tubes and extracted in Bieleski solvent using a MM 301 vibration mill (Retsch GmbH & Co. KG, Haan, Germany) at a frequency of 27 Hz for 3 min after adding 3 mm tungsten carbide beads (Retsch GmbH & Co. KG, Haan, Germany) to increase the extraction efficiency. The tube content was ultrasonicated for 3 min and then stirred for 30 min at 4 °C. After centrifugation (10 min, 15,000 rpm, 4 °C) the supernatants (50 µl aliquots) were immediately transferred onto StageTips and purified according to the following protocol.

2.3.2 Preparation of StageTips

The PT-SPE was performed in self-packed StageTips by placing a very small disk of matrix in an ordinary pipette tip. Commercially available matrix of poly-tetrafluoroethylene (PTFE, Teflon) containing reversed-phase octadecyl-bonded silica phase (C18) or poly(styrene-divinylbenzene) (SDB) copolymer modified with sulfonic acid groups to make it more hydrophilic (SDB-RPS Disk) was normally used. Alternatively, two ion-exchange sorbents including sulfonic acid as cation exchanger (Cation-SR Disk), or quarternary ammonium groups as anion exchanger (Anion-SR Disk), were also employed. The procedure shown in Supplement 1, was described by Rappsilber et al. (2003; 2007). Small disks (approximately 1.0 mm diameter, 0.5 mm thickness) were cut out manually from the Empore[™] High Performance Extraction Disk placed on a clean surface (Petri dish) using a hollow tool cutter (blunt-ended syringe needle). The cutter was gently pressed into the Empore disk and the material penetrated to the inside of the needle. Subsequently, the cutter was placed inside a pipette tip (disposable GELoader[®] Tip, 100 µl, from Eppendorf). The small disk was then released using a plunger (rod) that fitted into the needle (both parts from Hamilton Company, Reno, NV, USA) and pressed gently repeatedly into place using the weight of the plunger. After removing the cutter and plunger, the single-StageTip was finished. Additional disks were added the same way to produce combined multi-StageTips.

2.3.3 Sample purification using StageTips

The Empore sorbents were tested individually (C18, SDB-RPS, and Cation-SR) or in combination (C18/SDB-RPS, C18/Cation-SR, C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR). All solutions were loaded from the top of the tip in a volume of 50-100 μ l using a pipette. The prepared StageTip was inserted into a hole at the centre of the lid of the microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml) and placed in a centrifuge after solvent pipetting (Figure 1). The liquid was forced through the column by centrifugation of the StageTip at a rate and time depending on the solvent viscosity and buffer volume.

Prior to loading the sample the StageTip sorbents were activated with 50 µl isopropanol (by centrifugation at 3,500 rpm, 10 min, 4 °C) and equilibrated with 50 µl 50% MeOH + 2% FA (2,000 rpm, 15 min, 4 °C) and 50 µl Bieleski solvent (2,000 rpm, 15 min). Afterwards, the samples were loaded in extraction buffer (30 min, 1,500 rpm, 4 °C). The tips were washed using 50 µl methanol (15 min, 2,000 rpm, 4 °C) and elution of samples was performed with 50 µl of 0.5M NH₄OH in 60% MeOH (30 min, 1,500 rpm, 4 °C). Eluates were collected into new clean microcentrifuge tubes and directly mixed with scintillation buffer prior to measurement of radioactivity or evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator RC1010 (Jouan, Winchester, UK) and dissolved in 20 µl of mobile phase prior to UPLC-MS/MS analyses.

2.4 Instrumentation

The radioactivity of tritium-labelled cytokinin standards was measured after addition of 1 ml liquid scintillation cocktail Ultima Gold[™] on a multi-purpose scintillation counter LS 6500 (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA). An Acquity UPLC[®] System (Waters, Milford, MA, USA), including a Binary solvent manager and Sample manager was linked simultaneously to a 2996 PDA detector (Waters) and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer Xevo[™] TQ MS (Waters MS

Technologies, Manchester, UK) equipped with an electrospray interface (ESI) and the unique performance of a collision cell (ScanWaveTM). This hyphenated technique was used for analysis of unlabelled and stable isotope-labelled cytokinins. All MS data were processed by MassLynxTM software with TargetLynxTM program (version 4.2., Waters, Milford, MA, USA).

2.5 UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS conditions

Cytokinin derivatives were quantified according to the modified method described by Novák et al. (2008). The samples pre-purified on StageTips were dissolved in 20 µl of 10% methanol and 10 μl of each sample was injected onto a reversed-phase column (Acquity UPLC® BEH C18, 1.7 μm, 2.1×150 mm, Waters). The samples were eluted with a 24-min gradient composed of methanol (A) and 15 mM ammonium formate pH 4.0 (B) at a flow rate of 0.25 ml min⁻¹, column temperature of 40 °C and sample temperature of 4 °C. The following binary gradient was used: 0 min, 5:95 (A:B) - 7.0 min isocratic elution, 5:95 (A:B) - 9.0 min linear gradient, 20:80 (A:B) - 7.0 min linear gradient, 50:50 (A:B) – 1 min isocratic elution, 50:50 (A:B). At the end of the gradient the column was washed with 100% methanol and re-equilibrated to initial conditions (6 min). The effluent was passed through an ultraviolet-diode array detector (scanning range 200-400 nm, resolution 1.2 nm, sampling rate 5 points s⁻¹) and the tandem mass spectrometer Xevo TQ MS without post-column splitting. Selective multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode using mass-tocharge (m/z) transitions of precursor and product ions was performed under MS conditions optimized earlier (Novák et al., 2008) with few modifications: capillary voltage 0.35 kV; source/desolvation gas temperature 120/575 °C; cone/desolvation gas flow rates 70/1000 1 hr⁻¹; collision gas (argon) pressure/flow 5 10-3 mbar/0.2 ml min-1; LM/HM resolution 2.8/15.0; ion energy 1/2 1.0 V; entrance/exit voltages 0.5 V, respectively. The MS/MS parameters like dwell time (automatic mode for 16 scan points per peak), cone voltage (21-35 V) and collision energy (15-24 eV) were selected to maximize the sensitivity of exact diagnostic transitions. Quantification was conducted using TargetLynx[™] programs and a standard isotope dilution method. The calibration curves ranged 100 amol to 100 pmol were constructed by serial dilutions of the CK standards listed in Table 1 and the known concentration of the appropriate internal labelled standards. The ratio of endogenous cytokinin to the appropriate labelled standard was determined and further used to quantify the level of endogenous compounds in the original extract, according to a known quantity of an added internal standard (Novák et al., 2003).

2.6 Validation of the analytical procedure

To test the selectivity, affinity, and capacity of different StageTip sorbent combinations, samples containing ³H-labelled CK standards ([³H]*c*Z, ³H]*t*ZR, [³H]iPR) were used. Firstly, to characterize the potential sorbents (C18, SDB-RPS, and Cation-SR), the single-StageTip experiments were performed by pipetting 50 μ l of the selected ³H-CK standard (10⁵ dpm) in Bieleski buffer directly onto a PT-SPE column. Secondly, different combinations of sorbents (multi-StageTips) were tested using the same spiked Bieleski buffer with and without plant matrices (1.0 and 2.0 mg FW) to monitor the loading capacity and extraction recovery. For all samples, the yields of ³H-CKs after passage through StageTips filled with different sorbents and their combinations were determined.
Thirdly, non-spiked and spiked (with 1 pmol of unlabelled CK standards) samples of 10-day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings (1-5 mg FW) were used to verify the reproducibility, sensitivity and accuracy of the method. Aliquots of the extracts were processed using the developed purification procedure (Figure 1), then analyzed by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS. The recovery of added authentic cytokinin standards were then determined from each series of extracts, based on the amounts of endogenous compounds, calculated from non-spiked samples, which subsequently served as reference levels. Finally, the endogenous cytokinin levels were determined in samples of *A. thaliana* seedlings, roots and shoots (1.0, 2.0 and 5.0 mg FW of each sample type).

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Development of StageTip purification method

The optimization of homogenization, extraction and purification, critical and rate-limiting steps in the isolation of natural compounds, is particularly important for small sample sizes, where losses and cross-contamination must be reduced to a minimum. Self-made StageTips represent a miniaturization of the SPE, which was previously described as an extremely economical sample enrichment and pre-fractionation in proteomics (Ishihama et al., 2006; Saito et al., 2006). Here, we employed the PT-SPE method for the first time in a phytohormone analysis. The presented micropurification protocol (Figure 1) is based on the same principles as the SPE methods previously described for cytokinin purification (Novák et al., 2003; 2008). As well as the decreased amount of the SPE sorbent in the pipette tip, the solvent volumes required were significantly lowered and the sample size was reduced to only 1-5 mg fresh weight of plant material. Hence, homogenization and extraction with Bieleski buffer was done in one microcentrifuge tube and accelerated by crushing the plant material in a vibration mill as described by Novák et al. (2008). The aliquots extracted from 1 mg of fresh plant material in 50 µl of extraction buffer were immediately purified using the StageTips.

In SPE, results depend strongly on the physical-chemical properties of the analytes, as well as on the kind of sample matrix and the choice of sorbent which, can control parameters such as selectivity, affinity and capacity (Nováková et al., 2009). The characteristics of different sorbents can be determined by measuring the recovery of labelled standards, a mixture of which is added to the sample during the purification procedure. For this purpose, we chose the tritium-labelled cytokinins ([³H]*cZ*, [³H]*tZR*, or [³H]*iPR*) representing compounds with different polarities and retention times under our chromatographic conditions (Figure 3a). The charge on cytokinin molecules may be positive or negative depending on the pH (changes from pH<3 to pH>11 result in the charge becoming progressively more negative). Moreover, the presence of an N^6 -side chain adds hydrophobicity to molecules such as adenine (Dobrev et al., 2002). In the highly acidic extraction mixture, cytokinins should be predominantly presented as cations, and they should be completely retained on a cation-exchange sorbent from which they can be eluted with an alkaline solvent. The presence of an organic constituent in Bieleski buffer (60% MeOH) reduces the ability of non-polar compounds to be retained on a reversed-phase sorbent. These theoretical expectations were confirmed by a test using single-StageTips filled with different sorbents (C18, SDB-RPS, and Cation-SR). The recoveries of added ³H-CK standards (10^5 dpm) in Bieleski buffer applied onto microcolumns are summarized in Table 2. In agreement with our previous findings, the most hydrophobic cytokinin tested, iPR, was not retained at all on C18 sorbent following the direct application of 50 µl acidic extract. This illustrates that higher concentrations of organic solvent (in combination with acidic conditions) may influence the selectivity of octadecyl-bonded silica Empore Disks. A high loading capacity was observed while using the second reversed-phase sorbent (SDB-RPS) based on poly(styrene-divinylbenzene) copolymer, which retains analytes by different mechanisms such as hydrophilic, hydrophobic and π - π interactions (Qureshi et al., 2011). Moreover, the extraction recoveries were comparable to the cation-exchange sorbent (Table 2).

Due to our presumption of the strong matrix effect and the possibility of easy preparation of various multi-StageTips, we also tested the combination of reversed-phase and/or cation-exchange sorbents, C18/SDB-RPS, C18/Cation-SR, C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR, respectively. The PT-SPE purification procedure was optimized using two types of sample in quadruplicate: (i) samples containing one of the selected ³H-labelled standards (10^5 dpm) in extraction buffer; and (ii) A. thaliana seedling extracts prepared from 1.0 and 2.0 mg FW with added ³H-labelled cytokinin standards. For both sample types, the recoveries of ³H-CKs were determined (Figure 2). By utilizing different types of stationary phase, cations as well as hydrophobic compounds should be retained in accordance with results published by Dobrev et al. (2002) who developed a method for separation and purification of cytokinins from auxin and abscisic acid using commercially available mixed-mode SPE columns. As demonstrated in Figure 2, more cytokinin standards were recovered from the samples without added plant extract. The presence of plant matrix in the sample caused slightly decreased yields of the added CK standards; however the values were still close to 80%. The effect of plant matrix was also obvious from the correlation between the increasing sample weight and decreasing recovery values. Under our experimental conditions, all tested tritiumlabelled standards were eluted in the first elution step by 50 µl of 0.5M NH₄OH in 60% MeOH. For instance, the combination of C18/SDB-RPS sorbents used for the purification of spiked 1 and 2 mg plant extracts recovered 68 ± 2 % and 36 ± 1 % for [³H]cZ, 13 ± 1 % and 5 ± 1 % for [³H]tZR, 78 ± 1 4% and 70 \pm 2% for [³H]iPR, respectively (Figure 2a). Despite our reasoning and previous experience (Novák et al., 2003; 2008), the replacement of a polymer based sorbent (SDB-RPS) by cation-exchange phase (Cation-SR) in combination with plant matrices did not greatly improve the selectivity and retention of cytokinins on multi-StageTips (Figure 2b). Hence, the combination of all three sorbent types (C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR) in one multi-StageTip was examined and final recoveries for each of the tested ³H-CK showed the highest efficiency in the purification procedure (Figure 2c). Moreover, radioactivity of tritium-labelled CKs was measured continuously at different steps in the tested purification protocols (load, wash and elution) to monitor the loading capacity and extraction recovery (Figure 2d). For the definite StageTip configuration, the high selectivity and acceptable retention of all analytes were demonstrated by minute losses in the methanolic wash and second elution step, respectively. However, the losses of all ³H-CK standards in loading step depend on increasing sample amount and are in the range 7-31% and 21-53% of tritium-labelled CKs for 1.0 and 2.0 mg FW, respectively (see Figure 2d; Supplement 2). The results confirmed that the triple combination of sorbents in StageTips was the best tool in the new miniaturized one-step purification procedure. In conclusion, a total extraction recovery higher than

80% and reproducibility with an RSD of 10% (or less) was in good agreement with previously published data using PT-SPE for analysis of drugs in different biological matrices (van Hout et al., 2001; Kumazawa et al., 2007).

3.2 Development of the UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method

Introduction of ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) enabled high-speed analyses of an increased number of analytes with high efficiency compared to the previously used high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC: Nováková et al., 2006). Using UHPLC, the run time for the analysis of a mixture of cytokinin bases, ribosides and 9-glucosides was reduced 4times. The analysis of O-glucosides and nucleotides without the need for enzymatic treatment was possible with help of BEH column sorbent technology (Novák et al., 2008). A further improvement of the currently used methods described in this work was the direct estimation of all isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites (zeatin-, dihydrozeatin-, and isopentenyladenine-types) during a single UPLC-MS/MS analysis, without the necessity of enzyme treatment or separate analysis of Oglucosides and nucleotides. On the other hand, development of the new procedure, which includes only one-step high-throughput solid-phase extraction, also required the selection of appropriate analytical conditions for the separation of *cis*- and *trans*-zeatin isomers, their ribosides and nucleotides as well as N- and O-glycosides with identical precursor and basic product ions (Table 3). Other critical factors influence the accuracy and precision of quantitative MS detection. For instance, a signal for DHZ-type cytokinins in the mass spectra is still at least partially obscured by the second natural isotope (M+2) of cis/trans-zeatin derivatives. This phenomenon negatively affects the correct estimate of the natural cytokinins in different types of plant material with higher levels of zeatin metabolites and must be taken in account during the final calculation (Novák et al., 2003). Furthermore, the complex plant matrix, and presence of unidentified peaks in the individual mass chromatograms complicate the final high selectivity of tandem MS detection (van Rhijn et al., 2001). The effectiveness of the IAC to minimize the occurrence of interfering substances during isolation of CKs from plant tissue extracts has been described in previous studies (Novák et al., 2003; Hauserová et al., 2005). Due to simplification of the purification procedure, the IAC step was removed from the established purification protocol and replaced with the advantages of the UPLC-MS/MS technique, namely the higher separation efficiency and resolution of a UPLC system together with maximal selectivity and sensitivity of a tandem MS instrument (Figure 3).

The chromatographic conditions using methanol/15mM HCOOH (pH 4.0, adjusted by NH₄OH) for a fast cytokinin analysis were modified here to obtain the baseline separation of 25 isoprenoid N^6 -adenine isomers onto reversed-phase column (Table 3). As described by Van Deemter equations, the efficiency of the chromatographic process is proportional to a decrease in particle size (Nováková et al., 2006). Moreover, a change in column length can also increase the resolution of the critical pair of isomer peaks. We have tested three different BEH C18 column lengths, viz. 50 mm, 100 mm, and 150 mm. The shorter column was unable to resolve all the compounds of interest, especially the closely eluted pairs such as *cZ9G/tZOG*, *cZ/tZROG*, and DHZ/DHZOG (data not shown). The 150-mm long Acquity UPLC BEH C18 column provided an adequate separation of isoprenoid CK derivatives as well as aromatic cytokinins (benzyladenine-, topolin-,

and kinetin-types), Figure 3. With the optimized isocratic steps and programme of gradients, we obtained a separation with acceptable resolution for the twenty-five *cis/trans*-zeatin, dihydrozeatin, and isopentenyladenine standards, including baseline separation of all CK isomers with identical MRM transitions (Figure 3a). For example, glycosylated zeatin-types (*t*Z7G, *t*Z9G, *t*Z0G, *c*Z9G, and *c*Z0G) were subsequently eluted with different retention times (12.26 \pm 0.02, 14.23 \pm 0.02, 15.13 \pm 0.02, 14.83 \pm 0.03, 15.79 \pm 0.03 min), Table 3.

The higher efficiency of applied BEH technology using a long UPLC reversed-phase column was also demonstrated by the separation of racemic (±)-dihydrozeatin derivatives. Moreover, the (-)-antipode was isolated as a natural cytokinin from immature seeds of Lupinus luteus (Koshimiz et al., 1967). The different cytokinin activity of enantiomers of unnatural (R)- and naturallyoccurring (S)- configurations in dihydrozeatin and their ribosides was reported by Matsubara et al. (1977). Compared with a previously published LC method (Witters et al., 1999), N₇-substituted glucosides, (\pm)-DHZ7G, were baseline separated into two peaks with retention times of 13.80 \pm 0.02 and 14.13 \pm 0.02 min respectively (Figure 3a). Moreover, (\pm)-DHZOG and (\pm)-DHZROG were partially separated in 16.5 and 19.2 min, respectively, while (±)-DHZ, (±)-DHZR, and (±)-DHZ9G were still eluted as identical peaks. Possibly, changes in the orientation of the side chain resulting from N- or O-glycosyl substitution of the dihydrozeatins might interact differently with the stationary phase by the regular non-polar interactions with the aliphatic chains under the chromatographic conditions used. In Arabidopsis extracts, DHZ7G was identified as the peak with the highest intensity using the selective MRM transition (384.2>222.1) and comparing the retention time $(13.78 \pm 0.03 \text{ min})$ with injected standard (13.80 ± 0.02) under the same chromatographic conditions (Supplement 3). In accordance with our results and the published natural occurrence of (S)-(-)-dihydrozeatins, we proposed that the first separated peak was (-)-DHZ7G with (S)configuration. Moreover, we also confirmed the similar chromatographic behaviour for the other DHZ-O-glucoside derivatives. Finally, we compared the high resolution of the LC method with retention of the aromatic CK group, which is characterized by its higher hydrophobicity (Figure 3b). Under the optimized conditions, all bases, ribosides and 9-glucosides of ortho-, meta-, and *para*-topolins, as well as benzyladenine and kinetin with corresponding derivatives, were baseline separated. Although the final separation of seventeen aromatic cytokinins was not the main purpose of this work, the method we decribe here could be adapted for their analysis.

An additional issue which can further complicate the separation is that protonated CK metabolites ($[M+H]^+$) produce a typical fragmentation pattern after collision induced dissociation, characterised by the loss of the nucleosyl/glycosyl/nucleotyl group and the fragmentation of the N^6 -substituent for the aglycons (Table 3). Moreover, since an in-source fragmentation of ribosides occurs, the signal of the aglycone is obscured by the signal of its riboside in cases where they coelute (Tarkowski et al., 2010). In agreement with this observation, analogous in-source dissociations were observed for all CK derivatives. Therefore a separation with higher peak resolution was preferred to obtain accurate endogenous levels of free bases, nucleosides (ribosides), glycosides (N- and O-glucosides) and nucleotides. Taking all the above into account, the total run time of the UPLC method, including equilibration, was 30 min and might be acceptable for a routine single chromatographic analysis of 25 isoprenoid and 17 aromatic cytokinins in biological samples (Figure 3). Under these compromise conditions, the retention times for the monitored

compounds ranged from 12.0 to 24.5 min. Based on the excellent stability of the retention times, which ranged between 0.04% and 0.24% RSD (Table 3), the chromatographic run was split into five retention windows (11.0-13.0, 13.0-17.7, 17.7-20.0, 20.0-22.0, 22.0-24.5 min) which increased the sensitivity of the subsequent ESI-MS/MS measurements. Electrospray capillary and cone voltages were subsequently optimized to generate the required precursor ions in the positive ion mode and the collision energy was tuned to dissociate and produce characteristic fragments for each cytokinin. All precursor and product ions of unlabelled and labelled cytokinin types determined by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS as well as cone voltages (21-35 V) and collision energies (15-24 eV) corresponded with the previously published data (Novák et al., 2008).

Further improvement of our developed MS method might be achieved by utilization of Scanwave collision cell technology, which significantly enhances the signal intensity of full scan product ion spectra. In MRM mode, it acts as a conventional collision cell whereas in the second mode, called PIC (product ion confirmation), the front of the cell is used to fragment and accumulate ions whilst the rear of the cell mass selectively delivers ions to the second resolving quadrupole (Kenny et al., 2010). This approach allows rapid switching between both modes of operation, hence a simultaneous quantification and a sensitive MS/MS full scan data collection for structural confirmation are enabled (Figure 3d,e). Undoubtedly, use of the PIC mode amplifies the accuracy and precision of trace component analysis in a complex plant matrix. Therefore we have examined the sensitivity and usability of the PIC mode for quantitative analysis of cytokinin derivatives. Under applied MS conditions, the lowest measurable concentrations were close to 10 fmol for most of the cytokinins analyzed (Figure 3d,e). However, in this paper, the qualified cytokinin levels mainly varied between 0.1 and 10 fmol mg⁻¹ FW (Table 5) and the PIC scan could be used only for *t*Z7G and iP7G identification (data not shown). For these reasons, the usefulness of the PIC scanning mode is limited by amount of naturally occurring cytokinins in extracted samples.

3.3 Validation and application of the method

As mentioned above the purification steps in phytohormone analysis are the most important and most time-consuming parts of the sample preparation procedure. Extraction from minute amounts of plant tissue substantially reduces the matrix effect and minimizes the content of sample impurities. On the other hand, final quantities of analytes present in the sample are negatively influenced. Therefore both parts of the developed analytical approach (isolation and quantification procedures) have to be equiponderant. In the present study, the whole method was tested to examine the influence of the miniaturized one-step purification on subsequent UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis, again using the 10-day-old Arabidopsis seedlings.

In the first instance, for the improved UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method, the basic validation characteristics were calculated after repeatedly injecting solutions with varied concentrations of each unlabelled analyte and fixed concentrations of the corresponding IS. Limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ), based on 3:1 and 10:1 signal to noise ratios, ranged between 50 amol – 1 fmol and 100 amol – 5 fmol for all of the investigated analytes, respectively (Table 3). In accordance with our published fast UPLC-MS/MS method, the lowest LODs were obtained for DHZR and iPR (Figure 3c) as well as for DHZ9G and iP7G, respectively. The highest LODs for

cytokinin nucleotides correlated with the reduction in ionization efficiency associated with presence of phosphate groups on adenosine moiety (Berés et al., 2010). The calibration curves constructed from 14 points were obtained from separate injections of standard mixtures and gave a broader linear range, spanning at least four orders of magnitude. For most cytokinins, the response was linear up to 10 pmol injected with correlation coefficients (R^2) varying from 0.9983 to 0.9994 (Table 3). The use of UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method with Scanwave technology provided 5–25-fold greater sensitivity in MRM mode in comparison with previously published UPLC-MS/MS techniques (Novák et al., 2008; Kojima et al., 2009). The linearity of the method was also in a good agreement with that of other authors using mass spectrometry for cytokinin analysis (Prinsen et al., 1998; Novák et al., 2003; Nordström et al., 2004; Hussain et al., 2010).

For verification of the sample matrix effects, the efficiency of whole developed approach was evaluated by spiking A. thaliana seedling extract with authentic and stable isotope-labelled cytokinin standards, 1.0 and 0.5 pmol added respectively (Table 4). The capacity of the StageTip microcolumns to isolate cytokinins from plant extracts was tested by purification of three different amounts of fresh plant weight (1.0, 2.0 and 5.0 mg) in quadruplicates. Recoveries were calculated as a percentage of defined amounts added to the sample prior to the StageTip purification procedure (Figure 1). After the PT-SPE step followed by chromatographic separation and mass spectrometric quantitative measurement, recoveries of samples with plant matrices reached, on average, $77 \pm 17\%$, $46 \pm 17\%$ and $10 \pm 6\%$ for 1.0, 2.0, and 5.0 mg FW, respectively (Table 4). These data are consistent with results obtained from the preliminary experiment with ³H-labelled CK standards (Figure 2). The results showed the increasing amount of the applied sample tissues as the main limitation for using of the multi-StageTips as a high-throughput purification step. On the other hand, the yields for 1.0 mg indicated a 2-fold higher capacity of the SPE step than the previously published batch immunoextraction purification procedure, for which average values of 40% and 60% were found for isoprenoid and aromatic cytokinins, respectively (Novák et al., 2008). However, behaviour of the cytokinins during the PT-SPE procedure was also highly dependent on their structural modification (conjugation) (Table 4). This could be related to combination of two different mechanisms, the reversed-phase and cation-exchange, which are responsible for the retention of cytokinins on mixed-mode sorbents (Dobrev et al., 2002). Independently on sample size, the highest recovery of CK-bases was obtained, followed by a lower yield of N-glucosides, O-glucosides, and ribosides, respectively. The lowest recovery was determined for CK-nucleotides which are relatively polar molecules with possibility to have one positive and one negative charge (Béres et al., 2010).

The precision and accuracy of the method, expressed as relative standard deviation (RSD) and as percentage bias, respectively, were also determined using acquired data from the non-spiked and spiked samples. The cytokinin analytes were quantified by standard isotope dilution analysis (Rittenberg et al., 1940), and subsequently the detected amounts of endogenous compounds were subtracted and the values were finally averaged for each compound (Table 4). The mean precision was 11.2% (range 4.3–18.1% RSD), and the mean accuracy was 3.0%, ranging from -18.2 to 17.6% bias. In general, the precision and accuracy tended to become worse when higher amounts of plant tissues were applied onto StageTips. Similar to our results published for UPLC-ESI-MS/MS analyses of the different phytohormone groups (Novák et. al., 2008; Turečková et al.

2009), the acquired data showed that the variations in recoveries, validated by the internal standardization procedure, facilitated the detection of natural cytokinins within $\pm 20\%$ of the true amounts. Hence, accuracy of the developed analytical approach is satisfactory for determining these trace components in a complex plant matrix (van Rhijn et al., 2001).

Finally, the newly developed and validated micropurification procedure, linked to highly selective and sensitive MS detection, was applied for cytokinin isolation and analysis from the model plant A. thaliana. Addition of stable isotope-labelled standards as internal tracers during the extraction procedure allowed calculation of the intrinsic levels of isoprenoid cytokinins in minute amounts of 10-day old A. thaliana seedlings, roots and shoots (1.0, 2.0, and 5.0 mg FW). Fifteen isoprenoid cytokinin metabolites were detected and quantified in a single unique UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS run after microextraction and StageTip purification of the samples prepared in quadruplicates. In Table 5, the data are summarized as average values obtained for each tissue, recalculated per gram of fresh plant material. The detailed results for different sample loads of the extracted Arabidopsis roots and shoots as well as whole seedlings are presented in Supplement 4. Non-significant variations were seen in the estimated levels of the analytes which were on average 2.1(± 0.5)-fold and 5.7(± 1.6)-fold higher for 2 and 5 mg samples, respectively, compared with CK amounts in 1 mg FW. The results corroborate the consequence of using specific labelled analogues as recovery markers for each hormone metabolite measured (Chiwocha et al., 2003). In summary, the measured amount of CKs for all tested plant tissues varied between 0.15 to 65.76 pmol g^{-1} FW. The wide spectrum of cytokinins obtained from the seedling samples was consistent with previously published profiles (Novák et al., 2008). A similar pattern was found in the shoots and roots in agreement with Jones et al. (2010). The ratio between *cis*- and *trans*-zeatin-type CKs was similar to previously reported levels in the youngest leaves of A. thaliana (Gajdošová et al., 2011). In agreement with the results published by Riefler et al. (2006) and Werner et al. (2010), we have found the iP-type and *trans*-Z-type metabolites as the major cytokinins, comprising ca. 50% and 40% of the total CK content in A. thaliana tissues, respectively. Conversely, the different proportion of *cis*-Z-type CKs were found in the roots compared with CK profile in shoot samples analyzed (Table 5). Furthermore, the 7-glucoside forms, iP7G and tZ7G, were the most abundant CK metabolites in whole 10-day old seedlings as well as in shoot and root parts of the studied plants, followed by O-glucoside and 9-glucoside forms, which were present at approximately 10fold lower concentrations. In accordance with our findings, Gajdošová et al. (2011) noted the N- or O-glucosides as prevailing CK forms within more than 150 representative plant species analyzed. Moreover, the Arabidopsis roots contained higher (ca. 3-fold) levels of the bioactive CK forms (iP, tZR, cZR, DHZR, and iPR) than the shoots. Surprisingly, no endogenous CK nucleotides were detected in this experiment. This was caused by negative effect of low recovery of the PT-SPE step and higher LODs for these CK metabolites, as described above.

In addition, the results also showed that the MS signal acquired for each CK metabolite was proportional to the amount and the type of purified plant material (Figure 4). Both selected tissues, the root and shoot systems, represented the samples with different complexity, proportions of potentially interfering compounds, and concentrations of lipids and plant pigments. In relation to the increasing sample weight, the purification and analysis of the extracts resulted in more stable signal-to-noise ratio for the root extracts (Figure 4a,b,c) in comparison with decreasing signal intensity in

the shoot extracts (Figure 4d,e,f), respectively. This could be related to the higher presence of contaminants and impurities in some plant organs such as leaves, buds, stems, and flowers. Furthermore, the trends observed for recoveries of the internal standards added to the shoot samples (on average ca. 75% IS for 1.0 mg FW, 46% IS for 2.0 mg FW, and 16% IS for 5.0 mg FW recovered) agreed with our measured results for the spiked seedlings (Table 4). On the other hand, for *Arabidopsis* root extracts, the purification procedure yielded somewhat higher recoveries of ca. 98%, 58%, and 29% IS for 1.0 mg, 2.0 mg, and 5.0 mg FW, respectively. All data demonstrated that the effect of plant matrix grew rapidly with increasing amounts of plant tissues and showed the following progression among plant tissue types, seedlings > shoots >> roots. In conclusion, the advantages of using StageTip purification prior to MS analysis of CK derivatives, as well as other phytohormones, depend on the right choice of SPE sorbent used, in correlation with sample type, optimal amount of tissue extracted, and high sensitivity of the detection methods, respectively.

4. Conclusions

To our knowledge, this is the first time that a STop And Go Extraction Tip purification procedure has been described for the determination of biologically active compounds in plant extracts. The data presented in this study demonstrated that the most common problems in analysis of phytohormones, namely occurrence of the plant hormones in minute quantities together with large amounts of interfering compounds, can be solved by the application of a miniaturized purification method linked to the high separation efficiency and sensitivity of UPLC-MS/MS analysis. The combination of microextraction with one-step high-throughput solid-phase extraction in StageTips provides fast, effective and cheap sample purification prior to qualitative and quantitative measurements. The pipette tip SPE can be used not only for cytokinins, but after modification also for other phytohormones, depending on selectivity, affinity and capacity of the selected sorbents. The UPLC analysis presented in this work was developed to separate cytokinin metabolites, including CK bases, ribosides, N-glucosides, O-glucosides and nucleotides, in single chromatographic run in contrast to our previously published method. Furthermore, coupling with the fast scanning tandem mass spectrometer ensured sensitive and selective MRM detection of 42 cytokinins in 24.5 minutes. The applicability and reliability of this analytical approach was confirmed by method validation and successful analysis of 15 cytokinin metabolites in A. thaliana seedlings, roots and shoots (1-5 mg FW). Use of our procedure can allow the quantification of plant hormones in very limited amounts of material, and can be beneficial for samples such as root tips, meristems and embryos.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Petra Amakorová for her excellent technical assistance as well as Ota Blahoušek for his help with figure preparation. We are grateful to Prof David A. Morris for careful revision of the manuscript. This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (MSM 6198959216, 1M06030), the Grant Agency of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (KAN 200380801 and 522/08/H003) and grant No. ED0007/01/01 from the Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research.

References

- Bairu M.W., Novák O., Doležal K., Van Staden J. (2011) Changes in endogenous cytokinin profiles in micropropagated *Harpagophytum procumbens* in relation to shoot-tip necrosis and cytokinin treatments. *Plant Growth Regulation* 63 (2): 105-114.
- Baroja-Fernández E., Aguirreolea J., Martínková H., Hanuš J., Strnad M. (2002) Aromatic cytokinins in micropropagated potato plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 40 (3): 217-224.
- Béres T., Zatloukal M., Voller J., Niemann P., Gahsche M.C., Tarkowski P., Novák O., Hanuš J., Strnad M., Doležal K. (2010) Tandem mass spectrometry identification and LC-MS quantification of intact cytokinin nucleotides in K-562 human leukemia cells. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 398 (5): 2071-2080.
- Bieleski R.L. (1964) The problem of halting enzyme action when extracting plant tissues. *Analytical Biochemistry* 9 (4): 431-442.
- Chiwocha S.D.S., Abrams S.R., Ambrose S.J., Cutler A.J., Loewen M., Ross A.R.S., Kermode A.R. (2003) A method for profiling classes of plant hormones and their metabolites using liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry: an analysis of hormone regulation of thermodormancy of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) seeds. *Plant Journal* 35 (3): 405-417.
- Dobrev P.I., Kamínek M. (2002) Fast and efficient separation of cytokinins from auxin and abscisic acid and their purification using mixed-mode solid-phase extraction. *Journal of Chromatography A* 950 (1-2): 21-29.
- Gajdošová S., Spíchal L., Kamínek M., Hoyerová K., Novák O., Dobrev P.I., Galuszka P., Klíma P., Gaudinová A., Žižková E., Hanuš J., Dančák M., Trávníček B., Pešek B., Krupička M., Vaňková R., Strnad M., Motyka V. (2011) Distribution, biological activities, metabolism, and the conceivable function of cis-zeatin-type cytokinins in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, doi:10.1093/jxb/erq457.
- Hage D.S. (1999) Affinity Chromatography: A Review of Clinical Applications. *Clinical Chemistry* 45 (5): 593-615.
- Hauserová E., Swaczynová J., Doležal K., Lenobel R., Popa I., Hajdúch M., Vydra D., Fuksová K., Strnad M. (2005) Batch immunoextraction method for efficient purification of aromatic cytokinins. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1100 (1): 116-125.
- Hennion M.C. (1999) Solid-phase extraction: method development, sorbents, and coupling with liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* 856 (1-2): 3-54.
- Hennion M.C., Pichon V. (2003) Immuno-based sample preparation for trace analysis. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1000 (1-2): 29-52.
- Hirano K., Nakajima M., Asano K., Nishiyama T., Sakakibara H., Kojima M., Katoh E., Xiang H., Tanahashi T., Hasebe M., Banks J.A., Ashikari M., Kitano H., Ueguchi-Tanaka M., Matsuoka M. (2007) The GID1-mediated gibberellin perception mechanism is conserved in the lycophyte *Selaginella moellendorffii* but not in the bryophyte *Physcomitrella patens*. *Plant Cell* 19 (10): 3058-3079.
- Hout M.W.J. van, van Egmont W.M.A., Franke J.P., de Zeeuw R.A., de Jong G.J. (2002) Feasibility of the direct coupling of solid-phase extraction–pipette tips with a programmed-temperature vaporiser for gas chromatographic analysis of drugs in plasma. *Journal of Chromatography B* 766 (1): 37-45.
- Hoyerová K., Gaudinová A., Malbeck J., Dobrev P.I., Kocábek T., Šolcová B., Trávníčková A., Kamínek M (2006) Efficiency of different methods of extraction and purification of

cytokinins. Phytochemistry 67 (11): 1151-1159.

- Hussain A., Krischke M., Roitsch T., Hasnain S. (2010) Rapid determination of cytokinins and auxin in Cyanobacteria. *Current Microbiology* 61 (5): 361-369.
- Ishihama Y., Rappsilber J., Mann M. (2006) Modular Stop and Go Extraction Tips with stacked disks for parallel and multidimensional peptide fractionation in proteomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* 5 (4): 988-994.
- Jones B., Gunneras S.A., Petersson S.V., Tarkowski P., Graham N., May S., Doležal K., Sandberg G., Ljung K. (2010) Cytokinin regulation of auxin synthesis in Arabidopsis involves a homeostatic feedback loop regulated via auxin and cytokinin signal transduction. *Plant Cell* 22 (9): 2956-2969.
- Kenny D.J., Worthington K.R., Hoyes J.B. (2010) Scanwave: A new approach to enhancing spectral data on a tandem quadrupole mass spectrometer. *Journal of American Society for Mass Spectrometry* 21 (6): 1061-1069.
- Keough T., Lacey M.P., Youngquist R.S. (2002) Solid-phase derivatization of tryptic peptides for rapid protein identification by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 16 (11): 1003-1015.
- Koshimiz K., Matsubar S., Kusaki T., Mitsui T.: Isolation of a new cytokinin from immature yellow lupin seeds. *Agricultural And Biological Chemistry* 31 (7): 795.
- Kojima M., Kamada-Nobusada T., Komatsu H., Takei K., Kuroha T., Mizutani M., Ashikari M., Ueguchi-Tanaka M., Matsuoka M., Suzuki K., Sakakibara H. (2009) Highly sensitive and high-throughput analysis of plant hormones using MS-probe modification and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: an application for hormone profiling in *Oryza* sativa. Plant and Cell Physiology 50 (7): 1201-1214.
- Kumazawa T., Hasegawa C., Lee X.P., Hara K., Seno H., Suzuki O., Sato K. (2007) Simultaneous determination of methamphetamine and amphetamine in human urine using pipette tip solidphase extraction and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 44 (2): 602-607.
- Matsubara S., Shiojiri S., Fujii T., Ogawa N., Imamura K., Yamagishi K., Koshimizu K. (1977) Synthesis and cytokinin activity of (R)-(+)-dihydrozeatin and (S)-(-)-dihydrozeatin and their ribosides. *Phytochemistry* 16 (7): 933-937.
- Miller C.O., Skoog F., von Saltza M.H., Strong M. (1955) Kinetin, a cell division factor from deoxyribonucleic acid. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 77 (5): 1392.
- Mok D.W.S., Mok M.C. (2001) Cytokinin metabolism and action. *Annual Review of Plant Physology and Plant Molecular Biology* 52: 89-118.
- Nguyen D.T.T., Guillarme D., Rudaz S., Veuthey J.L. (2006) Fast analysis in liquid chromatography using small particle size and high pressure. *Journal of Separation Science* 29 (12): 1836-1848.
- Nordström A., Tarkowski P., Tarkowská D., Doležal K., Åstot C., Sandberg G., Moritz T. (2004) Derivatization for LC-electrospray ionization–MS: a tool for improving reversed-phase separation and ESI responses of bases, ribosides, and intact nucleotides. *Analytical Chemistry* 76 (10): 2869-2877.
- Novák O., Hauserová E., Amakorová P., Doležal K., Strnad M. (2008) Cytokinin profiling in plant tissues using ultra-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Phytochemistry* 69 (11): 2214-2224.

- Novák O., Tarkowski P., Tarkowská D., Doležal K., Lenobel R., Strnad M. (2003) Quantitative analysis of cytokinins in plants by liquid chromatography–single-quadrupole mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 480 (2): 207-218.
- Nováková L., Matysová M., Solich P. (2006) Advantages of application of UPLC in pharmaceutical analysis. *Talanta* 68 (1): 908-918.
- Nováková L., Vlčková H. (2009) A review of current trends and advances in modern bio-analytical methods: chromatography and sample preparation. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 656 (1-2): 8-35.
- Pluskal M.G., Bogdanova A., Lopez M., Gutierrez S., Pitt A.M. (2002) Multiwell in-gel protein digestion and microscale sample preparation for protein identification by mass spectrometry. *Proteomics* 2 (2): 145–150.
- Prinsen E., Van Dongen W., Esmans E.L., Van Onckelen H.A. (1998) Micro and capillary liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: a new dimension in phytohormone research. *Journal of Chromatography A* 826 (1): 25-37.
- Qureshi M.N., Stecher G., Huck C., Bonn G.K. (2011) Preparation of polymer based sorbents for solid phase extraction of polyphenolic compounds. *Central European Journal of Chemistry* 9 (2): 206-212.
- Rappsilber J., Mann M., Ishihama Y. (2003) Stop and Go Extraction Tips for matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization, nanoelectrospray, and LC/MS sample pretreatment in proteomics. *Analytical Chemistry* 75 (3): 663-670.
- Rappsilber J., Mann M., Ishihama Y. (2007) Protocol for micro-purification, enrichment, prefractionation and storage of peptides for proteomics using StageTips. *Nature Protocols* 2 (8): 1896-1906.
- Riefler M., Novák O., Strnad M., and Schmülling T. (2006). Arabidopsis cytokinin receptor mutants reveal functions in shoot growth, leaf senescence, seed size, germination, root development, and cytokinin metabolism. *Plant Cell* 18 (1): 40-54.
- Rittenberg D., Foster L. (1940) A new procedure for quantitative analysis by isotope dilution, with application to the determination of amino acids and fatty acids. *Journal of Biology and Chemistry* 133 (3): 727-744.
- Saito H., Oda Y., Sato T., Kuromitsu J., Ishihama Y. (2006) Multiplexed two-dimensional liquid chromatography for MALDI and nanoelectrospray ionization mass spectrometry in proteomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* 5 (7): 1803-1807.
- Sakakibara H. (2006) Cytokinins: Activity, biosynthesis, and translocation. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57: 431-449.
- Spíchal L., Rakova N.Y., Riefler M., Mizuno T., Romanov G.A., Strnad M., Schmülling T. (2004) Two cytokinin receptors of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, CRE1/AHK4 and AHK3, differ in their ligand specificity in a bacterial assay. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 45 (9): 1299-1305.
- Stirk W.A., Novák O., Strnad M., van Staden J. (2003) Cytokinins in macroalgae. *Plant Growth Regulation* 41 (1): 13-24.
- Strnad M. (1997) The aromatic cytokinins. Physiologia Plantarum 101 (4): 674-688.
- Takei K., Yamaya T., Sakakibara, H. (2003) A method for separation and determination of cytokinin nucleotides from plant tissues. *Journal of Plant Research* 116 (3): 265-269.
- Tarkowski P., Ge L., Yong J.W.H., Tan S.N. (2009) Analytical methods for cytokinins. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 28 (3): 323-335.

- Tarkowski P., Václavíková K., Novák O., Pertry I., Hanuš J., Whenham R., Vereecke D., Šebela M., Strnad M. (2010) Analysis of 2-methylthio-derivatives of isoprenoid cytokinins by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 680 (1-2): 86-91.
- Turečková V., Novák O., Strnad M. (2009) Profiling ABA metabolites in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. leaves by ultra-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Talanta* 80 (1): 390-399.
- van Rhijn J.A., Heskampa H.H., Davelaarb E., Jordib W., Lelouxa M.S., Brinkmanc U.A.T. (2001) Quantitative determination of glycosylated and aglycon isoprenoid cytokinins at sub-picomolar levels by microcolumn liquid chromatography combined with electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* 929 (1-2): 31-42.
- Werner T., Schmülling T. (2009) Cytokinin action in plant development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12 (5): 527-538.
- Werner T., Nehnevajova E., Köllmer I., Novák O., Strnad M., Krämer U., Schmülling T. (2010) Root-specific reduction of cytokinin causes enhanced root growth, drought tolerance, and leaf mineral enrichment in Arabidopsis and tobacco. *Plant Cell*, 22 (12): 3905-3920.
- Witters E., Vanhoutte K., Dewitte W., Macháčková I., Benková E., Van Dongen W., Esmans E.L., Van Onckelen H.A. (1999) Analysis of cyclic nucleotides and cytokinins in minute plant samples using phase-system switching capillary electrospray-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Phytochemical Analysis* 10 (3): 143-151.
- Wu N., Clausen A.M. (2007) Fundamental and practical aspects of ultrahigh pressure liquid chromatography for fast separations. *Journal of Separation Science* 30 (8): 1167-1182.
- Yarmush M.L., Weiss A.M., Antonsen K.P., Odde D.J., Yarmush D.M. (1992) Immunoaffinity purification: Basic principles and operational considerations. *Biotechnology Advances* 10 (3): 413-446.
- Zentella R., Zhang Z.L., Park M., Thomas S.G., Endo A., Murase K., Fleet C.M., Jikumaru Y., Nambara E., Kamiya Y., Sun T.P. (2007) Global analysis of della direct targets in early gibberellin signaling in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 19 (10): 3037-3057.
- Zhang H., Horgan K.J., Stewart Reynolds P.H., Norris G.E., Jameson P.E. (2001) Novel cytokinins: The predominant forms in mature buds of Pinus radiata. *Plant Physiology* 112 (1): 127-134.

Tables, figures, supplements

General structure of CKs	Rı	R ₂	R ₃	Compound	Abbreviation
	CH3 CH3	H N9-R N7-G N9-G N9-RP	- - - -	N^6 -isopentenyladenine N^6 -isopentenyladenosine N^6 -isopentenyladenine-7-glucoside N^6 -isopentenyladenine-9-glucoside N^6 -isopentenyladenosine-5'-monophosphate	iP iPR iP7G iP9G iPMP
	CH ₂ OR ₃	H N9-R N7-G H N9-R N9-RP	H H H G G H	<i>trans</i> -zeatin <i>trans</i> -zeatin riboside <i>trans</i> -zeatin-7-glucoside <i>trans</i> -zeatin-9-glucoside <i>trans</i> -zeatin O-glucoside <i>trans</i> -zeatin riboside O-glucoside <i>trans</i> -zeatin riboside-5'-monophosphate	tZ tZR tZ7G tZ9G tZOG tZROG tZMP
N [−] R ₁	CH ₂ OR ₃	H R N9-G H N9-R N9-RP	H H G G H	<i>cis-zeatin</i> <i>cis-zeatin</i> riboside <i>cis-zeatin-9-glucoside</i> <i>cis-zeatin O-glucoside</i> <i>cis-zeatin</i> riboside <i>O-glucoside</i> <i>cis-zeatin</i> riboside-5'-monophosphate	cZ cZR cZ9G cZOG cZROG cZMP
$\begin{array}{c} HN \\ \\ 1N \\ 2 \\ 3N \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 9 \\ \end{array}$	CH ₂ OR ₃	H N9-R H N9-R N9-RP	H H G G H	dihydrozeatin dihydrozeatin riboside dihydrozeatin-9-glucoside dihydrozeatin <i>O</i> -glucoside dihydrozeatin riboside <i>O</i> -glucoside dihydrozeatin riboside-5'-monophosphate	DHZ DHZR DHZ9G DHZOG DHZROG DHZMP
\dot{R}_2 \dot{R}_2		H N9-R N3-G N7-G N9-G N9-RP	- - -	N ⁶ -benzyladenine N ⁶ -benzyladenosine N ⁶ -benzyladenine-3-glucoside N ⁶ -benzyladenine-9-glucoside N ⁶ -benzyladenosine-5'-monophosphate	BA BAR BA3G BA7G BA9G BAMP
	HO	H N9-R N9-G	- - -	ortho-topolin ortho-topolin riboside ortho-topolin-9-glucoside	oT oTR oT9G
	он	H N9-R N9-G	- - -	<i>meta</i> -topolin <i>meta</i> -topolin riboside <i>meta</i> -topolin-9-glucoside	mT mTR mT9G
	ОН	H N9-R	- -	<i>para</i> -topolin <i>para</i> -topolin riboside	pT pTR
		H N9-R N9-G	- -	kinetin kinetin riboside kinetin-9-glucoside	K KR K9G

Table 1. Structures, names and abbreviations of the studied cytokinins.

H = hydrogen, R = β -D-ribofuranosyl, G = β -D-glucopyranosyl, RP = β -D-ribofuranosyl-5'-monophosphate

	Recovery of ³ H-labelled CKs (%)										
	Cl	18	SDB-	RPS	Cation-SR						
	Load	Elution	Load	Elution	Load	Elution					
[³ H]cZ	98.8 ± 3.3	0.6 ± 0.2	1.3 ± 0.1	96.6 ± 1.8	1.1 ± 0.1	100.7 ± 3.0					
[³ H] <i>t</i> ZR	98.8 ± 4.4	0.6 ± 0.2	39.2 ± 2.2	29.8 ± 2.2	22.4 ± 0.6	64.7 ± 1.1					
[³ H]iPR	102.9 ± 3.5	0.5 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.2	95.6 ± 1.4	4.7 ± 0.1	97.0 ± 2.8					

Table 2 The loading capacity and extraction recovery of single-StageTip microcolumns. Recovery (%) of ³H-labelled CK standards without added plant matrix.

Tritium-labelled standards (10^5 dpm) were dissolved in Bieleski buffer and applied onto different Empore sorbents (C18, SDB-RPS, Cation-SR). Values are means \pm SD (n = 4).

Table 3 List of precursor and product ions of the studied compounds (the most abundant product ion is shown in bold type). The retention time stability, limits of detection, dynamic linear range, linearity (correlation coefficients, R^2) are shown for UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS analysis of isoprenoid cytokinins.

Com- pounds	Pre- cursor	Products	Retention time ^a (min)	LOD ^b (fmol)	Dynamic range (mol)	R^2
t/cZ	220.1	136.1 , 119.0	$15.39 \pm 0.04 \: / \: 16.82 \pm 0.03$	0.5	1x10 ⁻¹⁵ -5x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9989 / 0.9987
t/cZR	352.2	220.1 , 136.1	$19.06 \pm 0.02 \: / \: 19.72 \pm 0.01$	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -5x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9993 / 0.9986
tZ7G			12.26 ± 0.02	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9989
t/cZ9G	382.2	220.1 , 136.1	$14.23 \pm 0.02 \: / \: 15.13 \pm 0.02$	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -5x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9993 / 0.9985
t/cZOG			$14.83 \pm 0.03 \: / \: 15.79 \pm 0.03$	0.5	1x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9987 / 0.9988
t/cZROG	432.2	382.2 , 220.1	$18.08 \pm 0.02 \: / \: 18.77 \pm 0.02$	1.0	5x10 ⁻¹⁵ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9992 / 0.9984
t/cZMP	514.2	220.1 , 136.1	$13.72 \pm 0.02 \: / \: 14.67 \pm 0.02$	5.0	1x10 ⁻¹⁴ -5x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9990 / 0.9985
DHZ	222.1	136.1 , 119.0	16.15 ± 0.04	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9991
DHZR	354.2	222.1 , 136.1	19.61 ± 0.01	0.05	1x10 ⁻¹⁶ -5x10 ⁻¹⁰	0.9989
DHZ7G			$13.80 \pm 0.02 \: / \: 14.13 \pm 0.02$	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹⁰	0.9994
DHZ9G	384.2	222.1 , 136.1	15.00 ± 0.01	0.05	1x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹⁰	0.9992
DHZOG			16.37 ± 0.03	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -5x10 ⁻¹²	0.9992
DHZROG	434.2	384.2 , 222.1	19.22 ± 0.03	1.0	5x10 ⁻¹⁵ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9983
DHZMP	516.2	222.1 , 136.1	14.34 ± 0.01	1.0	5x10 ⁻¹⁵ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9992
iP	204.1	136.1 , 119.0	23.21 ± 0.01	0.1	5x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9991
iPR	336.2	204.1 , 136.1	23.88 ± 0.01	0.05	1x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9989
iP7G	266.2	204.1 126.1	18.70 ± 0.01	0.05	1x10 ⁻¹⁶ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9988
iP9G	300.2	204.1, 130.1	21.50 ± 0.01	0.5	1x10 ⁻¹⁵ -1x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9992
iPMP	416.2	204.1 , 136.1	21.31 ± 0.02	5.0	1x10 ⁻¹⁴ -5x10 ⁻¹¹	0.9993

^a Values are means \pm SD (n = 10). ^b Limit of detection, defined as a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1.

	-	Recovery (%) ^a		Determined sniked	Method	Method	
CKs	1 mg FW	2 mg FW	5 mg FW	CK content(pmol) ^b	precision (% RSD) ^b	accuracy (% bias) ^b	
tΖ	80 ± 10	63 ± 8	21 ± 4	0.99 ± 0.17	17.2	0.1	
tZR	72 ± 12	46 ± 7	8 ± 1	0.84 ± 0.09	10.4	16.1	
tZ7G	88 ± 6	57 ± 4	6 ± 1	0.91 ± 0.13	14.6	8.6	
tZ9G	59 ± 7	31 ± 3	8 ± 1	0.97 ± 0.09	9.6	2.5	
tZOG	85 ± 5	68 ± 6	11 ± 2	1.07 ± 0.19	18.1	-7.1	
tZROG	55 ± 4	30 ± 3	4 ± 1	0.82 ± 0.09	11.1	17.6	
tZMP	35 ± 6	11 ± 1	5 ± 1	0.85 ± 0.11	13.3	14.7	
cZ	75 ± 9	65 ± 5	24 ± 4	0.83 ± 0.02	2.5	17.0	
cZR	81 ± 13	44 ± 9	8 ± 1	0.96 ± 0.12	12.8	4.1	
cZ9G	74 ± 12	37 ± 5	5 ± 1	1.18 ± 0.13	11.3	-17.6	
cZOG	89 ± 6	66 ± 7	9 ± 2	1.09 ± 0.14	13.2	-9.1	
cZROG	52 ± 6	24 ± 2	3 ± 1	0.89 ± 0.11	12.9	11.2	
cZMP	32 ± 3	17 ± 1	2 ± 1	0.86 ± 0.15	17.9	13.9	
DHZ	77 ± 13	61 ± 7	20 ± 3	0.90 ± 0.10	10.8	9.7	
DHZR	88 ± 13	48 ± 8	12 ± 1	1.03 ± 0.06	5.6	-2.9	
DHZ7G	89 ± 3	65 ± 3	8 ± 2	1.18 ± 0.05	4.3	-18.2	
DHZ9G	78 ± 10	35 ± 6	6 ± 1	0.96 ± 0.07	7.2	3.7	
DHZOG	77 ± 5	50 ± 7	9 ± 3	1.16 ± 0.06	4.9	-15.8	
DHZROG	87 ± 8	42 ± 5	5 ± 1	0.90 ± 0.12	13.3	9.8	
DHZMP	37 ± 1	12 ± 1	3 ± 1	0.96 ± 0.15	15.8	3.6	
iP	76 ± 9	68 ± 3	26 ± 5	0.97 ± 0.06	5.9	3.3	
iPR	84 ± 8	53 ± 4	17 ± 1	1.13 ± 0.06	5.6	-12.8	
iP7G	83 ± 10	60 ± 5	7 ± 1	0.91 ± 0.15	16.5	9.4	
iP9G	74 ± 8	49 ± 8	8 ± 2	0.97 ± 0.08	8.0	3.1	
iPMP	78 ± 9	39 ± 9	9 ± 2	0.92 ± 0.16	17.0	8.4	

Table 4. Method validation. Recovery (%) is shown for different amounts of plant matrix together with determinations of the analytical precision and accuracy of whole procedure.

Plant tissues (1-5 mg FW of *A. thaliana* seedlings spiked with 1 pmol of authentic CK standards) were extracted in Bieleski buffer, purified by multi-StageTip microcolumn chromatography and directly analysed by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS. ^a Values are means \pm SD (n = 4); ^b Values are means \pm SD (n = 12).

CVs	Cytok	inin content (pmol	g ⁻¹ FW)
	Seedlings	Shoots	Roots
tΖ	n.d.	n.d.	0.96 ± 0.12
tZR	2.23 ± 0.37	0.88 ± 0.32	3.27 ± 0.52
tZ7G	37.99 ± 2.81	23.49 ± 3.07	6.54 ± 0.75
tZ9G	3.88 ± 1.22	4.32 ± 1.31	2.08 ± 0.52
tZOG	9.25 ± 2.77	9.42 ± 1.75	7.10 ± 1.33
cZR	0.80 ± 0.16	1.14 ± 0.37	3.71 ± 0.79
cZ9G	n.d.	n.d.	2.02 ± 0.47
cZOG	0.90 ± 0.27	1.04 ± 0.33	2.89 ± 0.66
DHZR	0.64 ± 0.19	0.94 ± 0.27	0.97 ± 0.28
DHZ7G	5.48 ± 1.28	5.78 ± 1.51	2.07 ± 0.42
DHZ9G	n.d.	0.71 ± 0.22	0.29 ± 0.07
DHZOG	0.46 ± 0.13	0.28 ± 0.07	0.15 ± 0.05
iP	0.24 ± 0.10	0.15 ± 0.04	0.56 ± 0.17
iPR	1.96 ± 0.28	1.24 ± 0.26	2.18 ± 0.46
iP7G	53.87 ± 2.86	65.76 ± 12.47	30.16 ± 4.57

Table 5. Cytokinin levels in Arabidopsis thaliana extracts determined by UPLC-ESI(+)MS/MS.

10-day-old *A. thaliana* seedlings, roots and shoots were extracted in Bieleski buffer, purified by multi-StageTip microcolumns and measured by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method. Values are meansf \pm SD (n = 12); n.d. – not detected.



Figure 1. Purification protocol for cytokinins using multi-StageTips (STop And Go Extraction Tips), which combine three different sorbents (C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR), inserted into a microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml). Plant material (1-5 mg) was homogenized and extracted in Bieleski buffer containing labelled internal standards. Pooled supernatant was applied (1 mg FW/50 μ l) to a pre-conditioned multi-StageTip microcolumn, which was then washed and eluted with the indicated solutions. The eluate was evaporated to dryness, dissolved in 20 μ l of 10% methanol and analyzed by UPLC-MS/MS method.



Figure 2. The loading capacity and extraction recovery of multi-StageTip microcolumns. (a-c) Recoveries (%) of ³H-labelled CK standards in the first elution step (50 μ l 0.5M NH₄OH in 60% MeOH) applied onto multi-StageTips using Empore sorbents in different combinations, C18/SDB-RPS (a), C18/Cation-SR (b), C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR (c) without (0 mg FW) and with plant matrices (1 or 2 mg FW). (d) Representative test of loading capacity and extraction recoveries at different steps during the purification protocol described in Figure 1 for 1 mg F.W of *A. thaliana* seedlings extracted. For all experiments, tritium-labelled standards (10⁵ dpm) were dissolved and the extracts were prepared in Bieleski buffer. Values are means \pm SD (n = 4); [³H]cZ, black bars; [³H]tZR, white bars; [³H]iP, grey bars.



Figure 3 Separation of cytokinin standards by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method using an Acquity UPLC[®] BEH C18 2.1×150 mm column. (a,b) Multi-MRM chromatograms of 25 isoprenoid cytokinins (a) and 17 aromatic cytokinins (b) including bases, ribosides, *N-/O*-glucosides and nucleotides containing 1 pmol of each derivative per injection. (c) Limit of detection of iPR (50 amol injected onto column). (d,e) Representative product ion confirmation (PIC) experiment. The MRM chromatogram and full scan product ion spectrum were collected simultaneously for 10 fmol iPR injected onto column (switching between two MS scanning modes is marked by line in MRM window).



Figure 4 Matrix effects on selectivity and sensitivity of UPLC–ESI(+)-MS/MS method. MRM chromatograms of authentic *t/cZR* and iPR show the change in signal sensitivity for different *A. thaliana* extracts, roots (a-c) and shoots (d-f), in minute amounts of plant tissue (1, 2, and 5 mg FW).

Supplement 1 Step-by-step guide on the manufacture of a StageTip. (1) The pipette tip, $Empore^{TM}$ High Performance Extraction Disk placed on a Petri dish, cutter (blunt-ended syringe needle) and plunger (rod needle); (2) cutting of the small disk (approximately 1.0 mm diameter, 0.5 mm thickness); (3-7) insertion of the disk into the pipette tip using the cutter and plunger fitted into the needle; (8) placing of additional disk onto the first disk; (9) single-StageTip (on the left) and multi-StageTips (on the right).



Supplement 2 The loading capacity and extraction recovery of multi-StageTip microcolumns (C18/SDB-RPS/Cation-SR) at different steps of purification protocol described in Figure 1. Tritium-labelled standards (10^5 dpm) were dissolved in Bieleski buffer and the extracts without (a; 0 mg FW) and with plant matrix (b; 2 mg FW) applied onto multi-StageTips. Values are means \pm SD (n = 4); [³H]*c*Z, black bars; [³H]*t*ZR, white bars; [³H]*i*P, grey bars.



Supplement 3 Identification of (–)-DHZ7G with (S)-configuration in *A. thaliana* extracts based on accordance with the peak retention time of reference standard mixure (a) and different plant extracts (b-c) injected onto an Acquity UPLC® BEH C18 2.1×150 mm column using the selective MRM transition (384.2>222.1). (a) Representative MRM chromatograms of racemic (±)-DHZ7G standard; (b) *Arabidopsis* shoot extract; (c) *Arabidopsis* root extract. The samples (2 mg F.W.) were extracted in Bieleski buffer, purified by StageTip protocol (Figure 1) and measured by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method under experimental conditions (Chapter 2.5).



Supplement 4 Levels of CK metabolites in varied amounts of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings, roots and shoots. 10-day-old seedlings, roots and shoots were extracted in Bieleski buffer, purified by StageTip microcolumns and measured by UPLC-ESI(+)-MS/MS method. *t/cZ*, *t/cZROG*, *t/cZMP*, DHZ, DHZROG, DHZMP, iP9G, and iPMP were not detected in *Arabidopsis* extracts.

Weight		Cytokinin content (fmol in sample)													
(mg FW)	ťΖ	tZR	tZ7G	tZ9G	tZOG	cZR	cZ9G	cZOG	DHZR	DHZ7G	DHZ9G	DHZOG	iP	iPR	iP7G
Seedlings															
1	n.d.	n.d.	41.9±1.9	3.7±1.1	8.3±2.5	0.6±0.1	n.d.	$1.0{\pm}0.3$	n.d.	5.6±1.1	n.d.	0.5±0.1	n.d.	1.7±0.2	51.1±2.0
2	n.d.	3.4±0.4	70.2±9.0	8.2±2.6	18.7 ± 5.0	1.5±0.9	n.d.	1.5±0.3	$0.9{\pm}0.5$	10.4±3.4	n.d.	0.8±0.2	n.d.	3.7±0.6	105.0±4.2
5	n.d.	13.9±2.9	$184.8{\pm}10.0$	n.d.	50.9±6.6	3.2±0.3	n.d.	5.1±2.0	3.5±1.2	28.3±5.4	n.d.	2.7±0.9	1.2±0.6	11.6±2.0	270.1±22.7
Shoots															
1	n.d.	0.8 ± 0.3	26.8±2.8	4.5±1.5	8.1±2.1	1.1±0.4	n.d.	1.1±0.4	0.8±0.2	6.2±2.0	0.7±0.3	0.3±0.1	n.d.	1.1±0.2	58.0±11.5
2	n.d.	1.6 ± 0.6	44.2±3.8	10.7±3.7	17.9±2.4	2.0 ± 0.8	n.d.	1.7±0.5	1.9±0.7	$10.4{\pm}1.9$	1.7±0.6	0.6±0.2	n.d.	2.3±0.4	127.6±21.9
5	n.d.	5.5±1.7	107.9±22.8	15.5±2.8	55.9±9.9	4.5±1.5	n.d.	5.8±1.9	5.5±1.6	29.6±7.7	2.9±0.6	1.2±0.3	0.7 ± 0.1	7.2±2.0	312.4±74.7
Roots															
1	n.d.	3.7±0.6	7.3±0.6	1.9±0.6	6.3±0.5	3.1±0.8	1.3±0.2	3.1±0.9	0.6±0.2	2.2±0.3	0.3±0.1	n.d.	0.4 ± 0.2	2.0±0.3	26.2±4.8
2	2.1±0.7	6.1±1.3	11.4±0.7	4.1±1.4	13.6±2.0	6.8±1.3	4.9±0.7	5.9±1.1	2.0±0.7	3.7±0.6	0.6±0.1	0.4±0.1	0.7 ± 0.1	4.3±0.9	61.9±7.5
5	4.2±1.1	15.4±1.8	32.9±6.8	11.5±1.4	37.8±8.2	23.4±4.9	14.3±4.3	13.2±2.4	6.3±2.1	10.9±3.2	1.3±0.2	n.d.	2.0±0.7	12.1±3.1	166.9±26.1

Values are means \pm SD (n = 4); n.d. – not detected.